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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA

As used in this annual report, we refer to Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, its predecessors and its majority-
owned subsidiaries as “PGS,” “we,” “us” or “our,” unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed this annual report on Form 20-F with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Statements made in this annual report as to the contents of any agreement or other
document referred to are not necessarily complete. For each such agreement or other document filed as an exhibit to
this annual report, we urge you to refer to the exhibit for a more complete description of the matter involved. We are
subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act that apply to foreign private issuers and file or
furnish reports and other information with the SEC. Reports and other information we file with or furnish to the
SEC, including this annual report, may be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities of the SEC at 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington D.C. 20549. Additionally, information that we file electronically with the SEC may also be
obtained from its internet website at http:/www.sec.gov and our internet website at http:/www.pgs.com.
Information contained on or connected to our website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report
on Form 20-F and should not be considered part of this report or any other filing that we make with the SEC.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In order to utilize the “Safe Harbor” provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, we are providing the following cautionary statement. This annual report, particularly in “Our Business
Priorities,” in Item 4 and “Outlook; Factors Affecting Our Future Operating Results” and “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” in Item 5, contains forward-looking statements about our financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects. These forward-looking statements address matters such as:

* market conditions, anticipated demand and prices for our services and multi-client data that we license,
productive capacity in the markets in which we operate, other competitive factors, possible expansion,
technological developments and other trends in the businesses in which we operate;

* business strategies, including geographic areas in which we may operate from time to time and potential
acquisitions and/or dispositions;

* the extent to which and manner in which our seismic vessels and equipment will be utilized, including
utilization of such vessels to acquire contract or multi-client seismic data;

* expected completion of construction of new vessels from time to time;

* acquisition of contract and multi-client seismic data, governmental licensing activity relating to such
acquisition and expected future licenses of multi-client seismic data;

* multi-streamer contract EBIT margins, multi-client revenue, Onshore revenues and operating profit;
* future capital expenditures, investments in our businesses and dividends;

* investments in, and amortization charges for, our multi-client library;

* governmental and tax regulations and enforcement;

* future exposure to currency devaluations or exchange rate fluctuations, including in particular fluctuations in
the value of the U.S. dollar as compared to the Norwegian kroner and the British pound;

e interest rates; and

e future proposals to our shareholders.



These forward-looking statements:

* address activities, events or developments that we expect, believe, anticipate or estimate will or may occur in
the future;

* are based at least in part on assumptions and analyses that we have made in good faith and that we believe
were reasonable under the circumstances when made; and

 can be impacted by uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Any one of these assumptions, uncertainties or other factors, or a combination of these assumptions,
uncertainties or other factors, could materially affect our future results of operations, financial position, cash
flows and whether the forward-looking statements ultimately prove to be accurate. These forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of our future performance, and our actual results, financial position, cash flows
and future developments may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. When
considering these forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the risk factors and other cautionary
statements disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, including those described under “Key Information — Risk
Factors” in Item 3.

CURRENCY PRESENTATIONS

In this annual report, references to “U.S. dollars,” “dollars” and “$” are to United States dollars; references to
“NOK” are to Norwegian kroner; and references to “British pounds” and “£” are to British pounds sterling.



PART I

ITEM 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisors
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.

ITEM 3. Key Information
Selected Financial Data

We have presented below, on the basis of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”), our
selected consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 (Successor Company) and as of
December 31, 2002 (Predecessor Company), for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, for the two-
month period ended December 31, 2003 (Successor Company), for the ten-month period ended October 31, 2003
and for the year ended December 31, 2002 (Predecessor Company). We have derived the financial data presented
below from our audited financial statements including those included in Item 18 of this annual report. The financial
data presented below excludes our Production business (demerged in 2006), our Pertra subsidiary (sold in 2005),
our Atlantis oil and gas subsidiary (sold in 2003), our PGS Tigress (UK) software subsidiary (sold in 2003) and our
Production Services subsidiary (sold in 2002), which are presented as discontinued operations in our financial
statements for all periods presented. You should read the selected financial data in conjunction with “Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects” in Item 5 of this annual report and our consolidated financial statements and
related notes included in Item 18 of this annual report. The selected financial data presented below are qualified in
their entirety by reference to those consolidated financial statements and related notes.

We operated our business as a debtor-in-possession under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code from
July 29, 2003 until November 5, 2003, when our reorganization plan became effective and was substantially
consummated. Under the plan, our then-existing bank debt and outstanding senior notes were cancelled in exchange
for a combination of new senior notes, a new term loan, new ordinary shares and the right to receive cash. For
additional information about our Chapter 11 reorganization, please read “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects — Overview — 2003 Financial Restructuring and Fresh-Start Reporting” in Item 5 of this annual report
and Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.

We have prepared our post-reorganization consolidated financial statements in accordance with the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reor-
ganization Under the Bankruptcy Code,” or SOP 90-7. For financial reporting purposes, the effects of the
completion of the reorganization plan and adjustments for fresh-start reporting have been recorded as of October 31,
2003. Under fresh-start reporting, a new entity was deemed created for financial reporting purposes and the carrying
values of our assets were adjusted to their reorganization values, which were equivalent to their estimated fair
values. The carrying values of our liabilities were also adjusted to their present values. The terms “Predecessor” and
“Predecessor Company” refer to PGS and its subsidiaries for periods prior to and including October 31, 2003. The
terms “Successor” and “Successor Company” refer to PGS and its subsidiaries for periods from and after
November 1, 2003. The effects of the completion of the reorganization plan and adjustments for fresh-start



reporting recorded as of October 31, 2003 are Predecessor Company transactions. All other results of operations on
November 1, 2003 are Successor Company transactions.

Successor Company

Predecessor Company

Two Months Ten Months
Years Ended December 31, Decf::li)?: 31, Oc]tzol::;diil, n‘iiifn'ﬁ'éf ?ﬁ,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2003 2002
(In thousands of dollars, except for share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues. . ..................... $ 1308459 § 888,021 $§ 707519 $ 123,082 $ 639330 $ 718,772
Operating profit (loss) . .. ........... 409,930 130,235 (68,309) 2,022 (73,959) (232,804)
Debt redemption and refinancing costs . . . — (107,315) — — — —
Reorganization items:

Gain on debt discharge . .. ......... — — — — 1,253,851 —

Fresh-start adoption . ............. — — — — (532,268) —

Cost of reorganization. . .. ......... — — (3,498) (3,325) (52,334) (3,616)
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . 229,380 (97,070) (210,346) (24,650) 484,430 (544,512)
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of tax . ............ 69,197 209,648 75,616 14,697 70,226 (466,528)
Net income (loss) .. ............... 298,577 112,578 (134,730) (9,953) 557,045 (1,174,678)
Basic and diluted income (loss) from

continuing operations per share. . . . . . . $ 127 % 0.54) $ (1.16) $ 0.14) $ 469 $ (5.27)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per

share. .. ... ... .. 1.66 0.63 (0.75) (0.06) 5.39 (11.37)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares

outstanding(a) . . . ... ... ... 180,000,000 180,000,000 180,000,000 180,000,000 103,345,987 103,345,987
CASH FLOW DATA:
Cash flows provided by operating

activities . ... ... $ 563413 $ 280,714 $ 282372 § 62,170 $ 164,948 $ 294,609
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing

activities .. ... 96,596 8,841 (183,446) (25,089) (69,732) (274,497)
Cash flows (used in) financing activities . . (657,490) (300,953) (71,283) (25,807) (92,896) (7,636)
Capital expenditures . .............. 165,442 90,376 62,393 9,899 13,471 41,994
Investment in multi-client library . ... ... 113,658 55,667 41,140 9,461 81,142 151,590

(a) At our General Meeting on December 13, 2006, our shareholders approved a three-for-one split of our shares. Following the split,
and as of December 31, 2006, we had 180,000,000 shares issued and outstanding, all of which are of the same class and have equal
voting and dividend rights. Each share has a par value of NOK 3. All Successor Company share and per-share information included

in this annual report gives effect to this three-for-one split of our shares.

Successor Company Pg(:)(:;cessor
pany
December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands of dollars)
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total assets . ... ... ... $1,225,753  $1,717,572  $1,852,153  $1,997,360 $2,839,757
Multi-client library, net . .. ................... 49,406 146,171 244,689 408,005 583,859
Total long-term debt and capital lease obligations. . . . . 318,271 935,339 1,118,346 1,172,147 1,409,134
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in PGS junior
subordinated debt securities . . . ... ... ......... — — — — 142,322
Common stock . .. ... . ... 78,208 85,714 85,714 85,714 71,089
Shareholders’ equity (deficit) . ................. 444 848 329,275 222,907 353,634 (192,254)



Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below. If any of the following risks actually occur, our
business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected and the trading price of
our securities could decline significantly.

Risk Factors Relating to Our Business Operations

Our business could be adversely affected if demand for our services from oil and natural gas companies
decreases.

We depend substantially upon exploration, development and production spending by oil and natural gas
companies. Capital expenditures, and in particular exploration and development expenditures, by oil and natural gas
companies have tended in the past to follow the prices of oil and natural gas, which have fluctuated widely in recent
years. Lower oil and natural gas prices, actual or projected, and other factors, including mergers of oil and natural
gas companies, may reduce the level of those expenditures, which could adversely affect our businesses.

We invest significant amounts of money in acquiring and processing seismic data for our multi-client data
library without being certain about how much of the data we will be able to license or when and at what
price we will be able to license the data.

We invest significant amounts in acquiring and processing seismic data that we own, which we call multi-client
data. Our future multi-client data licenses, including the timing of such licenses, are uncertain and depend on a
variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. By making such investments, we assume the risk that:

* we may not fully recover the costs of the data through future licenses; and

* the value of our multi-client data could be adversely affected by, among other things, any adverse change in
the general prospects for oil and natural gas exploration, development and production activities in the areas
where we acquire multi-client data, by technological or regulatory changes and by other industry or general
economic developments.

In the past, we have incurred substantial impairment charges related to our multi-client data.

The amounts we amortize from our multi-client data library each period may fluctuate significantly, and
these fluctuations can have a significant effect on our results of operations.

The manner in which we account for our multi-client data library has a significant effect on our results of
operations. We amortize the capitalized cost of our multi-client data library based principally on the relationship of
actual data licenses for the relevant data to our estimates of total, including future, licensing of data. Our licensing
estimates are inherently imprecise and may vary from period to period depending upon market developments and
our expectations. Changes in the amounts and timing of data licenses may result in impairment charges or changes
in our amortization expense, which will affect our results of operations.

Due to our adoption of fresh-start reporting as of November 1, 2003, we reduce the book value of the portion of
our multi-client library that was recognized in the fresh-start consolidated balance sheet when we realize pre-fresh-
start tax assets. Current and future amortization costs are reduced accordingly and may not be representative of
future amortization as we make new investments in our multi-client library.

Substantial changes in amortization rates can have a significant effect on our results of operations.

We could incur operating losses if we cannot keep our vessels and other equipment utilized at high levels.

Our business is capital intensive, and we make significant investments in vessels and in processing, seismic and
other equipment. We also incur relatively high fixed costs in our operations. As a result, if we cannot keep our
vessels and other equipment utilized at relatively high levels, due to reduced demand, weather interruptions,
equipment failure, technical difficulties, labor unrest or other causes, we could incur significant operating losses.
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We have experienced substantial losses in the past and may do so in the future.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we suffered a net loss of $134.7 million. We may incur net losses, as
well as operating losses, in the future.

Our future revenues may fluctuate significantly from period to period.

Our future revenues may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year as a result of
various factors including the following:

* increases and decreases in industry-wide capacity to acquire seismic data;
* fluctuating oil and natural gas prices, which may impact customer demand for our services;
* different levels of activity planned by our customers;

* the timing of offshore lease sales and licensing rounds and the effect of such timing on the demand for
seismic data and geophysical services;

¢ the timing of award and commencement of significant contracts for geophysical data acquisition services;
e weather and other seasonal factors; and

* seasonality and other variations in the licensing of geophysical data from our multi-client data library.

We perform a portion of our contract seismic work under turnkey arrangements. If we bid too low on these
contracts, we could incur losses on projects and experience reduced profitability.

Many of our contracts for seismic data acquisition are turnkey contracts, where our work is delivered at a
predetermined and fixed price. In submitting a bid on a turnkey contract, we estimate our costs associated with the
project. However, our actual costs can vary from our estimated costs because of changes in assumed operating
conditions (including weather, fishing activity, interference from other seismic vessels and other operating
disturbances), exchange rates and equipment productivity, among others. As a result, we may experience reduced
profitability or losses on projects if our bids on turnkey contracts are too low and/or actual costs exceed estimated
costs.

Our profitability could be negatively impacted by excess capacity in the geophysical industry.

When demand for marine seismic services increases, industry participants have previously responded by
increasing capacity by building new seismic vessels or converting existing vessels for use in marine seismic
operations. A significant increase in the industry’s capacity could have an adverse effect on the pricing of our
services and our profitability.

Our technology could be rendered obsolete because technological changes and new products and services
are regularly introduced to our markets, and we may not be able to develop and produce competitive
products and services on a cost-effective and timely basis.

We will be required to invest substantial capital to maintain competitive technologies. Technology changes
rapidly, and new and enhanced products and services are frequently introduced in our markets. Our success depends
to a significant extent on our ability to develop and produce new and enhanced products and services on a cost-
effective and timely basis in accordance with industry demands. While we commit resources to research and
development, we may encounter resource constraints or technical or other difficulties that could delay introduction
of new and enhanced products and services in the future. In addition, continuing development of new products and
services inherently carries the risk of obsolescence of older products and services. New and enhanced products and
services, if introduced, may not gain market acceptance or may be adversely affected by technological changes.
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Unpredictable changes in governmental regulations could increase our operating costs and reduce demand
for our services.

Our operations are affected by a variety of laws and regulations, including those relating to:

» permit or license requirements for geophysical activities and for oil and natural gas exploration, develop-
ment and production activities;

 exports and imports;

* taxes;

* occupational health and safety; and
* the protection of the environment.

We and our customers are required to invest financial and managerial resources to comply with these laws and
regulations. Because these laws and regulations and our business change from time to time, we cannot predict the
future costs of complying with these laws and regulations, and our expenditures could increase materially in the
future. Modification of existing laws or regulations or adoption of new laws or regulations limiting exploration or
production activities by oil and natural gas companies or imposing more stringent restrictions on geophysical or
hydrocarbon production-related operations could adversely affect us by increasing our operating costs and/or
reducing the demand for our services.

Because we conduct a substantial amount of international operations, we have exposure to those risks
inherent in doing business abroad.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived from operations outside the United States and Norway. These
operations are subject in varying degrees to risks inherent in doing business abroad, including:

* war, terrorist activities, political, civil or labor disturbances, border disputes and embargoes;
* damage to our equipment or violence directed at our employees;

* the possibility of unfavorable changes in tax or other laws;

* work stoppages;

* partial or total expropriation;

* renegotiation or nullification of existing contracts;

e restrictions on currency repatriation or the imposition of new laws or regulations that preclude or restrict the
conversion and free flow of currencies;

* the imposition of new laws or regulations that have the effect of restricting operations or increasing the cost
of operations; and

* the disruption or delay of licensing or leasing activities.

Our business experiences extreme weather and other hazardous conditions.

Our seismic data acquisition operations are exposed to extreme weather and other hazardous conditions. In
particular, a substantial portion of our operations are subject to perils that are customary for marine operations,
including capsizing, grounding, collision, interruption and damage or loss from severe weather conditions, fire,
explosions and environmental contamination from spillage. Any of these risks, whether in our marine or onshore
operations, could result in damage to or destruction of vessels or equipment, personal injury and property damage,
suspension of operations or environmental damage. In addition, our operations involve risks of a technical and
operational nature due to the complex systems that we utilize. If any of these risks materialize, our business could be
interrupted and we could incur significant liabilities. In addition, many similar risks may result in curtailment or
cancellation of, or delays in, exploration and production activities of our customers, which could in turn adversely
impact our operations.



Because we do not have insurance with third party carriers to cover all operating risks, our results of
operations could be adversely affected if one or more of those risks occurred.

We do not carry full insurance for all of our operating risks. Although we generally attempt to carry insurance
against the destruction of or damage to our seismic vessels and equipment in amounts that we consider customary in
the industry, such insurance coverage is subject to various exclusions. In addition, we may not be able to maintain
adequate insurance for our vessels and equipment in the future or do so at rates that we consider reasonable. We do
not maintain insurance to protect against loss of revenues caused by business interruptions.

Because we generate revenue and incur expenses in various currencies, exchange rate fluctuations and
devaluations could have a material impact on our results of operations.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations and currency devaluations could have a material impact on our results of
operations from time to time. Historically, most of our revenue and operating expenses have been generated in
U.S. dollars, NOK and British pounds, but we predominantly sell our products and services in U.S. dollars while
some portion of our operating expenses are incurred in NOK and British pounds. A depreciation in the U.S. dollar
compared to these other currencies would adversely affect our reported results of operations because expenses
denominated in NOK or British pounds would be converted into U.S. dollars, our reporting currency, at an increased
value.

Although we periodically undertake limited hedging activities in an attempt to reduce some currency
fluctuation risks, these activities do not provide complete protection from currency-related losses. In addition,
in some circumstances our hedging activities can require us to make cash outlays. Finally, the amount of currency
hedging transactions we are able to enter into may be limited because of our having a non-investment grade credit
rating.

We are subject to intense competition that could limit our ability to maintain or increase our market share
and to maintain our prices at profitable levels.

Most of our contracts are obtained through a competitive bidding process. In connection with this bidding
process, we are subject to intense competition from large, international companies and smaller, local companies.
Some of our competitors may have greater financial and other resources than us and may be better positioned to
withstand and adjust more quickly to volatile market conditions and changes in government regulations. We also
face competition from new low-cost competitors in various geographic areas, particularly in the onshore seismic
market.

Our strategy of pursuing selective growth opportunities may be unsuccessful if we incorrectly predict operat-
ing results for acquired assets or businesses, are unable to identify and complete future acquisitions and
integrate acquired assets or businesses or are unable to raise financing for acquisitions on acceptable

terms.

The acquisition of assets or businesses on a selective basis or the making of strategic investments on a selective
basis in companies or ventures that are complementary to our business is a component of our business strategy. We
believe that attractive acquisition and strategic investment opportunities may arise from time to time, and any such
acquisition or investment could be significant. At any given time, discussions with one or more potential sellers or
possible business partners may be at different stages. However, any such discussions may not result in the
consummation of an acquisition transaction or strategic investment, and we may not be able to identify or complete
any acquisitions or investments. Furthermore, we cannot predict the effect, if any, that any announcement or
consummation of an acquisition or strategic investment transaction would have on the trading prices of our
securities.

Our results of operations depend in part upon our ability to establish and protect our proprietary
technology.

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secret laws to establish and protect our
proprietary technology. We endeavor to obtain patents on our technology in Norway, the United States and the
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United Kingdom and in other jurisdictions that we consider important to our business. In addition, we enter into
confidentiality and license agreements with our employees, and with consultants and companies from whom we
acquire technology, and with others who have access to our proprietary technology. However, we do not patent all of
our proprietary technology, and enforcement of proprietary technology rights may be difficult in some jurisdictions.
Accordingly, the procedures we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to deter the
misappropriation of our proprietary technology in all situations.

We depend on attracting and retaining qualified employees to develop our business.

The development of our business depends in large part upon our ability to attract and retain highly skilled and
qualified personnel with the technical expertise required for our business. Our results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely affected by increased labor costs or by any inability of our company in the future to
hire, train and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees.

Risk Factors Relating to Financial Reporting Matters

Failure to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting could adversely affect both our ability
to provide timely and accurate financial statements and the trading prices of our securities.

We maintain a system of internal control over financial reporting, but there may be inherent limitations in any
such system. If we do not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, we may be unable
to process key components of our results of operations and financial condition timely and accurately, investors and
rating agencies could lose confidence in our reported financial information and the trading prices of our securities
could be adversely affected.

Our adoption of ““fresh-start” reporting and our transition to International Financial Reporting Standards
may make our historical financial statements difficult to compare.

In connection with the November 2003 consummation of our reorganization plan, we adopted, as of
November 1, 2003, fresh-start reporting in accordance with SOP 90-7. Because SOP 90-7 required us to reset
our assets and liabilities to then current fair values, our financial condition and results of operations after our
reorganization are not comparable to the financial condition and results of operations reflected in our historical
financial statements for periods prior to November 2003. This may make it difficult to assess our performance for
fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 compared to our performance for fiscal years 2003 and 2002.

In addition, effective January 1, 2005, publicly traded companies in the European Union and European
Economic Area were required to report financial statements based on International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). Norway has established transition rules allowing companies that are listed for public trading in the U.S. to
defer adopting IFRS reporting until January 1, 2007. In our future reports, our financial condition and results of
operations and cash flows as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 will be reconciled to IFRS. However,
prior fiscal years will not be reconciled. Because of this transition, it will be more difficult to compare our financial
statements for 2006 and 2007 with our financial statements for years prior to 2006, which may make our historical
performance more difficult to assess.

Risk Factors Relating to Our Indebtedness and Other Obligations
Our indebtedness and other obligations restrict us in various ways.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $338.2 million of indebtedness and capital leases outstanding. Our credit
facility and other debt and contractual obligations contain covenants and restrictions, including provisions that
could restrict our ability, among other things, to sell assets; incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred stock;
prepay interest and principal on our indebtedness (other than our main credit agreement); pay dividends and
distributions or repurchase our capital stock; create liens on assets; make investments, loans, guarantees or
advances; make acquisitions; engage in mergers or consolidations; enter into sale and leaseback transactions;
engage in transactions with affiliates; amend material agreements governing our indebtedness; change our business;
enter into agreements that restrict dividends from subsidiaries; and enter into speculative financial derivative
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agreements. In addition, our credit facility requires us to comply with specific financial covenants, including a
maximum total leverage ratio, a minimum interest coverage ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.
Because of this debt and other contractual obligations:

* we must dedicate some portion of our cash flow from operations to debt service and other contractual
obligations, which reduces the amount we have available for capital investment, working capital or other
general corporate purposes;

* we are more vulnerable to adverse developments in general economic and industry conditions;

* we may be less flexible in responding to changing market conditions or in pursuing favorable business
opportunities;

* we may be limited in our ability to borrow additional funds; and
* we may be at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt.

In addition, our indebtedness could increase as a result of our financing the repurchase of up to 10% of our
share capital, as described under “Overview — Share Repurchase Program” in Item 5 of this annual report.

Our ability to obtain additional financing or to refinance our indebtedness could be restricted.

As of March 2007, our long-term secured indebtedness carried a non-investment grade rating from both
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. rating agency (Ba3) and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (BB-). As long as we have a non-investment grade credit rating, our access to the
debt capital markets will be restricted to the non-investment grade sector. Such a situation could increase our
borrowing costs or restrict our ability to obtain additional financing or to refinance our existing indebtedness, or to
do so on satisfactory terms.

Other Risk Factors

If Petrojarl, our former production business, fails to meet its indemnification obligations to us or if we are
subject to liabilities for which Petrojarl has not agreed to indemnify us, our business, results of operation or
financial condition could be harmed.

In June 2006, we completed the demerger of our former production business, Petrojarl. Following the
demerger of Petrojarl we retained a joint secondary liability for certain obligations of Petrojarl.

Petrojarl has in connection with the demerger agreed to indemnify us from liabilities related to its operations.
Such liabilities include liabilities related to the floating production, storage and offloading units, or “FPSOs”, that
we transferred to Petrojarl in connection with the demerger. With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven FPSO, we have
provided a separate on demand guarantee in connection with the demerger. The guarantee is made in relation to the
FPSO service agreement and is for the benefit of the Foinaven co-venturers, which is capped at $10 million. With
respect to Petrojarl Banff FPSO, we remain with a joint secondary liability with Petrojarl under their FPSO service
agreement with the Banff group. The guarantee is not capped. If these claims are made and Petrojarl does not honor
its obligation to indemnify us, it could adversely affect our business, results of operation or financial condition.

With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven, the UK Inland Revenue has raised an issue about the accelerated rate at
which tax depreciation is available. As part of the demerger plan, we agreed to reimburse Petrojarl for 50% of any
payment in excess of 13 million British pounds (approximately $25.6 million) related to this liability. Based on past
correspondence with external advisors we believe that the maximum exposure would be 7 million British pounds
(approximately $13.8 million) for us. We have not recorded any provision for this possible contingent loss because
we do not believe it is probable that any payment will be made.
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For additional information about our former UK leases, please read “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects — Liquidity and Capital Resources — UK Leases™ in Item 5 of this annual report.

Our share repurchase program could increase the volatility of the price and decrease the liquidity of our
ordinary shares.

In December 2006, our shareholders approved a share repurchase program at an extraordinary general
meeting. Under this program, we are authorized to purchase up to 10% of our share capital. This authorization by
our shareholders is valid for seven months after registration, or until approximately July 2007. We intend to propose
that our shareholders approve an extension of this program for an additional twelve-month period at our annual
general meeting in June 2007. Under the program, we can repurchase our shares from time to time at prevailing
market prices on the open markets where our ordinary shares are traded. The existence of our share repurchase
program and any purchases under this program could increase the volatility of the price and/or decrease the liquidity
of our ordinary shares.

We will require a significant amount of cash for our share repurchase program.

If we elect to repurchase a significant number of our shares under our share repurchase program, such
repurchases could require a significant amount of cash. To the extent we use our cash resources to repurchase our
shares, we will have less cash resources for operations and to fund growth opportunities, new development
initiatives and unanticipated capital expenditures. Our ability to repurchase shares will depend on our ability to
generate sufficient cash flows from operations in the future. This ability may be subject to certain economic,
financial, competitive and other factors that are beyond our control.

We are a multinational organization faced with increasingly complex tax issues in many jurisdictions, and
we could be obligated to pay additional taxes in various jurisdictions.

As a multinational organization, we are subject to taxation in many jurisdictions around the world with
increasingly complex tax laws. The amounts of taxes we pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially as a
result of changes in these laws or their interpretations by the relevant taxing authorities, which could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity and results of operations. In addition, those authorities could review our tax returns
and impose additional taxes and penalties, which could be material. We have identified issues in several
jurisdictions that could eventually make us liable to pay material amounts in taxes relating to prior years. We
also have some tax indemnity exposure relating to the rate at which capital allowances can be claimed under the UK
lease for Petrojarl Foinaven, which was transferred to Petrojarl in connection with the demerger of our former
production business. Additional issues that we are not currently aware of may be identified in the future.

Because we are a foreign company and many of our directors and executive officers are not residents of the
United States, you may have difficulty suing us and obtaining or enforcing judgments against us.

We are incorporated in the Kingdom of Norway, and substantially all of our current directors and executive
officers reside outside the United States. All or a substantial portion of the assets of these persons and our company
are located outside the United States. As a result, you may have difficulty:

* suing us or our directors and executive officers in the United States;

* obtaining a judgment in the Kingdom of Norway in an original action based solely on United States federal
securities laws; and

* enforcing in the Kingdom of Norway judgments obtained in the United States courts that are based upon the
civil liability provisions of the United States federal securities laws.
We could be adversely affected by violations of applicable anti-corruption laws.

We and our affiliated entities conduct business in countries known to experience government corruption. We
are committed to doing business in accordance with applicable anti-corruption laws and our code of conduct.
However there is a risk that we, our affiliated entities or our or their respective officers, directors, employees and
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agents may take action in violation of such anti-corruption laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of
1977. Any such violations could result in substantial civil and/or criminal penalties and might adversely affect our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

ITEM 4. Information on the Company
History and Development of the Company
Organization

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA is a public limited liability company established under the laws of the Kingdom
of Norway in 1991. We are organized as a holding company that owns subsidiary companies. Our subsidiary
companies conduct substantially all of our business. Unless we inform you otherwise or the context indicates
otherwise, references to us in this annual report are to Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, its predecessors and its
majority-owned subsidiaries. We maintain our headquarters and executive offices at Lysaker, Norway (Strand-
veien 4, N-1325, telephone: +47-67-52-64-00). Our registration number in the Norwegian Company Registry is
916235291. Our agent in the United States is CT Corporation System, 1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019.

Who We Are

We are one of the major global participants in the acquisition of marine three-dimensional (3D) seismic data.
We acquire, process, interpret, market and sell seismic data worldwide that is used by oil and natural gas companies
to help them find oil and natural gas and to determine the size and structure of known oil and natural gas reservoirs.
In our seismic projects, we are involved in planning the seismic surveys and acquiring and processing the seismic
data. Oil and natural gas companies use this information in evaluating whether to acquire new leases or licenses in
areas with potential accumulations of oil and natural gas, in selecting drilling locations, in modeling oil and natural
gas reservoir areas and in managing producing reservoirs. Oil and natural gas companies use 4D or time lapse
surveys, which are surveys produced by the repetition of identical 3D surveys over time, to assist in their evaluation
of subsurface geophysical conditions that change over time due to the depletion and production of reservoir fluids.
This evaluation provides for more efficient production of the reservoir and the possible extension of the reservoir’s
useful life. We use our High Density 3D — HD3D® — technology to acquire 3D data with higher trace densities,
giving improved resolution of the subsurface and higher quality images of the reservoirs.

In 2006, we managed our business in two segments as follows:

* Marine, which consists of streamer seismic data acquisition, marine multi-client library, data processing and
reservoir consulting; and

* Onshore, which consists of all seismic operations on land and in shallow water and transition zones,
including onshore multi-client library.

We manage our Marine segment from Lysaker, Norway and our Onshore segment from Houston, Texas.

We acquire seismic data both on an exclusive contract basis for our customers and on our own behalf as multi-
client data for licensing from time to time to multiple customers on a non-exclusive basis. In some of our projects,
we share interests in the revenue from the sales of the multi-client data with third parties. During 2006, we used our
active seismic vessel acquisition capacity, measured by time, approximately 83% to acquire contract data and
approximately 17% to acquire multi-client data. This compares to approximately 91% and 9%, respectively, for
2005 and 88% and 12%, respectively, for 2004.

On June 29, 2006, we completed the demerger of Petrojarl, our former production business. Petrojarl was
subsequently listed as an independent company on the Oslo Stock Exchange. We report the operations of Petrojarl,
together with those of our Pertra oil and gas subsidiary that we sold in March 2005, under discontinued operations.

Historical Development
The primary milestones in our historical development include the following:

* January 1991: Company established with the merger of Geoteam a.s. and Nopec a.s.
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o August 1992: Company ordinary shares listed on Oslo Stock Exchange

* May 1993: [Initial public offering and listing in U.S. on NASDAQ

* 1995-1999: Construction and deployment of six Ramform design 3D seismic vessels

» April 1997: Listing of our American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, on the New York Stock Exchange
* May 1998: Acquisition of Golar-Nor (Petrojarl I and Petrojarl Foinaven)

* October 1998: Delivery of Ramform Banff

o July 1999: Acquisition of FPSO Varg (renamed Petrojarl Varg)

e March 2001: Sale of data management business and related software to Landmark Graphics Corporation,
a subsidiary of Halliburton, and resumption of oil production by the re-tooled Ramform Banff

* August 2002: Acquisition of 70% ownership in, and operatorship of, PL. 038 on NCS of the North Sea
(including the Varg field)

* August-November 2002: Replacement of various members of senior management, including the Chair-
person of our Board of Directors, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, with a new non-
executive Chairperson of the Board, a new chief executive officer and a new chief financial officer

e February 2003: Sale of Atlantis subsidiary to Sinochem

» February 2003: Delisting of ADSs from the New York Stock Exchange and quotations for our ADSs
available through the Pink Sheets

e July 2003: Filing under Chapter 11 of U.S. Bankruptcy Code

e November 2003: Emergence from Chapter 11 proceedings, reorganization plan becomes effective and
new Board of Directors takes office

* December 2004: Re-listing of our ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange
* March 2005: Sale of our former oil and gas subsidiary Pertra to Talisman

e December 2005: Refinancing of $746 million of 10% senior notes and former $110 million credit facility
with a new $1 billion senior secured credit facility

e June 2006: Demerger of our former production business completed. Petrojarl listed as separate company

2006 Developments
Our primary business achievements in 2006 were:
e the successful demerger of our former production business, Petrojarl
 continued strong safety performance
* strong full year cash flow and significant debt reduction
e significant improvement in our marine seismic contract operating profit margins
e significantly increased Onshore revenues and operating profit
* higher pre-funding levels and multi-client late sales
e re-entry into the Gulf of Mexico with a new, large multi-client survey

¢ commencement of construction on two new and enhanced Ramform vessels

2007 Developments

In addition, during the first five months of 2007 we have:

e repurchased 2,123,500 shares for an aggregate cost of $49.2 million under our share repurchase program
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* entered into agreements with the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (“METI”) regarding the
sale of Ramform Victory, subject to a four- to ten-year service agreement

* proposed to pay a special dividend of NOK 10 per share (subject to approval at our 2007 annual general
meeting) and commenced an evaluation of a delisting of our ADSs from the New York Stock Exchange and a
deregistration of our ADSs and shares under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Demerger of Our Production Business (2006)

On June 29, 2006, we completed a demerger plan to separate our geophysical and production businesses into
two independently listed companies. Under the demerger plan, our subsidiary companies that previously conducted
our production business, and the assets, rights and liabilities related to the production business, were transferred to a
company named Petrojarl. Our subsidiary companies that previously conducted our geophysical business, and the
assets, rights and liabilities related to the geophysical business, were retained under Petroleum Geo-Services ASA.

Upon completion of the demerger, each holder of our ordinary shares and each holder of our ADSs received
one ordinary share of Petrojarl or one American Depositary Share representing an ordinary share of Petrojarl
(“Petrojarl ADSs”), in each case for each of our shares or ADSs held. The ordinary shares in Petrojarl started trading
on the Oslo Stock Exchange on June 30, 2006. Petrojarl was not listed in the U.S.

Upon completion of the demerger, we held 19.99% of the outstanding Petrojarl shares. We sold those shares in
the second and third quarters of 2006, and we owned no shares in Petrojarl as of December 31, 2006.

In connection with the demerger, in late June 2006, we received net cash proceeds of $269.8 million. When we
sold the Petrojarl shares, we received an additional $126.1 million, net of expenses and demerger costs. We used
these amounts to repay indebtedness under our term-loan facility.

Following the demerger of Petrojarl, we retained a joint secondary liability for certain obligations of Petrojarl.

Petrojarl has in connection with the demerger agreed to indemnify us from liabilities related to its operations.
Such liabilities include liabilities related to the floating production, storage and offloading units, or “FPSOs”, that
we transferred to Petrojarl in connection with the demerger. With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven FPSO, we have
provided a separate on demand guarantee in connection with the demerger. The guarantee is made in relation to the
FPSO service agreement and is for the benefit of the Foinaven co-venturers, which is capped at $10 million. With
respect to Petrojarl Banff FPSO, we remain with a joint secondary liability with Petrojarl under their FPSO service
agreement with the Banff group. The guarantee is not capped. If these claims are made and Petrojarl does not honor
its obligation to indemnify us, it could adversely affect our business, results of operation or financial condition.

With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven, the UK Inland Revenue has raised an issue about the accelerated rate at
which tax depreciation is available. As part of the demerger plan, we agreed to reimburse Petrojarl for 50% of any
payment in excess of 13 million British pounds (approximately $25.6 million) related to this liability. Based on past
correspondence with external advisors we believe that the maximum exposure would be 7 million British pounds
(approximately $13.8 million) for us. We have not recorded any provision for this possible contingent loss because
we do not believe it is probable that any payment will be made.

Sales of Subsidiaries (2003 — 2005)

In 2003, we sold our Atlantis oil and gas subsidiary to China National Chemicals Import and Export
Corporation for a combination of $48.6 million in cash, the reimbursement of $10.6 million of expenditures and the
right to receive additional future payments of up to $25.0 million if certain contingent events occur. The sale
agreement was amended in June 2005 and now provides that we may receive a maximum of $10.0 million if certain
contingent events occur. In March 2006, we received $3.0 million of such contingent payments.
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In 2003, we sold our software subsidiary, PGS Tigress (UK) Ltd., for deferred compensation payable in 2004
through 2007 of $1.8 million in the aggregate, for which payments were received in 2004 and 2005. In 2006, we
agreed to a settlement with the new owners pursuant to which we recognized a loss of $0.3 million.

In March 2005, we sold our wholly owned subsidiary Pertra AS to Talisman for an initial sales price of
approximately $155 million. We recognized a $157.9 million gain from the sale in 2005, including $2.5 million for
an option to make certain amendments to the charter and operating agreement for the Petrojarl Varg and $8.1 million
in additional sales consideration. As a part of the agreement, we were entitled to receive additional sales
consideration equal to the value, on a post petroleum tax basis, of 50% of the relevant revenues from the Varg
field in excess of $240 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. As a result, we recorded
additional income of $8.1 million in 2005 and $0.3 million in 2006.

For additional information about our acquisitions and dispositions, please read Note 25 of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements in Item 18 of this annual report.
Our Business Priorities

Following the demerger of Petrojarl and the significant reduction in our outstanding indebtedness, we intend to
create value for our shareholders by focusing and expanding our geophysical business as described below. In
addition, we intend to continue our focus on health, safety and environmental (“HSE”) performance and
strengthening internal controls, corporate governance and human resource capabilities.

Marine

We intend to expand our Marine business, both through our program to construct and deliver two new and
enhanced high-capacity Ramform seismic vessels and increased multi-client investments. Within Marine, we also
intend to maintain our emphasis on higher acquisition productivity and regularity in our operations and in customer
delivery. We also intend to enhance the productivity advantage of our Ramform vessels by increasing their streamer
count.

We intend to expand our Data Processing business through organic growth and targeted acquisitions. We
intend to improve our competitive position by increasing our research and development activities, with a strong
focus on commercializing selected new technologies.

Onshore

We intend to increase our seismic data acquisition capacity, while pursuing a broader, but selective
geographical market exposure.
Our Strategies

Our principal strategies include:

(1) capitalizing on our strong cost position and operating performance of our Ramform seismic vessels;

(2) increasing our operating margins on existing acquisition capacity by:

* reducing steaming and downtime in Marine,

* increasing our focus on survey project planning and execution,
* focusing our work where premium pricing is available,

e selectively increasing our streamer count, and

e investing in more effective seismic data acquisition capacity;

(3) maximizing the value of our multi-client data library by:

* increasing our investments in our multi-client library with strong emphasis on prospectivity and high

pre-funding,
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* strengthening our emphasis on the target selection process and assessment of prospectivity,
* enhancing our existing library through reprocessing; and

* selectively making strategic equity investments through contributions of rights to use our multi-client
data;

(4) increasing our Onshore activity in specific geographic regions:

(5) capturing the full potential in our data processing centers and increasing our market share, especially in
high-end processing;

(6) commercializing and investing in new technology and equipment, including new streamers, to increase
productivity on our unique Ramform seismic vessels and our HD3D® seismic solution; and

(7) evaluating selective acquisition and diversification opportunities.

In the past, we have invested heavily in our multi-client seismic data library and in high technology acquisition
equipment, including:

e our Ramform seismic vessels;

* our high capacity computing facilities, together with the development of specialized proprietary software for
seismic imaging, multi-component processing, signal enhancement and visualization technology; and

* state-of-the-art technology in our onshore seismic data acquisition equipment to enable efficient acquisition
of high quality seismic data in varied terrain.

We believe that our main competitive strengths include:
* our highly experienced work force;
* high operational reliability, safety and customer satisfaction;

* our ability to tow more streamers and our superior streamer retrievability, control and stability, which yield
better cost effectiveness on surveys and in adverse weather conditions, respectively;

 our high technology Ramform seismic vessels;
e the high channel counts and standardized equipment for our onshore operations; and

* our global presence.

Geographic Areas of Operation
We have divided our Marine business into three primary areas of operations:
e North and South America;
* Europe, Africa and the Middle East; and
* Asia Pacific.
We have divided our Onshore business into three primary areas of operations:
e North America (U.S. and Canada);
e Latin America (Mexico and South America); and
* Eastern Hemisphere.

We acquire seismic data in most of the active oil and natural gas exploration or production areas around the
world, including:

e offshore and onshore Canada;

¢ the Gulf of Mexico;
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* onshore in the U.S. mid continent, Rocky Mountains and Alaskan North Slope regions;
* offshore and onshore Mexico and other parts of Latin America;
e offshore Brazil;

¢ the North Sea;

e the Mediterranean and Black Seas;

* offshore West Africa, including shallow water areas;

¢ the Middle East and Africa;

* the Caspian Sea area;

¢ offshore China and Korea;

* offshore India and onshore Bangladesh;

e offshore in the Sakhalin area of Russia; and

* offshore Australia, Indonesia and other countries in the Asia Pacific region.

Contract and Multi-Client Operations
Contract Operations

When we acquire seismic data on a contract basis, our customers direct the scope and extent of the survey and
retain ownership of the data obtained. Contracts for seismic data acquisition, which are generally awarded on a
competitive bid basis, may include both a day-rate and a production rate element. Under these contracts, the
customer assumes primary responsibility for interruption of acquisition operations due to factors that are beyond
our control, including weather and permitting. Contracts are also awarded on a turnkey basis. With turnkey
contracts, the customers pay based upon the number of seismic lines or square kilometers of seismic data collected.

During 2006, we used 83% of our active streamer 3D vessel acquisition capacity, measured by time, to acquire
seismic data on a contract basis. We performed contract operations during 2006 in the North Sea; offshore Brazil;
offshore West and South Africa; in the Mediterranean; offshore Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia and other
countries in the Asia Pacific region; offshore Russia; offshore Qatar; onshore in the continental U.S. as well as
Alaska, Canada, Mexico, Venezuela, Libya and Bangladesh; and in shallow water offshore Nigeria.

Multi-Client Operations

From the perspective of an oil and natural gas company, licensing multi-client seismic data on a non-exclusive
basis is typically less expensive on a per unit basis than acquiring the seismic data on an exclusive basis. From our
perspective, multi-client seismic data can be more cost effective to acquire and may be sold a number of times to
different customers over a period of years. As a result, multi-client seismic data has the potential to be more
profitable than contract data. However, when we acquire multi-client seismic data we assume the risk that future
sales may not cover the cost of acquiring and processing such seismic data. Obtaining pre-funding for a portion of
these costs reduces this risk, and typically we require a relatively high level of pre-funding before beginning a
project. We determine the level of pre-funding that we will require before initiating a multi-client seismic survey by
evaluating various factors affecting the sales potential of each survey. These factors include:

* the existence, quality and age of any seismic data that may already exist in the area;
 the amount of leased acreage in the area;

» whether or when an award of a license to explore and develop an area for production to be covered by a
survey is expected to be granted;

* the prospectivity of the area in question for hydrocarbons and for future licenses of multi-client data;

* the existing infrastructure in the region to transport oil and natural gas to market;

19



* the historical turnover of the leased acreage;
* the political and economic stability of the countries where the data are to be acquired; and
* the level of interest from oil and natural gas companies in the area.

We own a significant library of marine multi-client data in most of the major oil and natural gas basins of the
world, including the Gulf of Mexico, the North Sea, offshore West Africa, offshore Brazil and the Asia Pacific
region. Our onshore library is entirely in North America. After substantial reductions in our multi-client invest-
ments in 2003 and 2004, we increased our investments in multi-client library by 35% in 2005 (as compared to
2004) and by 104% in 2006 (as compared to 2005).

In our multi-client operations, we make initial sales of the data prior to project completion, which we refer to as
pre-funding sales, and we refer to all further sales as late sales. We make a substantial portion of these late sales in
connection with acreage licensing round activity in those regions where we have a data library. Typically, customers
are required to pay an amount for access to the data and additional amounts, or uplift fees, upon award of a
concession or sometimes upon execution of a production sharing or similar contract. The timing and regularity of
such license round activity varies considerably depending upon a number of factors, including in particular the
geopolitical stability of the region in question. As a result, both the total amount and the timing of late sales can be
difficult to forecast accurately, with potentially significant revenue swings from quarter to quarter and from year to
year.

We attempt to protect our multi-client seismic data from misuse by customers primarily through contractual
provisions that permit the use of the data only by that particular customer on a nontransferable basis. Such
provisions can be effective only if misuse of the data by customers or third parties can be detected and if our rights
can be enforced through legal action.

Our multi-client data is marketed primarily through our own sales organization.

Our Marine Segment

Marine Acquisition

We believe that we operate one of the most advanced marine seismic data acquisition fleets in the world. As of
December 31, 2006, we had a total of eleven 3D marine seismic streamer crews operating seismic vessels and one
2D vessel crew. We also had two Ramform design seismic 3D vessels under construction, with expected deliveries
in the first quarter of 2008 and the second quarter of 2009. In carrying out our operating activities, we enter into,
from time to time, agency agreements, joint venture agreements and joint operating agreements with third parties.

Streamer Seismic Acquisition

In our streamer operations, we use our seismic vessel fleet to acquire 3D, 4D and HD3D® seismic data as
described above under “History and Development of the Company — Who We Are.” For information relating to
our fleet of vessels used to acquire marine seismic data, see “Vessel Fleet and Crews” below.

Vessel Fleet and Crews

We acquire marine seismic data using seismic crews primarily through owned and chartered vessels that have
been constructed or modified to our specifications and outfitted with a complement of data acquisition, recording,
navigation and communications equipment. Our crews direct the positioning of a vessel using sophisticated
navigation equipment, deploy and retrieve streamers, cables, receivers and energy sources, and operate all of the
seismic systems. Our seismic crews do not perform maritime operation of the vessels. The vessel maritime crews are
employed by us, by the owner of a chartered vessel, or by a contract operator.

Our seismic vessels have an equipment complement consisting of the following:
e recording instrumentation;
* digital recording streamers;

* acoustic positioning systems for source and streamer locations;
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» multiple navigation systems for vessel positioning; and

* a source control system that controls the synchronization of the energy sources and an air gun array firing
system that activates the acoustic energy source.

We provide in the following table information as of December 31, 2006 about our marine seismic data

acquisition vessels.

ey

2

3

Maximum

Streamers

Deployed

Total Total Maximum (through Owned or
Year Rigged/ Length Beam Streamer December 31, Charter

Vessel Name Converted (Feet) (Feet) Capability 2006) Expiration
3D Seismic Vessels:
Ramform Explorer . ....... 1995 269 130 12 12 Owned
Ramform Challenger. . . . ... 1996 283 130 16 12 Owned(1)
Ramform Valiant. . .. ...... 1998 283 130 20 12 2023(1)
Ramform Viking . ......... 1998 283 130 20 10 Owned
Ramform Victory. ......... 1999 283 130 20 16 2024(1)(3)
Ramform Vanguard. . . . . . .. 1999 283 130 20 12 Owned
Atlantic Explorer . ........ 1994 300 57 6 6 Owned
Pacific Explorer . ......... 1994 300 72 8 8 Owned
Nordic Explorer . ......... 1993 266 54 6 6 Owned
Ocean Explorer . ......... 199372006 266 59 6 6 Owned
Orient Explorer .......... 1995 269 49 4 4 2007(2)
2D Seismic Vessels:
Falcon Explorer . ......... 1997/2006 268 53 1 1 Owned
Support Vessels:
Remus ................. 1998 153 33 N/A N/A Owned
Romulus. ............... 1997 144 35 N/A N/A Owned

We have UK lease arrangements for each of the Ramform Valiant, the Ramform Victory and the Ramform
Challenger. The UK lease for the Ramform Victory was terminated March 15, 2007. Under the leases, we lease
the vessels under long-term charters that give us the option to purchase the vessels for a de minimis amount at
the end of the charter periods. The leases are legally defeased because we have made payments to banks in
consideration for which the banks have assumed liability to the lessors equal to basic rentals and termination
sum obligations. Please read Notes 2 and 21 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in
Item 18 of this annual report.

The charter agreement for the Orient Explorer has a one-year term and will be extended annually for each year
until 2011, unless we terminate the charter by giving three months’ notice.

In March 2007, PGS entered into a heads of agreement with METT that contemplates the sale of the Ramform
Victory and a four-to-ten year service agreement. We expect METI to take delivery of the Ramform Victory in
the fourth quarter of 2007. The heads of agreement is subject to the satisfactory completion of certain definitive
documentation. On May 11, 2007, a main agreement, sales agreement and a license agreement were entered
into, which are subject to completion of a technical and operational service agreement within 30 days.

We are building two new third generation Ramform design seismic vessels at Aker Yards, Langsten, Norway.

We currently expect delivery of one of these vessels, which we announced in March 2006, in the first quarter of
2008. We expect this new vessel to cost approximately $85 million, excluding the cost of seismic equipment, and we
expect the total cost to be approximately $160 million, excluding project management cost and interest. We expect
the second vessel, announced in September 2006, to be delivered in the second quarter of 2009 with a total cost of
approximately $170 million. Aker Yards has constructed all six of our existing Ramform design seismic vessels.
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The third generation Ramform vessels will be designed consistent with our objectives of (1) being a leader in 3D
seismic acquisition productivity and efficiency, and (2) implementing our HD3D® technical strategy.
Competition in Our Marine Segment

The seismic data acquisition business is very competitive worldwide for both the contract market and the
multi-client market. We compete for available seismic surveys based on a number of factors, including technology,
price, performance, dependability, vessel availability, safety and turnaround time. Our largest competitors on a
global basis are WesternGeco, which is owned by Schlumberger Limited, and CGG Veritas.

Data Processing and Technology

In late 2006 we reorganized and combined our data processing, technology development, research and
development and reservoir-related consulting activities into a new business unit that we refer to as PGS Data
Processing & Technology. This business unit, which we report as part of our Marine segment, includes our Data
Processing unit and our Geoscience & Engineering organization. The latter organization has global responsibility
for technology development, research and development and providing geophysical support for our Marine and
Onshore segments. In addition, we perform internal and external reservoir-related consulting activities through this
organization.

We expect to form in 2007 a Commercialization & New Ventures group within Data Processing & Technology
to assist in introducing new technology products in the market.

Data Processing. Our Data Processing business is an integral part of both our Marine and Onshore segments.
Our Data Processing business provides seismic data processing services;

e that we use to develop multi-client data that is added to our own multi-client data library;

« that we use to reprocess and enhance older multi-client data to increase the potential for additional late
sales; and

e to clients for their own use.

We perform some processing services offshore onboard our seismic vessels, but we perform the majority of
such services in our land-based data processing centers. As of December 31, 2006, we had 17 land-based data
processing centers. Our largest data processing centers are located in Houston, Texas; London, UK; Rio de Janeiro,
Brazil; and Perth, Australia. We have inter-connected through high capacity network links our four centers located
in Houston, London, Perth, and Lysaker (Norway).

Through our seismic data processing operations we provide:
e 2D and 3D time and depth imaging services for land and marine seismic surveys;

* onboard (vessel) seismic data processing for reduced delivery times and enhanced real-time quality control
for data that we acquire;

* multi-component and time-lapse seismic data processing;

e wide-azimuth and multi-azimuth seismic processing;

* HD3D® seismic processing; and

e specialized signal enhancement techniques.

Geoscience and Engineering. Our research and development activities include:

e development of our next generation streamer system, which we expect will combine hydrophones and
velocity sensors in a dual sensor towed streamer with the aim to improve both seismic image quality and
operational efficiency;

e application of marine electro magnetic measurement to identify oil and natural gas in the subsurface,
including applications where both the source and the recording device is towed;

22



* development and implementation of software for use by our Data Processing and Technology unit in seismic
imaging and processing of data from non-conventional surveys;

* development and implementation of 3D visualization, seismic modeling and survey design systems; and

* improving technology for acquiring marine seismic data including streamer systems, seismic source systems
and towing systems for large streamer spreads. This activity is a key factor in maintaining a leadership
position in the efficient acquisition of marine seismic data.

We also provide, through our PGS reservoir organization, subsurface technical and commercial expertise
including large scale regional interpretations, which we refer to as PGS MegaSurveys, and consulting services for
evaluating exploration prospects and managing producing fields and reservoirs. We have experienced technical
staff, including geoscientists, petrophysicists and reservoir engineers, who draw upon years of experience within the
oil industry, often with international oil companies. We perform these services for customers that include
independent and major oil companies, governments and financial institutions. Through these projects, we have
gained a substantial knowledge of subsurface petroleum basins around the world.

Fiber Optic Technology. Our research and development activities include our research, which began in 1997,
on the potential use of fiber optic technology in seismic applications. In this research, we have emphasized
permanent monitoring of producing oil and gas reservoirs. By permanently placing fiber optic cables over a
producing reservoir, we can detect changes in reservoir characteristics. We believe that oil and gas companies may
be able to use this increased knowledge of changes in reservoir characteristics to improve recoveries from such
reservoirs.

We believe that there are several technical advantages of using a fiber optic system rather than a conventional
monitoring system and that these advantages may provide the foundation for a more reliable monitoring system. In
2006, we tested a fiber optic cable in the Gulf of Mexico with a major oil company. The test confirmed certain
technical capabilities of a fiber optic monitoring system, and we are constructing a 12-kilometer long cable that we
intend to deploy on a producing field in deep water in 2007.

Competition in our Data Processing Business. The seismic data processing business is very competitive
worldwide. We compete based on a number of factors, including technology, price, performance, dependability,
turnaround time and processing capacity availability. Our processing operations compete primarily for time
processing contracts with WesternGeco, which is owned by Schlumberger Limited, and CGGVeritas. For depth
imaging and other advanced processing applications, we also compete with several smaller processing companies.
We compete for time processing contracts based primarily on price and technology, but processing capacity,
turnaround time and processing center location are also important factors.

Our Onshore Segment

Our Onshore segment consists of seismic acquisition operations on land and in very shallow water and
transition zones. This segment also includes our onshore multi-client library. We conduct contract onshore seismic
acquisition throughout the world. Our onshore multi-client library is entirely in the United States. During 2006, we
conducted seismic acquisition operations in the continental U.S., Alaska, Canada, Mexico, Venezuela, Nigeria,
Libya and Bangladesh. During 2006, active crew counts have ranged from eight to eleven. As of December 31,
2006, we had eight crews conducting activities in the United States, Canada and Libya.

We are pursuing disciplined capital and geographic growth through selected opportunities in strategic markets
worldwide. We are expanding our multi-client onshore library in the U.S. mid-continent and elsewhere, building on
our successful HD3D® wide-azimuth seismic processing programs.

In the market for onshore seismic services, we believe that we are one of the larger worldwide operators,
measured in terms of revenues. We compete in the onshore segment not only on price and crew availability, but also
by the quality of the data we acquire and the safety of our operations. We believe that we can remain competitive by
capitalizing on our project execution and management skills and by continuing to provide a high-quality technical
product. The majority of our recording equipment pool is relatively uniform, facilitating changing crew counts and
channel counts on any specific crew as the market dictates.
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Discontinued Operations

We completed the demerger of our former production business, Petrojarl, on June 29, 2006 as described in
more detail under “Demerger of our Production Business (2006)” above. We report the results from our former
production business in our consolidated statements of operations under income from discontinued operations, net of
tax.

We sold Pertra to Talisman on March 1, 2005, as described in more detail under “Sales of Subsidiaries
(2003 — 2005)” above. We report the operations of Pertra in our consolidated statements of operations under
income from discontinued operations, net of tax.

Other Factors Related to Our Business
Intellectual Property

Our patents, trademarks, service marks, copyrights and licenses protect our proprietary technology, including
our Ramform seismic vessels and HD3D® seismic solution software. Our intellectual property rights collectively
represent a material asset to our business. However, no single patent, trademark, copyright, license or piece of
technical information is of material importance to our business when taken as a whole. As of December 31, 2006,
we held 170 patents under the laws of the United States, the United Kingdom and Norway. The duration of these
patents varies from 7 to 19 years, depending upon the date filed and the duration of protection granted by each
country. For more information relating to the risks associated with our dependence upon proprietary technology, see
“Key Information — Risk Factors — Risk Factors Relating to Our Business Operations — Our results of oper-
ations depend in part upon our ability to establish and protect our proprietary technology” in Item 3 of this annual
report.

Seasonality

We incorporate by reference in response to this item the information in “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects — Seasonality” in Item 5 of this annual report.

Operating Conditions and Insurance

Our operations are exposed to extreme weather and other hazardous conditions. These operations are subject to
risks of injury to personnel and loss of equipment. We have safety compliance programs staffed by full-time
professional employees and a program for developing, implementing and managing our responsibility for the health
and safety of our employees and the environments in which we operate. Systems for reporting and tracking the
occupational health of our employees are in place in our business units. Company-wide initiatives focus on the
further development of our environmental management systems. We consider each employee to be a vital
contributor to health, safety and environment in our company, and we are fully committed to our health, safety
and environment program.

Since 1994 we have operated our own captive re-insurance company that provides insurance for our seismic
equipment, including marine acquisition vessels and equipment, onshore equipment and data processing and
information technology hardware and software. As part of this insurance, all of our seismic vessels have a level of
coverage against war and terrorism risks that we believe is customary for our industry. We do not generally maintain
such insurance for our land-based assets because we do not believe such insurance is cost effective. As noted below,
this insurance is subject to deductibles and limits of coverage and is supplemented by commercial reinsurance
arrangements with creditworthy re-insurers.

We obtain a substantial portion of our casualty insurance through our wholly owned captive re-insurance
company. As of December 31, 2006, we retained a maximum risk retention of $7.2 million per year, in excess of
underlying deductibles. Our various operating companies have a deductible per occurrence when obtaining this
casualty insurance from the captive company, ranging from $125,000 per accident for our seismic vessels and up to
$200,000 per accident for our streamers.
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Governmental Regulation

In various areas of the world, we are required to obtain and we have licenses to acquire multi-client seismic
data. Licensing and permitting requirements vary widely. We believe that we have complied in all material respects
with the licensing and permitting requirements relating to our acquisition of multi-client data.

Our operations are also affected by the exploration and production licensing requirements of various
governmental authorities. The timing and extent of licensing of areas for exploration and production activities
influence the level of seismic activity within a particular country. Prospective licensees often purchase multi-client
seismic data prior to the award of a license. Following a license award, license holders will generally acquire
seismic data for the newly licensed areas if they have not previously obtained multi-client data. In the North Sea, the
governments of Norway and the United Kingdom generally hold licensing rounds for exploration and production
every year. In the Gulf of Mexico, licensing of blocks for exploration and production are typically held twice each
year, once offshore Texas and once offshore Louisiana. In Brazil, a license round has occurred each year during the
last few years. In other areas of the world, the timing and extent of these licensing rounds might be more irregular,
and the licenses awarded may be subject to resolution of border disputes. The length of the actual license to explore
for oil and natural gas varies from region to region.

Additionally, our operations are affected by a variety of other laws and regulations, including laws and
regulations relating to:

e permitting or licensing agreements for oil and natural gas exploration, development and production
activities;

 exports and imports;

* currency;

* taxes;

 occupational health and safety;

* the protection of the environment; and

* anti-corruption.

Our operations are subject to a variety of laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the
environment or otherwise relating to environmental protection. Numerous governmental departments issue rules
and regulations implementing their laws, which are often complex. Compliance with these rules and regulations is
often costly, and failure to comply can carry substantial penalties or fines. Under these laws, rules and regulations,
we may be liable for remediation or removal costs, damages and other costs associated with releases of hazardous
materials including oil into the environment.

We believe that we are currently in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of environmental,
export/import and occupational health and safety laws and regulations. Please read “Key Information — Risk
Factors — Risk Factors Relating to Our Business Operations — Unpredictable changes in governmental regula-
tions could increase our operating costs and reduce demand for our services” in Item 3 of this annual report.

Capital Expenditures

We incorporate by reference in response to this item the information in “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Capital Requirements and Commitments” in Item 5 and Note 27
of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item 18 of this annual report, which, among other things,
provide information on the nature and geographic distribution of our capital expenditures.

Geographic Mix of Operations and Segment Information

We incorporate by reference in response to this item the information regarding the geographic mix of our
operations and segments, including revenue breakdowns, in Note 27 of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements in Item 18 of this annual report.
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Organizational Structure

We provide in the following table a list of our subsidiaries and affiliated companies as of May 10, 2007.

Shareholding

and Voting
Company Jurisdiction Rights
PGS Shipping AS . . ... Norway 100%
Oslo Seismic Services Ltd. . ...... .. ... Isle of Man 100%
PGS Geophysical AS. ... ... Norway 100%
Multiklient Invest AS. . ... . Norway 100%
Petroleum Geo-Services, Inc. . ... ... . . United States 100%
Petroleum Geo-Services (UK) Ltd. . ........ ... ... ... ... ....... United Kingdom 100%
Seahouse Insurance Ltd. . ......... ... .. ... . .. ... . ... Bermuda 100%
PGS Mexicana SA de CV ... ... Mexico 100%
Dalmorneftegeofizika PGS AS. ... ... ... . . Norway 49%
Baro Mekaniske Verksted AS. .. ... ... . ... Norway 10%
Calibre Seismic Company . .. ... ... ...ttt United States 50%
PGS Capital, Inc. ... ... United States 100%
Diamond Geophysical Services Company . . . ...............oooo..... United States 100%
PGS Exploration (Nigeria) Ltd. .. ....... .. ... ... . ... Nigeria 100%
PGS Data Processing Middle East SAE . .......... ... ... ... ...... Egypt 100%
PGS Data Processing, Inc. . . ... ... .. United States 100%
Petroleum Geo-Services Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. ....................... Singapore 100%
PGS Australia Pty. Ltd. . ... ... Australia 100%
Atlantis (UK) Ltd. .. ... ... . . e United Kingdom 100%
PGS Egypt for Petroleum Services. ............. .. ..., Egypt 99%
Hara SKip AS . .. Norway 100%
PGS Exploration, SDNBHD . .. ... ... .. .. ... . .. Malaysia 100%
PGS Exploration, Inc. .. ... . . United States 100%
PGS Exploration Pty. Ltd. . ........... . . . . Australia 100%
PGS Ocean Bottom Seismic, Inc. . ......... ... ... ... ... ....... United States 100%
PGS Exploration (UK) Ltd. . ........... . . . .. United Kingdom 100%
PGS Pension Trustee Ltd. . .......... .. .. . . United Kingdom 100%
PGS Reservoir Ltd. . ... ..o o United Kingdom 100%
Atlantic Explorer Ltd. .. ...... .. .. . . . Isle of Man 50%
Oslo Seismic Services Inc. . ... United States 100%
Oslo Explorer Plc . ... ... . . . Isle of Man 100%
Oslo Challenger Plc. ... ... o e Isle of Man 100%
PGS Shipping (Isle of Man) Ltd. . .............. ... ... ... Isle of Man 100%
PGS Onshore, Inc. . ... ... . . e United States 100%
PGS Onshore (Canada), Inc. . ......... ... ... .. ... . ... .. oo, Canada 100%
PGS Americas, InC. .. ... United States 100%
Seismic Energy Holding, Inc. . ...... ... .. ... .. .. ... ... ... . ... United States 100%
PGS Exploration (Norway) AS. . .. ... Norway 100%
PGS Multi-Client Seismic Ltd. . ............ ... ... .. Jersey 100%
PGS Marine Services (Isle of Man) Ltd. . .......................... Isle of Man 100%
Deep Gulf LLC . . . . . United States 50.1%



Shareholding

and Voting
Company Jurisdiction Rights
PGS Nopec (UK) Ltd. . .. ... e United Kingdom 100%
PGS Nominees Ltd. . ......... .. . United Kingdom 100%
SOH, Inc. . . ... e United States 100%
PT PGS Nusantara. . . .. ... ..ot e e Indonesia 100%
PGS Geophjysical (Angola) Ltd. . ...... ... ... ... ... United Kingdom 100%
Seismic Exploration (Canada) Ltd. . ......... ... ... ... ... ... .... United Kingdom 100%
PGS Ikdam Ltd. ... ... United Kingdom 100%
Sakhalin Petroleum Plc. . ..... ... ... .. ... ... Cyprus 100%
PGS Investigacao Petrolifera Limitada . .. ................ ... ...... Brazil 100%
Sea Lion Exploration Ltd. .. ...... ... ... .. ... .. .. Bahamas 100%
PGS Administracién y Servicios S A.de C.V. ... . ... ... Mexico 100%
PGS Servicios C.A. ... Venezuela 100%
PGS Venezuela de C.A. .. ... .. Venezuela 100%
PGS Overseas AS . . .. Norway 100%
PGS Suporte Logistico e Servicos Ltda. . ................ ... ...... Brazil 100%
PGS Finance, Inc. . . .. ... United States 100%
PGS Japan KK, ... Japan 100%
PGS (Kasakhstan) LLP . ........ ... ... . ... . . . . . . . Kazakhstan 100%
PGS CIS LLC . . .. e e e Russia 100%
PGS Seismic (UK) Ltd. . ........ ... . . . . United Kingdom 100%
Genesis Petroleum Europe Ltd. . ...... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... United Kingdom 50%
PGS Data Processing and Technology Sdn. Bhd. ..................... Malaysia 100%
PGS Onshore (Algeria) EURL . .. ... ... .. ... Algeria 100%
PGS (Malta) Limited . . . . .......... ... Malta 100%
PGS (Malta) Holdings Limited. . . ............... .. ... ... ... Malta 100%
PGS Overseas Operation (Cyprus) Ltd. . ..... ... ... ............ Cyprus 100%
PGS Overseas Trading (Cyprus) Ltd. . ..... ... ... ... Cyprus 100%
PGS Khazar. . ... .. Russia 100%
PGS Onshore Peru S.A.C. ... ... Peru 100%
PGS Onshore Services S.A.C. ... ... .. Peru 100%
PGS Technology (Sweden) AB . ...... ... . .. .. ... . . Sweden 100%
Genesis Petroleum Corporation plc. . .. ... ... United Kingdom 24.4%
PGS Exploration Morocco SARL.. . .. ... . ... . . . Morocco 100%

Leased Premises

Our principal offices are at Lysaker, Norway in leased premises. We also maintain leased premises in other
cities in Norway, the United States, Angola, Azerbaijan, Australia, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Brazil, Canada, China,
Ecuador, Egypt, England, France, India, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Libya, Malaysia, Mexico, Nigeria, Russia,
Scotland, Singapore, the United Arab Emirates and Venezuela. We believe that all leased properties are well
maintained and are suitable for our present activities.
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ITEM 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

You should read the discussion under this caption in combination with consolidated financial statements and
the related notes in Item 18 of this annual report and “Key Information — Selected Financial Data” in Item 3 of this
annual report. This discussion is based upon, and the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this
annual report have been prepared in accordance with, United States generally accepted accounting principles. The
Sollowing information contains forward-looking statements. You should refer to the section in this annual report
captioned “Forward-Looking Statements” for cautionary statements relating to forward-looking statements.

Overview
Who We Are

We are a technologically focused oilfield service company principally involved in providing geophysical
services worldwide. Globally, we provide a broad range of geophysical and reservoir services, including seismic
data acquisition, processing and interpretation and field evaluation.

Following the demerger of our former production business (Petrojarl) in June 2006, we manage our business in
two segments as follows:

* Marine, which consists of streamer seismic data acquisition, marine multi-client library, data processing and
reservoir consulting; and

* Onshore, which consists of all seismic operations on land and in shallow water and transition zones,
including onshore multi-client library.

We present segment financial information in this annual report on a basis that is consistent with that used by
our management in evaluating the operational and financial performance of our operating segments, controlling our
business and making strategic decisions. Our operating segments are managed separately and represent strategic
business product lines. We manage our Marine segment from Lysaker, Norway and our Onshore segment from
Houston, Texas.

Share Repurchase Program

At our extraordinary general meeting held on December 13, 2006, our shareholders approved a share
repurchase program authorizing the Company to repurchase up to 10% of our share capital or up to 18 million
shares. This authorization by our shareholders is valid for seven months after registration, or approximately June
2007. We intend to propose that our shareholders approve an extension of this program for an additional twelve-
month period at our annual general meeting in June 2007. Under the program, we can repurchase our shares from
time to time at prevailing market prices on the open market where our ordinary shares are traded. The purpose of the
share repurchase program is to allow the Company to optimize its capital structure. Repurchased shares may be
reissued under our employee stock option or other incentive plans, as consideration payable for acquisitions made
by us, or as consideration for any merger, demerger or acquisition in which we participate. In addition, we may elect
to cancel shares repurchased.

NYSE Delisting

In March 2007, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission amended its rules governing when a foreign
private issuer may deregister its securities and terminate its reporting obligations under the U.S. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. The new rules are effective 4 June 2007 and will allow a foreign private issuer to terminate
its reporting obligations if certain criteria are met, including that the issuer has an average daily trading volume of its
securities in the United States equal to 5% or less of the average daily trading volume of those securities in securities
markets worldwide during a recent 12-month period. Based on a preliminary analysis, we expect to satisfy these
criteria.
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With the increased sophistication and transparency of the capital markets worldwide, we believe that the value
of maintaining a dual listing of our shares in the United States and Norway is reduced. Due to, among other things,
the limited trading and liquidity of our ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange and the cost and complexity of
maintaining dual listing and reporting, especially after we adopt International Financial Reporting Standards, we
have decided to commence a process to delist our ADSs from the New York Stock Exchange and deregister our
ADSs and shares under the Exchange Act. Subject to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory requirements, we
expect to commence the process shortly following the effective date of the amended rules.

Demerger of Our Former Production Business

On June 29, 2006, we completed a demerger plan to separate our Geophysical and our former Production
businesses into two independently listed companies. We accounted for the demerger as continuity of our book
values at the date of the demerger. In the demerger, our shareholders received a distribution of approximately 80%
of the shares in Petrojarl (formerly our Production business) while approximately 20% of the Petrojarl shares were
publicly offered to investors. The offering was completed at a price of NOK 43 per Petrojarl share. As part of the
stabilization program established to facilitate the offering, 6,467,440 shares were returned to PGS. In the third
quarter of 2006, we sold these Petrojarl shares to Teekay Shipping at a price of NOK 70 per share, recognizing a
$66.7 million gain from the sale. In connection with the demerger, we recognized demerger costs totaling
$10.0 million in 2006 and $1.7 million in 2005. For more information relating to the demerger, see “Demerger of
our Production Business (2006)” in Item 4 of this annual report. We have presented the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for our former Production business as discontinued operations in our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report for all periods presented.

Sale of Pertra

In March 2005, we sold our wholly owned subsidiary Pertra AS to Talisman Energy (UK) Ltd. for an initial
sales price of approximately $155 million and recognized a gain of $157.9 million. The amount includes
$2.5 million received for an option that we granted to the purchaser to make certain amendments to the charter
and operating agreement for the Petrojarl Varg and $8.1 million in additional sales consideration. As part of the
transaction, we received additional sales consideration of $0.3 million in 2006. For more information relating to our
sale of Pertra, see “Sales of Subsidiaries (2003 — 2005)” in Item 4 of this annual report. We have presented the
results of operations and cash flows for Pertra as discontinued operations in our consolidated financial statements
included in Item 18 of this annual report for all periods presented.

For a more comprehensive discussion of our history and development, including our business segments and our
strategic focus, please read “Information on the Company” in Item 4 of this annual report.

2005 Refinancing

In 2005, we (a) repaid $250 million of our unsecured 8% Senior Notes due 2006 and (b) refinanced (as
described below) $741 million of our $746 million of unsecured 10% Senior Notes due 2010 and our previous
$110 million secured credit facility. The 8% Senior Notes and the 10% Senior Notes were issued in our 2003
financial restructuring. Debt redemption and refinancing costs totaled $107.3 million (including a $0.4 million
write-off of deferred debt issue costs) and $9.9 million in capitalized deferred debt issue costs. As part of the 2005
refinancing, we established a $1 billion senior secured credit facility consisting of a seven-year $850 million term
loan and a five-year $150 million revolving credit facility. The new revolving credit facility replaced our previous
$110 million secured credit facility. For additional information about our loans and credit facilities, please read
“— Liquidity and Capital Resources — Sources of Liquidity — Capital Resources” below.

2003 Financial Restructuring and Fresh-Start Reporting

In 2003, we implemented a financial restructuring through reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bank-
ruptcy Code. We had approximately $1.1 billion of debt and other contractual obligations maturing during 2003,
including $930 million of bank debt and senior note obligations. The reorganization became effective and was
substantially completed on November 5, 2003.
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In connection with our emergence from Chapter 11, we adopted “fresh-start” reporting for financial statement
purposes, effective November 1, 2003, in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”) 90-7, “Financial
Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code.” Accordingly, we adjusted all assets and
liabilities to reflect their reorganization value as of November 1, 2003, which approximated fair value at the date of
reorganization. We determined that the reorganization value in accordance with SOP 90-7 was approximately
$1.5 billion.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We discuss below our operating results and financial condition based on our consolidated financial statements,
which are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In order to prepare these financial statements, we must make
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, our disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities and the amounts of reported revenues and expenses. We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions from time to time and may employ outside experts to assist in our evaluations. We believe that our
estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but we acknowledge that actual results may differ materially from what
we have estimated or assumed. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.

We list and summarize in greater detail below those accounting policies that we believe to be the most critical
in the preparation and evaluation of our financial statements and that involve the use of assumptions and estimates
that require a higher degree of judgment and complexity. As a result, our reported assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses could be materially affected if the assumptions and estimates we make were changed significantly, and our
actual financial position, results of operations, cash flows and future developments may differ materially from the
assumptions and estimates we have made. Our critical accounting policies and related estimates for the periods
discussed below relate to:

* revenue recognition;

» multi-client data library, including cost capitalization, sales, amortization and impairment;
 impairment of long-lived assets;

e deferred tax assets; and

e fresh-start reporting.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue on our contract sales of data and on our other services as we perform the services and are
able to charge the customer for these services. Because of the nature of our business, we incur and recognize costs
from time to time prior to the time revenues can be recognized. As a result, a non-symmetrical matching of revenues
and expenses may result in variability of results of operations between accounting periods.

Sales of our multi-client library generally fall into one of three categories.
» Late sales — we grant a license to the customer for a specified portion of the library.

* Volume sales agreements — we grant a license or licenses to a specified number of blocks in a defined
geographical area, allowing the customer to select and access the specific blocks over a period of time.

* Pre-funding arrangements — we obtain funding from a limited number of customers before we complete a
seismic acquisition project. In return for the pre-funding, we may provide the customer the ability to direct
or influence the project specifications, to access data as it is being acquired and to pay discounted prices.

We recognize revenue:

» from late sales when the customer executes a valid license agreement and has been granted access to the
licensed portion of the multi-client library and collection is reasonably assured;
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* from volume sales agreements ratably based on the total revenue and volume of data specified in the
agreement as the customer executes licenses for specific blocks and has been granted access to the data, and
collection is reasonably assured; and

 from pre-funding arrangements as the services are performed on a proportional performance basis, generally
based on physical progress, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria are satisfied.

Multi-Client Library

Our revenue recognition policy relating to our multi-client library is discussed above under “— Revenue
Recognition.”

We capitalize and include in our multi-client library the costs directly associated with acquiring, processing
and otherwise completing seismic surveys, including the applicable portion of interest costs. We base our
amortization of the multi-client library on the sales forecast method. Under this method, we amortize the cost
of each survey contained in the library based on the ratio between the cost of the survey and the total forecasted sales
of data for such survey. In applying this method, we categorize surveys into three amortization categories with
amortization rates of 90%, 75% or 60% of sales amounts. Each category will include surveys where the remaining
unamortized cost as a percentage of remaining forecasted sales is less than or equal to the amortization rate
applicable to each category. We have also established maximum book value criteria (minimum amortization) for
each survey or group of surveys in the library based on a five-year life for Marine and Onshore projects and a three-
year life for all derivative processed data. The maximum book value for each survey at year-end is the total cost of
the survey less accumulated straight-line minimum amortization. Because the minimum amortization requirements
generally apply to the multi-client library on a survey-by-survey basis rather than in the aggregate, we may incur
significant minimum amortization charges in a given year if the aggregate amount of ordinary amortization charges
recognized exceeds the aggregate minimum amortization charges.

We periodically evaluate the surveys in the multi-client library for impairment. We classify as amortization
expense in our consolidated statements of operations write-downs of individual multi-client surveys that are based
on changes in project specific expectations and that are not individually material. We expect this additional, non-
sales related, amortization expense to occur regularly because we evaluate each survey at least annually or when
specific impairment indicators exist. We classify as impairment in our consolidated statements of operations write-
downs related to fundamental changes in estimates affecting a larger part of our multi-client library where the
effects are material.

In determining the annual amortization rates applied to our multi-client library, we consider expected future
sales, market developments and past experience. These expectations include consideration of geographic locations,
prospects, political risk, exploration license periods and general economic conditions. Because of the inherent
difficulty in estimating future sales and market developments, amortization rates could deviate significantly from
year to year. Our ability to recover through sales of multi-client library data the costs included in the multi-client
library depends upon continued demand for the library data and the absence of technological, regulatory or other
developments that would render the data obsolete or reduce its value.

Due to our adoption of fresh-start reporting as of November 1, 2003, the book value of the portion of our multi-
client library that was recognized in the fresh-start balance sheet is reduced if and when we realize pre-fresh-start
tax assets. Future amortization costs will be reduced accordingly. For additional information, please see
“— Deferred Tax Assets” below and Note 22 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in
Item 18 of this annual report.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets or groups of assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the total of the undiscounted future cash flows is less
than the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets, the asset is not recoverable and we recognize an impairment
loss for the difference between the estimated fair value and the carrying value of the asset or group of assets. We
assess long-lived assets (multi-client library and property and equipment) for possible impairment upon the
occurrence of a triggering event. Events that can trigger assessments for possible impairments include, but are not
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limited to (a) significant decreases in the market value of an asset, (b) significant changes in the extent or manner of
use of an asset, and (c) a physical change in the asset.

Estimating undiscounted future cash flows requires us to make judgments about long-term forecasts of future
revenues and costs related to the assets subject to review. These forecasts are uncertain as they require assumptions
about demand for our products and services, future market conditions and future technological developments.
Significant and unanticipated changes in these assumptions could require a provision for impairment in a future
period. Given the nature of these evaluations and their application to specific assets and specific times, we cannot
reasonably quantify the impact of changes in these assumptions.

We did not recognize any material impairment in 2006 and 2004 for any individual asset. During 2005 we
converted our 4C crew into a streamer operation and recognized an impairment of $4.6 million.

Deferred Tax Assets

At December 31, 2006, we had a total of $419.4 million of deferred tax assets (net of deferred tax liabilities)
relating primarily to our operations in Norway and the UK. When we adopted fresh-start reporting as of
November 1, 2003, we established valuation allowances for all of our deferred tax assets. An additional valuation
allowance was established at December 31, 2004 for deferred tax assets arising during 2004. We establish a
valuation allowance by tax jurisdiction when we conclude it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. We periodically adjust the valuation allowance based upon available
evidence. During 2006, we concluded that certain valuation allowances were no longer necessary as available
evidence, including recent profits and estimates of projected near term future taxable income, supported a more
likely than not conclusion that the related deferred tax assets would be realized. As a result, in 2005 and 2006 we
released a portion of our valuation allowance. As a result, a deferred tax asset of $150 million was recognized in our
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2006.

We base our estimates of projected near-term future taxable income on a variety of factors and assumptions,
many of which are subjective and are outside of our control. Accordingly, these estimates could differ significantly
from year to year, and we might realize more or less of the deferred tax assets than we have recognized on the
balance sheet.

If and when we realize the benefits of deferred tax assets for which we established a valuation allowance at the
adoption of fresh-start reporting, the positive effect does not flow through the consolidated statement of operations
as a tax benefit, but is rather (as required under SOP 90-7) recorded as a reduction of the carrying value of long-term
intangible assets existing at adoption of fresh-start reporting, until the value of such assets is reduced to zero. If we
realize benefits of deferred tax assets after those intangible assets have been reduced to zero, we would credit the
benefits to shareholders’ equity. As a result of realization of such deferred tax assets in 2006, we reduced the
carrying values of the multi-client library by $92.7 million and other intangible assets by $19.1 million. In 2005, we
reduced the carrying values of our multi-client library by $25.3 million and other intangible and long-lived assets by
$1.8 million. As a result, we reduced to zero the multi-client library and other intangible assets shown on our
balance sheet as of the effectiveness of our adoption of fresh-start reporting in 2003. For additional information
about how we account for deferred tax assets, please see Note 2 and Note 22 of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.

Fresh-Start Reporting

When we emerged from Chapter 11, we adopted fresh-start reporting in accordance with SOP 90-7.
Accordingly, we adjusted all assets and liabilities to reflect their reorganization value as of November 1, 2003,
which approximated fair value at the date of reorganization. We engaged independent financial advisors to assist in
the determination of the reorganization value of the combined entity and for most of the individual assets and
liabilities. Assets and liabilities were valued based on a combination of the cost, income and market approach. We
also considered technical, functional and economic obsolescence. Please see “Overview — 2003 Financial
Restructuring and Fresh-Start Reporting” above.

Similar to the estimates made for long-lived assets as described above, the estimates of fair value made for
purposes of fresh-start reporting required judgments regarding long-term forecasts of future revenues and costs
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related to all significant assets and liabilities. These forecasts are uncertain in that they require assumptions about
demand for our products and services, future market conditions and technological developments. Significant and
unanticipated changes to these assumptions could require a provision for impairment in a future period.

We have indemnified the lessors in our UK leases for, among other things, the tax consequences resulting from
changes in tax laws or interpretations thereof or adverse rulings by the tax authorities (“Tax Indemnities”). In
connection with the adoption of fresh-start reporting in November 2003, we recorded a liability of 6.3 million
British pounds (approximately $10.7 million) relating to the Tax Indemnities. We released this liability in 2005
when the UK Inland Revenue accepted the lessors’ claims for capital allowances under each lease. We also had UK
leases related to our former Production business (Petrojarl), which we demerged in June 2006. Following the
demerger, Petrojarl has agreed to indemnify us from certain liabilities related to its operations. With respect to
Petrojarl Foinaven, the UK Inland Revenue has raised a separate issue about the accelerated rate at which tax
depreciation is available. As part of the demerger plan, we have agreed to reimburse Petrojarl for 50% of any
payment in excess of 13 million British pounds (approximately $25.6 million) related to this liability. Based on past
correspondence with external advisors we believe that our maximum exposure would be 7 million British pounds
(approximately $13.8 million). We have not recorded any provision for this possible contingent loss because we do
not believe it is probable that any payment will be made. For additional information about our UK leases, please
read “— Liquidity and Capital Resources — UK Leases” below.

Seasonality

Our Marine segment experiences seasonality as a result of weather-related factors. Weather conditions in the
North Sea generally prevent the full operation of seismic crews and vessels in the winter season and, due to vessel
relocation, generally adversely impact our first and fourth quarter results and, to a lesser extent, our second quarter
results. Storm seasons in the tropics can also affect our operations when we have crews in the Gulf of Mexico or
tropical Asia. During these periods, we generally relocate our seismic vessels to areas with more favorable weather
conditions to conduct seismic activities, or we conduct repairs and maintenance. On the other hand, our fourth
quarter revenue has historically been positively affected by end-of-year sales of multi-client data to oil and natural
gas companies. In addition, timing of licensing activities and oil and natural gas lease sales may significantly affect
quarterly operating results.

Our Onshore segment can also be affected by weather and seasons, depending on where we deploy our crews at
a particular time.

Our results of operations fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to a number of other factors. Oil and natural gas
industry capital expenditure budgets and spending patterns influence our results. These budgets are not necessarily
spent in equal or progressive increments during the year, with spending patterns affected by individual customer
requirements and industry-wide conditions. In addition, under our revenue recognition policy, revenue recognition
from data licensing contracts depends, among other things, upon when the customer selects the data. In addition,
many of our contract projects are relatively short term. The timing of start-up and completion and crew or vessel
movement can significantly affect our results of operations from period to period. As a result, our seismic services
revenue does not necessarily flow evenly or progressively during a year or from year to year.

Foreign Currency Fluctuations

We conduct business in various currencies and are subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk on cash flows
related to sales, expenses, financing and investing transactions in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. For a more
complete discussion of the impact of foreign currency fluctuations and the extent to which we hedge this exposure,
please see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk”
in Item 11 of this annual report.
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Results of Operations
Overview

Our results of operations for the years 2006, 2005 and 2004, are presented below in an expanded format that
shows the primary components of and key drivers affecting our results of operations. In addition, the results of
operations discussed below exclude the results from our former Production business (demerged in June 2006) and
our former oil and gas subsidiary Pertra (sold in March 2005),which are presented as discontinued operations in our
consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.

We discuss below our results of operations based on our two remaining business segments — Marine and
Onshore. Both segments operate worldwide and generate revenues primarily through contract acquisition sales and
multi-client sales (pre-funding and late sales). Corporate overhead and significant charges that do not relate
specifically to the operations of either segment are presented as Shared Services/Corporate.

Revenues

The table below presents our mix of revenues for each of the three years by business segment.

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Marine
CONract . . ..ottt e $ 635,626  $424,192  $297,749
Multi-client pre-funding. . ... ......... ... ... ... ...... 131,254 40,006 30,535
Multi-client late sales . .. .............. ... ... ... 221,980 218,781 203,397
Data Processing. . . ......... .. i 46,401 41,275 38,639
Other . ... e 9,254 428 485
1,044,515 724,682 570,805
Onshore
CONLTACE . . o v et e e e e e e e 218,215 122,415 110,288
Multi-client pre-funding. . .. ......... . ... ... ... ... 17,644 16,148 12,761
Multi-client late sales . .. ............ .. ... .. 27,491 13,976 10,112
263,350 152,539 133,161
Shared Services/Corporate . ........................ 2,652 19,418 20,852
Elimination of inter-segment sales. ... ................ (2,058) (8,618) (17,299)
Total TeVeNUES . . . . . . ..o $1,308,459  $888,021  $707,519

Our total revenues for 2006 increased by $420.5 million compared with 2005. Marine revenues increased by
$319.8 million, and Onshore revenues increased by $110.9 million, while Shared Services/Corporate/Elimination
on a combined basis decreased by $10.2 million. Revenues for 2005 increased by $180.5 million compared with
2004, due to revenues for Marine increasing by $153.9 million, Onshore increasing by $19.3 million, and Shared
Services/Corporate/Elimination on a combined basis increasing by $7.2 million.

Marine — 2006 vs. 2005. Marine 2006 revenues increased by $319.8 million (44%) compared with 2005.
Revenues from contract seismic acquisition increased by $211.4 million (50%), primarily due to improved contract
pricing and improved operating efficiency as compared with 2005. Revenues from multi-client late sales increased
by $3.2 million (1%). Revenues from multi-client pre-funding increased by $91.3 million (228%), and we increased
our investment in multi-client library by $35.0 million (76%). Pre-funding as a percentage of cash investments in
multi-client library increased to 162% in 2006 compared to 87% in 2005. In 2006 the fleet allocation (measured by
active vessel time) between contract and multi-client data acquisition was approximately 83%/17%, respectively,
compared to approximately 91%/9%, respectively, in 2005.
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Marine — 2005 vs. 2004. Marine 2005 revenues increased by $153.9 million (27%) compared with 2004.
Revenues from contract seismic acquisition increased by $126.5 million (42%), primarily as a result of improved
pricing, better contractual terms and general improvement of operational efficiency in 2005. In 2004, in addition to
weaker pricing, revenues were negatively affected by significant operating disturbances during completion of a
large turnkey project offshore India in the second quarter. Revenues from multi-client late sales increased by
$15.4 million (8%). In 2005, we increased our investment in multi-client data, and revenues from multi-client pre-
funding increased by $9.5 million (31%). Pre-funding as a percentage of cash investments in multi-client library
decreased to 87% in 2005 compared to 99% in 2004. We had a fairly consistent fleet allocation (active vessel time)
with approximately 91% contract and 9% multi-client in 2005, compared to 88% and 12%, respectively, in 2004.

Onshore — 2006 vs. 2005. Onshore revenues for 2006 increased by 110.9 million (73%) compared with
2005. Onshore operated three crews in Libya during 2006, in each case commencing acquisition in early 2006, as
well as significant activity in the U.S. Onshore started up a project in Nigeria in October 2005, which contributed to
revenues throughout 2006. The project was completed in December 2006.

Onshore — 2005 vs. 2004.  Onshore revenues for 2005 increased by $19.3 million (14%) as compared with
2004. Onshore had higher revenues in the U.S. and Canada both within the contract market and within the multi-
client market (where all revenues are generated in the U.S.). Furthermore, a new project in Nigeria increased
revenues in the Eastern Hemisphere, offset by reduced activity levels and revenues in Mexico.

Shared Services/Corporate revenues. Revenues in Shared Services/Corporate for 2006 decreased by
$16.7 million (86%) as compared with 2005, relating to the sale in August 2005 of our wholly owned subsidiary
PGS Reservoir AS, which was part of our global shared services organization. Revenues for 2005 decreased by
$1.5 million (7%) as compared to 2004.

Elimination of inter-segment sales. In 2006, elimination of inter-segment sales (which reduces our con-
solidated revenues) decreased by $6.5 million (76%) as compared to 2005. This is primarily due to the sale in
August 2005 of PGS Reservoir AS, a company that also served internal companies. In 2005, elimination of inter-
segment sales decreased by $8.7 million (50%) as compared to 2004, of which $3.2 million resulted from the sale of
PGS Reservoir AS in August 2005.
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Cost of Sales

The following table shows our cost of sales, excluding depreciation and amortization, by segment and each
segment’s cost of sales as a percentage of revenues generated by that segment:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Marine . . ... $436,212  $373,504  $342,460

Do Of TEVENUE . . . . ottt 41.8% 51.5% 60.0%
Onshore . ............ ... . $189,544  $124,334 $ 92,290

Jo OF TEVENUE . . . . it 72.0% 81.5% 69.3%
Shared Services/Corporate . . .. ....................... $ 2,011) $ 8613 $ 9,558
Elimination of inter-segment items. . . .................. $ (3,028) $ (8,151) $(17,603)
Total costof sales . . . ........ ... . ... . ... . ... ... .. ... $620,717  $498,300  $426,705

Do of reVenUe . .. ... i 47.4% 56.1% 60.3%

Cost of sales — 2006 vs. 2005. Cost of sales increased by $122.4 million in 2006 compared with 2005 as
costs increased in both Marine and Onshore. Marine cost of sales increased by $62.7 million, relating to increased
salaries and social expenses, material and supplies and general operating expenses as a result of increased activity
and number of employees, partly offset by increased investments in multi-client library. Onshore cost of sales
increased by $65.2 million, primarily related to increased activity.

Cost of sales — 2005 vs. 2004. Cost of sales increased by $71.6 million in 2005 as compared with 2004
primarily due to increased activity levels in Marine and Onshore, general cost increases (in particular fuel prices and
payroll) and increased repair and maintenance costs on our seismic vessels. Marine cost of sales increased
$31.0 million, mainly caused by charter of third party 2D vessel capacity in 2005, price increases of fuel and lube
and increased repair and maintenance costs, partly offset by increased investments in multi-client library. The cost
of sales as a percentage of revenues for Marine decreased to 52% in 2005 compared to 60% in 2004, in line with the
substantial increase of revenues. Onshore cost of sales increased $32.0 million, mainly caused by the increased
activity level. The cost of sales as a percentage of revenues for Onshore increased to 82% in 2005 compared to 69%
in 2004, mainly caused by significant mobilization and start-up costs in Nigeria and Libya where the corresponding
expected project revenues, which are recognized based on progress of production, were not all recognized in 2005.

Shared Services/Corporate.  Shared Services/Corporate consist of corporate overhead and over/unallocated
shared services costs. Costs of sales for 2005 and 2004 also include unallocated costs related to PGS Reservoir AS, a
wholly owned subsidiary that was sold in August 2005 ($10.6 million in 2005 and $7.8 million in 2004).

Elimination of inter-segment items. Elimination of inter-segments items (which reduces consolidated costs
of sales) relates primarily to internal sale of data processing and reservoir services.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization (“D&A”) expense result primarily from the allocation of capitalized costs over
the estimated useful lives of our seismic vessels and equipment, our seismic and operations computer equipment,
leasehold improvements, buildings and other fixtures. D&A expense also include the amortization of our multi-
client library, which we refer to as MCL amortization, and the amortization of certain intangible assets recognized
upon our adoption of fresh-start reporting effective as of November 1, 2003.
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The following table shows our total D&A expense by segment. We have provided separately (1) D&A expense
excluding MCL amortization, or Adjusted D&A, and (2) MCL amortization because we believe that separately
disclosing MCL amortization provides users useful information about a key component impacting the results of our
operations.

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Marine:
Adjusted D&A . . ... $ 54,857 $ 54,120 $ 55,277
MCL amortization . ... .. ... ... 111,299 118,229 186,435
D&A .. 166,156 172,349 241,712
Onshore:
Adjusted D&A . . . ... 14,173 16,355 18,677
MCL amortization . . .............ouuuineeeennnn... 14,964 15,310 21,208
D&A .. 29,137 31,665 39,885
Shared Services/Corporate/Elimination:
Adjusted D&A . . ... 3,333 3,637 2,413
MCL amortization . ... .. ..c.ou vttt 1) 930 825
D&A .. 3,312 4,567 3,238
Total:
Adjusted D&A . . . ... 72,363 74,112 76,367
MCL amortization . . ............ ... .. 126,242 134,469 208,468
D&A .. $198,605  $208,581  $284,835

2006 vs. 2005.  Adjusted D&A for 2006 decreased by $1.7 million (2%) compared with 2005.

MCL amortization for 2006 decreased by $8.3 million (6%) compared with 2005. Amortization for 2006
includes $6.7 million of non-sales related amortization (minimum amortization of $0.1 million and impairments of
$6.6 million), compared to $35.4 million in 2005. Please read Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements
included in Item 18 of this annual report for a description of our policy related to amortization of multi-client
library. In total, MCL amortization as a percentage of multi-client revenues was 32% in 2006 compared to 46% in
2005. Excluding the non-sales related amortization, the amortization was 30% and 34% of multi-client revenues in
2006 and 2005, respectively, reflecting a significant increase in sales of surveys that were already fully amortized
($212.9 million in 2006 compared to $150.6 million in 2005).

In 2006, we reduced the net book value of our multi-client library by $92.7 million as a result of the recognition
of deferred tax assets, which had been offset by full valuation allowance when we adopted fresh-start reporting as
required by SOP 90-7 (please see “— Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Deferred Tax Assets” above).
As of December 31, 2006, we reduced the multi-client library recognized at the adoption of fresh-start reporting in
2003 to zero. Consequently, the book value of our multi-client library as of December 31, 2006 relates only to
surveys completed in 2004 and thereafter.

2005 vs. 2004.  Adjusted D&A for 2005 decreased by $2.3 million (3%) compared with 2004.

MCL amortization for 2005 decreased by $74.0 million (35%) compared with 2004. MCL amortization for
2005 includes $35.4 million of non-sales related amortization (minimum amortization of $20.4 million and
impairments of $15.0 million), compared to $48.8 million in 2004. In total, MCL amortization as a percentage of
multi-client revenues was 46% in 2005 compared to 81% in 2004. Excluding the non-sales related amortization, the
amortization was 34% and 62% of multi-client revenues in 2005 and 2004, respectively, reflecting generally lower
amortization rates on sales in 2005 as well as a significant increase in sales relating to surveys that were already
fully amortized ($150.6 million in 2005 compared to $65.8 million in 2004).
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In 2005 we reduced the net book value of our multi-client library by $25.3 million as a result of the recognition
of deferred tax assets, which had been offset by full valuation allowance when we adopted fresh-start reporting
(please see “— Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Deferred Tax Assets” above).

Selling, General and Administrative Costs

Our selling, general and administrative costs in 2006 increased to $61.5 million, an increase of $6.1 million as
compared with 2005. The primary reasons for the increase are increased bonus expenses to a broad category of
employees due to achievement of key performance indicators under the bonus program we established for 2006,
increased compensation costs due to the establishment of an employee option program for certain key employees,
and increased activity.

Selling, general and administrative costs in 2005 increased to $55.4 million, an increase of $2.6 million as
compared with 2004.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Because we generally evaluate our multi-client library on a survey-by-survey basis when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable, we expect to write down the value of some
surveys each year due to survey specific factors. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, we reported no impairments related to our
multi-client library because we classified as amortization, rather than impairments, $6.6 million, $15.0 million and
$19.9 million, respectively, in write downs of individual surveys that related to individual survey-specific factors
and that were not individually material. In 2005, we recognized an impairment charge of $4.6 million related to our
decision to convert the vessels used in our seafloor 4C operations to towed streamer operations.

Loss on Sale on Subsidiary

In 2005, we recognized $1.5 million of loss on the sale of our wholly owned Norwegian subsidiary PGS
Reservoir AS. We had no such losses in 2006 or 2004.

Other Operating (Income) Expense, Net

We recorded other operating income, net, of $20.5 million in 2005. The amount includes a gain of $11.7 million
from the release of liabilities related to our UK leases (as described in further detail in the section “— Liquidity and
Capital Resources — UK Leases” below) and a gain of $8.8 million from the successful resolution of a claim
against an equipment supplier. In 2004, we recorded other operating expense, net, of $8.1 million, primarily relating
to costs to complete our 2002 U.S. GAAP consolidated financial statements and the re-audit of our U.S. GAAP
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Interest Expense and Other Financial Items, net

Interest expense for 2006 amounted to $53.2 million, a reduction of $42.6 million from 2005. The decrease
reflects the significant reduction of interest-bearing debt and capital leases between the two periods, as well as a
reduction of interest rates paid on our debt following our refinancing in December 2005. Interest expense for 2005
amounted to $95.8 million, a reduction of $12.3 million from $108.1 million in 2004.

Other financial items, net, amounted to an expense of $0.6 million in 2006 compared to an income of
$4.3 million in 2005. The increase of $4.9 million primarily relates to $5.1 million of expensed deferred loan costs
related to extinguished debt in 2006 and $1.8 million in settlement of interest differential on UK leases in 2006,
offset by increased interest income and foreign exchange gain of $4.5 million compared to 2005. In addition, in
2005 we received a consent fee of $3.1 million for certain changes to our UK leases.

Other financial items, net, for 2005 increased by $10.5 million from an expense of $6.2 million in 2004. The
increase primarily relates to increased interest income and foreign exchange gain of $7.8 million compared to 2004
and the $3.1 million consent fee received in 2005 for changes to our UK leases.
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In 2005, we completed a refinancing of a substantial portion of our long-term debt and credit facilities
including substantially all of the notes we issued in our 2003 financial restructuring. During 2005, we redeemed all
of the $250 million 8% Senior Notes due 2006 at 101-102% of par value. In December 2005, we completed a tender
offer and consent solicitation for the $746 million 10% Senior Notes due 2010, resulting in approximately
$741.3 million aggregate principal amount of such notes being retired at a price of 113.64% of par value. The total
cost of the refinancing, net of the aggregate amount of new debt incurred, was $107.3 million, including repayment
premiums and expenses. This amount was charged to expense in 2005 and classified as debt redemption and
refinancing costs. We did not incur any comparable costs for 2006 or 2004.

Reorganization Items

In connection with our Chapter 11 reorganization, which we completed in 2003, we recorded $3.5 million in
reorganization-related expenses for 2004.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense was $123.7 million in 2006 compared with $24.4 million in 2005 and $23.5 million in
2004, excluding tax related to discontinued operations. Tax expenses in 2006 included current taxes of $63.7 million
and net deferred tax expenses of $60.0 million. Taxes payable related primarily to foreign taxes in regions where we
are subject to withholding taxes or deemed to have a permanent establishment and where we had no carryover
losses. Current taxes included $4.3 million in income tax related to tax contingencies.

At December 31, 2006, we had a total of $419.4 million of deferred tax assets (net of deferred tax liabilities)
relating primarily to our operations in Norway and the UK. When we adopted fresh-start reporting as of
November 1, 2003, we established valuation allowances for all of our deferred tax assets. An additional valuation
allowance was also established at December 31, 2004 for deferred tax assets arising during 2004. We establish a
valuation allowance, by tax jurisdiction, when we conclude it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. We adjust periodically the valuation allowance based upon the available
evidence. During 2006, we concluded that certain valuation allowances are no longer necessary as available
evidence, including recent profits and estimates of projected near term future taxable income, supported a more
likely than not conclusion that the related deferred tax assets would be realized. As a result, in 2005 and 2006 we
released a portion of the valuation allowance. As a result, a deferred tax asset of $150 million was recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2006. For more information about how we evaluate the need for
valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets, including the effects of realizing the benefits of deferred tax
assets for which a valuation allowance was established at the adoption of fresh start reporting, please read Note 22 of
the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.

Tax expenses in 2005 included current taxes of $10.9 million and net deferred tax expenses of $13.5 million.
Current taxes included a $1.0 million charge related to tax contingencies.

Tax expenses in 2004 included current taxes of $20.8 million and net deferred tax expense of $2.7 million.

Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax

In 2006, we recognized income from discontinued operations, net of tax, of $69.2 million, which primarily
relates to our former Production business that we demerged effective as of June 29, 2006 (as described in further
detail in the section “— Overview” above). The major items included in this amount are $66.7 million in pre-tax
gain from our sale of Petrojarl shares, $11.4 million in pre-tax income from the discontinued Production operations
(six months), $10.0 million in demerger costs and $3.5 million in additional proceeds from the sale of our
Production Services subsidiary in 2002 and our Atlantis oil and gas subsidiary in 2003. These amounts were
reduced by $2.5 million in income tax expense related to discontinued operations. For further details about our
discontinued operations, please see Note 25 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this
annual report.

In 2005, we recognized income from discontinued operations, net of tax, of $209.6 million, including a
$157.9 million pre-tax gain from the sale of our oil and gas subsidiary Pertra to Talisman Energy (UK) Ltd. in March

39



2005 (as described in further detail in the section “— Overview” above), $50.4 million in pre-tax income from the
Production and Pertra discontinued operations and $1.7 million in Petrojarl demerger costs. These amounts were
increased by $2.6 million in income tax benefit related to discontinued operations. For further details about our
discontinued operations, please see Note 25 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this
annual report.

In 2004, we recognized income from discontinued operations, net of tax, of $75.6 million, including
$97.4 million of pre-tax income from the Production and Pertra discontinued operations and $3.0 million in
additional proceeds from the sale of our Production Services subsidiary in 2002, reduced by $24.5 million of
income tax expense related to discontinued operations. For further details about our discontinued operations, please
see Note 25 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.

Operating Profit (Loss) and Net Income (Loss)

Operating profit for 2006 was $409.9 million, compared to $130.2 million for 2005. In 2004, we reported an
operating loss of $68.3 million.

We reported net income of $298.6 million in 2006, compared to $112.6 million for 2005. In 2004, we reported
a net loss of $134.7 million.

Segment Operating Profit

We use segment operating profit as an important indicator of the performance of our businesses. Please read
Note 27 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report for a reconciliation of
segment operating profit to income (loss) before income tax expense and minority interest.

Years Ended December 31,

Segment Operating Profit 2006 2005 2004

(In thousands of dollars)
Marine . ........ ... $399,916  $150,229  $(34,980)
Onshore. . ........ ... ... ... . . 37,676 (9,803) (4,535)
Shared Services/Corporate . . ......................... (28,653) (24,131) (20,986)
Elimination of inter-segment items . ... ................. 991 (467) 304
Total . . ... ... . . . $409,930  $115,828  $(60,197)

Marine — Marine reported a segment operating profit of $399.9 million in 2006 compared to $150.2 million
in 2005. This improvement resulted from a significant increase in contract seismic revenue and multi-client pre-
funding, primarily reflecting improved market conditions, as well as decrease in amortization of multi-client library
(see section “— Depreciation and Amortization” above). Marine reported a segment operating loss of $35.0 million
in 2004.

Onshore — Onshore reported segment operating profit of $37.7 million in 2006 compared to a loss of
$9.8 million in 2005 and a loss of $4.5 million in 2004. The improvement from 2005 to 2006 resulted primarily from
a significant increase in contract acquisition activity and improved market conditions, following significant crew
relocation and mobilization in 2005.

For more information regarding our segment operating profit, please see Note 27 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.
Outlook; Factors Affecting Our Future Operating Results

Our future operating results will depend on numerous factors, including those described under “Key
Information — Risk Factors” in Item 3 of this annual report. Factors that will impact our future operating results
include, but are not limited to, the following:

* the development of our main market drivers, which includes prices and price expectations for oil and natural
gas. Such prices and price expectations affect the demand for seismic services;
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* the business performance of our two business segments, Onshore and Marine, including, among others:

e the demand for contract seismic services, coupled with (a) our ability to benefit from our strong HD3D®
position and high productivity and vessel performance, (b) our ability to reduce steaming and other
unproductive vessel time, and (c) the prices for our services;

e demand for multi-client seismic data in various geographic regions;

e our ability to profitably expand our multi-client library database to complement our contract work;
* satisfactory progress of the construction of our two new third generation Ramform vessels; and

* implementation of our streamer expansion and replacement program for our seismic vessels;

* foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar, our functional currency, and the
Norwegian kroner or the British pound, which will generally have an impact on our operating profit because
we have significant operating expenses in Norwegian kroner and British pounds;

* the extent to which we participate in strategic acquisitions or dispositions of assets or businesses or in one or
more joint ventures involving such assets or businesses; and

* our ability to continue to develop or acquire competitive technological solutions for our different business
units.

The markets in which we operate showed strong improvement in 2006. Oil prices remained at high levels, and
oil companies increased their exploration and production spending. We expect such spending to increase further in
2007 and, assuming that oil prices remain high in the medium to long term, we expect such prices to positively
impact our core markets.

Based on our information and publicly available information, we believe that the global marine seismic fleet
was at full capacity utilization in 2006. We also believe that demand will increase further in 2007, outweighing
increases of marine seismic capacity and resulting in further improved prices. However, as the industry is operating
at full capacity, we also experience significant cost inflation, which we expect to continue in 2007.

In 2007, the following factors may influence our performance:

Marine

* Based on work performed so far in 2007, our order backlog for work scheduled for 2007 and our
expectations regarding future contracts, we expect Marine streamer contract EBIT margins to increase
substantially from 2006 levels;

* Primarily based on our plans regarding approximately doubling our multi-client investments in 2007 and the
associated pre-funding revenues related to these investments, we expect multi-client revenues to be higher in
2007 than 2006; and

* We expect to increase cash investments in both multi-client library and capital expenditures. The expected
increase in capital expenditures in 2007 compared to 2006 is primarily a result of our ongoing program to
build two new Ramform vessels.

Onshore

* We expect to have between eight and twelve crews working in 2007, approximately the same number as in
2006;

* Based on our order backlog and likely additional contract awards, we expect to be able to maintain a margin
on contract work comparable with 2006 levels; and

* We expect to significantly increase cash investments in both multi-client library and capital expenditures. In
addition, we expect increased pre-funding revenues due to increased multi-client activity.
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For a discussion regarding our expected capital expenditures in 2007, please see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Capital Requirements and Commitments” below.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity — General

We believe that our cash balances and our available borrowing capacity under our existing revolving credit
facility will be adequate to meet our working capital and liquidity needs arising from our operations for the
remainder of 2007. However, in order to fund the payment of a $300 million special dividend, as we have proposed,
and any further repurchase of our shares and pay related fees and expenses, we estimate that we will require
additional funding of up to $200 million if we continue to keep a liquidity reserve of $150 million. In this
connection, we intend to seek debt financing from one or more sources, which may include an expansion of our
existing credit facilities, a new credit facility, or the issuance of debt securities. We cannot provide any assurance
that we will be able to obtain any such debt financing or what the cost or terms of such debt financing may be.

After giving effect to the additional debt financing we may seek to fund our share repurchase program, we
believe that we will have adequate sources of funds to meet our liquidity needs for 2007. Over the longer term, our
ability to meet our obligations will depend on our future performance, which, in turn, is subject to many factors
beyond our control. See “Key Information — Risk Factors” in Item 3 of this annual report.

Sources of Liquidity — Capital Resources

Our normal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents and cash flow from operations. In addition, as
described below, we generated a substantial amount of cash through the divestment of our Production business in
2006. Cash and cash equivalents totaled $124.0 million at December 31, 2006, compared to $121.5 million at
December 31, 2005.

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $563.4 million in 2006, compared to $280.7 million in 2005.
In 2006, accounts receivable increased by $11.5 million, after an increase in revenues of $420.5 million in 2006
compared to 2005, while accounts payable increased by $25.1 million. Generally, our subsidiaries are not subject to
restrictions on their ability to transfer funds to us that would materially affect our ability to meet our cash
obligations.

In 2006, we obtained $406.8 million in cash from the demerger of our former Production business and
additional consideration relating to the sale of Pertra (2005), Atlantis (2003) and Production Services (2002).
During 2006, we used these funds, together with funds generated from our operating activities, to repay indebt-
edness under our Term Loan (as defined and described below). As a result, during 2006, we reduced the outstanding
balance of our Term Loan from $850 million at the beginning of the year to $243.6 million at the end of the year.

In December 2005, we entered into a credit agreement that established a term loan of $850 million (“Term
Loan”) and a revolving credit facility (“RCF”) of $150 million. The Term Loan originally amortized at 1% per
annum with the remaining balance due in 2012. We eliminated this amortization requirement following the
substantial reduction in the amount of the outstanding Term Loan during 2006 as described in the immediately
preceding paragraph. The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a
margin that depends on our leverage ratio. For purposes of the credit agreement, leverage ratio is the ratio of
consolidated indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA (as defined) reduced by multi-client investments for the
relevant period. At a leverage ratio of 2.25:1 or greater, the applicable margin will be 2.5% per annum. Below that
level, the margin will be 2.25% per annum. The credit agreement contains provisions that generally require us to
apply 50% of excess cash flow to repay outstanding borrowings for periods when our leverage ratio exceeds 2:1. We
can make optional payments to reduce the principal at no penalty. Excess cash flow for any period is defined as net
cash flow provided by operating activities during that period less capital expenditures made in that period or
committed to be made in the next period, less debt service payments and less accrued income taxes to be paid in the
next period. The Term Loan is an obligation of PGS ASA and PGS Finance Inc. as co-borrower, is secured by
pledges of shares of certain material subsidiaries and is guaranteed by certain material subsidiaries.
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Under the terms of our RCF, we may borrow U.S. dollars, or any other currency freely available in the London
banking market to which the lenders have given prior consent, for working capital and for general corporate
purposes. Up to $60 million of the RCF can be used for letters of credit. Letters of credit, which can be obtained in
various currencies, can be used to secure, among other things, performance and bid bonds required in our ongoing
business. The RCF is secured by pledges of shares of material subsidiaries. The RCF matures in 2010. Borrowings
under the RCF bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus a margin that depends on our leverage ratio. At a leverage ratio
of 2.25:1 or greater, the applicable margin will be 2.25%; at a ratio between 2:1 and 2.25:1, the applicable margin
will be 2.00%; and at a ratio below 2:1, the applicable margin will be 1.75. At December 31, 2006, we had
$3.5 million of unexpired letters of credit outstanding under the RCF. As of December 31, 2006, we had unused
borrowing capacity of $146.5 million under the RCF.

We also have a NOK 50 million overdraft facility, which we use in connection with our Norwegian cash
pooling arrangement. This facility matures annually. Ongoing trade credit will also be a source of liquidity.

The book value of our debt, including capital leases, was $338.2 million as of December 31, 2006 compared to
$980.2 million at December 31, 2005.

Our debt consisted of the following primary components at December 31, 2006:

(In millions of dollars)

10% Senior Notes, due 2010 . . . . ..ottt $ 4
8.28% First Preferred Mortgage Notes, due 2011 .. ..................... 76
Term loan (Libor + applicable margin), due 2012 . ... ................... 244
Total debt ....... ... ... $324
Capital leases .. .......... . ... .. . _ 14
Total . ... $338

Net interest bearing debt (interest bearing debt, including capital leases, less cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and interest bearing investments) was $195.5 million as of December 31, 2006 compared to
$828.7 million as of December 31, 2005.

Our December 2005 credit facility contains financial covenants and negative covenants that restrict us in
various ways. The facility provides that

* our total leverage ratio may not exceed 3.00 to 1.0,

* our consolidated interest coverage ratio (defined as the ratio of (a) consolidated EBITDA, as defined,
reduced by multi-client investments, to (b) consolidated interest expense) must be at least 3.0 to 1.0, and

* our consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (defined as the ratio of (a) consolidated EBITDA, as defined,
reduced by multi-client investments, to (b) consolidated fixed charges) must be at least 1.3 to 1.0.

In addition, the credit agreement restricts our ability, among other things, to sell assets; incur additional
indebtedness or issue preferred stock; prepay interest and principal on our other indebtedness; pay dividends and
distributions or repurchase our capital stock; create liens on assets; make investments, loans, guarantees or
advances; make acquisitions; engage in mergers or consolidations; enter into sale and leaseback transactions;
engage in transactions with affiliates; amend material agreements governing our indebtedness; change our business;
enter into agreements that restrict dividends from subsidiaries; and enter into speculative financial derivative
agreements. Some of these restrictions will not apply if we meet certain financial thresholds.

We experience some seasonality in our business, and our capital requirements may be impacted by this
seasonality. For more information relating to the seasonality of our business, see “Seasonality” above.

For further information relating to our indebtedness as of December 31, 2006 and the maturities of such
indebtedness, please read Notes 16 and 17 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item 18 of this
annual report.
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Net Cash Used in or Provided by Investing and Financing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities totaled $96.6 million in 2006, compared to net cash provided of
$8.8 million in 2005. The change of $87.8 million resulted primarily from $406.8 million in net proceeds we
received in 2006 from the demerger of our former Production business and additional consideration relating to the
sale of Pertra (2005), Atlantis (2003) and Production Services (2002), compared to $153.7 million we received in
2005 from the sale of Pertra (2005) and additional consideration from the sale of Production Services (2002), offset
in part by (i) an increase in capital expenditures on continuing operations of $75.0 million and $34.9 on
discontinued operations and (ii) a $58.0 million increase in cash investment in multi-client library.

The large increase in capital expenditures reflects our continuing streamer replacement program and progress
payments on the construction of two new third generation Ramform vessels, which amounted to $64.1 million.

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $657.5 million in 2006, compared to $301.0 million in 2005. In
2006, we made net repayments of long-term debt and principal payments under capital leases totaling $640.2 mil-
lion, compared to net repayments in 2005 of $184.9 million. In addition, we repaid short-term debt of $2.5 million
and paid $14.8 in fees to terminate UK leases on two of our Ramform vessels.

Capital Requirements and Commitments

General. Our capital requirements related to operating activities are affected primarily by our results of
operations, capital expenditures, investment in multi-client library, debt service requirements, lease obligations,
working capital needs, and outcome of significant contingencies. The majority of our ongoing capital requirements
for operating activities, other than debt service, lease obligations and contingencies, consists of:

* capital expenditures on seismic vessels and equipment, including data processing equipment and streamers;
* investments in our multi-client library; and
» working capital related to growth, seasonality and specific project requirements.

In prior years, our capital expenditures have related not only to normal ongoing equipment replacement and
refurbishment needs, but also to increases in our seismic data acquisition capacity. Such expenditures, which can be
substantial from time to time, depend to a large extent upon the nature and extent of future commitments that are
largely discretionary. In 2005, we accelerated the replacement of streamers and at the same time expanded streamer
capacity in Marine. We continued this streamer replacement program during 2006 and expect to continue it in 2007.
In April 2006, we signed an agreement to construct a new third generation Ramform vessel (see “Our Marine
Segment — Vessel Fleet and Crews” in Item 4 above of this annual report) with expected delivery in the first quarter
of 2008. In September 2006, we exercised an option to construct another Ramform with delivery expected in the
second quarter of 2009. In 2006 we also increased the level of spending on seismic equipment for Onshore.

The following table sets forth our consolidated capital expenditures and investments in multi-client library in
2006, 2005 and 2004:

Years Ended December 31,

Business Segments 2006 2005 2004
(In million of dollars)
MArine . . . .o o et e $146.4 $722  $56.9
OnsShore . . ... 16.7 12.6 1.4
Shared Services/Corporate. . . .. ... i vttt 2.3 5.6 4.1
Total. . . 165.4 90.4 62.4
Investments in multi-client library . .. ............ ... ... ... ..... $113.7 $55.7 $41.1

For 2007, we expect:

* to more than double our cash investment in our Marine multi-client library from an investment of
$81.2 million in 2006, with continued high pre-funding levels;
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* to approximately double the level of cash investment in our Onshore multi-client library from the
$32.4 million invested in 2006; and

* to have capital expenditures, in addition to the investment in the new Ramform seismic vessels described
below, of $110 million to $120 million in Marine, split in approximately equal portions between main-
tenance and expansion capital expenditures, and of approximately $20 million in Onshore, a slight increase
from 2006.

Under our current streamer expansion, upgrade and replacement program, we expect to spend approximately
$30 million to $50 million per year in the period 2007 to 2012. Since this program is discretionary, however, we may
in the future change the scope and annual capital expenditure related to the program. We also intend to make
maintenance and refurbishment expenditures as required so as to maintain our fleet of seismic vessels in good
working order. We intend to make other capital expenditures in our business segments as conditions dictate and
financial resources permit. Finally, we may also incur capital expenditure significantly above the amounts described
above to pursue new business opportunities for any of our business segments.

In March 2006, we announced that we would build a new third generation Ramform seismic vessel, Ramform
Sovereign. In September 2006, we announced that we would build another third generation Ramform seismic vessel
(“R8”). The vessels will be built by Aker Yards, Langsten, Norway. We expect the vessels to be delivered in the first
quarter of 2008 and in second quarter of 2009. We expect the new vessels to cost approximately $85 million and
$88 million, respectively, excluding the cost of seismic equipment, and we expect the total cost to be approximately
$160 million and $170 million, respectively, excluding project management costs and interest. We are required to
make payments to the shipyard in five equal installments for each of the new vessels. For the Ramform Sovereign,
we paid two installments in 2006; two installments will be due in 2007, and the final installment will be due upon
delivery of the vessel. For the Ramform 8, we made one installment in 2006; two installments will be due in 2008;
and two installments will be due in 2009 including the final installment due upon delivery of the vessel. We will
make payments for seismic equipment over comparable periods. We estimate the total payments in 2007 relating to
construction of these vessels to be approximately $95 million.

Funding our Share Repurchase Program and Extraordinary Dividend. In order to fund the payment of a
$300 million special dividend, as we have proposed, and any further repurchase of our shares and pay related fees
and expenses, we estimate that we will require additional funding if we continue to keep a liquidity reserve of
$150 million. In the first quarter of 2007, we used cash flow from operations to repurchase 2,123,500 shares at an
aggregate cost of $49.2 million. As described above, to the extent that we believe prudent after taking into account
anticipated cash flow from operations, we intend to seek debt financing from one or more sources, which may
include an expansion of our existing credit facilities, a new credit facility or the issuance of debt securities, to allow
us to fund additional repurchases of shares under our share purchase program. We cannot provide assurances that we
will be able to obtain any such debt financing or what the cost or terms of such debt financing may be.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

For a discussion of our UK leases, see “UK Leases” below.
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Long-Term Contractual Obligations

The following table presents our long-term contractual obligations related to our loan and lease agreements
and other long-term liabilities and related payments due in total and by period as of December 31, 2006:

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total 2007 2008-2009 2010-2011 Thereafter
(In million of dollars)
Long-term debt obligations . ............. $324.1  $12.9 $29.2 $38.4 $243.6
Operating lease obligations . ............. 98.9 37.2 27.1 17.3 17.3
Capital lease obligations . ............... 13.9 6.9 7.0 — —
Other long-term liabilities(a) . ............ 65.4 14.8 22.3 6.7 21.6
Total . ... ..o $502.3 $71.8 $85.6 $62.4 $282.5

(a) Excluding other long-term liabilities that are contingent and not determinable with respect to the timing of
future payments (see the table below captioned “Other Long-Term Liabilities”).

For additional information about the components of our long-term debt and lease obligations, please refer to
Notes 17 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.

The table below is provided to illustrate the expected timing of future payments related to other long term-
liabilities reported in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006. Determining the expected future
cash flow presented in the table requires us to make estimates and assumptions since the timing of any payments
related to these long-term liabilities generally is not fixed and determinable but rather depends on future events. We
believe that our estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but actual results may vary from what we have estimated
or assumed. As a result, our reported liabilities and expenses could be materially affected if the assumptions and
estimates we have made were changed significantly.

Payments Due by Period Not
Other Long-Term Liabilities Total 2007  2008-2009 2010-2011 Thereafter Determinable
(In millions of dollars)

Other long-term liabilities:

Pension liabilities(a). .. .......... $53.9 $10.8 $16.9 $4.6 $21.6 $ —
Accrued liabilities related to our UK
leases:
— related to interest rate
differential(b) . . ... ......... 6.1 2.0 2.0 2.1 — —
Tax contingencies .............. 22.0 — — — — 22.0
Fair value adjustment of firm
commitments . ............... 4.5 2.0 2.5 — — —
Unrealized loss forward exchange
contracts . .................. 0.9 — 0.9 — — —
Other............. ... ........ 4.1 — — — — 4.1
Total .................... $91.5 $14.8 $22.3 $6.7 $21.6 $26.1

(a) We have defined benefit pension plans in Norway and in the UK. Pension liability represents the aggregate
shortfall of pension plan assets compared to projected benefit obligations for our plans, as recognized in our
consolidated balance sheet. We will pay these obligations over time, as adjusted for changes in estimates
relating to obligations and assets, in accordance with the funding requirements of the life insurance companies
through which we fund our plans in Norway and in accordance with the funding practice that we agree with the
trustees of our pension scheme in UK. Such requirements are subject to change over time, but we expect these
payments to be made over several years.
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(b) The estimated net present value of future payments related to interest rate differential on our UK leases as of
December 31, 2006 is approximately $9.7 million based on forward interest rate curve (using 8% per annum
discount rate), which is approximately $3.6 million higher than the amount included in accrued liability from
fresh-start reporting. Payments through the year 2009 reflect estimated total payments based on forward
interest rate curves as of December 31, 2006. The amount presented for 2010-2011 is the residual amount.

UK Leases

We entered into capital leases from 1996 to 1998 relating to Ramforms Challenger, Valiant, Viking, Victory and
Vanguard. The terms for these leases ranged from 15-25 years. In December 2006 we terminated the UK leases for
Ramform Viking and Ramform Vanguard and took formal ownership of these vessels. In first quarter of 2007, we
terminated the lease for Ramform Victory and took formal ownership of the vessel. We paid a net amount of
7.5 million British pounds (approximately $14.8 million) to facilitate the terminations (see Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements included as Item 18 in this annual report).

We have indemnified the lessors for the tax consequences resulting from changes in tax laws or interpretations
thereof or adverse rulings by the tax authorities and for variations in actual interest rates from those assumed in the
leases. There are no limits on either of these indemnities. Reference is also made to the description of our UK leases
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included as Item 18 in this annual report.

The lessors claim tax depreciation (capital allowances) on the capital expenditures that were incurred for the
acquisition of the leased assets. Although the UK Inland Revenue generally deferred for a period of time agreeing to
the capital allowances claimed under such leases pending the outcome of a legal proceeding in which the Inland
Revenue was challenging capital allowances associated with a defeased lease, in November 2004, the highest UK
court of appeal ruled in favor of the taxpayer and rejected the position of the Inland Revenue. In connection with the
adoption of fresh-start reporting on November 1, 2003 and before the November 2004 ruling, we recorded a liability
of 6.3 million British pounds (approximately $10.7 million). We subsequently released this liability in 2005, when
the Inland Revenue accepted the lessors’ claims for capital allowances under each lease.

The leases are legally defeased because we have made up-front payments to independent third-party banks in
consideration for which these banks have assumed liability to the lessor equal to basic rentals and termination sum
obligations. The defeased rental payments are based on assumed Sterling LIBOR rates between 8% and 9% per
annum. If actual interest rates are greater than the assumed interest rates, we receive rental rebates. Conversely, if
actual interest rates are less than the assumed interest rates, we pay rentals in excess of the defeased rental payments.
Over the last several years, the actual interest rates have been below the assumed interest rates. Prior to November 1,
2003, we deferred a portion of a deferred gain (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included as
Item 18 in this annual report) representing the net present value of additional required rental payments as of the
inception of each lease. Such deferred gain was amortized over the terms of the leases. Effective November 1, 2003,
we adopted fresh-start reporting and recorded a liability equal to the fair value of the future additional required
rental payments based on forward market rates for Sterling LIBOR and an 8% discount rate. This liability, which is
amortized based on future rental payments, amounted to 8.6 million British pounds (approximately $14.9 million)
at December 31, 2005. In March 2006, we paid 3.2 million British pounds (approximately $5.6 million) in a one-
time settlement for future rental payments for Ramform Challenger. We also reversed the remaining deferred gain
relating to Ramform Challenger of 2.2 million British pounds (approximately $3.8 million). In addition, we
terminated two UK leases in December 2006, as described above, resulting in a reversal of remaining deferred gain
of 2.8 million British pounds (approximately $5.5 million). The remaining fresh-start liability relating to interest
rate differential as of December 31, 2006 was 3.1 million British pounds (approximately $6.1 million).

At December 31, 2006, interest rates were below the assumed interest rates. Based on forward market rates for
Sterling LIBOR, the net present value, using an 8% per annum discount rate, of the additional required rental
payments aggregated 4.9 million British pounds (approximately $9.7 million) as of December 31, 2006. Of this
amount, 0.5 million British pounds (approximately $1.0 million) was accrued at December 31, 2006, in addition to
the remaining fresh-start liability as described above.

Additional required rental payments for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2.0 million, excluding the
one-time settlement for further rental payments and the termination of UK leases described above. For the years
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ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the additional required rental payments were $2.3 million and $2.2 million,
respectively.

We also had UK leases related to discontinued operations. For further descriptions of these liabilities, see
Note 25 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report. For the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the additional required rental payments for discontinued operations were $4.9 million
and $5.0 million, respectively, while there were no such payments for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Petrojarl

In June 2006, we completed the demerger of our former production business, Petrojarl. Following the
demerger of Petrojarl we retained a joint secondary liability for certain obligations of Petrojarl.

Petrojarl has in connection with the demerger agreed to indemnify us from liabilities related to its operations.
Such liabilities include liabilities related to the floating production, storage and offloading units, or “FPSOs”, that
we transferred to Petrojarl in connection with the demerger. With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven FPSO, we have
provided a separate on demand guarantee in connection with the demerger. The guarantee is made in relation to the
FPSO service agreement and is for the benefit of the Foinaven co-venturers, which is capped at $10 million. With
respect to Petrojarl Banff FPSO, we remain with a joint secondary liability with Petrojarl under their FPSO service
agreement with the Banff group. The guarantee is not capped. If these claims are made and Petrojarl does not honor
its obligation to indemnify us, it could adversely affect our business, results of operation or financial condition.

With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven, the UK Inland Revenue has raised a separate issue about the accelerated
rate at which tax depreciation is available. As part of the demerger plan, the Company agreed to reimburse Petrojarl
for 50% of any payment in excess of 13 million British pounds (approximately $25.6 million) related to this
liability. Based on past correspondence with external advisors we believe that the maximum exposure would be
7 million British pounds (approximately $13.8 million) for PGS. The Company has not recorded any provision for
this possible contingent loss because we do not believe it is probable that any payment will be made.

For additional information regarding our UK leases, please see Notes 2 and 21 of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report.
Research and Development

We incurred research and development costs of $17.7 million, $9.9 million and $3.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. For additional information regarding our research and devel-
opment policies and expenditures, please see “Information on the Company — Other Factors Related to Our
Business — Intellectual Property” in Item 4 and our consolidated statements of operations in Item 18 of this annual
report.

ITEM 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees
Board of Directors

The table below provides information about our directors as of May 6, 2007:

Director Term Share
Name (Born) Position Since Expires(a) Ownership
Jens Ulltveit-Moe (1942) .. ................ Chairperson 2002 2007 11,775,822
Francis Gugen (1949). ... ................. Director 2003 2007 —
Siri Beate Hatlen (1957). . ................. Director 2006 2007 —
Wenche Kjglas (1962) .................... Director 2006 2007 —
Harald Norvik (1946). . ................... Director 2003 2007 —
Holly Van Deursen (1958) ................. Director 2006 2007 —

(a) The annual general meeting is scheduled for June 15, 2007
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Mr. Ulltveit-Moe has been our chairperson of the Board of Directors since September 2002. He is the founder
and has been president and chief executive officer of Umoe AS, a shipping and industry company, since 1984. From
2000 to 2004, he was the president of the Confederation of Norwegian Business and Industry. From 1980 to 1984,
Mr. Ulltveit-Moe served as managing director of Knutsen OAS. From 1972 to 1980, he was managing director of
the tanker division of SHV Corporation. From 1968 to 1972, Mr. Ulltveit-Moe was an associate with McKinsey &
Company, Inc. in New York and London. Mr. Ulltveit-Moe holds a master’s degree in business administration from
the Norwegian School of Economics and Business Administration and a master’s degree in international affairs
from the School of International Affairs, Columbia University, New York.

Mr. Gugen is currently active as a consultant and an investor in the energy industry. He served with Amerada
Hess Corporation for eighteen years, from 1982 to 2000, holding various positions including chief executive of
Amerada Hess UK from 1995 to 2000 and chief executive of Northwestern Europe from 1998 to 2000. Mr. Gugen
acts as chairperson and non-executive director for various other companies, including Island Gas Limited and The
Britannia Building Society, where he also sits on the audit committee. Mr. Gugen has earlier worked for
Arthur Andersen and is a UK chartered accountant.

Ms. Hatlen has been an independent consultant since 1996 and worked as manager for hire in several
companies, including Flexim Infowiz, a software company, Universitetsforlaget AS, a publishing firm, and Henie
Onstad Kunstsenter, an art museum. She is now Chairperson of the Board of Directors of Helse @st RHF, a hospital,
AS Vinmonopolet, a wine retailer, Undervisningsbygg KF, a real estate development company, SIVA SF, an
industrial developer, Statens Lanekasse, the Norwegian State Educational Loan Fund, and Samlaget, a publishing
firm. In addition she holds board memberships among others in the industrial group Kongsberggruppen ASA, the
power company Buskerud Energi AS and the university NTNU. From 1986 to 1996, she held various positions in
Statoil’s Project Division. In 1984, she worked for one year at EIf Aquitaine, France on an exchange basis. From
1981 to 1983 she worked for Norwegian Petroleum Consultants. Ms. Hatlen holds a master of science degree in
Process Engineering from the Technical University of Trondheim and a master’s degree in business administration
from INSEAD.

Ms. Kjplas is currently working as chief financial officer in Grieg Logistics AS, a logistics provider. Prior to
that, she served as chief financial officer in the food company Kavli Holding AS. From 1997 to 1999, she acted as
Managing Director in O.Kavli AS, Norway, and from 1995 as Financial Director in Kavli Holding AS. From 1993
to 1995, she was Financial Manager in Hakon Gruppen AS, a food retailer, in Bergen. From 1986 to 1992, she was
employed with Touche Ross Management Consultants; from 1986 to 1990 as Management Consultant in Bergen
and from 1990 to 1992 as Manager. Ms. Kjglas has board experience from several companies, including the
aquaculture company Cermaq ASA, the offshore vessel company DOF ASA, the shared services provider Grieg
Group Resources AS, O.Kavli AS and the dairy Q-Meieriene AS. She is also member of the Corporate Council of
Vesta Insurance AS and the General Assembly of Sparebankstiftelsen DnBNOR.

Mr. Norvik is a partner in the consulting company ECON. He is chairman of the Board of Directors in the
publishing firm Aschehoug, member of the Board of Directors in ConocoPhillips, member of the Board of Directors
in Umoe AS and member of the Board of Directors in the service and technology provider Ability Group. He served
as chief executive officer of Statoil from 1988 to 1999. He was finance director and a member of the executive board
of the Aker Group from 1981 to 1988. He served as personal secretary to the Prime Minister of Norway and as
Deputy Minister in The Ministry of Petroleum and Energy from 1979 to 1981. Mr. Norvik has a master of science
degree in business from The Norwegian School of Economics and Business Administration.

Ms. Van Deursen currently divides her time between advising and investing in start-up companies and serving
as a non-executive director of Petroleum Geo-Services, Anson Industries and a not-for-profit school. She served as a
member of BP plc’s top-forty executive team, as Group Vice President Petrochemicals from 2003 to 2005 and
Group Vice President Strategy from 2001 to 2003. Prior to these executive positions, Ms. Van Deursen held a variety
of senior roles with BP and Amoco Corporation in Chicago, London and Hong Kong. She has previously served on
the Board of Directors of the American Chemistry Council, as well as Amoco joint ventures in Korea, Taiwan and
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Japan. Ms. Van Deursen holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering from the University of Kansas
and a masters degree in business administration from the University of Michigan.

Committees

Under Norwegian law, decision-making authority may not be delegated by the Board of Directors to its
committees or subcommittees. The Board of Directors may, however, establish committees to assist it in
discharging its responsibilities. Our Board of Directors has appointed two such committees, the audit committee
and the remuneration and corporate governance committee. In addition, our shareholders have elected a nomination
committee in accordance with Norwegian corporate governance best practices, but members of this committee are
not members of our Board of Directors. Please see “Nomination Committee” below.

Our audit committee currently consists of three members, Mr. Gugen (chairperson), Ms. Kjglas and
Mr. Norvik. Previously, Mr. Anthony Tripodo was a member of our audit committee, but Mr. Tripodo resigned
from our Board of Directors effective February 1, 2007 after being named chief financial officer of Tesco
Corporation in January 2007.

The Board of Directors has determined that the members of the audit committee are independent under
applicable provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and New York Stock Exchange listing standards. Our
audit committee has adopted a written charter, a copy of which we have filed as an exhibit to this annual report.

The audit committee acts to support the Board of Directors in the administration and exercise of the Board of
Directors’ responsibility for supervisory oversight under applicable Norwegian and other laws and stock exchange
listing standards in connection with our financial statements and various audit, accounting and regulatory
requirements. The audit committee is responsible for proposing to the full Board of Directors, for presentation
and election at our annual general meeting of shareholders, the independent registered public accounting firm of our
company. The audit committee is also responsible for supporting the Board of Directors in the administration and
exercise of the Board of Directors’ responsibility for supervisory oversight in relation to, among other items:

* financial statement and disclosure matters, including our quarterly and annual financial statements and
related disclosures;

 reviewing the quarterly and annual financial statements, including reviewing major issues regarding
accounting principles and financial statement presentations, the adequacy of our internal controls and
discussing significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with preparation of the
financial statements;

* provision by the auditor of audit services and permitted non-audit services;
* audits of our financial statements, including reviewing our critical accounting policies and practices;

* our relationship with our independent registered public accounting firm, including the qualifications,
performance and independence of the auditors;

e our internal audit function; and

 responsibilities to comply with various legal and regulatory requirements that could affect our financial
statements.

The U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange require
the audit committee of a listed company in the United States, such as PGS, to be directly responsible for the
appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the work of that company’s independent registered public
accounting firm. Because under Norwegian law the power to appoint, retain and compensate the auditors is held by
the shareholders, our audit committee is directly responsible only for the oversight of the work of the auditors and
the audit committee and the full Board of Directors recommend the appointment, retention and compensation of the
auditors to its shareholders for approval. In addition, as a foreign private issuer in the United States, we are not
required to publish the audit committee report required by applicable regulations of the SEC for U.S. domestic
issuers.
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Our remuneration and corporate governance committee consists of Mr. Norvik (chairperson), Ms. Hatlen and
Ms. Van Deursen. The Board of Directors has determined that the members of the committee are independent under
applicable New York Stock Exchange listing standards. The remuneration and corporate governance committee
supports the Board of Directors in the administration and exercise of the Board of Directors’ responsibility for
supervisory oversight of overall policy and structure with respect to compensation and incentive matters, including
compensation and incentive arrangements for our chief executive officer and other senior executive officers. Our
remuneration and corporate governance committee has adopted a written charter, a copy of which we have filed as
an exhibit to this annual report. As a foreign private issuer in the United States, we are not required to publish the
compensation committee report required by applicable regulations of the SEC for U.S. domestic issuers.

The listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange require U.S. listed companies to have a corporate
governance committee (1) to develop and recommend to the Board of Directors a set of corporate governance
guidelines applicable to the listed company and (2) to oversee the evaluation of the Board of Directors and
management. Our remuneration and corporate governance committee acts as a preparatory body in connection with
the responsibilities of our Board of Directors under Norwegian law.

Nomination Committee

Our shareholders have elected a nomination committee in accordance with Norwegian corporate governance
best practices. The members of the committee, consisting of Mr. Roger O’Neil, Ms. Hanne Harlem and Ms. C.
Maury Devine, are not members of our Board of Directors. The nomination committee is responsible for making
recommendations for consideration by the shareholders relating to:

* individuals who are nominated to serve as members of the Board of Directors and as the chairperson of the
Board of Directors;

* individuals who are nominated to serve as members of the nomination committee and as the chairperson of
the nomination committee;

e the remuneration of the directors and the members of the nomination committee; and
e any amendments of the nomination committee mandate and charter.

Mr. O’Neil is the chairperson of our nomination committee. He is a former executive of Mobil and executive
vice president and member of the executive board of Statoil. Mr. O’Neil has worked as Senior Oil and Gas Advisor
in the Corporate Finance Group of Dresdner Kleinworth and Wasserstein and as a consultant for The World Bank.
He is a member of the Board of Directors of Clearvision International, Noreco and Upstream. Mr. O’Neil holds a
bachelor of science degree in chemical engineering from the University of Notre Dame and a master’s degree in
business administration from Cornell University.

Ms. Harlem was University Director at the University of Oslo from 2004 until May 2007 and was Minister of
Justice in Norway from 2000 to 2001. She is presently chairperson of the Board of Directors of UniRand, and a
member of the Board of Directors of Gaz de France, Helse Sgr and Aker ASA. Ms. Harlem has a law degree from
the University of Oslo.

Ms. Devine is a former ExxonMobil executive and former Fellow at Harvard University’s Kennedy School of
Government Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs. She currently is a member of the Board of
Directors of Det Norske Veritas (DNV) and FMC Technologies. Ms. Devine holds graduate degrees from
Middlebury College and Harvard University.

Corporate Governance

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and believe that effective corporate
governance establishes the framework by which we conduct ourselves in delivering services to our customers and
value to our shareholders. Although we are registered in Norway as a public limited company and our governance
model is built on Norwegian corporate law, we are subject to the requirements applicable to foreign private issuers
in the United States, including those established by the SEC and the NYSE.
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Our corporate governance principles are adopted and reviewed periodically by the remuneration and corporate
governance committee and the Board of Directors. The Corporate Governance Principles, together with our Core
Values and our Code of Conduct, Audit Committee Charter, Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee
Charter and our Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors, are available under the “About PGS” section of our
internet website at www.pgs.com and in print to any shareholder who requests a copy. Requests should be directed to
our investor relations department at ir@pgs.com.

Director Independence

At its meeting held February 23, 2007, our Board of Directors affirmatively determined that each of
Francis Gugen, Siri Beate Hatlen, Wenche Kjglas, Harald Norvik and Holly Van Deursen has no material
relationship with us (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship
with us) and that each is therefore an “independent” director under applicable NYSE listing standards. These
determinations were made by our Board of Directors based on representations made by each of those directors to us,
a review of applicable NYSE rules and listing standards and a review of our Rules of Procedures for the Board of
Directors.

Shareholders and other interested parties may communicate directly with our independent directors by sending
a written communication in an envelope addressed to “Board of Directors (Independent Members)” in care of our
General Counsel at the address indicated on the cover of this annual report.

Meetings of Non-management Directors

Our Board of Directors consists of only non-management directors. As such, every meeting of our Board of
Directors is a meeting of non-management directors. In addition, if the group of non-management directors includes
a director who is not independent under NYSE listing standards, the independent directors will meet in executive
session at least once annually. Currently, the director who presides at meetings of the non-management directors is
the Chairperson of the Board of Directors. Further, the director currently presiding at meetings of the independent
directors is the Vice-Chairperson of the Board of Directors.

Certifications

We have filed the required certifications of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer under
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits 12.1 and 12.2 to this annual report, and we expect to file
with the NYSE the chief executive officer certification without exceptions within 30 days following our annual
general meeting, as required by Section 303A.12 (a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

Executive Officers

The table below provides information about our executive officers as of May 6, 2007:

Executive
Officer Share

Name (Born) Position: Since Ownership
Svein Rennemo (1947). . ......... President and Chief Executive Officer 2002 43,765
Gottfred Langseth (1966)......... Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer 2004 5,257
Rune Eng (1961) .. ............. President — Marine 2004 15,138
Eric Wersich (1963)............. President — Onshore 2003 6,333
Sverre Strandenes (1956) . ........ President — Data Processing and

Technology 2006 4,562

Myr. Rennemo joined PGS in November 2002 as president and chief executive officer. Prior to joining PGS, he
was a partner in ECON Management. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Rennemo was chief executive officer of Borealis, one
of the world’s largest producers of polyolefin plastics, headquartered in Copenhagen, Denmark, having previously
served as chief financial officer and deputy chief executive officer since 1994. From 1982 to 1994, he filled various
senior management positions within Statoil, among them group chief financial officer and president of Statoil
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Petrochemicals. From 1972 to 1982, he served as a policy analyst and advisor with the Central Bank and the
Ministry of Finance in the kingdom of Norway and the OECD Secretariat in Paris. Mr. Rennemo earned a master’s
degree in economics at the University of Oslo in 1971. He has held a number of non-executive Board positions in
Norway and internationally and currently serves as a non-executive chairman of the Board of Directors of Statnett
SF (Norway).

Myr. Langseth joined PGS in November 2003 and was named senior vice president and chief financial officer as
of January 1, 2004. He was chief financial officer at the information technology company Ementor ASA from 2000
to 2003. Mr. Langseth was senior vice president of finance and control at the offshore construction company Aker
Maritime ASA from 1997 to 2000. He served with Arthur Andersen Norway from 1991 to 1997, qualifying as a
Norwegian state authorized public accountant in 1993. Mr. Langseth has a master’s degree in business admin-
istration from the Norwegian School of Economics and Business Administration.

Mr. Eng was appointed president of Marine in August 2004. Since joining PGS in 1997, he has held the
position of area manager Scandinavia and from 2000 has served as president for the EAME region (Europe, Africa
and Middle East). Prior to joining PGS, Mr. Eng held different positions in Fugro-Geoteam. This included a board
position in Sevoteam, a Russian-Norwegian joint operating company involved in offshore seismic studies. Mr. Eng
held a senior consultant position in Digital Equipment Computing promoting the use of reservoir simulation in the
oil industry. Mr. Eng has a bachelor’s degree in applied geophysics from the University of Oslo and a master of
science degree from Chalmers University of Technology (Sweden).

Mr. Wersich joined Onshore in January 2000 as vice president of western hemisphere and was appointed
president of Onshore in June 2003. Mr. Wersich worked with Western Geophysical from 1984 to 2000, employed in
various operational and management positions in North America, Latin America, Europe and the Middle East. He is
a graduate of the Colorado School of Mines, where he earned a bachelor of engineering degree in geophysics.

Mr. Strandenes was appointed Group President, Data Processing and Technology in November, 2006. He
joined PGS in 1995 from Norsk Hydro Research Centre, where he served as Department Manager of Geosciences.
Since 1995, Mr. Strandenes has held various senior management positions within the Company, most recently as
President, Marine Geophysical EAME Region. Mr. Strandenes graduated with a master’s degree in geophysics from
the University of Bergen in 1981.

Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

As of April 16, 2007, the total number of our shares and ADSs beneficially held by directors (six persons) and
executive officers (five persons) as a group was 11,850,877 representing approximately 6.6% of our outstanding
shares. Mr. Ulltveit-Moe, chairperson of our Board of Directors, is the founder, chief executive officer and president
of Umoe Group, the parent company of Umoe Shipping and Energy, which as of April 16, 2007 owned
11,775,822 shares, or 6.5% of our outstanding shares.

As of December 31, 2006, we had outstanding employee stock options covering an aggregate of 2,127,000
ordinary shares. The options, which were granted on July 7, 2006, have an exercise price of NOK 121.50 per share.
All options must be exercised within five years of the date of grant. One third of the options granted may be
exercised one year after the date of grant, an additional one third of the options granted may be exercised two years
after the date of grant and the remaining one third of the granted options may be exercised three years after the date
of grant.

Compensation of Directors

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the aggregate amount we paid for compensation to our directors as a
group for services in all capacities during 2006 was $605,878. This amount includes compensation paid to all
persons who served as directors during any period of 2006. None of our directors has any contract with us providing
benefits upon termination of service.
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The table below provides information about our directors and compensation during any period in 2006:

Name: Position: Director Since Term Expire Compensation Ov?::glsﬁp
(In dollars)

Jens Ulltveit-Moe . ... Chairperson 2002 2007 64,643 6.5 %(a)
Keith Henry. . ....... Vice chairperson 2003(b) 2006 70,079 —
Francis Gugen. . ... .. Vice chairperson 2003(c) 2007 116,785 —
Harald Norvik . . ..... Director 2003 2007 74,437 —
Rolf Erik Rolfsen . ... Director 2002(b) 2006 41,450 —
Clare Spottiswoode . .. Director 2003(b) 2006 54,171 —
Anthony Tripodo. . . .. Director 2003(d) 2007 111,917 —
Holly Van Deursen ... Director 2006(e) 2007 27,258 —
Siri Beate Hatlen.. . . . . Director 2006(e) 2007 18,361 —
Wenche Kjglas ... ... Director 2006(e) 2007 26,777 —

(a) Controlled through Umoe Shipping and Energy AS.
(b) Resigned as a director in June 2006.

(c) Vice chairperson from July 2006.

(d) Resigned as a director in February 2007.

(e) Appointed as a director in June 2006.

Compensation of Executive Officers

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we paid compensation to our president and chief executive officer
and other executive officers as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2006

Other
Name: Position: Fixed Salary Bonus(a) Compensation
(In dollars)

Svein Rennemo . . . .. President and Chief Executive Officer 555,985 405,213 37,614
Gottfred Langseth. ... Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer 348,781 196,372 28,061
Rune Eng.......... President — Marine 401,512 224,426 27,968
Eric Wersich. .. ... .. President — Onshore 289,583 124,000 12,349
Sverre Strandenes . . .. President — Data Processing and Technology

(from November 2006) (b) 48,145 26,056 4,786

(a) 2005 bonus paid during 2006, including share purchase bonus.

(b) Includes compensation for two months in 2006.

Espen Klitzing (President — Production) received total compensation of approximately $400,000 for the
period January through June 29, 2006 (the effective date of the Petrojarl demerger), which is included in
discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations.

Included in Svein Rennemo’s fixed salary is payment of $38,962 (equivalent to NOK 250,000) as compen-
sation for non-inclusion in our executive pension scheme.

Svein Rennemo has a mutual 12-month period of notice, with a deduction for other income, except capital
income. During the period of notice, Mr. Rennemo cannot seek employment with companies that are in direct or
indirect competition with PGS. The contract can be terminated without notice if Mr. Rennemo fails to fulfill his
contractual obligations. Our other executive officers have similar provisions in their employment contracts, with
periods of notice of twelve months or less.
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In 2005 our Board of Directors established a performance bonus incentive plan for our chief executive officer
and other executive officers. This plan was amended in 2006. Under the amended plan, our chief executive officer
and the other executive officers listed above who were employed by the Company during 2006 and remained
employed as of December 2006 were entitled to a maximum cash bonus of up to 50% (or in the case of the CEO
60%) of annual base salary and a maximum share purchase bonus of up to 25% (or in the case of the CEO 30%) of
annual base salary. Within these limits, bonuses were determined on the basis of achievement of financial and non-
financial performance targets. Any amounts received as a share purchase bonus, on a net basis (after withholding
tax), were required to be used to buy PGS ordinary shares at market prices and held for a minimum of three years.
The Board of Directors determined that the bonus under the bonus incentive plan for these executives for 2006
would be $1,583,165 in the aggregate, as presented in the last column in the table below, which amount was accrued
at December 31, 2006.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we also had cash bonus and share purchase bonus plans for other
groups of approximately 155 key employees that are similar to the plan described above for our executive officers,
except that the bonus amounts and percentages for each employee are smaller. We have established bonus plans for
2007 with the same principles as the 2006 bonus plans, covering our executive officers and approximately 400
additional key employees. We also have a stock option program under which we granted options covering
2,127,000 shares during 2006 with an exercise price of NOK 121.50.

Total other benefits as of December 31, 2006 are summarized as follows:
Value of Accrued 2006

Options Held at Bonus at
Benefit Paid to December 31, December 31,

Name: Position: Pension Plan(a) 2006(b) 2006(c)
(In dollars)

Svein Rennemo . . .. President and Chief Executive Officer 7,753 824,764 455,865
Gottfred Langseth .. Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer 10,396 618,573 294,091
Rune Eng ........ President — Marine 11,155 618,573 351,055
Eric Wersich . ... .. President — Onshore — 412,382 225,000
Sverre Strandenes .. President — Data Processing and

Technology 3,680 515,478 257,154

(a) Contribution to defined benefit plan (Norway). Two months included for Mr. Strandenes.

(b) Value of share options is calculated based on number of share options (see below) and fair value of option
(NOK 44.10) (see Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report).

(c) Bonus earned and accrued in 2006, including share purchase bonus.

For further details about our pension obligations, please see Note 23 of the consolidated financial statements
included in Item 18 of this annual report.

In 2006 the Board of Directors authorized the establishment of a share option plan (see Note 24 of the
consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report), and we granted share options in July
2006. The share options held by our chief executive officer and other executive officers at December 31, 2006 were
as follows:

Weighted Average

Number of Share Number of Share Average Remaining
Options Issued Options at 31, Exercise Contractual

Name: July, 2006(a) December 2006 Price(b) Term
Svein Rennemo . .......... 120,000 120,000 NOK 121.50 4.5 years
Gottfred Langseth ......... 90,000 90,000 NOK 121.50 4.5 years
Rune Eng ............... 90,000 90,000 NOK 121.50 4.5 years
Eric Wersich . ............ 60,000 60,000 NOK 121.50 4.5 years
Sverre Strandenes. . ........ 75,000 75,000 NOK 121.50 4.5 years
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(a) Number of share options and figures in the table are adjusted for the three-for-one share split effective
December 13, 2006 (see Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual
report).

(b) See Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report for further detail.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, there was no vesting or exercising of the share options granted
under our share option plan.

Board of Directors’ statement on remuneration to the CEO and the Executive Officers

In accordance with §6-16a of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, the Board of Directors has
prepared a statement related to the determination of salary and other benefits for our chief executive officer and
other executive officers. The guidelines set out below for our chief executive officer and other executive officers
salary and other benefits, for the coming fiscal year, will be presented to the shareholders for their advisory vote at
the June 2007 annual general meeting.

PGS is an international company operating in the global geophysical industry. Our operations are conducted
world wide, and our employment base is and needs to be largely international. The total compensation package for
our chief executive officer and other executive officers shall therefore be competitive both within the Norwegian
labor market and internationally. Both the level of total compensation and the structure of the compensation
package for our chief executive officer and other executive officers shall be such that it may attract and retain highly
qualified international managers. This will require the use of several different instruments and measures also meant
to provide incentives for enhanced performance and to ensure common goals and interest between the shareholders
and management.

The current remuneration package for our chief executive officer and other executive officers includes fixed
elements and variable elements. The fixed element consists of a base salary and other benefits. Other benefits
include car allowance, free newspaper subscription, free mobile phone and similar benefits. The fixed elements also
include a pension plan for other executive officers. The chief executive officer is not a member of this plan and
instead has a fixed annual pension benefit compensation in addition to a limited and standard pension plan. The
variable elements consist of a cash bonus, a share bonus and participation in our share option program. In addition
our executive officers, excluding our chief executive officer, are entitled to a retention bonus payable in 2008 and
2009 provided they are still employed and have not delivered or received a notice of termination at the time of
payment.

The Board of Directors will continue to use all or some of these elements when determining compensation
packages for our chief executive officer and other executive officers in the coming fiscal year.

The level of the annual cash bonus and share bonus is determined based partly on achievements of agreed
financial key performance indicators (KPIs) for the group and each management group, and partly on achievements
of agreed operational, financial and organisational KPIs included in a personal performance contract.

The Group KPIs are financial targets set by the Board of Directors at the start of a fiscal year. The Group KPIs
are thereafter broken down to business unit KPIs. The personal performance contract for the CEO and other
executive officers will contain such KPI goals as well as KPI goals linked to other measures of success such as HSE,
operational effectiveness and organisational development.

Our chief executive officer and other executive officers have identified maximum bonus levels, which may be
exceeded only if performance is extraordinary and very substantially above defined goals. The annual cash and
share bonus for our chief executive officer is approved by our Board of Directors in a meeting and the annual cash
and share bonuses of the executive officers are reviewed and approved by the Remuneration and Corporate
Governance Committee on the chief executive officers recommendation. The Board of Directors will continue to
use this system for determining the level of annual cash and share bonus in the coming fiscal year.

At the annual general meeting in June 2006, our shareholder approved a share option program for management
and key employees. The purpose of the program was to establish long-term incentive schemes for such personnel.
The long-term commitment by the management and key employees was considered vital for further growth. Our
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shareholder authorized at the annual general meeting the implementation of a program covering up to an aggregate
maximum of 2,250,000 shares or 1.25% of the Company’s number of outstanding shares. If the Board of Directors
were to propose a new option program to the annual general meeting, it would follow similar principles as the
existing program.

This statement deals primarily with the remuneration of our chief executive officer and other executive
officers. However, the above described remuneration policy is to a large extent applicable to a broad group of key
employees within the Company. Enhanced performance by the management groups is not achieved by our chief
executive officer and the other executive officers alone but rather depends on a large number of managers and key
employees throughout the Company. Therefore a large and increasing number of managers and key employees are
included in performance based remuneration schemes, which contain all or some of the above mentioned elements.
More than 400 employees within the Company are currently eligible for performance based remuneration.
Remuneration of our chief executive officer and other executive officers will be evaluated regularly by the
Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board of Directors to ensure that salary and other
benefits are kept, at all times within the above guidelines and principles.

Employees

The following table presents information about the number of our employees as of the end of each of the last
three years:

At December 31,
2006 2005 2004

MariNe . . . .ttt e 1,381 1,192 1,115
Onshore(a) . . o v oo 1,589 3,237 1,011
Shared Services/Corporate . .. ... ... ...ttt 198 189 256

Total . .. 3,168 4,618 2,382
Discontinued Operations . . . ... ..... ...ttt — 512 517

(a) Onshore includes crew hired for specific time periods (generally the length of a specific project) totaling 1,345,
3,064 and 891 crew members as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in the
number of our Onshore employees in 2005, as compared with 2004 and 2006, was primarily attributable to our
hiring of local workers to staff seismic crews in connection with a single onshore project in Bangladesh.

We have not experienced any material work stoppages related to union activities during 2006 and consider our
relations with our employees to be good.

ITEM 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions

As of April 24, 2007, Umoe Shipping and Energy owned 11,775,822 shares, or 6.5% of our outstanding shares.
Mr. Jens Ulltveit-Moe, founder, chief executive officer and president of Umoe Group, the parent company of Umoe
Shipping and Energy, serves as chairperson of our Board of Directors. Please read Item 6 of this annual report for
additional information regarding Mr. Ulltveit-Moe.

Based on a Schedule 13G filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2007, FMR Corp.
beneficially owns and has sole dispositive power over 11,070,011 shares, or 6.2% of our outstanding shares, and has
sole voting power with respect to 2,616,140 shares. Members of the family of Mr. Edward C. Johnson, III, chairman
of FMR Corp., own approximately 49% of the outstanding voting stock of FMR Corp., and may be deemed to be
part of a controlling group with respect to FMR Corp. Fidelity Management & Research Company (“Fidelity”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of FMR Corp., beneficially owns 7,766,571 shares, or 4.3% of our outstanding shares.

Fidelity acts as an investment advisor to various registered investment companies (the “Fidelity Funds™). Each
of Mr. Johnson and FMR Corp., through the control of Fidelity, has sole power to dispose of 7,766,571 shares owned
by the Fidelity Funds. Each of the Fidelity Funds’ boards of trustees has voting power over the shares held by each
fund. Fidelity Management Trust Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of FMR Corp, beneficially owns 51,000 of
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our shares. Pyramis Global Advisors, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of FMR Corp, beneficially owns 383,500
of our shares. Pyramis Global Advisors Trust Company, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of FMR Corp,
beneficially owns 911,400 of our shares. Fidelity International Limited (“FIL”) beneficially owns 1,957,540 of our
outstanding shares. FMR Corp. disclaims beneficial ownership of shares owned by FIL.

Our shareholders that are the beneficial owners of 5% or more of our ordinary shares do not have different
voting rights than our other shareholders. As of December 31, 2006, there were 30 record holders of ADSs
representing 15,773,949 shares, of which 25 had registered addresses in the United States. These 25 United States
record holders held ADSs representing 15,773,730 shares, which represented approximately 9% of the total number
of our shares outstanding as of that date.

Based upon information available from Verdipapirsentralen, the Norwegian centralized registry of securities,
as of December 31, 2006, there were 180,000,000 ordinary shares outstanding (including shares represented by
ADSs) held by 3,799 record holders, of which 149 had registered addresses in the United States and 3,208 had
registered addresses in Norway. The United States holdings represented 40,656,805 shares, or approximately 23%
of the total number of our shares outstanding as of that date. For this purpose, Citibank, N.A., in its capacity as the
depositary for our ADSs, represents one record holder of shares. The above numbers may not be representative of
the actual number of United States beneficial holders or of shares beneficially held by U.S. persons. The Norwegian
holdings represented 61,363,443 shares, or approximately 34% of the total number of our shares outstanding as of
that date.

Please read Note 26 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual
report for information regarding our related-party transactions.

ITEM 8. Financial Information
Financial Statements

Please read Item 18 of this annual report.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in or threatened with various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary
course of business. See “Key Information — Risk Factors — Other Risk Factors — We are a multinational
organization faced with increasingly complex tax issues in many jurisdictions, and we could be obligated to
pay additional taxes in various jurisdictions” in Item 3 of this annual report. We have identified issues in several
jurisdictions that could eventually make us liable to pay material amounts in taxes relating to prior years. Additional
issues that we are not currently aware of may be identified in the future. We do not believe that we are engaged in, or
have recently been engaged in, any additional legal or arbitration proceedings that could have, or have had, a
significant effect on our financial position or results of operations. We are not engaged in any material proceeding
that involves any director, current member of senior management or affiliate as an adverse party to us.

Dividend Restrictions

Our ability to meet parent company-level payment obligations depends upon dividends, distributions,
advances and other inter-company transfers from our subsidiaries.

Under Norwegian law, dividends in cash or in-kind as a distribution of our profit and the profits of our
Norwegian subsidiaries are only payable annually, and any proposal by the Board of Directors to pay a dividend
must be recommended by the Board of Directors and approved by the shareholders at a general meeting. The
shareholders may vote to reduce, but not to increase, the dividends proposed. Dividends in cash or in-kind are
payable only out of the following items, as computed for Petroleum Geo-Services ASA (parent company) based on
its unconsolidated financial statements in accordance with Norwegian GAAP:

e the annual profit according to the income statement for the last financial year;
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* other unrestricted equity, after deduction of:
e accumulated losses;

e the book value of research and development, goodwill and net deferred tax assets recorded on the balance
sheet;

* the aggregate nominal value of treasury shares held by or pledged to us;

e the value of such credit or security in favor of our shareholders, directors or management that can be
granted only out of our unrestricted equity; and

e any part of the annual profit that, according to law or our articles of association and the articles of each of
our Norwegian subsidiaries, must be allocated to restricted funds.

Neither we nor our Norwegian subsidiaries can declare dividends if the equity, according to our unconsolidated
Norwegian GAAP balance sheets, amounts to less than 10% of the balance sheet, or dividends in excess of an
amount that is compatible with good and careful business practice with due regard to any losses that may have
occurred after the last balance sheet date or that may be expected to occur. The ability of our foreign subsidiaries to
transfer funds to the parent company may be restricted by exchange, statutory or other limitations. In addition, our
credit facility restricts our ability to pay dividends or make similar distributions.

In general, any future dividend will be subject to determination based on our results of operations and financial
condition, our future business prospects, any applicable legal or contractual restrictions and other factors that the
Board of Directors considers relevant. In May 2007, our Board of Directors recommended that our shareholders
approve at our annual general meeting in June 2007 a special dividend of NOK 10 per share.

Significant Changes

Except as disclosed in this annual report, no significant changes have occurred since the date of our 2006
annual financial statements.

ITEM 9. The Offer and Listing
Listing Details

Our ordinary shares are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange (“OSE”) and trade on that exchange under the
symbol “PGS.” These shares are not publicly traded outside Norway.

We also have American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) that are traded on the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) under the symbol “PGS.” Each ADS represents one share. Citibank, N.A. serves as the depositary for the
ADS:s. PGS listed the ADSs on the NYSE in April 1997. On February 26, 2003, the NYSE informed us that our
ADSs were suspended from the NYSE and that it would commence proceedings with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission to delist the securities. Our ADSs were then traded over-the counter (“OTC”) and were
quoted on the Pink Sheets under the ticker symbol “PGOGY.”

On November 6, 2003, subsequent to our emergence from Chapter 11, our new ordinary shares began trading
on the Oslo Stock Exchange and our new ADSs began trading on the OTC Pink Sheets under the symbol “PGEOY.”

On December 17, 2004, our ADSs were relisted on the NYSE and began trading under the symbol “PGS.”

American Depositary Shares

We have presented in the table below, for the periods indicated, the reported high and low closing prices for our
ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange and the Pink Sheets, as applicable. Upon emergence from Chapter 11
proceedings and consummation of our financial restructuring in November 2003, the pre-restructuring shareholders
received one post-restructuring share per 129 old shares, in addition to the right to subscribe for new shares in a
rights offering. The new shares began trading on the Pink Sheets on November 6, 2003. The old shares were
cancelled. In June 2005 we split our shares three for one. In December 2006 we split our shares again three for one.
The share prices in the table below have been adjusted for these share splits.
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Price per ADS

Calendar Period High Low
20002 L $ 088 $0.04
2003 (through February 26) ... ........ ... 0.05 0.03
2003 (February 26 — November 5). .. ... ... 0.17 0.01
2003 (from November 6) . . ... ... ... 4.78 3.64
2004 (through December 16) ... ... ... i, 6.92 3.72
2004 (from December 17). . . . .. o 6.90 6.74
2005 10.61 6.30
2000 . . 24.95 10.33

Price per ADS
Calendar Period _High  Low
First Quarter 2005 . . . . . ... . $ 831 $ 6.61
Second Quarter 2005 . . . ... 8.42 6.30
Third Quarter 2005. . . . . . . e 10.61 8.00
Fourth Quarter 2005 . . . . . . ... 10.53 8.13
First Quarter 20006 . . . .. . ... 15.57 10.33
Second Quarter 2000 . . ... ... 24.95 15.57
Third Quarter 2000. . . . . . . 22.65 15.40
Fourth Quarter 2006 . . . . ... ... .. 23.45 15.43

Price per ADS
Calendar Period _High  Low
October 2000 . . . oo $19.44  $15.43
November 2000 . . . ... . 22.48 19.41
December 2000 . . . ... .. e 23.45 22.05
January 2007 . . ... 23.87 20.88
February 2007 . . . ..o e 25.05 22.65
March 2007 . . . 26.34 22.07
April 2007 . o o 27.93 26.04

Shares

We have presented in the table below, for the periods indicated, the reported high and low closing prices for our
shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange. On November 6, 2003, upon emergence from Chapter 11 proceedings and
consummation of our financial restructuring, the pre-restructuring shareholders received one new share per 129 old
shares, in addition to the right to subscribe for new shares in a rights offering. In June 2005 we split our shares three
for one. In December 2006 we split our shares again three for one. The share prices in the table below have been
adjusted for these share splits.

Price per Share

Calendar Period High Low

2002 . NOK 7.8 NOK 0.3
2003 (through November 5). .. ... ... e 1.2 0.1
2003 (from November 6) . . ... ... .. 31.2 21.1
2004 . . 38.2 24.3
2005 . 62.8 35.9
2000 . . 146.5 63.8



Price per Share

Calendar Period High Low

First Quarter 2005 . . . . ... ... NOK 48.1 NOK 37.0
Second Quarter 2005 . . . . ... .. 48.8 35.9
Third Quarter 2005 . . .. ... 62.0 46.6
Fourth Quarter 2005 . ... .. ... . ... 62.8 46.7
First Quarter 2000 . . . . . ... . e 97.2 63.8
Second Quarter 2006 . . . . ... ... 136.0 90.5
Third Quarter 20006 . . ... .. 125.7 97.2
Fourth Quarter 2006 . .. .. ... ... 146.5 102.8

Price per Share

Calendar Period High Low

October 2000. . . . oot NOK 128.0 NOK 102.8
November 2006 . . . . ... 139.5 126.7
December 2006 . . . ... 146.5 134.2
January 2007 . . ..o 153.0 135.5
February 2007 . . . ... 158.8 142.5
March 2007 . . . . 158.8 136.8
April 2007 . . . 167.0 157.0

ITEM 10. Additional Information
Description of Share Capital

We have summarized below material information about our share capital, our articles of association and
provisions of Norwegian law that apply to our share capital. This summary is not complete. For more information
about our share capital, we encourage you to read our articles of association, which we have filed as an exhibit to this
annual report.

Organization, Register and Purpose

We are a public limited liability company organized under the laws of the Kingdom of Norway. Our
registration number with the Norwegian Company Registry is 916235291. As set forth in Section 2 of our articles of
association, our business is to provide services to and participate and invest in energy related businesses.

Voting Rights

As a general rule, our shareholders can take action under Norwegian law or our articles of association by a
simple majority of votes cast at a general meeting of shareholders. Each ordinary share carries one vote.
Amendments to our articles of association, however, including any amendment increasing our share capital or
altering the rights and preferences of any share or class of shares, require the approval of at least two-thirds of the
votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a shareholders’ meeting, whether or not holders
of the share capital are entitled to vote. In some cases, a stricter voting requirement may apply.

To vote at an annual or extraordinary general meeting, a shareholder must be registered as a holder of title to
the shares to be voted in our share register maintained at the Verdipapirsentralen (“VPS”), the Norwegian
centralized registry of securities, not later than at the date of the general meeting. Shareholders who intend to
participate in a general meeting in person or by proxy must notify us by the date stated in the notice convening the
meeting, which date must be at least two business days before the date of the meeting.
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Under our articles of association, the beneficial owner of shares registered in VPS through a custodian
approved by the Norwegian authorities may vote the shares covered by the custodial arrangement if:

* the beneficial owner provides us, no later than two business days prior to the meeting, with its name, address
and a confirmation from the custodian that the holder is the beneficial owner of the shares held in
custody; and

* our Board of Directors does not disapprove the beneficial ownership after receipt of notification as described
below under “— VPS and Transfer of Shares.”

As an alternative to the voting procedure for beneficial owners described above, under Norwegian law, owners
of American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, representing shares can vote by surrendering their American Depositary
Receipts, or ADRs, evidencing ADSs to the custodian and having title to the related shares registered in our share
register maintained at the VPS prior to the meeting.

Our annual general meeting of shareholders is held each year before the end of June. Norwegian law requires
that written notice of general meetings be sent to shareholders whose addresses are known at least two weeks prior
to the date of the meeting. Under our articles of association, we may call general meetings on four weeks’ written
notice. A shareholder may vote by proxy. Although Norwegian law does not require us to send proxy forms to our
shareholders for general meetings, we normally include a proxy form with the meeting notice. Any shareholder may
demand that a specific issue be placed as an item on the agenda for any general meeting provided that we are
notified in time for such item to be included in the meeting notice.

Extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held:

* whenever our Board of Directors considers it necessary;

e at the request of our auditor; or

* at the request of shareholders representing at least 5% of our share capital.

Extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be called with two weeks written notice when called at the
written request of our auditor or at the request of shareholders representing at least 5% of our share capital. The
request must name the matters to be considered. The extraordinary general meeting must be convened within one
month of the date of the request. Other than approval of the annual accounts and declaration of dividends, any matter
that may be raised at an annual general meeting may also be raised at an extraordinary general meeting.

Norwegian law prohibits the general meeting or the Board of Directors of any other person representing us from
taking any action that may give a shareholder an unreasonable benefit at the expense of other shareholders or us.

Restrictions on Ownership of Shares

At present, there is no limitation on ownership of shares by persons who are not Norwegian.

Share Register

Under Norwegian law, shares are registered in the name of the owner of the shares. As a general rule, there are
no arrangements for nominee registration. However, shares may be registered in the VPS, described below under
“— VPS and Transfer of Shares,” by a fund manager (bank or other nominee) approved by the Norwegian Ministry
of Finance, as the nominee of foreign shareholders. An approved and registered nominee has a duty to provide
information on demand about beneficial shareholders to the company and to the Norwegian authorities. In the case
of registration by nominees, registration with the VPS must show that the registered owner is a nominee.
Registration must include the nominee’s name, address and number of shares that are the subject of the nomination
agreement. A registered nominee has the right to receive dividends and other distributions but cannot vote at general
meetings on behalf of the beneficial owners. Beneficial owners must register with the VPS or provide other proof of
their acquisition of the shares in order to vote at general meetings.
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VPS and Transfer of Shares

Norway has a paperless, centralized registry of shares and other securities, VPS. We and all other Norwegian
public companies are obligated to register our shares in VPS. Share certificates are not used. VPS is a computerized
bookkeeping system operated by an independent body in which the ownership of and all transactions relating to
Norwegian listed shares must be recorded. Our share register is operated through VPS under VPS number
000-4225004.

All transactions relating to securities registered with VPS are made through computerized book entries. VPS
confirms each entry by sending a transcript to the registered shareholder irrespective of any beneficial ownership.
To effect an entry, the individual shareholder must establish a share account with a Norwegian account agent.
Norwegian banks, the Bank of Norway, authorized securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit
institutions established within the European Economic Area are allowed to act as agents. If the shareholder does not
establish an account, the issuing company will appoint an agent on the shareholder’s behalf.

A'VPS entry represents prima facie evidence in determining the legal rights of a registered holder of a security
against the issuing company or a third party claiming an interest in the security.

VPS is strictly liable for any loss resulting from an error in connection with registering, altering or canceling a
right, except in the event of contributory negligence, in which event compensation owed by the VPS may be reduced
or withdrawn.

Under Norwegian law, a transferor must register immediately with VPS any acquisition or other transfer of
shares. A person to whom shares have been transferred or assigned may exercise the rights of a sharecholder for those
shares only if:

* the transfer or assignment has been registered or that person has reported and shown evidence to us of the
share acquisition; and

* the acquisition is not prevented by law, our articles of association or otherwise.

Norwegian law and our articles of association provide that our shares are freely transferable.

ADSs and Transfer and Voting

Our shareholders may choose to hold our shares as ADSs, in which case the shares are represented by ADRs.
ADSs may be transferred, at the option of the holder, by transferring the related ADRs, or by requesting that the
underlying shares be issued to the holder, who then transfers them to the transferee. Holders of ADSs may vote the
underlying shares by:

* requesting that the shares be certificated by having them transferred to a VPS account in the name of the
holder;

* providing name and address information, and a confirmation from Citibank N.A., as depositary for the
ADSs, to the effect that the holder is the beneficial owner of the underlying shares; or

* authorizing Citibank N.A. to vote the ADSs on the holder’s behalf.

Disclosure Obligations

Under Norwegian law, a person, entity or group acting in concert must notify the Oslo Stock Exchange
immediately of an acquisition or disposition of shares or rights to shares and of its aggregate holdings of shares or
rights to shares following the acquisition or disposition, if the acquisition or disposition results in the holder’s
aggregate beneficial ownership of shares or rights to shares reaching, exceeding or falling below thresholds of 1/20,
1710, 1/5, 1/3, 1/2, 2/3 or 9/10 of the total number of shares outstanding or of the outstanding voting rights. A
corresponding disclosure obligation applies to holders of ADRs.
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Additional Issuances and Preemptive Rights

To issue additional shares, including bonus issues (share dividends), we must amend our articles of association.
This amendment requires the same shareholder vote as other amendments to our articles of association, which is at
least two-thirds of the votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. Our
shareholders also must approve by the same vote the issuance of loans convertible into shares or warrants to
purchase shares. At a general meeting, the shareholders may by the same majority authorize our Board of Directors
to issue:

* an aggregate number of shares not exceeding 50% of the number of shares outstanding at the time of the
general meeting; and

* loans convertible into an aggregate number of shares not exceeding 50% of the number of shares outstanding
at the time of the general meeting.

The duration of these authorizations cannot exceed two years.

Under Norwegian law, shareholders have preemptive rights to subscribe for and be allotted new shares that we
issue. Shareholders may waive those preemptive rights in a general meeting by the same vote required to approve
amendments to our articles of association. A waiver of shareholders’ preemptive rights for bonus issues (share
dividends) must be approved by the holders of all shares outstanding.

If we issue shares upon the exercise of preemptive rights to holders who are citizens or residents of the United
States, we may be required to file a registration statement in the United States under U.S. securities laws. If we
decide not to file a registration statement, those U.S. holders would not be able to exercise their preemptive rights
and would be required to sell them to Norwegian persons or other non-U.S. holders to realize the value of the rights.

Under Norwegian law and with shareholder approval, we may distribute bonus issues (share dividends) of our
shares from amounts:

e that we could otherwise distribute as dividends; or

* that we may create by transferring funds from our share premium reserve discussed below under
“— Dividends and Legal Reserves” to share capital.

We can implement bonus issues (share dividends) either by issuing shares or by increasing the par value of the
shares outstanding.

At our annual general meeting on June 14, 2006, our shareholders authorized our Board of Directors to
increase our share capital by up to NOK 54 million through one or more subscriptions. The authorization is valid
until June 2007. The authorization was unused as of December 31, 2006.

At our extraordinary general meeting held on December 13, 2006, our shareholders approved an increase in
our share capital by NOK 1 per share, followed by a three-for-one share split. Our ordinary shares began trading ex
split on the OSE on December 18, 2006. Our ADSs began trading ex split on the NYSE on December 26, 2006.

Dividends and Legal Reserves

Please read “Financial Information — Dividend Restrictions” in Item 8 of this annual report for information
regarding our ability to pay dividends or distribute profits to our shareholders, and whether we intend to pay
dividends. We hereby incorporate information called for by this Item 10 by reference to the information under that
caption.

Under Norwegian law, we are required to maintain reserves that are adequate in light of our activities and
related risks. We must allocate to the share premium (restricted) reserve any premium paid to us for the subscription
of new shares.
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Examination of PGS and its Accounts

Under Norwegian law, any shareholder may request that Norwegian courts order an examination of our
company and accounts if such request is approved by 10% or more of the aggregate share capital represented at any
general meeting.

Rights upon Winding-Up

A Norwegian company may be wound up by a resolution of the company in a general meeting passed by at
least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast by its voting shares and by at least two-thirds of the aggregate share
capital represented at the meeting irrespective of class. The shares rank pari passu in the event of a return of capital
by the company on a winding-up or otherwise.

Interested Director Transactions

Under Norwegian law, a director may not participate in a discussion or decision of any matter in which the
director or any related person of the director has a significant personal or financial special interest. In addition,
under Norwegian law, a director may not participate in a discussion or decision involving any proposed loan or other
credit to the director or pledge of security for the director’s debt.

Other Provisions Relating to Directors

Each of our directors stands for election at our annual general meeting, and our directors do not serve staggered
terms. There is no cumulative voting for directors.

Under Norwegian law, any compensation payable to a director must be determined by the shareholders in a
general meeting. There is no mandatory retirement provision under Norwegian law or our articles of association,
nor is there a requirement that our directors own our shares or ADSs.

Mandatory Bid Requirement

Norwegian statutory law requires any person, entity, family group or other group acting in concert that acquires
shares (including ADSs) representing more than 40% of the voting rights of a Norwegian company listed on the
Oslo Stock Exchange to notify the Oslo Stock Exchange immediately and to make a general offer to acquire all the
outstanding share capital of that company. Such offer must be made no later than four weeks after the obligation is
triggered and in the form of an offer document to all shareholders. The offer may not be conditional and is subject to
approval by the Oslo Stock Exchange before submission to the shareholders. The offer must be in cash or contain a
cash alternative at least equivalent to any other consideration offered. The offering price per share must be the
greater of:

* the highest price paid by the offeror for the shares in the six-month period prior to the date the 40% threshold
was exceeded; or

* the recorded market price at that date.

If the acquirer acquires, or agrees to acquire, additional shares at a higher price after exceeding the 40%
threshold but prior to the expiration of the four-week bid period, the acquirer must restate its bid at that higher price.
If a shareholder who is required to make a mandatory bid fails to do so, the shareholder must within four weeks
dispose of sufficient shares so that the obligation ceases to apply. Otherwise, the Oslo Stock Exchange may cause
the shares exceeding the 40% limit to be sold by public auction.

During the time the mandatory bid requirement is in force, a shareholder failing to make the required offer may
not vote or exercise any rights of share ownership other than the right to receive dividends and preferential rights
relating to a share capital increase, unless a majority of the remaining shareholders approve. In addition, the Oslo
Stock Exchange may impose a daily fine upon a shareholder who fails to make the required offer.

Citibank, N.A., the depositary for our ADSs, has qualified and been recognized as a custodian of the shares in
Norway. As a result, it is exempt from the mandatory bid requirement.
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Sale of All or Substantial Part of Our Property or Assets

There is no general requirement under Norwegian law that the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all
of the property or assets of a Norwegian company requires shareholder approval in addition to the approval of the
Board of Directors, unless such a transaction would imply that the business and purpose of the company as
described in its articles of association would be amended, in which event the approval of at least two-thirds of the
votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting is required.

At an extraordinary general meeting held in April 2006, our shareholders approved the demerger of our former
production business, Petrojarl. Please see “Demerger of Our Production Business (2006)” in Item 4 above of this
annual report for a discussion of this transaction.

Compulsory Acquisition (Squeeze Out/Sell Out Right)

Under Norwegian law, if a shareholder, directly or indirectly, acquires shares of a Norwegian company
representing more than 90% of the total number of shares outstanding or of the outstanding voting rights, then such
majority shareholder has the right (and each remaining minority shareholder of the company has the right to require
such majority shareholder) to effect a compulsory acquisition for cash of any shares not already owned by such
majority shareholder. Under such a compulsory acquisition, the majority shareholder becomes the owner of the
acquired shares with immediate effect. Upon effecting the compulsory acquisition, the majority shareholder would
be required to offer the minority shareholders a specific price per share, the determination of which price would be
at the discretion of the majority shareholder. If any minority shareholder does not accept the offered price, such
minority shareholder may, within a specified deadline of not less than two months, request that the price be set by
the Norwegian courts. Generally, the cost of any such court procedure would be borne by the majority shareholder,
and the courts would have full discretion in respect of the valuation of the shares for the compulsory acquisition. In
the absence of such a request or other objection to the price being offered by the majority shareholder, the minority
shareholders would be deemed to have accepted the offered price after the expiration of a two-month period.

Exchange Controls and Other Limitations Affecting Security Holders

Under Norwegian foreign currency exchange controls currently in effect, transfers of capital to and from
Norway are not subject to prior governmental approval except for the physical transfer of payments in currency,
which is restricted to licensed banks. As a result, a non-Norwegian resident may receive dividend, principal and
interest payments on our securities without a Norwegian exchange control consent, but the payments must be made
through a licensed bank.

There are no limitations imposed by Norwegian law or our articles of association on the right to hold or vote
shares that apply differently to non-Norwegian owners than to Norwegian owners.
Material Contracts

We provide below a summary of material contracts that we have entered into in the last two years, other than
contracts entered into in the ordinary course of our business. The descriptions below are qualified in their entirety by
reference to the agreements being described, which are listed in Item 19 of this annual report.

Demerger of our Former Production Business
In June 2006, we completed the demerger of our former production business, Petrojarl. Please see “Demerger
of Our Production Business (2006)” in Item 4 above of this annual report for a discussion of this transaction.

Shipbuilding Contracts for New Ramform Vessels

On April 27, 2006, we signed an agreement with Aker Langsten AS to construct a new third generation
Ramform seismic vessel, Ramform Sovereign (see “Our Marine Segment — Vessel Fleet and Crews” in Item 4 of
this annual report), with expected delivery in the first quarter of 2008. Effective September 30, 2006, we exercised
an option with Aker Yards AS to construct another third generation Ramform seismic vessel with delivery expected
in the second quarter of 2009. The vessels will be built at Aker Yards, Langsten, Norway. We expect the new vessels
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to cost approximately $85 million and $88 million, respectively, excluding the cost of seismic equipment, and we
expect the total cost to be approximately $160 million and $170 million, respectively, excluding project man-
agement costs and interest.

Share Bonus Plan

We have established a bonus plan, covering our executive officers and approximately 400 key employees.
Under the plan, the employees covered by the plan are entitled to receive a cash bonus and a share purchase bonus
up to certain limits. The shares bought must be held for a minimum of three years. Please see “Compensation of
Executive Officers” in Item 6 above of this annual report for a discussion of the share bonus plan.

Stock Option Plan

In July 2006, we granted under our share option plan to 119 key employees options covering an aggregate of
2,127,000 ordinary shares at an exercise price of NOK 121.50 per share. Options covering a total of 2,250,000
ordinary shares may be granted under the plan. Please see “Share Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” in
Item 6 above of this annual report for a discussion of the share option plan.

Employment Contract with CEO and CEO Bonus Scheme

On January 26, 2006, we entered into a new employment agreement with Svein Rennemo, our Chief Executive
Officer. The new agreement replaced Mr. Rennemo’s 2002 employment agreement.

The new employment agreement provides (i) for an annual salary in 2006 of NOK 3,250,000, which salary is
subject to annual review, (ii) for a car allowance of NOK 225,000, (iii) that Mr. Rennemo may participate in (A) our
group life, accident and travel insurance and other personnel insurance that we provide, and (B) our CEO bonus
arrangement and (iv) for vacation and holiday allowance/pay. As pension compensation, we are obligated (1) to pay
to Mr. Rennemo NOK 200,000 annually as compensation for lack of an executive pension arrangement, (2) com-
mencing January 1, 2006, to make a contribution for the benefit of Mr. Rennemo to the general pension insurance
scheme (as applicable to all Norwegian employees), and (3) make a lump sum payment of NOK 361,058 to the
general pension insurance scheme (as applicable to all Norwegian employees) to compensate for the lack of
premium payments from the commencement of Mr. Rennemo’s employment in 2002 through 2005.

On December 13, 2006, we amended the employment agreement with Mr. Rennemo. Prior to the amendment
Mr. Rennemo’s employment would terminate at age 60, unless we otherwise agreed in writing with Mr. Rennemo.
The amendment extended Mr. Rennemo’s employment such that it will now terminate at age 61, unless we
otherwise agree in writing with Mr. Rennemo. In addition, both we and Mr. Rennemo can still terminate the
employment agreement with 12 months notice or, if the period of time remaining prior to Mr. Rennemo’s
61st birthday is less, notice of such lesser period of time. The employment agreement may also be terminated by us
for breach of contract by Mr. Rennemo.

Credit Facility

In December 2005, we and certain of our affiliates entered into a senior secured credit facility with the lenders
named therein. Please see “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Overview — 2005 Refinancing” and
“— Liquidity and Capital Resources — Sources of Liquidity — Capital Resources” in Item 5 of this annual report
for a description of this credit facility.

Sale of Pertra

On March 1, 2005, we sold Pertra to Talisman for a sales price of approximately $155 million. Please read
“Information on the Company — Sale of Subsidiaries (2003-2005)” in Item 4 and Note 25 of the consolidated
financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report for a description of this transaction.
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Taxation
General

The following discussion generally summarizes the principal Norwegian and U.S. federal income tax
consequences of the ownership and disposition of our ADRs, which evidence our ADSs, and our shares to holders
of ADRs and shares who are residents of the United States or otherwise subject to U.S. federal income taxation on a
net income basis for ADRs and shares and who are not residents of Norway (“U.S. Holders™). The summary applies
only to holders who will hold ADRs or shares as capital assets and does not address certain classes of holders, such
as holders who own, directly or indirectly, at least 10% of our outstanding shares, which may be subject to special
rules. Because it is a general summary, prospective purchasers of ADRs or shares who would be U.S. Holders are
advised to consult their own tax advisors about the U.S. federal, state and local tax consequences and the Norwegian
tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of ADRs and shares that are applicable in their particular tax
situations, including the effects of recent and possible future changes in the applicable tax laws.

The summaries of U.S. and Norwegian tax laws provided below are based on the tax laws of the United States
and Norway, the income tax convention between the United States and Norway (the “Convention”) and interpre-
tations by the relevant tax authorities that are in effect as of the date of this annual report and are subject to any
changes that may occur after that date (possibly with retroactive effect). It has been reported that a new income tax
convention between the United States and Norway has been initialed and is expected to be signed very soon. When
it becomes effective, this new convention will supersede the Convention.

For U.S. and Norwegian tax purposes, U.S. Holders of ADRs will be treated as the owners of the shares
represented by the ADRs. Unless we have otherwise stated below, the Norwegian tax consequences and the
U.S. federal income tax consequences discussed below apply equally to U.S. Holders of ADRs and U.S. Holders of
shares.

We believe, and this discussion assumes, that we are not and have never been a passive foreign investment
company as that term is defined in the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

Taxation of Dividends

Under Norwegian tax law, dividends paid to foreign shareholders of Norwegian corporations are, unless
otherwise provided for in an applicable tax treaty, subject to a withholding tax in Norway of 25%. Under the
Convention, the maximum rate of withholding tax on dividends paid by a Norwegian corporation to a “resident of
the United States,” as defined in the Convention, is 15%. The 15% withholding rate will apply to any dividends paid
on our shares held directly by U.S. Holders who properly demonstrate to us and to the Norwegian tax authorities that
they are entitled to the benefits of the Convention. Dividends paid to Citibank, as depositary, will be subject to
withholding at the 25% rate. U.S. Holders of ADRs who believe they are entitled to the benefits of the Convention
may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of amounts withheld in excess of 15%. The application is to
be filed with the Norwegian Central Office for Foreign Tax Affairs. There is some uncertainty, however, as to
whether and when such a refund may be obtained.

We intend to file any reports with the Norwegian authorities or agencies necessary to obtain the benefits of the
Convention for those entitled to them. We will exercise our right under the deposit agreement to reasonably request
from Citibank such information from its records that will enable us to file the reports.

If, however, the recipient of a dividend is determined to be engaged in a business activity taxable in Norway
and our shares or ADSs with respect to which the dividend is paid are effectively connected with that activity, then
the amount distributed to the U.S. Holder will be treated as taxable domestic dividend income in Norway, subject to
the provisions of the Convention, where applicable. After the amendments to the Norwegian tax law, the dividend
could potentially be exempted from taxation in Norway if the business activity in Norway is owned by a corporate
entity in the United States, but the legal situation is unclear. Such U.S. Holders should seek further tax advice
regarding their tax situation in Norway. Dividends will be taxable if a U.S. Holder who is an individual with
business activity in Norway owns shares, and our shares or ADSs are effectively connected with that activity.
Dividends received by the individual shareholder exceeding a risk-free rate of return (deemed allowance) are
subject to taxation at 28%. The individual shareholder is only entitled to deduct the deemed allowance on shares
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held at December 31 in the income year. The deemed allowance is calculated for each individual share on the basis
of the cost price (including RISK amount up to 1 January 2006) multiplied with an opportunity rate of interest (risk-
free rate of interest after tax). Any unused deemed allowance may be carried forward and set off against future
dividends or gains upon realization of the share. For the income year 20006, the risk-free rate of return amounted to
2.1%.

To the extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, distributions made on our shares or
ADSs, other than certain distributions of our capital stock or rights to subscribe for shares of our capital stock, will
be includible in the income of a U.S. Holder for U.S. federal income tax purposes as ordinary dividend income. In
the case of a U.S. Holder of an ADR, such dividend income will be recognized on the date Citibank receives the
distribution. Dividends we pay will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction generally allowed to
corporations under the Code. The amount of a dividend distribution for tax purposes will equal the U.S. dollar value
of the amount of the distribution in Norwegian kroner (including the amount of Norwegian taxes withheld from the
distribution), calculated by reference to the exchange rate in effect on the date of the distribution. Upon the ultimate
conversion by Citibank into U.S. dollars of the Norwegian kroner received in a distribution, U.S. Holders of ADRs
generally will recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes equal to the difference, if any, between
such U.S. dollars and the U.S. dollar value of such Norwegian kroner on the date of the distribution. Such gain or
loss will be treated as ordinary income or loss.

For taxable years beginning on or before December 31, 2010, dividend income received by an individual,
estate, or trust from a corporation organized in the U.S. or from a “qualified foreign corporation” generally is taxed
at the lower rates imposed on long-term capital gains recognized by individuals. The maximum rate of tax for such
dividends is 15%.

A non-U.S. corporation is a “qualified foreign corporation” if either (i) its stock with respect to which the
dividend is paid is readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S. or (ii) the corporation is eligible
for the benefits of a comprehensive tax treaty with the U.S. that the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) determines is
satisfactory for purposes of the provision reducing the rate of tax on dividends, and that includes an exchange of
information program. Our ADSs are readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S. because they are
listed on the NYSE. Moreover, we are eligible for benefits under the Convention, and the IRS has identified the
Convention as satisfactory for purposes of the provision reducing the rate of tax on dividends and as including an
exchange of information program. Accordingly, U.S. Holders that are individuals, estates, or trusts generally will be
eligible for the lower long-term capital gains rates with respect to dividends paid on our shares or ADSs.

AU.S. Holder will not be allowed to benefit from the lower long-term capital gains rates unless the U.S. Holder
(1) holds our shares or ADSs for more than 60 days during the 121-day period beginning on the date that is 60 days
before the date on which the shares or ADSs become ex-dividend (disregarding any period during which the
U.S. Holder has a diminished risk of loss with respect to such shares or ADSs), and (ii) is not under an obligation to
make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property.

Norwegian taxes imposed on dividend distributions on our shares or ADSs generally will be eligible for credit
against the U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income taxes. The amount of the Norwegian taxes eligible for this foreign tax
credit generally will be equal to the amount of such taxes withheld from the dividend distributions, reduced by the
amount of any refunds of such taxes subsequently received. U.S. Holders that are eligible for benefits under the
Convention will not be entitled to a foreign tax credit for the amount of any Norwegian taxes withheld in excess of
the 15% maximum rate, and with respect to which the holder can obtain a refund from the Norwegian taxing
authorities. U.S. Holders that are accrual basis taxpayers generally must translate Norwegian taxes into U.S. dollars
at a rate equal to the average exchange rate for the taxable year in which the taxes accrue (except that such a
U.S. Holder may elect to translate Norwegian taxes using the exchange rate at the time the taxes are paid if the
U.S. Holder’s functional currency for tax purposes is not the Norwegian kroner). All U.S. Holders must translate
taxable dividend income into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the date received. This difference in exchange rates may
reduce the U.S. dollar value of the credits for Norwegian taxes relative to the U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax
liability attributable to the dividend.

Under the foreign tax credit limitations of the Code, the foreign tax credit can offset U.S. federal income taxes
imposed on foreign-source income but not on U.S.-source income. In addition, foreign taxes imposed on income in
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certain categories specified in the Code may only be used to offset U.S. taxes on income in the same category.
Subject to special rules we describe below, dividends we pay will generally be foreign-source income within either
the “passive income” category or the “financial services income” category, depending on the particular U.S. Hold-
er’s circumstances. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2006, dividends that previously would have
been “passive income” will generally be “passive category income” and dividends that previously would have been
“financial services income” will generally be “general category income.”

The Code contains a provision that could, in certain circumstances, cause a portion of the dividends we pay to
be treated as U.S.-source income. Even if that provision applied to dividends we pay to a U.S. Holder, because of the
source rules contained in the Convention, no portion of such a dividend would be recharacterized as U.S.-source
income if the U.S. Holder includes the dividend as a separate category of income for purposes of the foreign tax
credit limitation.

If a U.S. Holder that is an individual, estate, or trust is taxed at the lower long-term capital gains rates on
dividends we pay, the Code contains a provision that will cause a portion of any dividend eligible for this lower rate
to be treated as U.S.-source income. This provision is intended to limit the amount of the Norwegian taxes eligible
for the foreign tax credit to the amount of U.S. tax paid by the U.S. Holder at the lower long term capital gains rates.
U.S. Holders are advised to consult their own tax advisors when determining the portion of any dividend that will be
treated as U.S.-source income under this provision.

A U.S. Holder will not be allowed to claim foreign tax credits (but would instead be allowed deductions) for
foreign taxes withheld on a dividend if the U.S. Holder (i) has not held the shares for at least 16 days in the 31-day
period beginning 15 days before the date on which the shares become ex-dividend with respect to such dividend or
(i1) is under an obligation to make related payments with respect to positions in property that is substantially similar
or related to the shares.

Taxation of Ordinary Dispositions

A U.S. Holder normally is not taxed in Norway on gains from the sale or other disposal of our shares or ADSs.
Such a holder may be subject to taxation if the shareholding is effectively connected with a business carried out by
the shareholder through a permanent establishment in Norway. In addition, a shareholder may be subject to taxation
on gains if the shareholder is an individual who has been a resident of Norway for income tax purposes and the
disposal takes place within five years after the calendar year in which the shareholder ceased to be a resident of
Norway. The same rules apply to gains realized upon complete liquidation of us or upon redemption of our shares or
ADSs. Repayment in connection with a reduction of our share capital by reducing the nominal value of the shares is,
however, subject to withholding tax as a dividend distribution, if exceeding paid-in capital.

After the amendments to the Norwegian tax law, such gains from the sale or other disposal of our shares or
ADSs could potentially be exempted from taxation when the U.S. Holder with the business activity in Norway is a
corporate entity, but the legal situation is far from certain. We recommend that such U.S. Holders seek further tax
advice regarding their tax situation in Norway. Losses are deductible if the gains are taxable. Gains from disposal of
shares will be taxable as general income at a flat rate of 28% if a U.S. Holder who is an individual with business
activity in Norway owns the shares, and our shares or ADSs are effectively connected with that activity. Losses on
shares are deductible in the shareholders ordinary income. Gain or loss for the individual shareholder is calculated
per share, as the difference between the consideration received and the tax basis for the share. The tax basis of each
share is based on the shareholder’s purchase price for the share. The individual shareholder is entitled to deduct a
deemed allowance when calculating taxable gain on sale of shares. The allowance for each share will be equal to the
cost price of the share multiplied by a determined risk-free interest rate (see section on dividend taxation above).
The deemed allowance is only attributed to shares owned at December 31 in the income year and will also include
any unused deemed allowance from previous years. The tax liability and deductibility apply irrespective of how
long the shares have been owned and the number of shares that are sold. If the shares disposed of have been acquired
at different times, the shares that were first acquired will be deemed as first sold. Costs incurred in connection with
the purchase and sale of shares are deductible in the year of sale, provided that the gain is not exempted from
taxation.
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A U.S. Holder will recognize capital gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes on a sale or other
disposition of our shares or ADSs (or rights to subscribe for our shares), including a sale or other disposition by
Citibank of shares (or rights to subscribe for shares) received as dividends on the ADSs, in the same manner as on
the sale or other disposition of any other shares held as capital assets (or rights to acquire such shares). Such capital
gain or loss will be an amount equal to the difference between the U.S. dollar value of the amount realized and the
U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the shares. Such capital gain or loss will be long-term if the shares have been held for more
than one year. Long-term capital gains recognized by individuals, estates, and trusts are eligible for taxation at rates
not in excess of 15%. Any such gain or loss will generally be U.S.-source income or loss.

Regardless of the holding period of the shares or ADSs disposed, if an individual U.S. Holder receives a
dividend from us qualifying for the long-term capital gains rates and such dividend constitutes an “extraordinary
dividend,” and the U.S. Holder subsequently recognizes a loss on the sale or exchange of our shares or ADSs, then
the loss will be long-term capital loss to the extent of such “extraordinary dividend.” An “extraordinary dividend”
for this purpose is a dividend in an amount (i) greater than or equal to 10% of the taxpayer’s tax basis (or fair market
value as of the day before the ex-dividend date) of the underlying shares or ADSs, aggregating dividends with ex-
dividend dates within an 85-day period, or (ii) in excess of 20% of such tax basis (or fair market value as of the day
before the ex-dividend date), aggregating dividends with ex dividend dates within a period of 365 days.

A U.S. Holder will not be allowed to claim foreign tax credits (but would instead be allowed deductions) for
foreign taxes imposed on a gross basis on gain with respect to the disposition of our shares or ADSs unless the
U.S. Holder (i) holds such shares or ADSs for more than 15 days during the 31-day period beginning on the date that
is 15 days before the right to receive payment arises (disregarding any period during which the U.S. Holder has a
diminished risk of loss with respect to such shares or ADSs) and (ii) is not under an obligation to make related
payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property.

Deposits and withdrawals of our shares in exchange for ADRs will not result in taxable gain or loss for U.S. or
Norwegian tax purposes.

U.S. Backup Withholding

Certain payments, including certain dividends and proceeds from sales of stock, may be subject to
U.S. “backup withholding” at the current 28% rate if the recipient of such a payment fails to provide an accurate
taxpayer identification number or certification of U.S. status or fails to report all interest and dividends required to
be shown on its U.S. federal income tax returns, or otherwise fails to establish an exemption from withholding. Any
amounts so withheld would be allowed as a credit against the recipient’s U.S. federal income tax liability for the
year. Dividends we pay to a U.S. Holder generally would be subject to these backup-withholding rules.

Gift and Estate Tax
An individual U.S. Holder will be subject to U.S. gift and estate taxes with respect to our shares in the same
manner and to the same extent as with respect to other types of personal property.
Norwegian Transfer Tax
There is no Norwegian stock transfer tax or capital tax upon the acquisition or subsequent disposition of our
shares or ADSs.
Norwegian Inheritance Tax

There is no Norwegian inheritance tax or gift tax on our shares or ADSs if the deceased, at the time of death, or
the donor at the time the gift is made, is neither a resident nor a national of Norway. If the deceased, at the time of
death, is not a resident of Norway, but is a national of Norway, Norwegian inheritance tax will be levied unless
inheritance tax or similar tax is levied in the country of residence and the shares are not effectively connected to a
permanent establishment in Norway. Under all circumstances, a transfer of shares or ADSs will be subject to gift tax
in Norway if the donor at the time of the gift is a Norwegian national.
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Norwegian Property Taxes or Similar Taxes

U.S. Holders of our shares or ADSs are not subject to Norwegian property tax or similar taxes (e.g., wealth
taxes) with respect to those shares or ADSs, unless the shareholding is effectively connected with a business carried
out by the shareholder through a permanent establishment in Norway. A U.S. Holder who is an individual
shareholder with business activity in Norway is subject to Norwegian net wealth taxation. The marginal net wealth
tax rate is a maximum 1.1%. Shares listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange are currently valued at 80% of the quoted
value as per January 1 in the assessment year.

If the U.S. Holder with business activity in Norway is a corporate entity, the U.S Holder will be exempt from
Norwegian net wealth tax.

Documents on Display

Please read “Where You Can Find More Information” for information about where you may read and copy
documents referred to in this report that we have filed with the SEC.

Subsidiary Information

Please read “Information on the Company — Organizational Structure” in Item 4 of this annual report for
information regarding our subsidiaries.

ITEM 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks, primarily relating to changes in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates. We have entered into instruments as described below in order to manage our exposure to these risks,
and not for trading purposes. We are also exposed, to a lesser extent, to changes in commodity prices. We do not
hedge this exposure through derivative instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk on our debt, including capital leases. We maintain an interest rate risk
management strategy that uses a combination of fixed- and variable-rate debt, together with interest rate swaps,
where appropriate, to fix or lower our borrowing costs. Our exposure to changes in interest rates results primarily
from (a) outstanding debt under our secured bank credit facility, which bears interest at a variable rate, (b) short-
term debt outstanding from time to time, (c) our capital leases and (d) our UK leases. As of December 31, 2006, we
have changed our interest rate exposure from variable to fixed for $175 million of our $243.6 million of outstanding
term loan debt through interest rate swaps. The following table presents information about our debt and interest
swaps that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. For debt, the table shows principal amounts and related
weighted average interest rates by year of maturity. For interest rate swaps, the table presents notional amounts and
average interest rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates. Notional amounts are used to calculate the
contractual payments to be exchanged under the swaps.
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2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter
(In thousands of dollars)

Debit:
Fixedrate . .............. $12,900 $ 14,040 $15,160 $ 20,941  $17,480- —
Weighted average interest
rate . ... ... 8.28% 8.28% 8.28% 8.65% 8.28% —
Variable rate . . . .......... $ 6893 §$ 7,025 $ — 3 —  § —  $243,625
Interestrate . . .......... LIBOR* LIBOR*  LIBOR* LIBOR*  LIBOR* LIBOR*

+ applicable margin**
Interest rate swaps:
Notional amounts (variable

tofixed) ............ $ 150,000 $ 25,000
— average pay rate

(fixed) . ............. 4.84% 4.88%
— average receive rate

(variable). . .......... 3M LIBOR 3M LIBOR

* Under our credit agreement, we have the option of selecting 1, 2, 3 or 6 month LIBOR rates.

** See Note 17 of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this annual report for a description of
how the applicable margin is determined under our credit agreement.

As of December 31, 2006, we had total outstanding indebtedness of $338.2 million, of which $80.5 million
bore interest at a fixed rate and $257.7 million bore interest at a variable rate based on U.S. dollar LIBOR plus a
margin. The weighted average interest rate on the variable rate debt, including capital leases, as of December 31,
2006 was approximately 7.6%. As indicated above, through interest rate swaps we have effectively fixed the interest
rate on $175 million of this term debt as of December 31, 2006, with the remaining $68.6 million of term debt as of
December 31, 2006 continuing to bear interest at a variable rate. After giving effect to our interest rate swaps, for
every one-percentage-point hypothetical increase in LIBOR, our annual net interest expense on our variable rate
debt, including capital leases, would increase by approximately $0.8 million.

As of December 31, 2006, the estimated fair value of our debt instruments, including capital leases and interest
rate swaps, was approximately $344.6 million, of which approximately $86.4 million was the fair value of fixed rate
debt, approximately $257.5 million was variable rate debt and capital leases and $0.7 million was fair value of
interest rate swaps. Please refer to Note 17 of our consolidated financial statements included in Item 18 of this
annual report for more information regarding our indebtedness. Please refer to Note 20 of our consolidated financial
statements included in Item 18 of this annual report for more information regarding the total notional amount and
fair value of our interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2006.

As described under “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Liquidity and Capital Resources —
UK Leases” in Item 5 of this annual report, we have entered into certain capital leases in the United Kingdom. The
leases are legally defeased because we have made payments to independent third-party banks in consideration for
which these banks have assumed liability to the lessors equal to basic rentals and termination sum obligations. The
defeased rental payments are based on assumed Sterling LIBOR rates between 8% and 9% per annum. If actual
interest rates are greater than the assumed interest rates, we receive rental rebates. Conversely, if actual interest rates
are less than the assumed interest rates, we are required to pay rentals in excess of the defeased rental payments. For
every one percentage point that LIBOR exceeds these assumed interest rates, we are entitled to receive approx-
imately British pounds 2.1 million ($4.1 million) in rental rebates. On the other hand, for every one percentage point
that LIBOR is less than these assumed interest rates, we are required to pay an additional approximately British
pounds 2.1 million ($4.1 million) in additional defeased rental payments. As of December 31, 2006, our
consolidated balance sheets reflected a liability of approximately British pounds 3.1 million ($6.1 million) for
this interest rate exposure. This liability was recorded upon our adoption of fresh-start reporting on November 1,
2003 and is amortized regularly based on future rental payments. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, actual interest rates
were below the assumed interest rates, and we made additional required rental payments relating to our continuing
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operations of approximately $2.0 million, $2.3 million and $2.2 million, respectively. The estimated net present
value of future payments related to interest rate differential on our UK leases as of December 31, 2006 was
$9.7 million based on forward interest rate curves, which is $3.6 million higher than the amount included in accrued
liabilities from fresh-start reporting. For additional information with respect to our UK leases, please read
“Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Liquidity and Capital Resources — UK Leases” in Item 5
and Notes 2 and 21 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item 18 of this annual report.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Our cash flows from operations are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, British pounds and Norwegian
kroner. We predominantly sell our products and services in U.S. dollars while a significant portion of our operating
expenses is incurred in British pounds and Norwegian kroner. As a result, when the U.S. dollar strengthens in
relation to the British pound, Norwegian kroner and any other currencies in which we incur operating expenses, our
U.S. dollar reported expenses will decrease. On the other hand, when the U.S. dollar weakens in relation to such
currencies, our U.S. dollar reported expenses will increase.

We maintain a foreign-currency risk management strategy that uses foreign currency exchange contracts to
protect our interests from fluctuations in cash flow caused by volatility in currency exchange rates. We hedge a
portion of our foreign currency exposure related to ongoing cash expenditures by entering into forward currency
exchange contracts. In 2006 we also hedged the payments that we will make in Norwegian kroner for our two new
Ramform seismic vessels that are under construction.

As of December 31, 2006, we had net open forward contracts to buy British pounds, Norwegian kroner and
Euro amounting to approximately $314.1 million with a fair value of $6.2 million (gain), which we have recognized
in our consolidated statements of operations. Of this amount, we have accounted for a notional value of
$124.5 million of forward contracts as fair value hedges with a fair value of $2.4 million. At December 31,
2005, we had $193.5 million in nominal value of forward contracts with a fair value of $7.2 million (loss). The
significant increase in open forward contracts from 2005 to 2006 is due to hedging of the Norwegian kroner
payments for the two new Ramform vessels.

If Norwegian kroner had hypothetically appreciated by an additional 10% against the U.S. dollar at year-end,
the fair value of the forward contracts on buying Norwegian kroner would have increased by $25.7 million. A
similar 10% hypothetical appreciation of British pounds against the U.S. dollar would have increased the fair value
of the forward contracts on buying British pounds by $5.7 million and a 10% hypothetical appreciation for Euro
would have decreased the fair value of the forward contracts on buying Euro by $0.06 million.

Substantially all of our debt is denominated in U.S. dollars.

Commodity risk

In the operation of our seismic vessels we use substantial quantities of fuel. As a result, we are exposed to
changes in fuel prices. Based on our fuel consumption in 2006, if fuel prices were to increase by 10%, our annual
fuel costs would increase by approximately $8 million. We do not hedge this exposure through derivative
instruments.

ITEM 12. Description of Securities Other Than Equity Securities
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies

None.

ITEM 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

ITEM 15. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2006, the end of the period covered by this annual report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the
U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 was timely recorded, processed, summarized and reported as of December 31,
2006.

Changes in Our Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this annual
report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
for the Company as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal
control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of control can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud will be or have been detected. These inherent limitations
include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of
simple error or mistake. The design of any system of control also is based in part upon assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions. Over time, internal control may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance with
respect to the financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, management used the criteria for internal control over financial
reporting described in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orga-
nizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”). Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operating effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting. Based on this assessment under the COSO framework, management has concluded
and hereby reports that, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2006.
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Ernst & Young AS, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited management’s assessment
of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 as stated in
their report below.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting,” that Petroleum Geo-Services ASA maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in “Internal Control — Integrated
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). Petroleum Geo-Services ASA’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Petroleum Geo-Services ASA maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO
criteria. Also, in our opinion, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the 2006 consolidated financial statements of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and our report dated
May 15, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/  ERNST & YoUuNG AS
Oslo, Norway
May 15, 2007
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ITEM 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our Board of Directors has determined that each of Francis Gugen, Wenche Kjglas and Harald Norvik meets
the definition of an audit committee financial expert, as that term is defined for purposes of Item 16A of Form 20-F,
and that each is independent under applicable provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and New York
Stock Exchange listing standards.

ITEM 16B. Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all our employees including our principal executive officer,
our principal financial officer, our principal accounting officer and persons performing similar functions. We have
filed the code as an exhibit to this annual report and posted it under the “About PGS” section of our internet web site
at www.pgs.com.

ITEM 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Under our Audit Committee Charter, the Audit Committee is responsible (subject to approval by the Board of
Directors) for:

 pre-approving all auditing services and permitted non-audit services to be provided by our independent
registered public accounting firm and observing applicable limitations on engaging the independent
registered public accounting firm to perform the specific non-audit services restricted by law or
regulations; and

* to the extent it deems necessary or appropriate, retaining and compensating independent legal, accounting or
other advisors.

Under our pre-approval policy, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve all audit, review or attest
engagements and permissible non-audit services to be performed by our independent registered public accounting
firm, subject to, and in compliance with, the de minimis exception for non-audit services described in applicable
provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and applicable SEC rules. All services provided by Ernst &
Young AS in 2006 were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

Aggregate fees through April 30, 2006 for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young AS, including
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses, related to 2006, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Audit fees(a). . ... $5,092  $4,112  $4,453
Audit-related fees(b) . . . ... ... 1,421 163 42
Fees for tax Services(C) . . ..o v v it 188 175 134
All other fees . . ... .. .. — 4 —
Total. . . $6,701  $4,454  $4,629

(a) Audit fees consisted of fees for audit services, which related to the consolidated audit, statutory audits,
accounting consultations, subsidiary audits and related matters, and fees for audit of fresh-start reporting.
Audit fees for 2004 have been updated to reflect fees incurred in 2005 after May 3, 2005 related to the 2004
audit.

(b) Audit-related fees consisted of fees for agreed upon procedures and other attestation services, including
restructuring and fees related to Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404 (in 2005 and 2004).

(c) Fees for tax services consisted of fees for tax services, tax filing and compliance.
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ITEM 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees
Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

PART III

ITEM 17. Financial Statements
Not applicable.

ITEM 18. Financial Statements

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Consolidated Financial Statements of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and Subsidiaries
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .. ......................... F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. . ... ... .. .. ... ...... F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

2004 . F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

2004 . L F-5
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31,

2006, 2005 and 2004 . . . ... F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . ... ...... ... .. ... ... ..t . F-8

We specifically incorporate by reference in response to this item the auditor’s report, the consolidated financial
statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements appearing on pages F-2 through F-55.

78



ITEM 19. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description
1.1 — Articles of Association, as amended (unofficial English translation)

2.1 — Deposit Agreement, dated as of May 25, 1993, among Petroleum Geo-Services ASA (the “Company”),
Citibank, N.A., as depositary (the “Depositary”), and all holders from time to time of American
Depositary Receipts issued thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit(a)(1) of Post-Effective
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-6 (Registration No. 33-61500))

2.2 — First Amendment to Deposit Agreement, dated as of April 24, 1997, among the Company, the Depositary
and all holders from time to time of American Depositary Receipts issued thereunder (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit(a)(2) of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-6 (Registration
No. 333-10856))

2.3 — Form of American Depositary Receipt (incorporated by reference to filing under Rule 424(b)(3) relating
to the Company’s Registration Statements on Form F-6 (Registration No. 333-122046))

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are party to several debt instruments under which the total
amount of securities authorized does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the Company and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis. Pursuant to paragraph 2(b)(i) of the instructions to the exhibits to Form 20-F, the Company
agrees to furnish a copy of such instruments to the SEC upon request.

4.1 — Demerger Plan of 27 March 2006 for the demerger of the Company as Transferor with Petrojarl as
Transferee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Report on Form 6-K filed
March 28, 2006)

4.2 — Credit Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2005, among the Company, certain of its subsidiaries and
the lender parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the annual report of the Company
on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2005 (SEC File No. 1-14614 (the “2005 Form 20-F”))).

4.3 — Shipbuilding Contract, dated as of April 27, 2006, between PGS Geophysical AS and Aker Langsten AS
4.4 — Shipbuilding Contract, dated as of September 30, 2006, between PGS Geophysical AS and Aker Yards
AS

8.1 — Subsidiaries (included in Item 4 of this annual report)

11.1 — Code of Conduct (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 11.1 of the annual report of the Company on
Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-14614 (the “2004 Form 20-F))).

12.1 — Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

12.2 — Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

13.1 — Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

15.1 — Audit Committee Charter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 15.1 of the 2004 Form 20-F)
15.2 — Consent of Ernst & Young AS
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly
caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.

PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA

By: /s/  GOTTFRED LANGSETH

Gottfred Langseth
Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 16, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes
in shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA changed its
accounting principles to adopt, as of December 31, 2006, the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated May 15, 2007
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/  ERNST & YounGg AS

Oslo, Norway
May 15, 2007



PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents . ............ ...ttt
Restricted cash. . . ... . .. e
Shares available for sale and investment in securities. . .. ...................
Accounts receivable, Net. . . .. ... e
Unbilled and other receivables ... ............. ... . .. ..
Other CUITent @SSELS . . . . .ottt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Current deferred tax assetS . .. ...ttt
Assets of discontinued Operations . . ..... ...ttt

Total current assets . . .. ... ..
Property and equipment, net . .. ....... ...
Multi-client library, net. . . .. ... .. ...
Restricted cash. . ... ...
Long-term deferred tax assets . ... ... ...ttt
Other long-lived assets . . . . . ..o
Other intangible assets, Net. . . .. ... ..ttt e

Total ASSetS . . o vt e

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt . . ....................
Current portion of capital lease obligations . . ... ........... ... .. .........
Accounts payable . . . . ...
ACCTUCA EXPENSES . .« « o v v v et e et e e e e
Income taxes payable . . . . ... ...
Current deferred tax liabilities. . .. ......... ...
Debt and other liabilities of discontinued operations . ......................

Total current liabilities .. ............... .. . . ... .
Long-term debt . .. ... ... .
Long-term capital lease obligations. . .. ....... ... ... ... ...
Long-term deferred tax liabilities . ............. .. . ... . ..
Other long-term liabilities. . . ... ... . o

Total liabilities . . . . . ... . e

Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries. . .. ............. . ... ......
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock: par value NOK 3; authorized 198,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 180,000,000 shares at December 31, 2006 and 60,000,000 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding, par value NOK 10, at December 31,

2005 .
Additional paid-in capital .. ........ ...
Accumulated earnings (deficit) .. ....... ... ...
Accumulated other comprehensive (10SS) . . ... ... ...

Total shareholders’ equity . ... ... ...ttt
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity. . . ............. ... ..........

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2006

2005

(In thousands of dollars)

$ 123,983 $ 121,464
8,711 12,484
5,296 13,222

194,587 183,116
113,006 64,703
72,086 55,602
75,000 —
— 662,897
592,669 1,113,488
473,320 378,140
49,406 146,171
10,014 10,014
75,000 20,000
24,261 27,601
1,083 22,158
$1,225,753  $1,717,572

$ 13,027 $ 24406
6,893 20,495
84,521 59,367

189,132 136,679
64,261 26,318
13,313 1,055
— 104,398
371,147 372,718
311,246 922,134
7,025 13,205
— 497
91,487 78,958
780,905 1,387,512
— 785
78,208 85,714
372,095 277,427
9,673 (32,105)
(15,128) (1,761)
444,848 329,275
$1,225,753  $1,717,572




PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues. . ... .. e

Costofsales(a) . ......ovviinein i
Depreciation and amortization . ......................
Research and development costs. . . ...................
Selling, general and administrative costs(a). . ............
Impairment of long-lived assets . .....................
Loss on sale of subsidiary
Other operating (income) expense, net . .. ..............

Total operating eXpenses. . . ... ..................

Operating profit (10SS) . . ... ..o
Other income (expense):
Income from associated companies. . ................
Interest €Xpense . . . .. ..o
Debt redemption and refinancing costs . . .............
Other financial items, net . . .......................

Reorganization items:
Cost of reorganization . ..........................

Income (loss) before income tax expense and minority
interest

Income tax expense . . .. ...
Minority interest . . .. ...

Income (loss) from continuing operations . . .. ...........
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax..........

Net income (10SS) . . .. ... ...

Basic and diluted income (loss) from continuing operations
pershare(b) . . ... ...

Basic and diluted income from discontinued operations, net
of tax, pershare. .. .......... . ... ...

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share(b)..........

Weighted average basic and diluted shares
outstanding(b)(c) . ... ... ...

Notes:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars, except share data)
1,308,459  $ 888,021 $ 707,519
620,717 498,300 426,705
198,605 208,581 284,835
17,747 9,918 3,419
61,460 55,394 52,757
— 4,575 —
— 1,520 —
— (20,502) 8,112
898,529 757,786 775,828
409,930 130,235 (68,309)
10 33 (54)
(53,219) (95,840) (108,125)
— (107,315) —
(637) 4,253 (6,219)
356,084 (68,634) (182,707)
— — (3,498)
356,084 (68,634) (186,205)
123,698 24,398 23,490
3,006 4,038 651
229,380 (97,070) (210,346)
69,197 209,648 75,616
298,577 % 112,578  $  (134,730)
127 $ 0.54) $ (1.16)
0.39 1.17 0.41
1.66 §$ 063 $ (0.75)
180,000,000 180,000,000 180,000,000

(a) Excluding depreciation and amortization, which are shown separately.

(b) Options equivalent to 2,085,000 shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for

2006, as they were not dilutive.

(c) Previously reported earnings per share and total number of outstanding shares have been adjusted to reflect the

three-for-one share split effective December 13, 2006.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities:

Net income (10SS) . . .. v vttt

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization, continuing operations . ..........
Depreciation and amortization, discontinued operations . . . .......
Exploration costs (dry well expensed). . .....................
Non-cash impairments, net gain on sale of subsidiaries and shares . .
Non-cash other operating (income) expense, net .. .............
Premium on debt redemption and cost of refinancing expensed . . . .
Provision for deferred income taxes . .......................
(Gain) losson sale of assets . .. .............. ...
Net (increase) decrease in cash related to discontinued operations . .
Net decrease in restricted cash . ......... ... .. ... . ... ...
Other items . . . .. ..ot
Increase in accounts receivable, net ... .......... ... .. .. .. ..
(Increase) decrease in unbilled and other receivables . . .. ........
(Increase) decrease in other current assetS. .. .................
(Increase) decrease in other long-lived assets. .. ...............
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable .....................
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and income taxes payable. .
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities .. .............

Net cash provided by operating activities. . .................

Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities:
Investment in multi-client library .. .......... ... ... ... .....
Capital expenditures ... ... ...ttt
Capital expenditures on discontinued operations . . ...............
Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries/demerger, net . ...............
Other items, NEL. . . . . ot ot e e e e e e e

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities. . ..........

Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt. . ................. ...
Repayment of long-term debt. . ....... ... ... ... .. ... ......
Principal payments under capital leases . ......................
Net increase (decrease) in bank facility and short-term debt . .......
Termination fee, UK leases . .. ... .. .
Premium on debt redemption, deferred loan costs and reorganization
feeS .
Distribution to creditors under the restructuring agreement . ........

Net cash (used in) financing activities . . . ..................
Effect of exchange rate changes oncash.......................

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents. .............
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . ...............

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . ................

Years Ended December 31,

2006

2005

2004

(In thousands of dollars)

$298,577 $ 112,578 $(134,730)
198,605 208,581 284,835
21,970 50,774 83,527
— — 11438
(66,749)  (151,807) -
— (26,095) —

— 107,315 —
62,547 10,965 27,263
(4,019) 1,893 4,128
2,010 208 (322)
3,773 1,134 15,968
9,533 (36) (352)
(10,105) (52,338)  (33,577)
(59,108) (21,893) 7,303
(20,775) (7,453) 2,104
7418 7,738 (3,182)
17,744 (7,625) 25,592
93,194 64,519  (15,496)
8,798 (17,744) 7,873
563,413 280,714 282,372
(113,658) (55,667)  (41,140)
(165,442) (90,376)  (62,393)
(35,018) (114)  (85,979)
406,816 153,698 2,035
3,898 1,300 4,031
96,596 8,841  (183,446)
— 850,000 —
(619,720) (1,009,152)  (24,167)
(20,464) (25,700)  (22,930)
(2,547) 712 1,962
(14,759) — —
— (116813)  (3,488)

— — (22,660)
(657490)  (300,953)  (71,283)
— (80) 74
2,519 (11,478) 27,717
121,464 132,942 105,225
$123,983 $ 121464 $ 132,942

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Supplementary cash flow information is included in Note 28.
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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Additional  Accumulated Other
Common Stock Paid-In Earnings Comprehensive  Shareholders’
Number Par value Capital (Deficit) Income (Loss) Equity
(In thousands of dollars, except for share data)
Balance at December 31,2003. . .......... 20,000,000 $ 85,714  $277,427 $ (9,953) $ 446 $ 353,634
Comprehensive income (loss):
Netloss . ... .. (134,730) — (134,730)
Other comprehensive income . ........ —_ 4,003 4,003
Total comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . (134,730) 4,003 (130,727)
Balance at December 31, 2004. .. ......... 20,000,000 85,714 277,427 (144,683) 4,449 222,907
Share split June 8,2005 . ............. 40,000,000
Comprehensive income (loss):
Netincome ... .................. 112,578 —_ 112,578
Other comprehensive (loss). . .. ... .... — (6,210) (6,210)
Total comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . 112,578 (6,210) 106,368
Balance at December 31, 2005. .. ......... 60,000,000 85,714 277,427 (32,105) (1,761) 329,275
Demerger Petrojarl June 29, 2006 . . . ... .. (17,143) (31,558) (192,267) 931) (241,899)
Tax effect on internal gain (demerger) . . . . . (64,532) — (64,532)
Share capital conversion, December 13,
2000 ... 9,637 (9,637) — — —
Share split December 13,2006 . ... ...... 120,000,000
Benefit realized from pre- restructuring
deferred tax assets . ............... 133,561 — — 133,561
Employee share options. . . . ........... 2,302 — — 2,302
Comprehensive income (loss):
Netincome . . ................... 298,577 — 298,577
Adoption SFAS No. 158 “Defined benefit
plans”. .. ... . — (12,249) (12,249)
Other comprehensive (loss). . .. .. ..... — (187) (187)
Total comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . 298,577 (12,436) 286,141
Balance at December 31, 2006. . . ......... 180,000,000  $ 78,208  $372,095 $ 9,673 $(15,128) $ 444,848

The Company’s ability to pay dividends is limited by, among other things, the amount of free equity as defined
in Norwegian corporate law and measured on the basis of the unconsolidated financial statements of the parent
company, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, as prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
in Norway. At December 31, 2006, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA had $362,097,802 (equivalent to Norwegian
kroner 2,268,072,000) of free equity. In addition, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA had $131,489,695 (equivalent to
Norwegian kroner 823,612,000) in other equity, which was approved to be transferred from premium fund to

unrestricted fund at the extraordinary general meeting December 13, 2006. The creditor notice period ended
February 15, 2007.
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The components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) are as follows:

Net Foreign Net
Currency Unrealized
Translation Gain (Loss)
Adjustments  Investments

Net
Gain (Loss)
Cash Flow
Hedges

Pension

Minimum
Liability

Unrecognized
Gain (Loss) and
Prior Period
Service Costs

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(In thousands of dollars)

Balance at December 31,2003. ... ....... $ 446 $ — $  — $ — $ —
Year ended December 31,2004 . ....... (1,667) 5,889 — (219) —
Balance at December 31, 2004. . ... ...... (1,221) 5,889 — (219) —
Year ended December 31, 2005 ........ (2,534) (1,837) (1,628) (211) —
Balance at December 31, 2005. . .. ....... (3,755) 4,052 (1,628) (430) —
Demerger Petrojarl June 29, 2006 . . . . ... (1,142) — — 211 —
Adoption SFAS No. 158 “Defined benefit
plans” . ... ... . — — — — (12,249)
Year ended December 31, 2006 . ....... (429) (2,510) 2,533 219 —
Balance at December 31, 2006. . .. ....... $(5,326) $ 1,542 $ 905 $ — $(12,249)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — General Information about the Company and Basis of Presentation

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA (“PGS ASA”) is a public limited liability company established under the laws of
the Kingdom of Norway in 1991. Unless stated otherwise, references herein to the “Company” and “PGS” refer to
Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and its majority owned subsidiaries and affiliates, companies in which it has and
controls a majority voting interest.

PGS is a technologically focused oilfield service company principally involved in providing geophysical
services worldwide. PGS provides a broad range of geophysical and reservoir services, including seismic data
acquisition, processing, interpretation and field evaluation. The Company’s headquarters are at Lysaker, Norway.
See further discussion of the Company’s services in Note 27.

The Company considers its primary basis of accounting to be U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“US GAAP”) and has prepared these consolidated financial statements in accordance with those principles. PGS is
also required to prepare and publish statutory accounts in Norway using Norwegian generally accepted accounting
principles (“Norwegian GAAP”). Norwegian GAAP differs materially from US GAAP. Effective January 1, 2005
publicly traded companies in EU and EEA countries are required to report financial statements based on
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Several EU/EEA countries, including Norway, have
established transition rules allowing companies that are listed for public trading in the U.S., and therefore, have
prepared complete financial statements under US GAAP, at least from and including 2002, to defer adopting IFRS
reporting until January 1, 2007. The transition rules apply to the Company and the Company will apply IFRS from
January 1, 2007 as the basis for its primary financial reporting. The Company released a separate transition
document describing the differences between US GAAP and IFRS reporting in April 2007.

In an extraordinary general meeting held on April 28, 2006, the Company’s shareholders approved a demerger
plan to separate the Company’s Geophysical and Production businesses into two independently listed companies.
On June 29, 2006 the demerger plan was successfully completed. The demerger was accounted for at continuity in
book values. In the transaction, the Company’s shareholders received a distribution of approximately 80% of the
shares in Petrojarl ASA (formerly the Production segment) while in total approximately 20% of the shares were
offered in a public offering. The offering was completed at NOK 43 per Petrojarl share. As a part of the stabilization
program established to facilitate the offering, 6,467,440 shares, out of the 14,999,990 shares offered, were returned
to the Company. These shares were subsequently sold to Teekay Shipping in third quarter 2006, at a price of NOK
70 per share. The financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the Production segment, in addition to
the gain on sale of shares and demerger costs, are presented as discontinued operations for all periods presented (see
Note 25).

As more fully described in Note 25, the Company sold its wholly owned oil and natural gas subsidiary Pertra
AS in March 2005. The results of operations and cash flows for this former subsidiary are presented as discontinued
operations for all periods presented. In August 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its wholly
owned subsidiary PGS Reservoir AS. The results of operations and cash flows for this company are included in the
consolidated statements of operations and consolidated cash flows for the periods up to the sales date.

Discontinued operations and related cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 include
additional proceeds that were contingent on certain events related to discontinued operations sold in 2003 (Atlantis)
and 2002 (Production Services). See Note 25 for additional information of these disposals.

Upon emergence from Chapter 11 (see Note 3), the Company adopted “fresh-start” reporting as required under
the provisions of AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”) 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization
under the Bankruptcy Code,” effective November 1, 2003. The adoption of fresh-start reporting reflects the
Company’s reorganization value as its new basis in accounting, new accounting pronouncements it was required to
adopt with fresh-start reporting and changes in certain of its accounting policies.
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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Subsequent Event.

In March 2007, the Company entered into a heads of agreement with the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade
and Industry (“METI”) that contemplates the sale of the Ramform Victory and a four-to-ten year service agreement.
We expect METI to take delivery of the Ramform Victory in the fourth quarter of 2007. The heads of agreement is
subject to the satisfactory completion of certain definitive documentation. On May 11, 2007, a main agreement,
sales agreement and license agreement were entered into, which are subject to completion of a technical and
operational service agreement within 30 days.

The Company has after year-end 2006 repurchased a portion of its own shares. As of March 30, 2007, the
Company holds a total of 2,123,500 of its own shares, representing 1.18% of its total shares outstanding.

On May 10, 2007, the Company proposed to pay a special dividend of NOK 10 per share (for approval at the
annual general meeting in June 2007).

NOTE 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Consolidation and Equity Investments.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include all transactions of PGS ASA, its wholly owned and
majority owned subsidiaries that it controls and equity investments. Subsidiaries are consolidated in the financial
statements from the point in time when the Company gains control. Acquisitions are accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. Acquisition cost is assigned to the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries using
their fair value at the date of acquisition. Any excess of purchase cost over fair value of assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in the consolidation. In
those cases where the subsidiaries are not wholly owned, the minority interests are separately presented in the
consolidated statements of operations and consolidated balance sheets.

Investments in associated companies in which the Company has an ownership interest equal to or greater than
20% but equal to or less than 50% and where the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence are
accounted for using the equity method.

The Company periodically reviews its investments in associated companies to determine if a loss in value has
occurred that is other-than-temporary. PGS considers all available information, including the recoverability of its
investment, the earnings and near-term prospects of the investee company, factors related to the industry, conditions
of the investee company and the ability, if any, to influence the management of the investee company.

Shares available for sale and investments in securities with an available market value are carried at fair value at
each balance sheet date, with unrealized holding gains and losses reported in “net unrealized gain (loss)
investments” in other comprehensive income (loss) until realized.

Variable Interest Entities (VIEs).

The Company consolidates VIEs where it is the primary beneficiary. At December 31, 2006, the assets,
liabilities and statement of operations of these entities are not material to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In addition, the Company has considered its UK leases that were entered into before 2003 (see Note 21) in
relation to Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46R (“FIN 46R”) “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities.” As part of the evaluation process, the Company has requested further information about
the lessor entities, including information related to their other assets and contractual arrangements. However, the
Company has no rights under its agreements with the lessor entities to request or receive such information, and the
lessor entities (or their owners) have denied the Company access to any such information. Accordingly, the
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Company has not been able to affirmatively determine if any of the lessor entities are in fact VIEs, and if any are
VIEs, who the primary beneficiary would be. Accordingly, none of these entities is consolidated.

Discontinued Operations.

Subsidiaries that are held for sale or whose businesses have been discontinued are reported as discontinued
operations. Revenues and expenses are excluded from revenues and expenses of the Company and reported
separately as a one line item in the consolidated statement of operations, net of tax. Assets and liabilities are
presented as separate line items in the consolidated balance sheets. For further details about subsidiaries that we
have sold or operations that we have discontinued, see Note 25.

Use of Estimates.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make estimates,
assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities and the amounts of reported revenues and expenses. In many circumstances, the ultimate
outcome related to the estimates, assumptions and judgments may not be known for several years after the
preparation of the financial statements. Actual amounts may differ materially from these estimates due to changes
in general economic conditions, changes in laws and regulations, changes in future operating plans and the inherent
imprecision associated with estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value. Cash and cash equivalents include
demand deposits and all highly liquid financial instruments purchased with maturities of three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents that are restricted from the Company’s use are disclosed separately in the
consolidated balance sheets and are classified as current or long-term depending on the nature of the restrictions.
Such restrictions primarily relate to cash collateral for bid or performance bonds, employee tax withholdings,
certain health insurance and restricted deposits under contracts. Restricted cash related to bid or performance bonds
amounted to $0.7 million at December 31, 2006 and $2.3 million at December 31, 2005.

Foreign Currency Translation.

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, which is the functional currency for substantially all of its
operations throughout the world.

The financial statements of non-U.S. subsidiaries having their respective local currency as their functional
currency are translated using the current exchange rate method. Under the current exchange rate method, assets and
liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at period end; share par value and paid-in capital are
translated at historical exchange rates; and revenue and expenses are translated at the average rates of exchange in
effect during the period. Translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Operating and Capital Leases.

The Company has significant operating lease arrangements in all of its operating segments and also has some
capital lease arrangements, which are mainly for land seismic equipment and UK leases for vessels (see “UK
Leases” below). Capital leases are lease arrangements in which the substantial financial risk and control, but not
ownership, of the assets is transferred from the lessor to the Company.

The Company accounts for capital lease arrangements as if the Company had acquired the assets, and the
present value of the future lease payments is accounted for as liabilities. The assets are depreciated over the shorter
of the expected useful lives or the related lease terms.
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UK Leases.

The Company has entered into vessel lease arrangements in the United Kingdom (“UK leases”) relating to five
of its Ramform-design seismic vessels (see Note 21) and two FPSO vessels demerged in 2006. In December 2006
the Company terminated the UK leases for Ramform Viking and Ramform Vanguard and took formal ownership of
the vessels (see Notes 9 and 21).

Generally, under the leases, UK financial institutions (“Lessors”) acquired the assets from third parties and the
Company leased the assets from the Lessors under long-term leases that give the Company the option to purchase
the assets for a bargain purchase price at the end of the charter periods. The Lessors claim tax depreciation (capital
allowances) on the capital expenditures that were incurred for the acquisition of the leased assets. The Company
indemnified the Lessors for the tax consequence resulting from changes in tax laws or interpretation of such laws or
adverse rulings by authorities and for variations in actual interest rates from those assumed in the leases.

Due to the nature of the leases, the Company accounts for these leases as capital leases. The Company legally
defeased its future lease obligations for the assets by making up-front, lump sum payments to unrelated large
institutional banks (“Payment Banks”), which then assumed the Company’s liability for making the periodic
payments due under the long-term leases (the “Defeased Rental Payments™) and termination sum obligations under
the agreements. The Company has no rights to the amounts paid to Payment Banks. Due to the assumption of the
lease payment obligations by the Payment Banks, the Lessors legally released the Company as the primary obligor
under the leases. Accordingly, the Company accounted for the release as a derecognition of the capital lease
obligations with respect to these UK leases.

At the date that the Company executed any UK lease, the Company treated the excess of the capitalized asset
value over the amount required to legally defease the charter obligations as a deferred gain. The deferred gain
related to indemnification for tax contingencies and for changes in future interest rates. The portion of the deferred
gain relating to changes in interest rates was amortized over the term of the respective leases up to the date of
adoption of fresh-start reporting. The portion of the deferred gain relating to tax contingencies was recognized in
income in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 89-20, “Accounting for Cross Border Tax
Benefit Leases,” when the Company determined that the likelihood of the indemnifications becoming effective was
remote.

The Defeased Rental Payments are based on assumed Sterling LIBOR rates between 8% and 9% per annum
(the “Assumed Interest Rates”). If actual interest rates are greater than the Assumed Interest Rates, the Company
receives rental rebates. Conversely, if actual interest rates are less than the Assumed Interest Rates, the Company is
required to pay rentals in excess of the Defeased Rental Payments (the “Additional Required Rental Payments”).
Such payments are made annually or semi-annually and are recorded on a straight-line basis as other financial
items, net.

Effective November 1, 2003, the Company adopted fresh-start reporting and recorded a liability equal to the
fair value of the future Additional Required Rental Payments. Such fair value was estimated at the net present value
of the Additional Required Rental Payments based on forward market rates for Sterling LIBOR and an 8% per
annum discount rate. This liability, which is amortized based on future rental payments, amounted to 8.6 million
British pounds (approximately $14.9 million) at December 31, 2005. In March 2006 the future Additional Required
Rental Payments for Ramform Challenger was settled with a one-time payment of 3.2 million British pounds
(approximately $5.6 million). Consequently, the Company also reversed the remaining deferred gain relating to
Ramform Challenger of 2.2 million British pounds (approximately $3.8 million). In addition, the UK leases for
Ramform Viking and Ramform Vanguard were terminated in December 2006. The remaining accrued liability
relating to Additional Required Rental Payments as of December 31, 2006 was 3.1 million British pounds
(approximately $6.1 million) and relates to Ramform Victory and Ramform Valiant, of which Ramform Victory was
terminated in March 2007.
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For fresh-start reporting purposes, the Company estimated and recorded the fair value of the specific tax
exposure related to the defeased UK leases noted above using a probability-weighted analysis and a range of
possible outcomes. The Company recorded a liability of 6.3 million British pounds (approximately $10.7 million)
relating to the tax indemnities. The Company subsequently released this liability in 2005, when the Inland Revenue
accepted the lessors’ claims for capital allowances under each lease.

Concentration of Credit Risk.

The Company’s financial assets that are exposed to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of trade
receivables from clients and derivative financial instruments. Trade receivables are primarily from multinational
integrated oil companies and independent oil and natural gas companies, including companies owned in whole or in
part by governments. The Company manages its exposure to credit risk through ongoing credit evaluations of
customers and has provided for potential credit losses through an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance
for doubtful accounts reflects management’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in accounts receivable from
trade customers and is based on a number of factors consisting mainly of aging of accounts, historical experience,
customer concentration, customer creditworthiness and current industry and economic trends. The Company does
not believe that exposure to concentrations of credit risk is likely to have a material adverse impact on its
consolidated financial position or consolidated results of operations.

By using derivative financial instruments to hedge exposure to changes in exchange rates and interest rates, the
Company is exposed to credit risk. The Company minimizes the credit risk by entering into transactions with high-
quality counterparties, limiting the exposure to each counterparty and monitoring the financial condition of its
counterparties.

Pension Obligations.

Pension obligations are calculated as the discounted value of future pension benefits deemed to have accrued at
year-end, based on employees earning pension rights steadily throughout their working period. Pension obligations
and pension scheme funds are calculated on the basis of financial and actuarial assumptions as described in Note 23.

The Company implemented Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) Statement No. 158
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans” (“SFAS 158”) as of
December 31, 2006. SFAS 158 amends prior Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132. SFAS 158 requires an entity to
recognize the funded status of a defined benefit pension plan in the Company’s financial position. The changes in
the funded status should be recognized in comprehensive income (loss) in the year in which the changes occur. The
accumulated unrecognized gains or losses and prior service costs should be recognized as a component of other
comprehensive income (loss). The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) are adjusted as they
are subsequently recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost or credits that arise during the period. The
measurement of the funded status and periodic benefit cost follows from SFAS Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132.
The implementation effect is recognized directly towards other comprehensive income (loss) (see Note 23).

The effect on net periodic benefit cost due to changes in estimates and the difference between actual and
anticipated returns are spread forward over the average remaining service lives of employees when the cumulated
effect exceeds 10% of the higher of the pension scheme funds or the pension obligations. Changes in the pension
obligations due to changes in pension plans are either;

* recognized in net periodic benefit cost over the estimated average remaining service period if the change in
plan has retrospective effect and is conditional upon future employment, or

* recognized immediately if the change in plan has retrospective effect but is not conditional upon future
employment.

The Company’s contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred.
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Pension costs are charged to salaries and social expenses and are included in cost of sales and selling, general
and administration costs, as appropriate, in the consolidated statements of operations.

Property and Equipment.

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment
charges. Depreciation and amortization are calculated based on cost less estimated salvage values using the straight-
line method for all property and equipment, excluding leasehold improvements and capital leases, which are
amortized over the asset life or lease term, whichever is shorter.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment, as of December 31, 2006, were as follows:

Years
Seismic VESSEIS . . . ..o 20-25
Seismic and operations computer eqUIPMENt. . . . . . oo v vttt e 3-15
Buildings and related leasehold improvements ... ............. ... ... ... ... ... 1-17
Fixture, furniture, fittings and office computers ............ . ... ... ... ... .. ... ... 3-5

Expenditures for major property and equipment that have an economic useful life of at least one year are
capitalized as individual assets and depreciated over their useful lives. Maintenance and repairs, including periodic
maintenance and class surveys for seismic vessels, are expensed as incurred. The Company capitalizes the
applicable portion of interest costs to major capital projects. When property and equipment are retired or otherwise
disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or
loss is included in the results of operations.

Significant spare parts are capitalized with the asset to which they pertain, while other spare parts,
consumables and bunkers are classified as other current assets and stated at the lower of cost and market.

Multi-Client Library.

The multi-client library consists of seismic data surveys to be licensed to customers on a nonexclusive basis.
Costs directly incurred in acquiring, processing and otherwise completing seismic surveys are capitalized into the
multi-client library, including the applicable portion of interest costs. The cost of the multi-client library is reduced
by the amounts related to reduction of deferred tax asset valuation allowances established at fresh-start accounting.
(For a further description, see “Income Taxes” below and Note 22.)

The Company records its investment in multi-client library in a manner consistent with its capital investment
and operating decision analysis, which generally results in each component of the multi-client library being
recorded and evaluated separately. Projects that are covered by the same political regime, with similar geological
traits and that are marketed collectively are recorded and evaluated as a group by year of completion.

Amortization of the multi-client library is generally recorded in proportion to revenue recognized to date as a
percentage of the total expected revenue. In determining the annual amortization rates applied to the multi-client
library, management considers expected future sales and market developments and past experience. These
expectations include consideration of geographic location, prospects, political risk, exploration license periods
and general economic conditions. Management updates, at least annually, the total expected revenue for each survey
or group of surveys of the multi-client library. Because of the inherent difficulty in estimating future sales and
market developments, it is possible that the amortization rates could deviate significantly from year to year. To the
extent that such revenue estimates, or the assumptions used to make those estimates, prove to be higher than actual
revenue, the Company’s future multi-client operations will reflect lower profitability due to increased amortization
rates applied to the multi-client library in later years, and the multi-client library may also become subject to
minimum amortization and/or impairment. The Company categorizes its multi-client surveys into three amorti-
zation categories with amortization of 90%, 75% or 60% of sales amounts. Classification of a project into a rate
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category is based on the ratio of its remaining net book value to its remaining sales estimates. Each category
therefore includes surveys as to which the remaining book value as a percentage of remaining estimated sales is less
than or equal to the amortization rate applicable to that category.

An integral component of amortization of the multi-client library is the minimum amortization policy. Under
this policy, the book value of each survey or group of surveys of the multi-client library is reduced to a specified
percentage by year-end, based on the age of each survey or group of surveys in relation to their year of completion.
This requirement is applied each year-end regardless of future revenue estimates for the multi-client library survey
or group of surveys. The specified percentage generates the maximum permitted book value for each multi-client
library survey or group of surveys as the product of the percentage multiplied by the original cost of the multi-client
library survey or group of surveys at the respective period end. The Company then determines any additional or
“minimum” amortization charges required through a comparison of the remaining book value to the maximum
permitted book value allowed for each survey or group of surveys in the multi-client library.

The specified percentages used to determine the maximum book value of multi-client library components are
summarized as follows:

% of Total
Cost(a)

5-Year 3-Year
Calendar Year after Project Completion: Profile Profile
Year O(b) . . .ot e 100%  100%
Year 1. .. 80% 66%
YAl 2 . . o e 60% 33%
Year B . 40% 0%
Year 4 . . 20%
YAl 5. . e 0%

(a) All Marine and Onshore multi-client projects have a 5-year profile starting in the year after project completion.
All derivative projects have a 3-year profile starting in the year after data delivery.

(b) Represents the year in which the survey is classified as completed.

The Company classifies as amortization expense in its consolidated statements of operations any write-downs
of individual multi-client surveys that are based on changes in project specific expectations and that are not
individually material. The Company expects this additional, non-sales related, amortization expense to occur
regularly because the Company evaluates each individual project at least annually for impairment or when specific
indicators exist. The Company classifies as impairment in its consolidated statements of operations write-downs
related to fundamental changes in estimates affecting a larger part of the Company’s multi-client library where the
effects are material, see “Impairment of Multi-Client Library” below.

Other Intangible Assets.

Other intangible assets relate to licenses and intangible assets that were recognized as a consequence of the
Company’s adoption of fresh-start reporting as of November 1, 2003. Such intangible assets include order backlog
and the value of various existing technologies used in the Company’s operations. Other intangible assets are stated
at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment charges. The cost of other intangible assets is reduced by the
amounts related to reduction of deferred tax asset valuation allowances established at fresh-start accounting. (For a
further description, see “Income Taxes” below and Note 22.) Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated period of benefit, ranging from one to 10 years.
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Deferred Debt Issue Costs and Long-Term Receivables.

Deferred debt issue costs related to entering into long-term loan facilities and long-term receivables are
included in other long-lived assets. The Company capitalizes debt issue costs relating to long-term debt and charges
such costs to interest expense using the effective interest method over the period the associated debt is outstanding.
Long-term receivables include receivables expected to be collected more than twelve months after the balance sheet
date.

Impairment of Multi-Client Library.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its multi-client library in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”),
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The
Company considers the level of estimated future sales for each survey, as well as industry conditions, to be key
factors in determining when seismic data should be evaluated for impairment. The Company evaluates impairments
at least annually and whenever there are specific indicators. In accordance with the standard, the impairment
evaluation is based first on a comparison of the undiscounted future cash flows over each survey’s remaining
estimated useful life with the carrying value of that survey. If the undiscounted cash flows are equal to or greater
than the carrying value of the survey, no impairment is recorded. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the
carrying value of the survey, the Company records the difference between the carrying value of the survey and the
discounted future value of the expected revenue stream as an impairment charge.

The estimation of future cash flows and fair value is highly subjective and inherently imprecise. Estimates can
change materially from period to period based on many factors including historical and recent revenue trends, oil
and gas prospects in particular regions, general economic conditions affecting the Company’s customer base,
expected changes in technology and other relevant factors.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (excluding Multi-Client Library).

The Company assesses long-lived assets, which consist primarily of property, plant and equipment (or the
group of assets, including the asset in question, that represents the lowest level of separately identifiable cash flows),
for possible impairment when indications of impairments exist in accordance with SFAS 144. If the total of the
undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets, the asset is not
recoverable and the Company recognizes an impairment loss for the difference between the estimated fair value and
the carrying value of the asset or groups of assets. The Company also assesses other long-lived assets (property and
equipment) for possible impairment upon the occurrence of a triggering event. Events that can trigger assessments
for possible impairments include, but are not limited to (i) significant decreases in the market value of an asset,
(i1) significant changes in the extent or manner of use of an asset and (iii) a physical change in the asset.

Steaming and Mobilization.

The Company expenses costs incurred while relocating or “steaming” a vessel or crew from one location to
another as such costs are incurred. The Company considers onsite project costs such as positioning, deploying and
retrieval of equipment at the beginning and end of a project to be mobilization or demobilization costs, and the
Company includes such costs in the cost of the multi-client survey or exclusive contract with which the costs are
associated.

Derivative Financial Instruments.

The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”). The Company uses derivative financial
instruments to reduce risk exposure related to fluctuations in foreign currency rates and interest rates. Derivative
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instruments are recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at their fair values while realized and unrealized gains
and losses attributable to derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognized and
reported within other financial items, net, in the consolidated statements of operations as they arise.

The Company applies either fair value or cash flow hedge accounting when a transaction meets the specified
criteria in SFAS 133 to obtain hedge accounting treatment. To qualify for hedge accounting the instrument should
be designated as a hedge at inception over a hedge relationship. At the time a financial instrument is designated as a
hedge, the Company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item. Docu-
mentation includes risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the
methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Accordingly, the Company
formally assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging derivatives have
been “highly effective” in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. A hedge is normally
regarded as “highly effective” if, at inception and throughout its life, it can be expected, and actual results indicate,
that changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item are effectively offset by the changes in the fair value
or cash flows of the hedging instrument. Actual results must be within a range of 80% to 125%. Hedge accounting
will be discontinued when (a) the Company determines that a derivative is not, or has ceased to be, highly effective
as a hedge, (b) the derivative expires, or is sold, terminated or exercised, (c) the hedged item matures or is sold or
repaid, or (d) a forecast transaction is no longer deemed highly probable.

The Company accounts for hedges that meet these criteria as follows:

* Fair value hedges: The change in fair value of the hedging instrument is recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations under other financial items, net. The change in fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations under other financial items, net. When an unrec-
ognized firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in fair value of
the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as an asset or liability with a corre-
sponding gain or loss recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

* Cash flow hedges: The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized
directly in equity, while any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of
operations under other financial items, net. Amounts recorded to equity are transferred to the consolidated
statements of operations when the hedged transaction affects the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company applies cash flow hedge accounting for its interest rate hedging activities. At December 31,
2006, for a portion of its floating rate debt, the Company has entered into interest rate swaps to effectively change
the floating interest rates to fixed interest rates. The Company generally does not apply hedge accounting for its
currency hedging activities (see Note 20) with some exceptions. The exceptions are for the currency hedging of two
new Ramform vessels (see Note 9) where the Company is applying fair value hedging on the currency exposure of
the firm commitments.

The Company has not excluded any components of the derivative instruments’ gain or loss from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness with respect to the qualifying interest rate hedges. In the fair value hedging
of the two new Ramform vessels only the spot element of the forward contracts has been designated as effective
hedging instruments and included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

Revenue Recognition.

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of a sale arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collection is reasonably
assured. The Company defers the unearned component of payments received from customers for which the revenue
recognition requirements have not been met. The Company applies EITF 00-21 “Revenue Arrangement with
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Multiple Deliverables”. As aresult, consideration is allocated among the separate units of accounting based on their
relative fair values. The Company’s revenue recognition policy is described in more detail below.

(a) Sales of Multi-Client Library Data.

Late sales — The Company grants a license to a customer, which entitles the customer to have access to a
specifically defined portion of the multi-client data library. The customer’s license payment is fixed and deter-
minable and typically is required at the time that the license is granted. The Company recognizes revenue for late
sales when the customer executes a valid license agreement and has the right to access to the licensed portion of the
multi-client library and collection is reasonably assured.

Volume sales agreements — The Company grants licenses to customers for access to a specified number of
blocks of multi-client library within a defined geographical area. These licenses typically enable the customer to
select and access the specific blocks over a period of time. Although the license fee is fixed and determinable in all
cases, the payment terms of individual volume sales agreements vary, ranging from payment of the entire fee at the
commencement of the agreement, to installment payments over a multi-year period, to payment of the license fee as
the specific blocks are selected.

Revenue recognition for volume sales agreements is based on a proportion of the total volume sales agreement
revenue, measured as the customer executes a license for specific blocks and has been granted access to the data and
collection is reasonably assured.

Pre-funding arrangements — The Company obtains funding from a limited number of customers before or
during a seismic acquisition project commences. In return for the pre-funding, the customer typically gains the
ability to direct or influence the project specifications, to access data as it is being acquired and to pay discounted
prices.

The Company recognizes pre-funding revenue as the services are performed on a proportional performance
basis. Progress is measured in a manner generally consistent with the physical progress on the project, and revenue
is recognized based on the ratio of the project’s progress to date, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria
are satisfied.

(b) Proprietary Sales/Contract Sales.

The Company performs seismic services for a specific customer, in which case the seismic data is owned by
that customer. The Company recognizes proprietary/contract revenue as the services are performed and become
chargeable to the customer on a proportionate performance basis over the term of each contract. Progress is
measured in a manner generally consistent with the physical progress of the project, and revenue is recognized
based on the ratio of the project’s progress to date, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria are satisfied.

(c) Other Services.

Revenue from other services is recognized as the services are performed, provided all other recognition criteria
are satisfied.

Income Taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of transactions and
events. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to record the deferred
tax assets at an amount expected to be more likely than not recoverable. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. In accordance with Accounting
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Principles Board Opinion No. 23, “Accounting for Income Taxes — Special Areas,” the Company does not
recognize any deferred tax liability on unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries when remittance is indefinite.

When the Company adopted fresh-start reporting, effective November 1, 2003, the Company established
valuation allowances for deferred tax assets. As and when such deferred tax assets, for which a valuation allowance
is established, are realized or recognized in subsequent periods, the tax benefit is recorded as a ratable reduction of
the carrying value of all long-term intangible assets existing at adoption of fresh-start accounting until the value of
such assets is reduced to zero. Any recognition of fresh-start deferred tax assets after intangible assets are reduced to
zero will be credited to shareholders’ equity.

Accounting standards are not specific on the ordering of recording a reversal of the fresh-start valuation
allowance as a reduction to intangibles and other adjustments to intangible balances. As a result, the Company has
adopted the following accounting policy. At year-end, effects of minimum amortization on the multi-client library
are recorded prior to impairment and reversal of fresh-start valuation allowance (see Note 22). Impairments that
occur prior to yearend (the event leading to the impairment occurred prior to December 31, 2006) are recorded
before the reversal of fresh-start valuation allowance. The reversal of the fresh-start valuation allowance as a
reduction in the multi-client library is recorded prior to completing the annual impairment test to evaluate whether
the carrying value of the multi-client library is recoverable. Since the multi client library recognized at the adoption
of “fresh-start reporting” were reduced to zero in 2006, this principle was applicable for year-end 2005, but not
2006 year-end.

Asset Retirement Obligations.

In 2005, the Company implemented FASB Interpretation No. 47 “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retire-
ment Obligations” (“FIN 47”). FIN 47 is an interpretation of SFAS 143 “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations”, which refers to legal obligations to perform asset retirement activities. FIN 47 requires an entity to
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can
be reasonably estimated, even if timing and/or method of settlement is conditional on a future event that may not be
within the control of the entity. The implementation of FIN 47 had no quantitative effect on the Company. The
Company has no material asset retirement obligations after the demerger of Petrojarl in June 2006. (For further
description of the demerger, see Note 25.)

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations” (“SFAS 143”), the Company records the fair value of an asset retirement obligation as a liability in the
period when it is incurred (typically when the asset is installed at the production location). When the liability is
recorded, the Company capitalizes the cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related properties, plant and
equipment. Over time, the liability is increased for the change in its present value each period, and the capitalized
cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Also, revisions to a previously recorded asset retirement
obligation may result from changes in the assumptions used to estimate the cash flows required to settle the asset
retirement obligation. The effect of such changes is recorded as an adjustment to the related asset.

Commitments and Contingencies.
The Company accrues for loss contingencies when it is probable that a loss will result from a contingency and
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

Employee Share Options.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument at the
grant date. Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
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behavioral considerations. The Company records share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in computation of earnings
per share.

New Accounting Standards.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123-R “Share-Based Payment‘ (SFAS 123-R”), which requires
companies to recognize in the income statement the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based
compensation issued to employees. The standard became effective for the Company as of January 1, 2006.

In January 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections — a
replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3” (“SFAS 154”). SFAS 154 changed the
requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a voluntary change in accounting principle. The adoption
of this statement did not affect the Company’s consolidated financial statements in fiscal year 2006. Its effects on
future periods will depend on the nature and significance of any future accounting changes subject to this statement.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) released Staff Accounting Bulle-
tin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on the SEC’s views on how the
effects of the carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year
misstatement. The Company adopted SAB 108 during the fourth quarter of 2006. The adoption did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, cash flows or results of operations.

In September 2006, FASB issued SFAS 158, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132.
SFAS 158 requires an entity to recognize the funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan in the
Company’s financial position. The changes in the funded status should be recognized in other comprehensive
income (loss) in the year in which the changes occur. The accumulated unrecognized gains or losses and prior
service costs should be recognized as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). The amounts recognized
in other comprehensive income (loss) are adjusted as they are subsequently recognized as component of net periodic
benefit cost. The measurement of the funded status and periodic benefit cost follows from Statements No. 87, 88,
106 and 132. In addition it is required to measure plan asset and benefit obligations at year-end. The Company has
adopted the requirements of SFAS 158 as of December 31, 2006. The implementation effect is recognized directly
in other comprehensive income (loss) (see Note 23).

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”, an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected
to be taken in a tax return. The Company is still evaluating the impact of adoption of FIN 48 on its consolidated
financial statements for 2007.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement” (‘“SFAS 157”), which
addresses how companies should measure fair value when required for recognition or disclosure purposes under US
GAAP. The standard’s provisions will be applied to existing accounting measurements and related disclosures that
are based on fair value. SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements. The standard applies a
common definition of fair value to be used with emphasis on fair value as a “market based” measurement versus an
entity-specific measurement and establishes a hierarchy of fair value measurement methods. SFAS 157 expands the
disclosure requirements to include the extent to which companies use fair value measurements, the methods and
assumptions used to measure fair value and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings. SFAS 157 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption
on its consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”), which permits companies to choose to measure certain financial instruments and various
other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS 159 will become effective
for the Company from January 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption on its
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3 — 2003 Financial Restructuring and Fresh-Start Reporting
Background of Restructuring.

The Company had approximately $1.1 billion of debt and other contractual obligations maturing during 2003,
of which $930 million were bank and senior note obligations of PGS ASA. Based on the Company’s existing
business plan and forecast at that time, it became clear that the Company was over leveraged and that a
comprehensive financial restructuring was crucial to the long-term viability of the Company. As a result, in July
2003, the Company filed a voluntary petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The
filing was based on a financial restructuring plan that was pre-approved by a majority of banks and bondholders and
a group of the Company’s largest shareholders. The Company emerged from Chapter 11 in November 2003.

Fresh-Start Reporting.

The Company adopted fresh-start reporting upon its emergence from Chapter 11 in accordance with SOP 90-7.
Accordingly, all assets and liabilities were adjusted to reflect their reorganization value as of November 1, 2003,
which approximates fair value at the date of reorganization. The Company determined that the reorganization value
for the Company as defined by SOP 90-7 should be close to $1.5 billion.

All periods presented in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and
consolidated statements of cash flows are materially affected by adjustments to the carrying value of assets or
amounts and classifications of liabilities that were necessary upon adoption of fresh-start reporting as of
November 1, 2003.

NOTE 4 — Loss on Sale of Subsidiary

In August 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its wholly owned subsidiary PGS Reservoir AS
to Reservoir Consultants Holding AS (“RCH”). The Company recorded a loss of $1.5 million for this transaction in
2005.

See Note 25 for additional information relating to the agreement and other disposals.

NOTE 5 — Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Other Operating (Income) Expense, Net

There were no impairments for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2004. During 2005 the Company
converted its 4C crew into a streamer operation, resulting in an impairment of $4.6 million.
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Other operating (income) expense, net consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004:

Years Ended
December 31,

2005 2004
(In thousands of
dollars)
Release of contingent liability re UK lease (Note 21) . ................... $(11,655) $ —
Gain on claim relating to equipment deliveries . ... ..................... (8,847) —
Cost of employees termination and reorganization . ..................... — 665
Cost relating to completion of 2002 US GAAP accounts and re-audit of 2001 . . — 7,447
Total . . oo $(20,502) $8,112

There were no such items for the year ended December 31, 2006.

NOTE 6 — Shares Available for Sale and Investments in Securities

Shares available for sale relates to the Company’s investment in Endeavour International Corp., which
investment was originally acquired as consideration for the contribution of licenses to use the Company’s seismic
data in the North Sea. As of December 31, 2006, the Company owns 1.92% of Endeavour’s shares, which had an
original cost of $3.8 million. In adjusting the shares to fair value, an unrealized loss of $2.3 million has been
recorded directly to other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2006. For the year ended
December 31, 2005, the Company recorded an unrealized loss of $2.1 million and for the year ended December 31,
2004 an unrealized gain of $5.9 million. Fair value of the shares was $5.3 million and $7.6 million as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

At December 31, 2005, the Company also held investments in securities with fair value totaling $5.6 million.
The Company had no such investment at December 31, 2006. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company
recorded an unrealized gain of $0.2 million directly to other comprehensive income (loss) that was reversed in 2006
when the investment was realized.

NOTE 7 — Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net, consists of the following:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)
Accounts receivable —trade . .. ... ... $196,141  $185,652
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . .............. ... ... ... .... (1,554) (2,536)
Total . ... e $194,587  $183,116

The change in allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:

December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)
Beginning balance . . .. ......... ... .. . ... $2536 $1,492 $3444
New and additional allowances . ................ ... .. 185 2,067 1,001
Write-offs and reversals. . . ........ ... ... .. ... ... (1,167) (1,023) (2,953)
Ending balance . ................. i $1,554 $2536 $1,492
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NOTE 8 — Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following:
December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of
dollars)
Withholding taxes and taxes receivable .. ............................ $24,246  $13,588
Spare parts, consumables and supplies. .. ............ .. . o L. 18,983 14,903
Prepaid operating eXpenses . . .. ... ...ttt 12,620 13,842
Prepaid reinsurance. . . . ... 6,572 6,572
Unrealized gain forward exchange contracts (Note 20). .. ................ 5,706 —
Assets of business transferred under a contractual arrangement (Notes 4
and 25 ) . .o — 3,504
Other . .. 3,959 3,193
Total. . .ot $72,086  $55,602

NOTE 9 — Property and Equipment, Net

The components of property and equipment, including property and equipment under capital leases, are
summarized as follows:

December 31,
2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)

ConStruction in PrOGIeSS . . . . . v v v vt ettt et e e e $ 64,105 $ —
Seismic vessels and equipment . . ......... ... . 602,234 507,607
Fixtures, furniture and fittings . . .. ... ... ... . . 37,955 27,159
Buildings and other. . .. ... . . . 7,754 6,601
Gross PUIrChase COSES. . v v vt vttt e et e e e e e e e e e 712,048 541,367
Accumulated depreciation and impairment. . . . .............. ... ... (238,728) (163,227)
Property and equipment, N€t . . .. ... .ottt $ 473,320  $ 378,140

In 2006, the Company entered into agreements to build two new third generation Ramform vessels for
expected delivery in the first quarter of 2008 and the second quarter of 2009. Total expected cost price from the yard
including installation, but excluding seismic equipment, is approximately $173 million (for both vessels). As of
December 31, 2006, the Company had capitalized costs relating to the construction of these vessels, including
seismic equipment, aggregating $64.1 million, presented as construction in progress.

The net book value of property and equipment under UK leases were $132.6 million and $221.0 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In December 2006, the Company terminated the UK leases for Ramform
Viking and Ramform Vanguard and took formal ownership of the vessels. The Company paid a net amount of
7.5 million British pounds (approximately $14.8 million) to facilitate the terminations. The amount paid exceeded
the accrued liability for Additional Required Rental Payments (see Note 2 under “UK Leases”) and $8.8 million has
been recorded as an increase in the vessels’ carrying value in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 21).

During 2005, the Company converted its 4C crew into a streamer operation, resulting in an impairment of
$4.6 million (see Note 5). A description of the accounting policy for impairments of long-lived assets is presented in
Note 2.
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As seismic vessels and equipment are not separate cash-generating units, such assets are presented and
evaluated on a combined basis. Vessels and equipment subject to capital leases that are part of a group are presented
and evaluated on a combined basis.

The net book value of property and equipment of discontinued operations was $593.9 million as of
December 31, 2005 (see Note 25).

The following table summarizes depreciation expense and capitalized interest:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Depreciation expense, net of amounts capitalized into multi-

client ibrary. . ... ...t $(69,355)  $(68,970) $(68,959)
Depreciation expense capitalized into multi-client library. ... ... (8,032) (5,415) (3,982)
Interest capitalized into construction in progress . . ........... 1,259 — —

Depreciation expense relating to discontinued operations was $20.3 million, $37.7 million and $37.7 million
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is presented in the consolidated statements
of operations under income from discontinued operations (see Note 25).

For details of the estimated useful lives for the Company’s property and equipment at December 31, 2006, see
Note 2.

NOTE 10 — Multi-Client Library, Net

The net carrying value of the multi-client library, by the year in which the components were completed, is
summarized as follows:
December 31,
2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)

Completed surveys:

Completed during 1999, and prior years. . .. ........coviiinnnennnn... $ — $ 6,251
Completed during 2000. . . .. ... oo — 5,881
Completed during 2001 . . .. ... ... — 66,626
Completed during 2002. . . . ... ... .. — 18,785
Completed during 2003 . . . . ... ... — 14,859
Completed during 2004 . . . . ... ... 1,263 4,347
Completed during 2005 . . . . .. 3,109 7,746
Completed during 2006. . . . ... ... 5,066 —

Completed SUTVEYS . . .ottt e e 9,438 124,495
SUIVEYS 1N PIrOZIESS . « o o v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 39,968 21,676

Multi-client Tibrary ... .........ttir i $49,406  $146,171
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The following table summarizes multi-client library impairment charges, amortization expense, capitalization
of interest and depreciation and amounts credited to the multi-client library related to reduction of deferred tax asset
valuation allowances established at fresh-start accounting:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)
Amortization eXpense . . .. ..ot $(126,242)  $(134,469) $(208,468)
Interest capitalized into multi-client library . ............. 1,564 1,878 1,461
Depreciation capitalized into multi-client library .......... 8,032 5,415 3,982
Reduction of deferred tax asset valuation allowance
(Note 22) . . e (92,706) (25,312) —

Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes $6.7 million of additional non-sales
related amortization. This amount includes $0.1 million in minimum amortization and $6.6 million of impairments
to reflect the fair value of future sales on certain individual surveys ($5.4 million in Marine and $1.2 million in
Onshore). For the year ended December 31, 2005, the additional non-sales related amortization totaled $35.4 mil-
lion, of which $20.4 million was for minimum amortization and $15.0 million was for impairments ($14.4 million
in Marine and $0.6 million in Onshore). For the year ended December 31, 2004, the additional non-sales related
amortization totaled $48.8 million of which $28.9 million was for minimum amortization and $19.9 million was for
impairments ($18.8 million in Marine and $1.1 million in Onshore).

For informational purposes, the following shows the hypothetical application of the Company’s minimum
amortization requirements to the components of the existing multi-client library. These hypothetical minimum
amortization requirements are calculated as if there will be no future sales of these components.

Minimum Future

Amortizations

(In thousands of
dollars)
During 2007 . . oo $ 4,609
During 2008 . . ... 9,764
During 2009 . . . .. 12,541
During 2010 . . ... 10,255
During 2011 . ..o 12,237
Future minimum amortization. . . ... ... ..ttt $49,406

Because the minimum amortization requirements generally apply to the multi-client library on a sur-
vey-by-survey basis rather than in the aggregate, the Company may incur significant minimum amortization
charges in a given year even if the aggregate amount of ordinary amortization charges recognized exceeds the
aggregate minimum amortization charges above.

At the Company’s adoption of fresh-start reporting, effective November 1, 2003, the Company established
valuation allowances for deferred tax assets. If such deferred tax assets, for which a valuation allowance is
established, are realized or recognized in subsequent periods, the reversal of valuation allowance will be recorded as
a ratable reduction of the carrying value of all long-term intangible assets and certain favorable lease contracts
existing at adoption of fresh-start accounting until the value of such assets is reduced to zero. In 2006, the Company
recorded a $92.7 million reduction of the carrying amounts of the multi-client library due to such a reversal of
valuation allowance (see Note 22). As of December 31, 2006, the multi-client library recognized at the adoption of
fresh-start reporting in 2003 was reduced to zero. Consequently, the book value of multi-client library as of
December 31, 2006 relates only to surveys completed in after November 1, 2003.
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NOTE 11 — Other Long-Lived Assets

Other long-lived assets consist of the following:
December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of
dollars)

Long-term receivables. . . ... ... .t $13,367 $16,893
Unrealized gain forward exchange contracts (Note 20). . . ................ 3,773 —
Deferred debt 1SSUE COSES. . . o v v v ittt e e e e e e e 3,734 9,787
Oil and natural gas assets, Net. . ... ...ttt 2,004 639
Investments in associated companies (Note 12) .. ...................... 1,383 282
Total. ..o $24,261  $27,601

As of December 31, 2006, other long-lived assets related to discontinued operations was $19.1 million (see
note 25).

NOTE 12 — Investments in Associated Companies

Income from associated companies accounted for using the equity method is as follows:
Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of

dollars)
Corporations and limited partnerships:
Geo Bxplorer AS . ..o $6 $12 $26
Atlantic Explorer (IoM) Ltd. . . ... .. . . @)) %) (80)
General partnerships . ... ........ ... ... 5 40 —
Total . . ..o $10  $33  $(54)

In addition, the Company recorded income from associated companies of $0.0 million, $0.2 million and
$0.7 million related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Investments in and advances to associated companies accounted for using the equity method was as follows
(included in other long-lived assets (see Note 11)):

Ownership
Paid-In Percent
Book Value Share of Capital/ Equity Book Value as of
December 31, Income (Dividends) Transactions December 31, December 31,
2005 2006 2006 2006(a) 2006 2006
(In thousands of dollars)
Corporations and limited
partnerships:
Geo Explorer AS ... ... $165 $6 $ (171) $— $ — b)
Atlantic Explorer (IoM)
Ltd. .............. 24 @) — 1 24 50.0%
Valiant International
Petroleum Ltd. ...... 68 — — — 68 1.0%
Genesis Petroleum
Europe Ltd. ........ — 1,258 — 1,258 50.0%
General partnerships . . . . . . 25 5 — 3 33
Total . ............. $282 $10 $1,087 $4 $1,383
(a) Includes foreign currency translation differences.
(b) Sold in March 2006.
NOTE 13 — Other Intangible Assets, Net
The components of other intangible assets, net, are summarized as follows:
December 31,
2006 2005
(In thousands of
dollars)
LACENSES .« v v o e e e e e e e e e $1,882 $ 1,687
Existing technology . . ... ... — 29,329
Order backlog . . . ..o — 5,401
Total COSt . . . ot 1,882 36,417
Accumulated amortization . . .. ... (799) (14,259)
Total . .o $1,083  $ 22,158

Other intangible assets existing at December 31, 2005 were primarily recognized in conjunction with the
adoption of fresh-start reporting, effective November 1, 2003. In 2006, the Company recorded a $19.1 million
reduction of the carrying amounts of other intangible assets due to reversal of valuation allowance (see Note 22). As
of December 31, 2006, other intangible assets recognized at the adoption of fresh-start reporting in 2003 were
reduced to zero.

As of December 31, 2005, other intangible assets related to discontinued operations was $2.2 million (see
Note 25).
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The following table summarizes amortization expense and amounts credited to the other intangible assets
related to reduction of deferred tax asset valuation allowances established at fresh-start accounting:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)
AMOTtiZation EXPENSE . . . v vttt et et $ (2,468) $(5,130) $(6,847)
Reduction of deferred tax asset valuation allowance (Note 22) . ... (19,050) (1,219) (2,463)

Amortization expense relating to discontinued operations was $1.7 million, $6.3 million and $6.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Reduction of deferred tax asset valuation
allowance related to discontinued operations was $0.0 million, $0.1 million and $0.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

NOTE 14 — Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)
Accrued employee payroll . . ... ... .. .. $ 52,615 $ 31,654
Customer advances and deferred revenue . . .. ........... ... ... . ... .. 30,749 29,137
Accrued vessel operating eXpenses. . . ... vv vt 24,021 16,484
Accrued sales tax and VAT . ... ... .. e 19,163 5,245
Accrued COMMUSSIONS . . . . vttt e et e e e e e 10,664 7,550
Accrued operating expenses — land crews . . .. ... ... L 9,972 4911
Accrued legal, audit and consulting fee . ........... ... ... ... .. ... 7,817 2,747
Accrued Interest EXPENSES . . . . vt e 5,560 5,258
Received, not invoiced, property and equipment. . .................... 3,674 7,967
Unrealized loss forward exchange contracts (Note 20) .. ............... 1,606 7,234
Accrued SEVETANCE. . . . v v ot e it e e e e e 14 27
Liabilities of business transferred under a contractual arrangement (Notes 4
and 25) . . — 3,504
OtheT . . e 23,277 14,961
Total . .o $189,132  $136,679

Changes in accrued severance and restructuring costs are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)
Beginning balance .. ......... ... ... $27 $290 $5,061
Additional and adjustment of allowances. . ....................... — (40) (632)
Severance and restructuring costs paid. . . ... ... L (13) (223) (4,139)
Ending balance . .. ........... ... $14 $ 27 $ 290
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NOTE 15 — Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of
dollars)

Pension liability (NOte 23) . ... ...\t $53,867  $39,792
TaX CONUNZENCIES - . . . o e 21,966 19,184
Accrued liabilities UK leases (Note 21) . . ... .. ... i 6,111 14,865
Fair value adjustment of firm commitments(a) . .. ...................... 4,469 —
Unrealized loss forward exchange contracts (Note 20) . .. ................ 906 1,628
Asset retirement obligations (“ARO™) (Note 2). . . ........ ..., — 335
O heT . .. 4,168 3,154
Total. ..o $91,487  $78,958

(a) Fair value change in hedged firm commitments related to currency fluctuations from inception of the hedging

relationships (related to construction of the Ramform 7 and 8 (see Note 9)).

The following table presents changes in asset retirement obligations:

December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Balance at beginning of period. .. .......... .. $335 $350 $318
Liabilities settled in the period . . . ...... .. ... . .. . .. (335) (15) —
Revision in estimated cash flow/fair value. . .. ...................... — — 32
Balance at end of period . .......... ... ... .. .. ... $ — $335  $350

The ARO liability as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 relates mainly to the Bergen Surveyor, while as of

December 21, 2006 the Company has no ARO liability.

As of December 31, 2003, the ARO liability related to discontinued operations amounted to $19.7 million and

related to the sub-sea production facility associated with the FPSO Ramform Banff.

NOTE 16 — Short-Term Debt and Current Portion of Long-Term Debt

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt consist of the following:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of
dollars)
Short-term debt (see Note 17) . . . ..ttt $ 127 $ 2,674
Current portion of long-term debt (see Note 17). . ...................... 12,900 21,732
Total. . .o $13,027  $24,406
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NOTE 17 — Debt
Long-Term Debt.

Long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31,
2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)

Unsecured:
10% Senior Notes, due 2010 . .. .. .. o0 $ 4511 $ 4,624
Secured:
Term loan, due 2012, Libor + margin (see below). . ................. 243,625 850,000
8.28% First Preferred Mortgage Notes, due 2011 ................... 76,010 87,930
Other loans, due 2006 . . . ... .. — 1,312
Total debt . .. ... .. 324,146 943,866
Less current portion . ........ ... (12,900) (21,732)
Total long-term debt . . ... ... ... .. ... $311,246  $922,134

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

December 31,

2006
(In thousands of
dollars)

Year of repayment:
2007 .« $ 12,900
20008 . L 14,040
2000 . 15,160
2000 . o 20,941
0 17,480
Thereafter . . . .. .o 243,625

TOtal « . oot $324,146

In 2006, the Company made debt repayments of $619.7 million, of which $600.0 million was optional and in
excess of contractual obligations.

In December 2005, the Company entered into a new credit agreement, establishing a term loan of $850 million
(“Term Loan”) and a revolving credit facility (“RCF”) of $150 million (see below). The Term Loan originally
amortized 1% per annum, with the remaining balance due in 2012. After the optional repayments in 2006, the Term
Loan was amended so that it no longer requires annual instalments. Accordingly, the remaining balance is due in
2012. The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus a margin that depends on our leverage ratio. Leverage
ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is the ratio of consolidated indebtedness to last twelve months
consolidated EBITDA reduced by multi-client investments. At a leverage ratio of 2.25:1 or greater, the applicable
margin will be 2.5% per annum. Below that level, the margin will be 2.25% per annum. The credit agreement
generally requires the Company to apply 50% of excess cash flow to repay outstanding borrowings for periods when
our leverage ratio exceeds 2:1. Excess cash flow for any period is defined as net cash flow provided by operating
activities during that period less capital expenditures made in that period or committed to be made in the next
period, less debt service payments and less accrued income taxes to be paid in the next period. The Company can
make optional payments to reduce the outstanding principal balance at no penalty. The Term Loan is an obligation
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of PGS ASA and PGS Finance Inc. as co-borrowers, is secured by pledges of shares of certain material subsidiaries
and is guaranteed by certain material subsidiaries.

The Company has hedged the interest rate on 72% of the borrowings under the Term Loan by entering into
interest rate swaps where the Company receives floating interest rate based on 3 months LIBOR and pays fixed
interest rate payments based on LIBOR for 3 and 5 year maturities. See Note 20 for further information.

The 10% Senior Notes due 2010 (“10% Notes™) bear interest at 10% per annum payable semi-annually and
mature in November 2010 with no required principal payments until maturity. The 10% Notes are callable by the
Company beginning in November 2007 and are callable thereafter at par plus a premium of 5% declining linearly
until maturity. In December 2005, the Company refinanced and retired $741.3 million of the 10% Notes. The
10% Notes are unsecured obligations of PGS ASA.

The 8.28% First Preferred Mortgage Notes due 2011 (“8.28% Notes”) bear interest at 8.28% per annum, and
interest and scheduled principal amounts are payable semi-annually. The 8.28% Notes are subject to redemption at
par on a pro rata basis through operation of a mandatory sinking fund on a semi-annual basis according to a schedule
and are subject to optional redemption by the Company beginning in June 2006 at a redemption price equal to 100%
of the principal amount plus a make whole premium that is based on U.S. treasury rates plus 0.375%. The
8.28% Notes are secured by, among other things, a mortgage on the Ramform Explorer and the Ramform Challenger
seismic vessels. In addition, there is established under the indenture for the 8.28% Notes a debt service reserve fund,
which was initially funded in an amount (approximately $10 million) equal to the maximum interest and sinking
fund payment due on the 8.28% Notes on any payment date for such notes through December 1, 2010. Such
additional amount has been invested in a funding agreement that serves as a source of funds that, together with
charter hire payments made by a Company subsidiary under charters for the Ramform Explorer and the Ramform
Challenger vessels, are used to make debt service payments on the 8.28% Notes. This debt service reserve fund
investment is presented as restricted cash (long-term) in the consolidated balance sheets.

Bank Credit Facilities.

In December 2005, the Company replaced its secured $110 million revolving credit facility, originally
maturing in 2006, with a new revolving credit facility (“RCF”) of $150 million. The new RCF is part of the same
credit agreement as the $850 million Term Loan described above and matures in 2010. The Company may use up to
$60 million of capacity under the RCF for letters of credit and may borrow U.S. dollars, or any other currency freely
available in the London banking market to which the lenders have given prior consent, under the RCF for working
capital and for general corporate purposes. The Company may use these letters of credit, which can be obtained in
various currencies, to secure, among other things, performance and bid bonds required in our ongoing business.
Borrowings under the RCF bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus a margin that depends on our leverage ratio.
At a leverage ratio of 2.25:1 or greater, the applicable margin will be 2.25%; at a leverage ratio between 2:1 and
2.25:1, the applicable margin will be 2.00%; and at a leverage ratio below 2:1, the applicable margin will be 1.75%.
At December 31, 2006, $3.5 million of letters of credit were outstanding under the RCF and the applicable margin
was 1.75% per annum. An additional $5.4 million of letters of credit had been issued under the RCF as of
December 31, 2006 and had expired but had not been replaced. These are past quoted expiry date, but are not yet
collected. The Company does not pay fees on these latter letters of credit, which are not reducing the available
amount under the RCEF, but the Company may in special circumstances be liable for the letters of credit amount. In
addition, the Company may also be able to borrow an additional $250 million that would be secured by the same
collateral that secures the Term Loan and borrowings under the RCE.

In February 2005, the Company established an overdraft facility of NOK 50 million as part of our Norwegian
cash pooling arrangement. This facility will continue until cancelled.
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Short-Term Debt.

Short-term debt was $0.1 million as of December 31, 2006, relating to our Marine business. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2005, short-term debt was $2.7 million, relating to our Onshore business.

Covenants.

The December 2005 credit facility contains financial covenants and negative covenants that restrict the
Company in various ways. The facility provides that:

* total leverage ratio may not exceed 3.00 to 1.0,

 consolidated interest coverage ratio (defined as the ratio of consolidated EBITDA less multi-client
investments to consolidated interest expense) must be at least 3.0 to 1.0, and

* consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (defined as the ratio of consolidated EBITDA less multi-client
investments to consolidated fixed charges) must be at least 1.3 to 1.0.

In addition, the credit agreement restricts our ability, among other things, to sell assets without the sales
proceeds being reinvested in the business or used to repay debt; incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred
stock; prepay interest and principal on our other indebtedness; pay dividends and distributions or repurchase our
capital stock; create liens on assets; make investments, loans, guarantees or advances; make acquisitions; engage in
mergers or consolidations; enter into sale and leaseback transactions; engage in transactions with affiliates; amend
material agreements governing our indebtedness; change our business; enter into agreements that restrict dividends
from subsidiaries; and enter into speculative financial derivative agreements.

The Company is in compliance with the covenants in its loan and lease agreements as of December 31, 2006.

Pledged Assets.

Certain seismic vessels and seismic equipment with a net book value of $42.4 million and $45.4 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, are pledged as security under the Company’s short-term and long-term
debt. In addition, under the credit agreement established in December 2005, certain shares in material subsidiaries
have been pledged as security.

Letters of Credit and Guarantees.

The Company had aggregate outstanding letters of credit and related types of guarantees, not reflected in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, of $15.8 million (including $8.9 million described above) and
$32.7 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NOTE 18 — Interest Expense

Interest expense consists of the following:
Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)
Interest eXpense, ErOSS . . ...ttt et e $(56,042) $(97,718) $(109,586)
Interest capitalized in multi-client library (Note 10).......... 1,564 1,878 1,461
Interest capitalized in construction in progress (Note 9). ... ... 1,259 — —
Total iNterest EXPENSE . . . o v v vt vt et $(53,219)  $(95,840) $(108,125)

Interest expense related to discontinued operations was $0.6 million, $0.5 million and $2.7 million for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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NOTE 19 — Other Financial Items, Net

Other financial items, net, consist of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

INEEIESt INCOME .+« v v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e $8,758 $6,69 $3,307
Foreign currency gain (10SS). . . ... ..ot 3,604 1,194 (3,202)
Expensed deferred loan costs, extinguished debt. .. ............. (5,063) — —
UK leases, settlement interest rate differential, net (Note 21) ... ... (1,802) — —
Additional required interest relating to UK leases, net of

amortization of deferred UK lease gain. . ................... (486) (986) (851)
Consent fee received for certain changes to UK leases . .......... — 3,107 —
Sale of shares in Aqua Exploration Ltd. ..................... — — 1,500
Other ..o (5,648)  (5,758)  (6,973)

Total other financial items, Net. . .. ... ....oouuueeeenno ... $ (637) $4,253  $(6,219)

Other financial items, net related to discontinued operations aggregated $(3.9) million, $1.7 million and
$(4.6) million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

NOTE 20 — Financial Instruments

Fair Values of Financial Instruments.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, unbilled and other
receivables, other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their respective fair values
because of the short maturities of those instruments. The carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of debt
instruments are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Carrying Notional Fair Carrying Notional Fair
Amounts Amounts Values Amounts Amounts Values

(In thousands of dollars)

Long-term debt (Note 17)....... $324,146 $ — $330,070 $943.866 $ — $947,105
Derivatives:
Forward exchange contracts, net
unrealized gain (loss)(a) . . .. 6,226 314,158 6,226 (7,234) 193,536 (7,234)
Interest rate swaps, net
unrealized gain (loss)(a) . ... 740 175,000 740 (1,628) 425,000 (1,628)

(a) As of December 31, 2006, $5.7 million is included in other current asset (Note 8), $3.8 million is included in
other long-lived assets (Note 11), $1.6 million is included in accrued expenses (Note 14) and $0.9 million is
included in other long-term liabilities (Note 15). As of December 31, 2005, $7.2 million was included in
accrued expenses (Note 14) and $1.6 million was included in other long-term liabilities (Note 15).

The fair values of the long-term debt instruments, forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps are
estimated using quotes obtained from dealers in such financial instruments or latest quoted prices at Bloomberg.

There is established under the indenture for the 8.28% Notes a debt service reserve fund, which was initially
funded in an amount (approximately $10 million) equal to the maximum interest and sinking fund payment due on
the 8.28% Notes on any payment date for such notes through December 1, 2010. The balance on the debt service
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reserve fund will in effect be paid out to the note holders as part of the last installment due June 1,2011. The amount
has been invested in a funding agreement that serves as a source of funds that, together with charter hire payments
made by a Company subsidiary under charters for the Ramform Explorer and the Ramform Challenger vessels, are
used to make debt service payments on the 8.28% Notes. The amounts held in or payable into the debt service
reserve fund will be used as part of the final payments on the 8.28% Notes. The Company classifies this amount as
restricted cash (long-term) in its consolidated balance sheets (approximately $10 million).

Interest Rate Exposure.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate
notional amount of $175 million relating to the Term Loan. The Company accounts for $150.0 million of these
swaps as interest rate hedges. Under these interest rate swap agreements, the Company receives floating interest rate
payments based on 3 month LIBOR and pays fixed interest rate payments. As to a notional amount of $150 million,
a fixed rate of 4.84% will apply through December 2008. As to a notional amount of $25 million, an average fixed
rate of 4.88% will apply through December 2010. The aggregate positive fair value of these interest rate swap
agreements at December 31, 2006 was approximately $0.7 million. The value of instruments, with a notional value
of $150 million, have been recorded as a reduction in other comprehensive income as the effective portion of the
designated and qualifying hedging instrument. The value of remaining notional amount of $25 million is partially
retained in other comprehensive income with the rest passing through the consolidated statements of operations.
Due to unscheduled repayment of the hedging object, the hedging relationship was dissolved during 2006, with the
value of the derivative at dissolution being retained in other comprehensive income and amortized over the
remaining life of the interest rate swap. Any changes in the value of the derivative from the time the hedge was
dissolved are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

Foreign Exchange Exposure.

The Company is exposed to currency fluctuation due to a predominantly USD-based revenue stream, while the
Company’s expenses are incurred in various currencies. The larger expense currencies other than the USD are GBP,
NOK and EUR. In 2006, the Company continued a foreign currency hedging program by buying NOK, GBP and
EUR on forward contracts. During the year the Company has also entered into currency hedges (NOK/USD)
relating to the contracts to build two new Ramform vessels (see Note 9).

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had open forward contracts to buy GBP, NOK and EUR amounting to
approximately $314.1 million with a positive fair value of $6.2 million. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had
open forward contracts to buy GBP and NOK amounting to approximately $193.5 million with a negative fair value
of $7.2 million, which is included in accrued expenses (see Note 14).

The currency forward contracts are generally economic hedges and have therefore not been the subject of
hedge accounting. The derivatives entered into to hedge the exposure created by the contracts to build the Ramform
vessels have, where applicable, been designated as fair value hedges. Of the total notional amount of forward
contracts, $124.5 million is accounted for as fair value hedges.

NOTE 21 — Commitments and Contingencies

Leases.

The Company has operating lease commitments expiring at various dates through 2015. The Company also has
capital lease commitments, primarily for onshore-based seismic equipment, expiring at various dates through 2008.
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At December 31, 2006, future minimum payments related to non-cancelable operating and capital leases are as
follows:

December 31,

2006

Operating Capital

Leases Leases

(In thousands of dollars)

2007 o $37,173  $ 7,754
20008 . 15,713 7,400
2000 . 11,375 —
2000 o 10,546 —
200 6,814 —
Thereafter . ... ... 17,311 —
Total ... $98,932 15,154
Imputed Interest. . ... ... (1,236)
Net present value of capital lease obligations . ........................ 13,918
Current portion of capital lease obligations . ... ..................... (6,893)
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations . . ................... $ 7,025

The Company entered into capital lease arrangements of $0.7 million for each of the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005.

The future minimum payments under the Company’s operating leases relate to the Company’s operations as
follows:

December 31,

2006
(In thousands of

dollars)

Marine seismic and support vessels . ... ... . $24,070
Onshore seismic and Support Vessels . ... ... ...t 3,009
Data processing equipment . . ... ... ... ...ttt 126
Buildings . . ... ... 71,005
Other . . 722
Total . oo $98,932

Rental expense for operating leases, including leases with terms of less than one year, was $50.0 million,
$33.4 million and $32.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Rental
expense for operating leases related to discontinued operations was $13.8 million, $26.2 million and $27.4 million
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is presented in the consolidated statements
of operations under income from discontinued operations (see Note 25).

Other.

The Company has contingencies resulting from litigation, other claims and commitments incidental to the
ordinary course of business. Management believes that the probable resolution of such contingencies will not
materially affect the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.
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UK Leases.

The Company entered into capital leases from 1996 to 1998 relating to Ramforms Challenger, Valiant, Viking,
Victory and Vanguard. The terms for these leases ranged from 15-25 years. In December 2006, the Company
terminated the UK leases for Ramform Viking and Ramform Vanguard and took formal ownership of these vessels.
The Company paid a net amount of 7.5 million British pounds (approximately $14.8 million) to facilitate the
terminations (see Note 9).

The Company has indemnified the lessors for the tax consequences resulting from changes in tax laws or
interpretations thereof or adverse rulings by the tax authorities and for variations in actual interest rates from those
assumed in the leases. There are no limits on either of these indemnities. Reference is also made to the description in
Note 2 — UK Leases.

The lessors claim tax depreciation (capital allowances) on the capital expenditures that were incurred for the
acquisition of the leased assets. Although the UK Inland Revenue generally deferred for a period of time agreeing to
the capital allowances claimed under such leases pending the outcome of a legal proceeding in which the Inland
Revenue was challenging capital allowances associated with a defeased lease, in November 2004, the highest UK
court of appeal ruled in favor of the taxpayer and rejected the position of the Inland Revenue. In connection with the
adoption of fresh-start reporting on November 1, 2003 and before the November 2004 ruling, the Company
recorded a liability of 6.3 million British pounds (approximately $10.7 million). The Company subsequently
released this liability in 2005 when the Inland Revenue accepted the lessors’ claims for capital allowances under
each lease.

The leases are legally defeased because the Company has made up-front payments to independent third-party
banks in consideration for which these banks have assumed liability to the lessor equal to basic rentals and
termination sum obligations. The defeased rental payments are based on assumed Sterling LIBOR rates between
8% and 9% per annum. If actual interest rates are greater than the assumed interest rates, the Company receives
rental rebates. Conversely, if actual interest rates are less than the assumed interest rates, the Company pays rentals
in excess of the defeased rental payments. Over the last several years, the actual interest rates have been below the
assumed interest rates. Prior to November 1, 2003, the Company had deferred a portion of a deferred gain (see
Note 2 — UK leases) representing the net present value of additional required rental payments as of the inception of
each lease. Such deferred gain was amortized over the terms of the leases. Effective November 1, 2003, the
Company adopted fresh-start reporting and recorded a liability equal to the fair value of the future additional
required rental payments based on forward market rates for Sterling LIBOR and an 8% discount rate. This liability,
which is amortized based on future rental payments, amounted to 8.6 million British pounds (approximately
$14.9 million) at December 31, 2005. In March 2006 the future Additional Required Rental Payments for Ramform
Challenger was settled with a one-time settlement of 3.2 million British pounds (approximately $5.6 million).
Consequently, the Company also reversed the remaining deferred gain relating to Ramform Challenger of
2.2 million British pounds (approximately $3.8 million). In addition, the UK leases for Ramform Viking and
Ramform Vanguard were terminated in December 2006, resulting in a reversal of remaining deferred gain of
2.8 million British pounds (approximately $5.5 million). The remaining accrued liability as of December 31, 2006
was 3.1 million British pounds (approximately $6.1 million).

At December 31, 2006, interest rates were below the assumed interest rates. Based on forward market rates for
Sterling LIBOR, the net present value, using an 8% per annum discount rate, of the additional required rental
payments aggregated 4.9 million British pounds (approximately $9.7 million) as of December 31, 2006. Of this
amount, 0.5 million British pounds (approximately $1.0 million) was accrued at December 31, 2006, in addition to
the remaining fresh-start liability as described above.

Additional required rental payments for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2.0 million, excluding the
one-time settlement for further rental payments and the termination of UK leases described above. For the years
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ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the additional required rental payments were $2.3 million and $2.2 million,
respectively.

The Company also had UK leases related to discontinued operations. For further descriptions of these
liabilities, see Note 25. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the additional required rental payments
for discontinued operations were $4.9 million and $5.0 million, respectively, while there were no such payments for
the year ended December 31, 2006.

Petrojarl.

In June 2006, the Company completed the demerger of our former production business, Petrojarl. Following
the demerger of Petrojarl the Company retained a joint secondary liability for certain obligations of Petrojarl.

Petrojarl has in connection with the demerger agreed to indemnify the Company from liabilities related to its
operations. Such liabilities include liabilities related to the floating production, storage and offloading units, or
“FPSOs”, that the Company transferred to Petrojarl in connection with the demerger. With respect to Petrojarl
Foinaven FPSO, PGS has provided a separate on demand guarantee in connection with the demerger. The guarantee
is made in relation to the FPSO service agreement and is for the benefit of the Foinaven co-venturers, which is
capped at $10 million. With respect to Petrojarl Banff FPSO, the Company remains with a joint secondary liability
with Petrojar]l under their FPSO service agreement with the Banff group. The guarantee is not capped. If these
claims are made and Petrojarl does not honor its obligation to indemnify PGS, it could adversely affect our business,
results of operation or financial condition.

With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven, the UK Inland Revenue has raised a separate issue about the accelerated
rate at which tax depreciation is available. As part of the demerger plan, the Company agreed to reimburse Petrojarl
for 50% of any payment in excess of 13 million British pounds (approximately $25.6 million) related to this
liability. Based on past correspondence with external advisors we believe that the maximum exposure would be
7 million British pounds (approximately $13.8 million) for PGS. The Company has not recorded any provision for
this possible contingent loss because we do not believe it is probable that any payment will be made.

Brazil Service Tax Claim.

The Company has an ongoing dispute in Brazil related to municipal services tax (“ISS”) for late sales of multi-
client data. The issue is whether the Company is actually liable for ISS tax on such sales and, if it is liable for such
taxes, to which municipality such taxes should be paid (municipalities levy ISS tax at different rates). The dispute
relates to the period 1998 through 2001 and the potential additional exposure for this period is $8.5 million. The
Company is subject to additional exposure for subsequent periods of up to $42.3 million (including potential
interest and penalties). ISS is a service tax, and the Company’s primary view is that licensing of multi-client data
held by PGS should be treated as rental of an asset rather than performance of a service, and therefore not subject to
ISS. The Company intends to vigorously defend its view. The Company has not made any accrual for this
contingency.

Subsequent Event.

In March 2007, the Company terminated the UK lease for Ramform Victory and took formal ownership of this
vessel. The Company paid 4.0 million British pounds (approximately $7.8 million) to facilitate the termination.
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NOTE 22 — Income Taxes

The expense (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Current taxes:

NOIWEZIAN . . o ottt $ — $ 519 $ —
Foreign . .. ... 63,655 10,343 20,761
Deferred taxes:
NOITWEZIAN . . o o oo e 36,509 2,603 —
Foreign . . ... .o 23,534 10,933 2,729
Total iNCOME taX EXPENSE .+« v v ottt e e e e e e e e $123,698  $24,398  $23,490

The net expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 includes ($102.5 million),
$207.6 million and $7.4 million, respectively, in valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets (see table
below).

The net expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 includes $4.3 million, $1.0 million and
$0.3 million, respectively, of provisions related to contingent tax issues. The total accrued amount related to
contingent tax liabilities as of December 31, 2006 was $24.3 million, of which $2.5 million was recorded as income
taxes payable and $21.8 million was recorded as other long-term liabilities. As of December 31, 2005 such amount
totaled $22.3 million, of which $3.1 million was recorded as income taxes payable and $19.2 million was recorded
as other long-term liabilities.

The Company evaluates the need for valuation allowances related to its deferred tax assets by considering the
evidence regarding the ultimate realization of those recorded assets. A valuation allowance, by tax jurisdiction, is
established when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of deferred tax assets will not be realized. During
2006 and 2005, the Company concluded that certain valuation allowances are no longer necessary as available
evidence, including budget and estimates of projected near term future taxable income, supported a more-likely-
than-not conclusion that a portion of the related deferred tax assets will be realized. As a result the Company
released a portion of its valuation allowance, resulting in recognition of deferred tax assets of $150.0 million as of
December 31, 2006 ($20.0 million as of December 31, 2005).

Changes in valuation allowance are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)
Balance at the beginning of the period. .................. $ 468,040  $285,432  $310,660
Current year additions (reduction) . ................... (102,542) 207,573 7,360
Decrease of valuation allowance from utilization and
recognition of pre-reorganization deferred tax assets . . . .. (138,321) (27,115) (32,588)
Decrease of valuation allowance from utilization of post-
reorganization deferred tax assets................... (11,679) — —
Change related to other comprehensive income, sale of
subsidiaries and minority interests . ................. 67,262 2,150 —
Balance at the end of the period . ...................... $ 282,760 $468,040  $285,432
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Current year reduction to the valuation allowance relates mainly to recognition of deferred tax assets where the
company evaluates that it is more likely than not that the relevant deferred tax assets will be utilized in future
periods.

The Company has substantial deferred tax assets in different jurisdictions, predominantly in Norway and UK.
During Q3 and Q4 it was concluded that certain valuation allowances were no longer necessary since available
evidence, including recent profits and estimates of projected future taxable income, supported a more likely than not
conclusion that the related deferred tax assets would be realized in the future. Hence, $150.0 million of the valuation
allowance was reversed in 2006 of which $75.0 million was recorded as current deferred tax assets and $75.0 million
as long-term deferred tax assets. For the remaining deferred tax assets (approximately $0.3 billion) valuation
allowances are still maintained following from the strict criteria under US GAAP.

The Company’s reporting of taxes is significantly affected by the required adoption of fresh-start reporting
effective November 1, 2003, at the time of exit from Chapter 11 proceedings. If and when the Company
subsequently realizes the benefits of deferred tax assets, for which a valuation allowance was established at the
adoption of fresh-start reporting, the positive effect does not flow through to the income statement as a tax benefit,
but is rather (as required under SOP 90-7) recorded as a reduction of the carrying value of long-term intangible
assets existing at adoption of fresh-start reporting, until the value of such assets is reduced to zero, and thereafter
directly to shareholders’ equity. Since the Company in 2006 has realized significant tax assets and also reduced its
deferred tax asset valuation allowance, all intangible assets recognized at the adoption of fresh-start reporting has
been reduced to zero in 2006 and an amount of $133.5 million has been recorded as increase in additional paid-in
capital.

As a result of realization of deferred tax assets in 2006, the Company reduced the carrying values of the
remaining fresh-start long-term intangible assets as follows: $92.7 million of multi-client library and $19.1 million
of other intangible assets.
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The expense for income taxes from continuing operations differs from the amounts computed when applying
the Norwegian statutory tax rate to income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes as a result of the
following:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principles:

NOIWEZIAN . . . o oottt e e $ 30,290  $(296,559) $(229,053)
Foreign ... ... .. 325,794 227,925 42,848
Total ... 356,084 (68,634)  (186,205)
Norwegian statutory rate . ........................... 28% 28% 28%
Expense (benefit) for income taxes at statutory rate ........ 99,703 (19,217) (52,138)
Increase (reduction) in income taxes from:
Foreign earnings taxed at other than statutory rate. . ... ... 2,272 (4,308) (7,356)
Gain (loss) from local currency other than reporting
CUITENCY « + v o v v e e et e e e et e e e e e e e e e (27,755) 9,032 (9,005)
Non-creditable foreign taxes and other permanent items . . . 32,057 (13,862) 84,629

Change in temporary differences to intangible assets due to
utilization of pre-reorganization deferred tax assets

(circle effect) .. ... . . (34,920) (8,761) —
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance . ............... 52,341 61,514 7,360
Total income tax eXpense . ..................... $123,698 $ 24,398 $ 23,490

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance includes $11.7 million related to post-reorganization deferred tax
assets, which reduces income tax expense.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized as follows:
December 31,

2006 2005
Asset Liability Asset Liability
(In thousands of dollars)
Current assets and liabilities . . ... ........... $ (12,793) $ 68,745 $ (3,119) $ 19,525
Property, equipment and other long-lived assets. . (213,361) 7,070 (108,897) —
Tax losses carried forward . ................ (308,740) — (363,420) —
Deferred gain (Ioss) . . .................... @)) 79,656 (17,119) 22,527
Tax credits. . . ... .o (9,899) — (3,082) —
Expenses deductible when paid. . . ........... (35,229) 3,196 (26,898) —
Other temporary differences . . .............. 2,311) 4,220 (6,003) —
Total deferred tax (assets) liabilities before
valuation allowance. ................ (582,334) 162,887 (528,538) 42,052
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance . ....... 282,760 468,040
Deferred tax (assets) liabilities .......... $(299,574) $ 162,887 $ (60,498) $ 42,052
Net deferred tax (assets) liabilities —
Norwegian . . ...........couuueeeeo... (112,000) (20,000)
Net deferred tax (assets) liabilities —
Foreign. . .................... ... ... (24,687) 1,552
Net deferred tax (assets) liabilities. . . ... .. $(136,687) $(18,448)
Classification in the consolidated balance sheets:
Short-term deferred tax liabilities . ......... $ 13,313 $ 1,055
Short-term deferred tax assets. ............ (75,000) —
Long-term deferred tax assets . . ........... (75,000) (20,000)
Long-term deferred tax liabilities .......... — 497
Net deferred tax (assets) . .............. $(136,687) $(18,448)

Tax losses carried forward in Norway of $799.3 million, in the UK of $163.1 million, and in Singapore, Brazil
and Malaysia totaling $67.1 million can be carried forward indefinitely. U.S. tax losses carried forward of
$41.3 million expire between 2020 and 2027. Tax losses in other countries totaling $13.1 million expire between
2010 and 2017.

The Company does not provide Norwegian taxes on unremitted earnings of certain international operations,
which reflect full provision for non-Norwegian income taxes, as these earnings are expected to be reinvested outside
of Norway indefinitely. The company has not calculated the tax effect associated with these unremitted earnings as
it is not practicable to do so.

Singapore — Tax Deduction for Multi-Client Amortization.

The Company previously received a tax claim from the tax authority in Singapore, which was based on the
assertion that tax deductions for expenses related to investments in the multi-client data library would not be
allowed. The Company filed tax returns claiming tax deductions for amortization of the multi-client library. Based
on the facts and the uncertainty associated with the application of the tax law, the Company determined that it was
probable that the deduction would be disallowed. Accordingly, additional tax liability was accrued based on a total
disallowance of the deduction. In late February 2007, the tax authorities in Singapore decided to allow such
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deductions. This is considered to be a non-adjusting event occurring after the balance sheet date, which will lead to a
reversal in the first quarter of 2007. The actual effect to the tax expense in the first quarter of 2007 will be a benefit of
$8.5 million.

Norway — Exit Shipping Regime.

Until January 1, 2002, a foreign subsidiary was included in the Norwegian shipping tax regime. No deferred
taxes were recognized on unremitted earnings in this subsidiary prior to the withdrawal from the regime as these
earnings at that time were expected to be reinvested indefinitely within the regime. Subsequently in 2003 it was
decided to exit with effect from 2002. The Norwegian Central Tax Office (“CTO”) has not yet finalized the 2002 tax
assessment in relation to withdrawal from the Norwegian shipping tax regime. The pending issue is related to the
assessment of the fair value of the vessels involved. The Company based such exit values on third party valuations,
while the CTO has raised the issue whether the Company’s book values at December 31, 2001, would be more
appropriate as basis for computing the tax effects of the exit. Any increase of exit values will result in an increase of
taxable exit gain and a corresponding increase in basis for future tax depreciation. The Company does not have
sufficient information to calculate the possible additional exposure if the CTO position is upheld. However it is
considered reasonably possible that a liability exists. Based on events and new information received during the first
quarter of 2007 the Company has evaluated that it is more likely than not that there will not be an outflow of
resources related to this contingent tax liability, hence the tax accrual as of December 31, 2006 is reversed in the first
quarter of 2007.

FIN 48.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”, an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in a Company’s financial statements in accordance with FASB No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes.” FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for a tax position taken or expected to
be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. Differences between the amounts recognized in the
statements of financial position prior to the adoption of FIN 48 and the amounts reported after adoption are to be
accounted for as an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings. FIN 48 is effective as of the beginning
of fiscal years that begin after December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of
FIN 48 will have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

NOTE 23 — Pension Obligations
Defined Benefit Plans.

The Company has historically had defined benefit pension plans for substantially all of its Norwegian and UK
employees, with eligibility determined by certain period-of-service requirements. In Norway these plans are
generally funded through contributions to insurance companies. In the UK, the plans are funded through a separate
pension trust. It is the Company’s general practice to fund amounts to these defined benefit plans at rates that are
sufficient to meet the applicable statutory requirements. As of January 1, 2005, the Norwegian defined benefit plans
were closed for further entrants (except for seismic crew) and new defined contribution plans were established for
new employees. As of March 31, 2006, the UK defined benefit plan was closed. At December 31, 2006, 552
employees were participating in the defined benefit plans.

Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 158 (see Note 2), and the effect of the adoption on
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2006 is an adjustment of $12.2 million increasing other long-
term liabilities and decreasing accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
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Certain amounts in the prior years’ disclosures have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation. In addition, all amounts related to discontinued operations have been reclassified.

Reconciliation of the plans’ aggregate projected benefit obligations and fair values of assets are summarized as
follows:

Change in projected benefit obligations (PBO):

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)
Projected benefit obligations (PBO) at beginning of year. . .............. $ 97,818  $ 91,760
SEIVICE COSL. .« vttt e et e e e e e e e e 7,151 6,649
INterest COSt. . . v vt e 4,630 4,352
Employee contributions . . . ....... ... 1,172 1,033
Payroll tax. . .. . 209 (54)
Actuarial 10Ss, N€t . . . . . . e 10,784 7,363
Benefits paid . . ... ... 975) (1,129)
Adjustment of payroll taX. . ... ... 1,411 —
Exchange rate effects. .. ... ... .. 12,202 (12,156)
Projected benefit obligations (PBO) at end of year. . ................. $134,402 $ 97,818

Change in pension plan assets:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of
dollars)
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year. . ........................ $58,367  $51,953
Adjustment at beginning of year ............ .. ... . . i (2,335) 1,391
Return on plan assets ... ... .. 6,716 3,788
Employer contributions . . . . ... ... 9,843 6,961
Employee contributions. . . .. ... ... 1,172 1,033
Benefits paid . ... ... 975) (1,129)
Exchange rate effects . ....... ... ... 7,747 (5,630)
Fair value of plan assets atend of year . ........................... $80,535  $58,367

The aggregate funded status of the plans and amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets are summarized as follows:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)
Funded status(@) . . . . ..ot $(53,867) $(39,451)
Unrecognized actuarial loss(b) .. ...... ... .. . . — 5,009
Unrecognized prior service cost(b) .. .............. .. . . . . — (5,350)
Net amount recognized as pension liability (Note 15). . ............... $(53,867)  $(39,792)
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(a) Includes payroll tax of $4.0 million and $2.2 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
(b) Adopted SFAS 158, December 31, 2006.

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

December 31, 2006
(In thousands of

dollars)

Net actuarial 0SS . . . o o oot e e e $18,495
Net Prior SEIVICE COSE. . . v vttt ettt e e e e e e e e (6,246)
Net amount recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)(a) . ........... $12,249

(a) Includes payroll tax of $1.4 million.

The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) for all defined benefit pension plans was $102.2 million and

$88.3 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Net periodic pension costs for the Company’s defined benefit pension plans are summarized as follows.

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

SEIVICE COSt. . v vttt e e e e $7,151 $6649 $ 7,705
Interest COSt. . . ot vt e 4,630 4,352 4,124
Expected return on plan assets . . .. .......... ... ... (4,272) (3,788) (3,160)
Amortization of prior service cost . ............. ... ... (297) (335) —
Amortization of actuarial loss (gain) ........................ 141 (198) (88)
Adjustment to actuarial loss, plan changes .. .................. — 1,080 —
Adjustment to minimum liability ... ............. ... ... .. .. — — 191
AdmInistration COSt . . . .o v vttt 113 105 98
Payroll tax ... ... . 478 631 601

Net periodic Pension COSt. . . ..ot vt vt v e $7944 $8496 $9471

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) that are expected to be recognized as components

of net periodic pension cost in 2007 are $0.3 million (gain prior service cost of $0.3 million and actuarial loss of
$0.6 million).

The accumulated benefit obligation exceeds plan assets for all plans as of both December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Assumptions used to determine net periodic pension costs:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Discountrate. ..............ouuiinneenn... 43% 48% 48% 53% 53% 53%
Return on plan assets. . . .................... 53% T78% 58% 15% 63% 7.5%
Compensation increase . .................... 32% 32% 32% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Annual adjustment to pensions. . .............. 32% 30% 32% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
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Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at end of years presented:

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005
Norway UK Norway UK
DiSCOUNt TR . . . v v 44% 51% 43% 4.8%
Compensation INCIEASE . . . . ..t v vi e et 4.0% 4.0% 32% 32%
Annual adjustments to pensions. . . ........... ... 4.0% (a) 3.0% 3.0%

(a) 3% for services up to April 2006 and 2.5% for services thereafter.

The discount rate assumptions used for calculating pensions reflect the rates at which the obligations could be
effectively settled. Observable long-term rates on governmental bonds are used as a starting point and matched with
the Company’s expected cash flows under the Norwegian plans. Observable long-term rates on corporate bonds are
used for the UK plans. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on historical experience and by
evaluating input from the trustee managing the plan’s assets.

The Company’s pension plan asset allocation at December 31, 2006 and 2005, by asset category, are presented
by major plan group as follows:

December 31,

2006 2005
Norway UK Norway UK
(In thousands of dollars)

Fair value of plan assets . ... .................... $19,908  $60,627  $18,399  $39,968
Debt securities . . . . ..o i 55% — 62% —
Equity securities. . .. ....... ... i . 30% 100% 23% 100%
Realestate . . . ... .. . . 13% — 12% —
Other. ...... ... . . . . . 2% — 3% —

Total ... ... . 100% 100% 100% 100%

Average target allocations for Norwegian plan assets are 20-40% in equity securities, 45-65% in debt
securities, 10-15% in real estate and 3-10% in other. Maturities for the debt securities at December 31, 2006, range
from two weeks to 26 years with a weighted average maturity of 4.1 years. Weighted average duration for the debt
securities is 3.2 years.

Management of plan assets must comply with applicable laws and regulations in Norway and the UK where the
Company provides defined benefits plans. Within constraints imposed by laws and regulations, and given the
assumed pension obligations and future contribution rates, the majority of assets are managed actively to obtain a
long-term rate of return that at least reflects the chosen investment risk.

The Company expects to contribute approximately $10.8 million to its defined benefit pension plans in 2007.
Total pension benefit payments expected to be paid to participants from the plans are as follows:

(In thousands of

dollars)
2007 .« $1,085
2008 . o 1,127
2000 . 1,193
2000 . o 1,236
200 . 1,272
2012 through 2016 . . . . . . 9,042
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Defined Contribution Plans.

Substantially all employees not eligible for coverage under the defined benefit plans in Norway and the UK are
eligible to participate in pension plans in accordance with local industrial, tax and social regulations. All of these
plans are considered defined contribution plans.

As described above under “Defined Benefit Plans,” as of January 1, 2005 the Company closed the Norwegian
defined benefit plans for further entrants (except for seismic crew) and new defined contribution plans were
established for new employees. As of March 31, 2006, the UK defined benefit plan was closed.

The Company’s contributions to the Norwegian defined contribution plans for the year ended December 31,
2006 and 2005 totaled $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Under the Company’s U.S. defined contribution 401(k) plan, essentially all U.S. employees are eligible to
participate upon completion of certain period-of-service requirements. The plan allows eligible employees to
contribute up to 100% of compensation, subject to IRS and plan limitations, on a pre-tax basis, with a 2006 statutory
cap of $15,000 ($20,000 for employees over 50 years). Employee pre-tax contributions are matched by the
Company as follows: the first 3% are matched at 100% and the next 2% are matched at 50%. All contributions vest
when made. The employer matching contribution related to the plan was $1.4 million, $1.3 million and $1.2 million
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Contributions to the plan by employees for
these periods were $3.6 million, $3.3 million and $3.1 million, respectively.

Aggregate employer and employee contributions under the Company’s other plans (including UK) for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, totaled $1.0 million and $0.9 million (2006), $0.6 million and
$0.3 million (2005), $0.8 million and $0.4 million (2004).

NOTE 24 — Employee Share Option Plans

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company established an employee option program and granted options to
certain key employees, which were measured at fair value at date of grant. The share option plan is considered an
equity-settled plan. Options covering 2,127,000 shares, out of 2,250,000 authorized, were granted to 119 managers
and key personnel. One third of the options vest each of the three years subsequent to the date of grant (July 7, 2006).
First possible exercise is one year after grant date. The latest possible exercise date is five years subsequent to the
grant date. The options may only be exercised four times a year, during a ten-day period after the publication of the
Company’s quarterly earnings release.

The exercise price (adjusted for share-split) of NOK 121.50 corresponds to the weighted average trading price
for the Company’s ordinary shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange the week before the options were granted. The
measurement period was approved by the annual general meeting prior to the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed over the vesting period, using a straight-line recognition
method, based on the Company’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest. Fair value is measured using the
Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations. The options
include a service condition as the individuals participating in the plan must be employed by the Company for a
certain period of time in order to earn the right to exercise the options. The options do not include performance or
market conditions.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has recognized a compensation cost of $2.3 million relating to its
share option plan. The Company had no share option plans in 2005 and 2004, and no share-based compensation
costs were recognized during these years. Total net unrecognized compensation cost as of December 31, 2006 was
$11.9 million (related to non-vested share-based options), which is expected to be recognized over a period of
2.5 years. As of December 31, 2006, share options outstanding at the end of the period had an aggregate intrinsic
value of $8.3 million (NOK 52.1 million).
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The table below details the Company’s options outstanding and assumptions used to calculate estimated fair
value at grant date.

Weighted-

Options (b) Average Options
Outstanding Remaining Exercisable at
at December 31, Contractual December 31,
Grant Date Exercise Price 2006 Term 2006
July 7, 2006 NOK 121.50 2,085,000 4.5 years —
Weighted Estimated Fair Value
Options Dividend Volatility Average (NOK per Share
Grant Date Granted(a) Risk Free Rate Yield Factor Life Option)(a)(c)
July 7, 2006 2,127,000 3.92-4.00% — 45% 3.5 years 44.10

(a) Number of shares and figures in the tables are adjusted for the three-to-one share split December 13, 2006.
(b) During 2006, 42,000 share options were forfeited. No options were exercised.

(c) Fair value at grant date, which represents $7.12 using the exchange rate on grant date.

Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Company’s shares after emerging from Chapter 11 in
November 2003. There are no traded options of the Company’s shares. The Company uses the simplified approach
described in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 to estimate share option exercise. There is no post vesting
restrictions included in the option plan.

EITF 00-16 “Recognition and Measurement of Employer Payroll Taxes on Employee Stock-Based Compen-
sation” clarifies that a liability for employee payroll taxes (i.e. social security tax) on employee stock compensation
should be recognized on the date of the event triggering the measurement and payment of the tax to the taxing
authority, which generally is the exercise date. No liability for social security tax on the employee share options
granted has been recognized since no options have been or could have been exercised at December 31, 2006.

NOTE 25 — Acquisitions and Dispositions

In 2002, the Company sold its Production Services (formerly Atlantic Power Group) subsidiary to Petrofac
Limited. The Company is eligible to receive an additional consideration of $2.0 million upon the occurrence of
certain contingent events through 2010.

In 2003, the Company sold its Atlantis oil and gas activities to Sinochem. The Company was entitled to receive
up to $25.0 million in additional, contingent proceeds, which agreement was amended in June 2005. In accordance
with the amended agreement, the Company may receive a maximum of $10.0 million in contingent proceeds upon
the occurrence of certain contingent events, of which $3.0 million was received in March 2006 and recognized in
discontinued operation.

In 2003, the Company sold its subsidiary PGS Tigress (UK) Ltd. for a deferred compensation of approximately
$1.8 million, payable in 2004 through 2007, for which payments were received in December 2005 and 2004. In
2006 a final settlement was agreed with the new owners where the Company recognized a loss of $0.3 million,
recognized in discontinued operations.

In March 2005, the Company sold its wholly owned oil and natural gas subsidiary Pertra AS to Talisman
Energy (UK) Ltd. for an initial sales price of approximately $155 million. Following the sale, Pertra AS was
renamed to Talisman Production Norge AS. The Company recognized a $157.9 million gain from the sale in 2005,
including $2.5 million received for an option to make certain amendments to the charter and operating agreement
for the Petrojarl Varg and $8.1 million in additional sales consideration, as described below. The gain from the sale
is recognized in discontinued operations. As part of the transaction, the Company is entitled to receive additional
sales consideration equal to the value, on a post petroleum tax basis, of 50% of the relevant revenues from the Varg
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field in excess of $240 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. In January 2006, the
Company received $8.1 million, representing the 2005 portion, which was accrued in 2005 and recognized in
discontinued operations. In January 2007, the Company received $0.3 million, representing the 2006 portion of the
contingent consideration, which amount was accrued in 2006 and recognized in discontinued operations. The
results of operations and cash flows for the Petra segment are presented as discontinued operations for all periods
presented, see tables below.

In August 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its wholly owned subsidiary PGS Reservoir AS
to Reservoir Consultants Holding AS (“RCH”). RCH had the option to sell the shares back to the Company for an
amount equal to the consideration. The option expired 12 months from completion date (August 31, 2005) without
being exercised. The Company recorded a loss of $1.5 million for this transaction in 2005, recognized in loss on sale
of subsidiary (see Note 4).

In an extraordinary general meeting held on April 28, 2006, the Company’s shareholders approved a demerger
plan to separate the Company’s Geophysical and Production businesses into two independently listed companies.
On June 29, 2006 the demerger plan was successfully completed. The demerger was accounted for as continuity of
our book values at the date of the demerger. In the transaction, the Company’s shareholders received a distribution
of approximately 80% of the shares in Petrojarl ASA (formerly the Production segment) while in total approx-
imately 20% of the shares where offered in a public offering. The offering was completed at NOK 43 per Petrojarl
share. As part of the stabilization program established to facilitate the offering, 6,467,440 shares, out of the
14,999,990 shares offered, were returned to the Company. These shares were subsequently sold to Teekay Shipping
in the third quarter of 2006, at a price of NOK 70 per share. The Company recognized a $66.7 million gain from this
transaction. In addition, the Company recognized demerger costs totaling $10.0 million and $1.7 million for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The financial position, results of operations and cash flows
for the Production segment, in addition to the gain on sale of shares and demerger costs, are included in discontinued
operations for all periods presented. See tables below.

In June 2006, the Company completed the demerger of our former production business, Petrojarl. Following
the demerger of Petrojarl the Company retained a joint secondary liability for certain obligations of Petrojarl.

Petrojarl has in connection with the demerger agreed to indemnify the Company from liabilities related to its
operations. Such liabilities include liabilities related to the floating production, storage and offloading units, or
“FPSOs”, that the Company transferred to Petrojarl in connection with the demerger. With respect to Petrojarl
Foinaven FPSO, PGS has provided a separate on demand guarantee in connection with the demerger. The guarantee
is made in relation to the FPSO service agreement and is for the benefit of the Foinaven co-venturers, which is
capped at $10 million. With respect to Petrojarl Banff FPSO, the Company remains with a joint secondary liability
with Petrojar]l under their FPSO service agreement with the Banff group. The guarantee is not capped. If these
claims are made and Petrojarl does not honor its obligation to indemnify PGS, it could adversely affect our business,
results of operation or financial condition.

With respect to Petrojarl Foinaven, the UK Inland Revenue has raised a separate issue about the accelerated
rate at which tax depreciation is available. As part of the demerger plan, the Company agreed to reimburse Petrojarl
for 50% of any payment in excess of 13 million British pounds (approximately $25.6 million) related to this
liability. Based on past correspondence with external advisors we believe that the maximum exposure would be
7 million British pounds (approximately $13.8 million) for PGS. The Company has not recorded any provision for
this possible contingent loss because we do not believe it is probable that any payment will be made.
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The results of operations and cash flows for Production and Pertra are summarized as follows for the years

presented:
Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Production Production Pertra Production Pertra
(In thousands of dollars)
Revenues ...................... $129.258  $280,677  $36,742  $298.202  $184,134
Operating costs(a) . . .. ..o .. 91,441 193,122 30,148 175,872 118,946
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . 21,970 44,064 6,710 44,561 38,965
Other operating (income) expense,
NEL . vt — (5,593) — — —
Total operating expenses . ... ... 113,411 231,593 36,858 220,433 157,911
Operating profit (loss) . . ........... 15,847 49,084 (116) 77,769 26,223
Other income (expense):
Income from associated
COMPANIeS . . o v oo e e e et 42 243 — 722 —
Interest expense and other financial
items, net .................. (4,481) 1,580 (431) (6,524) (804)

Income (loss) before income tax
expense and minority interest . . $ 11,408 $ 50,907 $ (547) $ 71,967 $ 25419

Capital expenditures. . ......... $ 35018 $ 11 $ 103 $§ 988 §$ 84,991

(a) Operating costs include costs of sales, research and development costs, and selling, general and administrative
costs all of which exclude depreciation and amortization shown as a separate line.

A reconciliation of income (loss) before income tax expense and minority interest for the segments, as
presented above, and income from discontinued operations, net of tax, as presented in the consolidated statements
of operations, is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income tax

expense and minority interest. . .. ......... ... .. ... .. .. $ 11,408 $ 50,360 $ 97,386
Petrojarl demerger costs. ... ...... ... ... (10,055) (1,658) —
Gain on sale of shares in Petrojarl . ...................... 66,749 — —
Net gainonsale of Pertra .. ........................... 302 157,902 —
Final settlement PGS Tigress (UK) Ltd. .................. (254) — —
Additional proceeds. . . ... 3,500 500 3,048
Tax from discontinued operations. . . ..................... (2,503) 2,571 (24,529)
MINOrity interest . . . ...ttt 50 27) (289)

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax . .......... $ 69,197 $209,648 $ 75,616
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As of December 31, 2006, the Company had no assets related to discontinued operations. As of December 31,
2005, the following assets and liabilities related to discontinued operations (Production only):

December 31,

2005
(In thousands of
dollars)
Restricted cash . . ... ... .. . . e $ 2,010
Accounts receivable, NEt . ... ... 30,505
Unbilled and other receivables . . . . ... ... . 3,082
Other CUITent aSSELS . . . . . v vttt e e e et e e et e e e et e e e 12,135
Property and equipment, Nt . . ... .... ... ..ttt 593,878
Other long-lived assets. . . .. ...ttt 19,059
Other intangible assets, Net . . ... ... ...t 2,228
TOtal @SSEES . . . v ottt $662,897
Accounts payable ... ... $ 14918
ACCTUEA EXPEINSES .« . . v v v ettt et e e e e e 27,648
Other long-term liabilities . ... ... ... 61,832
Total liabilities. . . . . ... $104,398

NOTE 26 — Related Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2006, the Chairperson of the Board, Jens Ulltveit-Moe, through Umoe Shipping and
Energy AS, controlled a total of 11,775,822 shares in PGS.

Related party transactions attributable to discontinued operations (Production) were as follows:

* For the six months ended June 30, 2006 and the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 the Company
chartered the vessels MT Nordic Svenita to Knutsen OAS Shipping AS (“Knutsen”), a company controlled
by Jens Ulltveit-Moe. The payments under the agreement were $5.1 million, $10.0 million and $10.3 million
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

* In addition, the Company had a contract of affreightment with Knutsen for transporting crude oil relating to
the Banff field and paid $0.7 million, $1.2 million and $0.7 million to Knutsen under this contract in 2006
(six months), 2005 and 2004, respectively.

* InJanuary 2006, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase the shuttle tanker MT Rita Knutsen for
$35 million from Knutsen OAS Shipping AS. The transaction was completed on March 9, 2006.

Mr. Ulltveit-Moe was also the Chairperson of Unitor ASA until August 2005, a company that from time to time
provides the Company with equipment for its vessels.
NOTE 27 — Segment and Geographic Information

Following the demerger of Petrojarl in June 2006, the Company operates its business in two segments as
follows:

* Marine, which consists of streamer seismic data acquisition, marine multi-client library, data processing and
reservoir consulting;

e Onshore, which consists of all seismic operations on land and in shallow water and transition zones,
including onshore multi-client library.
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The executive management regularly evaluates the operating segments operational and financial performance.
The financial information disclosed is consistent with that used by the executive management in controlling the
Company’s business and for making strategic decisions. The Company’s operating segments are managed
separately and represent strategic business product lines. The Marine segment is operated from Lysaker, Norway
and the Onshore segment is operated from Houston, Texas.

Both the Marine and Onshore segments serve a worldwide market. Customers for both segments are primarily
composed of major multi-national, independent and national or state-owned oil companies. Corporate overhead has
been presented under Shared Services/Corporate. Significant charges, that do not relate specifically to the
operations of any one segment are also presented as Shared Services/Corporate. Information related to discontinued
operations for any period presented has been separately aggregated (see Note 25). Inter-segment sales are made at
prices that approximate market value. Financial items and income tax expense are not included in the measure of
segment performance.

Elimination
Shared of
Services/ Inter-Segment
Marine Onshore Corporate Items Total

(In thousands of dollars)
Year Ended December 31, 2006:
Revenues by operating

segments:

Contract . . . .......oo.... $ 635626 $218215 % — $ — $ 853,841

Multi-client pre-funding . . . . 131,254 17,644 — — 148,898

Multi-client late sales . . .. .. 221,980 27,491 — — 249,471

Data Processing . ......... 46,401 — — (1,887) 44,514

Other .................. 9,254 — 2,652 (171) 11,735

Total revenues. . . ....... $1,044,515 $263,350 $ 2,652 $(2,058) $1,308,459

Depreciation and

amortization . . ........... 166,156 29,137 3,333 21 198,605
Segment operating

profit/Operating profit. . . . . . $ 399916 $ 37,676  $(28,653) $ 991 $ 409,930

Balance Sheet Items:

Investment in associated

COmpanies . ............. $ 1,372 $ — 3 11 $ — $ 1,383
Total assets . .............. 997,858 126,406 101,489 — 1,225,753
Additions to long-lived tangible

assets(a) . ... $ 227,705 $ 49,096 $ 2,299 $ — $ 279,100
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Year ended December 31,
2005:

Revenues by operating
segments:

Contract. . ............
Multi-client pre-funding . .
Multi-client late sales. . . .

Depreciation and

amortization. . . ........
Segment operating profit . . .

Impairment of long-lived

assetS. ...
Loss on sale of subsidiary . .

Other operating (income)

expense, net. ..........
Operating profit. .........

Balance Sheet Items:

Investment in associated

companies . ...........
Total assets .. ...........

Additions to long-lived

tangible assets(a) . ......

Elimination
Shared of
Services/ Discontinued Inter-Segment
Marine Onshore Corporate Operations Items Total
(In thousands of dollars)

$424,192 $122,415  $ — $ — $ — $ 546,607

40,006 16,148 — — — 56,154

218,781 13,976 1,546 — — 234,303

41,275 — — — (2,542) 38,733

428 — 17,872 — (6,076) 12,224

$724,682  $152,539 $ 19,418 $ — $(8,618) $ 888,021

172,349 31,665 4,567 — — 208,581

150,229 (9,803)  (24,131) — (467) 115,828

4,575 — — — — 4,575

— — 1,520 — — 1,520
(8,847) — (11,655) — — (20,502)

$154,501  $ (9,803) $(13,996) $ = — $ 467) $ 130,235

$ 278 $ — 3 4 $ — $ — $ 282

797,316 98,823 158,536 662,897 — 1,717,572

$118,442 $ 21,055 $ 6,629 $ — $ (83) $ 146,043
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Elimination
Shared of
Services/ Inter-Segment
Marine Onshore Corporate Items Total

(In thousands of dollars)
Year ended December 31, 2004:
Revenues by operating segments:

Contract................... $297,749  $110,288  $ — $ (2,714) $405,323
Multi-client pre-funding . . ... .. 30,535 12,761 19 (1,811) 41,504
Multi-client late sales . ........ 203,397 10,112 2,015 (3,580) 211,944
Data Processing . ............ 38,639 — — (802) 37,837
Other ..................... 485 — 18,818 (8,392) 10,911
Total revenues. . ........... $570,805  $133,161  $ 20,852 $(17,299) $707,519
Depreciation and amortization . ... 241,712 39,885 3,238 — 284,835
Segment operating profit (loss) . . . . (34,980) (4,535) (20,986) 304 (60,197)
Other operating (income) expense,
NEL. .t (13) 9 8,116 — 8,112
Operating profit (loss) .......... $(34,967) $ (4,544) $(29,102) $ 304 $(68,309)

Balance Sheet Item:

Additions to long-lived tangible
assets(a) . .. i i $ 87,742 $ 10,817 $ 5,088 $ (114) $103,533

(a) Consists of cash investments in multi-client library and capital expenditures. For capital expenditures on
discontinued operations, see Note 25.

Reconciliation of segment operating profit, presented in the tables above, to income (loss) before income tax
expense and minority interest, is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Segment operating profit (10ss). ... ........ ... ... ..... $409,930 $ 115,828 $ (60,197)
Other segment allocated items (as presented in the tables

above):

Impairment of long-lived assets . .................... — 4,575 —

Loss on sale of subsidiary. . ........................ — 1,520 —

Other operating (income) expense, net . ............... — (20,502) 8,112
Operating profit (Ioss) . .. ...... ... ... ... ... ... .. ..., 409,930 130,235 (68,309)
Unallocated items:

Income from associated companies. .................. 10 33 54)

Interest eXpense . . . . ... (53,219) (95,840) (108,125)

Debt redemption and refinancing costs ... ............. — (107,315) —

Other financial items, net . .. ....................... (637) 4,253 (6,219)

Cost of reorganization . ........................... — — (3,498)
Income (loss) before income tax expense and minority

INEETESE . v ottt e $356,084 $ (68,634) $(186,205)
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Since the Company provides services worldwide to the oil and natural gas industry, a substantial portion of the
property and equipment is mobile, and the respective locations at the end of the period (as listed in the tables below,
together with multi-client library) are not necessarily indicative of the earnings of the related property and
equipment during the period. Assets of property and equipment are based upon location of physical ownership. The
geographic classification of income statement amounts listed below is based upon location of performance or, in the
case of multi-client seismic data sales, the area where the survey was physically conducted.

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Revenues, external customers:
AMETICAS. . o vttt e $ 467,558 $311,496  $267,054
UK 122,377 39,766 43,641
NOITWAY .« ottt e 73,040 133,527 63,104
Asia/Pacific. .. ... ... .. 233,300 199,107 191,703
Africa. ..o 264,662 139,317 112,503
Middle East/Other . . . ........ ..., 147,522 64,808 29,514

Total . ... $1,308,459  $888,021  $707,519

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Revenues, including inter-area:
AMETICAS. -« o v e e e e e e e e e e e $ 467,811 $312,394  $267,054
UK .o 124,425 40,379 46,608
NOIWAY . . o 74,799 136,718 69,891
Asia/Pacific. .. ... ... . e 234,038 199,826 191,703
Africa. ..o 264,662 139,679 112,503
Middle East/Other . . .. ........ . 147,522 65,186 29,514
Elimination inter-area revenues . . ... .................. (4,798) (6,161) (9,754)

Total . ... $1,308,459  $888,021  $707,519

December 31,

2006

2005

(In thousands of dollars)

Total assets:

AIMETICAS . .« . o o e $ 286,416 $ 302,774
UK o 521,870 546,389
NOITWAY .« o vt 264,448 117,528
Asia/Pacific. . . ... . e 139,432 73,801
AfTICA . . 2,821 5,010
Middle East/Other . .. ... ... e 10,766 9,173
Assets of discontinued operations (see Note 25) .. ................. — 662,897

Total ... $1,225,753  $1,717,572
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Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Additions to long-lived assets:(a)

AMCTICAS « o o o oo e e e e e e, $ 09,143 $ 42912 $ 31,664
UK 85,498 70,673 41,625
NOTWAY © v ottt 15,576 22,589 15,114
Asia/Pacific . .. ... ... 72,720 3,539 5,932
Africa ... .. e 1,882 3,894 7,572
Middle East/Other .. ........ ... ... . ... ... .. 4,281 2,436 1,626

e I $279.100  $146,043  $103,533

(a) Consists of cash investments in multi-client library and capital expenditures. For capital expenditures on
discontinued operations, see Note 25.

Export sales from Norway to unaffiliated customers did not exceed 10% of gross revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

In 2006, the Company’s two most significant customers accounted for 8.0% and 7.2% of the Company’s
consolidated revenues, compared to 7.6% and 7.1% in 2005 and 9.6% and 8.9% in 2004. The percentages exclude
sales to customers from discontinued operations.

In certain of the regions where the Company operates, a significant share of its employees is organized in labor
unions. Similarly the Company’s operations in certain regions are members of employer unions. Therefore, the
Company may be affected by labor conflicts involving such labor and employer unions.

NOTE 28 — Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid during the years presented includes payments for (excludes discontinued operations):
Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)
Interest, net of capitalized interest . ....................... $51,418  $91,722  $106,731
UK lease, additional required rental payments (Note 21)........ 7,600 2,321 2,215
INCOME taXES . . o v vt e 29,293 14,572 17,403

The UK lease additional required rental payment for the year ended December 31, 2006, includes a settlement
of $5.6 million relating to Ramform Challenger (see Note 21). The Company entered into capital lease agreements
for new equipment aggregating $0.7 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. There was no
new capital lease agreements during the year ended December 31, 2004.

NOTE 29 — Summarized Financial Information for Subsidiaries with Debt Securities

PGS Geophysical AS, a Norwegian corporation, is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. PGS
Geophysical AS is the largest geophysical services company within the PGS group of companies. PGS Geophysical
AS is also the lessee of the Ramform Explorer and the Ramform Challenger seismic vessels. PGS ASA (parent
company) has fully and unconditionally guaranteed PGS Geophysical AS charter obligations in connection with
certain debt securities issued in order to finance the purchase of these vessels. Summarized financial information for
PGS Geophysical AS and its consolidated subsidiaries is presented below. This information was derived from the
financial statements prepared on a stand-alone basis in conformity with US GAAP. Separate financial statements
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and other disclosures with respect to PGS Geophysical AS are omitted because the information contained therein, in
light of the information contained in the consolidated financial statements of the Company, would not be material.

The PGS Geophysical AS summarized financial information consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands of dollars)

Income Statement Data:

Revenue. .. ... .. . $402,079  $332,190  $257,609
Operating profit (10SS). . . . ... 38,641 18,423 4,761)
Netincome (I0SS) . . .. oottt e 28,238 6,376 (22,868)
Balance Sheet Data:
CUITENE ASSELS . -« v o e e e e $127,065 $ 90,433  $116,910
Non-current assets . ... ...... ..t 228,893 185,535 190,874
Current liabilities . .. ......... . ... 99,855 96,168 56,573
Non-current liabilities . . . . ... ... .. .. . .. . . 186,924 142,686 327,199
Equity (deficit). ... ... .. 69,179 37,114 (75,988)

Both Oslo Explorer PLC (“Explorer”) and Oslo Challenger PLC (“Challenger”), Isle of Man public limited
companies, are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, purchased in April 1997. Explorer and Challenger own
the Ramform Explorer and the Ramform Challenger, respectively, and lease these vessels to PGS Geophysical AS
pursuant to long-term bareboat charters. Explorer and Challenger are jointly and severally liable under the 8.28%
First Preferred Mortgage Notes (see Note 17), in an original principal amount of $165.7 million, which were issued
to finance the purchase of the Ramform Explorer and the Ramform Challenger. Summarized financial information
for each of Explorer and Challenger is presented below. This information was derived from the financial statements
prepared on a stand-alone basis in conformity with US GAAP. Separate financial statements and other disclosures
with respect to Explorer and Challenger are omitted because the information, in light of the information contained
in the consolidated financial statements of the Company, would not be material.

The Explorer and Challenger summarized financial information consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Challenger Explorer Challenger Explorer Challenger Explorer
(In thousands of dollars)

Income Statement Data:

Revenue ..................... $ 4,532 $ 4,114 $ 5,455 $ 5,064 $ 5,858 $ 5,491
Operating profit . .............. 4,364 3,947 5,273 4,883 5,713 5,346
Net income (loss) .. ............ 1,207 789 1,157 766 1,166 799
Balance Sheet Data:
Current assets . . ............... $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Non-current assets . ............ 50,131 46,987 54,101 51,375 59,200 56,866
Current liabilities . ............. 7,501 7,501 6,280 6,280 6,611 6,611
Non-current liabilities . . .. ....... 31,815 31,813 38,213 38,211 44,138 44,137
Equity ...................... 10,815 7,673 9,608 6,884 8,451 6,118
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12.2  — Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
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Exhibit 1.1

Articles of Association
for
PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA

(Changed in Extraordinary General Meeting 27.11.91, Board Meeting 09.01.92, Extraordinary General Meeting 30.01.92, Annual Meeting
28.04.92, Board Meeting 14.05.92, Annual Meeting 12.03.93, Board Meetings 18.05.93, 27.05.93, 18.03.94, 14.04.94, 18.05.94, 28.06.94,
03.11.94, 02.02.95,11.05.95, Annual Meeting 22.06.95, Board Meetings 09.11.95, 07.03.96, Extraordinary General Meeting 21.03.96, Board
Meeting 10.05.96, General Meeting 11.06.96, Board Meetings 08.08.96, 30.09.96, 02.10.96, 11.11.96, 03.03.97, 13.05.97, General Meeting
25.06.97, Board Meetings 12.08.97, 10.11.97, 17.12.97, 07.01.98, Extraordinary General Meeting 10.03.98, Board Meeting 09.06.98, Annual
Meeting 23.06.98 and Board Meeting 21.07.98, 06.08.98, 31.08.98, 8.11.98,12.03.99, 18.05.99, Annual Meeting 22.06.99, Board Meetings
29.07.99, 09.08.99,19.08.99, 18.11.99, 14.03.00, 30.05.00, 23.08.00, 29.05.01, 31.07.01, 21.08.01, Extraordinary General Meeting 16.10.03,
Annual Meeting 08.06.2005, Extraordinary General Meeting 28.04.2006, Annual Meeting 14.06.06 and Extraordinary General Meeting
13.12.06)

§1 The Company’s registered name is PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA. The Company is a public limited company.
§2 The business of the Company is to provide services to and participate and invest in energy related businesses.
§3 The share capital of the Company shall be NOK 540,000,000 divided into 180,000,000 shares of NOK 3.00 each.

The shares shall be registered with the Norwegian Registry of securities (Verdipapirsentralen).
§4 The Company’s domicile shall be in Berum Municipality.

§5 The Board of Directors of the Company shall have from 3 to 13 Directors. Any two Directors jointly, or the chief executive officer
and one director jointly, may sign for the Company.

The period of service for members of the Board of Directors shall be one year.

§6 The Nomination Committee shall consist of three members. The service shall be two years unless the Annual General Meeting
determines that the period shall be shorter.

The Nomination Committee shall prepare a motion for the Annual General Meeting relating to:
a) Election of members of the Board of Directors and the chairperson of the Board of Directors.

b) Election of the members of the Nomination Committee and the chairperson of the Committee.



§7

§8

§9

§10

c) The remuneration of the Directors and the members of the Nomination Committee.
d) Any amendments of the Nomination Committee’s Mandate and Charter.

Sections 6-7 and 6-8 of the Act relating to the Public Limited Liability Companies apply correspondingly in relation to the members
of the Nomination Committee.

Notice of the General Meeting shall be given at least 4 weeks before the meeting. The notice convening an Extraordinary General
Meeting shall be given at least 2 weeks before the meeting if the holding of the meeting is demanded in writing by the auditor or
shareholders representing at least one twentieth of the Share Capital. (See the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act 1997 § 5-7,
second paragraph.)

In the Company’s General Meeting each share has one vote. An owner with shares registered through a custodian approved pursuant
to Section 4-10 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act has voting rights equivalent to the number of shares which are
covered by the custodian arrangement provided that the owner of the shares shall within two working days before the General
Meeting provide the Company with his name and address together with a confirmation from the custodian to the effect that he is the
beneficial owner of the shares held in custody, and provided further the Board of Directors shall not disapprove such beneficial
ownership after receipt of such notification in accordance with the rules set out in § 6 above.

Shareowners who wish to take part in the General Meeting, must give notice to the Company by the date stated in the Calling Notice,
which date must be at least two working days before the General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting shall be held within the turn of June each year. The General Meeting shall deal with the following:

a) Approval to the Annual Accounts and Annual Report including distribution of dividend.
b) Election of Board members and the Chairman of the Board.
c) Election of the members and the chairperson of the Nomination Committee and amendments of the Nomination Committee’s

Mandate and Charter.
d) Such other matters as, according to law or the Articles of Association, fall within the duties of the General Meeting.
The General Meeting shall be chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

In other respects, the stipulations of valid Norwegian Public Limited Companies legislation shall be applied.
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PREAMBLE

THIS CONTRACT entered into with effect from the 30t of September 2006 by and between: Aker Yards AS
a company organised and existing under the laws of Norway, having its principal office at

N-6270 Brattvag, Norway, (hereinafter called the “Builder”) and

PGS Geophysical AS, a company organised and existing under the laws of Norway
having its principal office at Strandveien 4, 1324 Lysaker, Norway, (hereinafter called the “Buyer”),

WHEREBY

The scope of this Contract comprises the building and outfitting of a seismic vessel of RAMFORM design, a sistervessel to Newbuilding

No. 213 under construction at Aker Yards, Langsten. The design, which is based on the patented RAMFORM hull design, is developed for the
purpose of these Vessels, in cooperation between the patent holding designer and the Buyer. The hydrodynamic properties of the hull design is
known to be challenging. The Vessel’s dimensions and hull lines, the needed generated power, the needed propulsion power and propulsion
plant configuration and the Vessel’s sea characteristics caused by the foregoing has been determined by the patent holding designer and the
Buyer.

The Vessel shall be outfitted for seismic operation, including collecting and processing of seismic data by means of towed streamers and gun
arrays. The Buyer shall for his own account supply packages of seismic equipment as further defined in the Specification.

The Builder shall within the scope of this Contract arrange to take on board, mount and tie-up the seismic equipment to the Vessel’s
infrastructure systems, including the physical fastening of the equipment, hydraulic piping to winches and booms, supply of high pressure air
system, electrical supply and supply of fresh water.

It is hereby stated that the ownership of the design and the main design liabilities, hereunder the design’s suitability for the Vessel’s intended
purpose, remains with the Buyer. However, it remains the Builder’s responsibility to install and optimize the function of all equipment in the
Vessel following the same standards as for vessels constructed with conventional hull design.

In consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the Builder agrees to produce detail design, build, launch, equip, complete, sell and
deliver to the Buyer at the Builder’s shipyard the “Vessel” as hereinafter described; and the Buyer agrees to purchase the “Vessel”, take
delivery and pay for it; all in accordance with the terms hereinafter set forth.

The Builder shall be liable to comply with the requirements of the Classification Society and/or other Regulatory Bodies. However, if
requirements are imposed for/because of the main design provided by the Buyer any rectification, modification or change shall be performed
provided that the rectification, modification or change does not adversely affect the Builder’s other commitments. The parties shall endeavour
to agree on possible adjustments in
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Contract Price and such other terms and conditions occasioned by or resulting from such rectification, modification or change. If the parties are
in disagreement with respect to who is responsible for the work (in whole or in part) and/or the cost of such work, the parties shall enter into a
written protocol specifying the exact dispute, after which the Builder is obliged to perform the works and the Buyer is obliged to pay the full
amount claimed by the Builder as per Art III clause 3 (e), without any right to set off and without any right to claim a bank guarantee in
accordance with Art 3 clause 3. The Buyer has a right to refer the dispute to arbitration in accordance with Article XIX within 10 workings
days following the Delivery and Acceptance, failing which the terms set out by the Builder shall be final. The subject matter for the arbitration

shall be limited to who is responsible for the works and the cost of the works. The time consequence and other terms or condition is not subject
to arbitrational review.
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In this CONTRACT the following words shall have the meaning set out hereinbelow:

“Banking Days”

“Builder”
“Buyer”

“Buyer’s Supplies”

“Classification Society” or “Class”

“Contract”

“Contract Delivery Date”
“Contract Price”

“Date of Contract”

“Delivery and Acceptance”
“Delivery Date”
“Drawings”

“Flag State”

“Force Majeure”

“Force Majeure Delay”

days where banks are open for business in:

Norway and the country where the BUYER has its principal office and the country where the bank set out
in Article III clause 3 is situated and the country of the currency set out in Article III clause 2

the company referred to as “Builder” in the preamble, inclusive of its servants and employees
the company referred to as “Buyer” in the preamble, inclusive of its servants and employees

any item, equipment, stores or services ordered directly by the Buyer from the manufacturer or supplier,
which shall not be supplied and/or paid for by the Builder in accordance with the terms of the Contract

the Classification Society referred to in Article II clause 3

this Standard Form Shipbuilding Contract with its Appendices and Exhibits including Specifications and
Drawings, and any amendments thereto

the date set out in Article VIII clause 1.
the Original Contract Price, as adjusted in accordance with the terms of the Contract

the date specified in the preamble to this Contract, regardless of whether the contract actually is signed on
this date or whether the contract is signed with subject

the physical delivery of the Vessel from the Builder to the Buyer
Contract Delivery Date, as adjusted for Permissible Delay

the plans and drawings listed in Appendix I hereto

the State referred to in Article II clause 5

any one or more of the events set out in Article IX clause 1

a delay caused by Force Majeure, which according to Article IX constitutes Permissible Delay
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a general period of 24 months from the Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel, with the exception of some smaller
subcontractors who may not be able to accept a guarantee period up to 24 months. The Builder shall notify the
Buyer in writing before accepting a shorter guarantee period from such subcontractor. In no circumstances shall
the guarantee period for any subcontractor be less than 12 months.
an agreed list of suppliers approved for delivery of equipment, machinery or services which shall be included in
the Specifications

the price stipulated in Article III clause 1

all delays, inclusive of Force Majeure Delay, causing delay in delivery of the Vessel which according to the terms
of the Contract permit postponement of the Delivery Date

the relevant authorities imposing rules and regulations with which the construction and delivery of the Vessel must
comply, which shall include the authorities of the Flag State together with other authorities set out in the
Specifications

a person or persons authorised by the Buyer as set forth in Article V clause 2

the specifications referred to in Appendix I hereto

any person (not being a servant or employee of the Builder) or company, with whom the Builder has entered into a
contract for the design, construction, manufacture or supply of any item, equipment, work or service for the Vessel

the vessel described in Article II.

a day when work is normally performed in the country of the Builder’s yard as referred to in Article II clause 1
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ARTICLE II THE VESSEL, DESCRIPTION AND CLASS
1. Description and Standard

The Vessel shall be built at the Builder’s yard at Tomrefjord, and shall have the Builder’s Hull No 710 and be detail-designed, constructed,
equipped, completed and delivered by the Builder in accordance with the provisions of the Contract. The hull shall be built at Aker Yards’
hullyard at Tulcea, Romania.

In the event of inconsistency between this Standard Form Shipbuilding Contract and the Specifications and/or the Drawings, this Standard
Form Shipbuilding Contract shall prevail. In the event of inconsistency between the Specifications and the Drawings, the Specifications shall
prevail. In case of inconsistency between any of the Drawings, the later in date shall prevail.

The Vessel shall be designed and built in accordance with first class shipbuilding practice in Western Europe for new vessels of similar type
and characteristics as the Vessel.

Unless otherwise follows from the Specifications and Drawings, Newbuilding No. 213 shall be used as a reference vessel with regard to
quality, workmanship and standard, and with regard to the interface between vessel and seismic equipment.

2. Main Dimensions and Characteristics.

Characteristics:

The Vessel is to be built as a seismic vessel for world wide operation, arranged for towing of up to 22 streamers

Dimensions:

Overall length: 102.20 metres
Length between P.P.: 95.00 metres
Breadth moulded: 40.00 metres
Depth moulded to uppermost deck: 21.00 metres

Cargo capacity:

The Vessel’s deadweight shall be approx. 6,500 tons (of 1000 kg each) on international summer freeboard, corresponding to a mean draft in
saltwater (specific gravity 1.025) of 7.30 metres. The specified deadweight shall include fuel, provisions, stores, freshwater, crew and
passengers in addition to spare parts in excess of the requirements of Class.

Propulsion machinery:
The propulsion machinery is of diesel electric type:
Power plant: Four generating sets each 4,145 kW, and

Two generating sets each 2,765 kW,
Total 22,110 kW.

Propulsion plant: Two “twin in single out” propulsion lines, each driven by 2 * 3,250 kW electric motors, total 13,000 kW.



8/34

Speed:
Fuel consumption:

The further details of the above main particulars, as well as definitions and methods of measurements and calculation shall be as described in
the Specification.

3. Classification, Rules and Regulations

The Vessel, including its machinery, equipment and outfittings shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the rules and regulations
of Det Norske Veritas (the Classification Society), with the following Class notation: DNV +1Al, Ice C, EO, HELDK, RP, CLEAN, TMON.
The Vessel shall further comply with the applicable rules, regulations and requirements of the Regulatory Bodies. All such rules, regulations
and requirements shall be complied with without conditions/recommendations.

All fees and charges incidental to and in respect of compliance with Class and the rules, regulation and requirements of the Class or Regulatory
Bodies referred to above shall be for the account of the Builder.

4. Subcontracting

The hull and major sections thereof are to be built by the Builder at the Yard set out in Article II, clause 1, unless the Buyer consents otherwise,
such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. Save as aforesaid, the Builder may, at its sole discretion and responsibility, subcontract any
portion of the construction of the Vessel. The Builder shall remain fully liable for the due performance of such work as if done by the Builder
at the Builder’s yard.

Except as otherwise stipulated in the Specifications and the “Maker’s List” or agreed in writing, the Builder may, without interference from the
Buyer, freely choose its Subcontractors, but the Builder shall in ample time notify the Buyer in writing before placing major orders for
equipment or services with Subcontractors, and shall give reasonable consideration to Buyer’s request. Any opinions or requests made by the
Buyer entail no alteration of the Builder’s obligation and liability under the Contract.

5. Certificates and Registration

The Builder shall provide, deliver and pay for all certificates necessary for the approval of the Vessel, as further set out in the Contract,
together with all documents reasonably required by the Buyer necessary for the registration of the Vessel in Bahamas (Flag State). Unless in
contradiction to the Flag State regulations, the Vessel shall also be built in compliance with NIS regulations. The Vessel shall be registered by
the Buyer at its own cost and expense.
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ARTICLE III PRICE AND PAYMENT TERMS
1. Original Contract Price
The Original Contract Price is NOK 578,000,000 (Norwegian kroner five hundred and seventy eight millions).

The Original Contract Price shall be adjusted to reflect Variation Orders which have been agreed for Newbuilding No. 213 and which shall be
implemented also for this Newbuilding No. 710. The adjustment to the Original Contract Price on Variation Orders relating to redesign or
rebuilding shall take into consideration that the extent of redesign or rebuilding needed in relation to Newbuilding No. 710 may be limited.

The Original Contract Price shall in addition be adjusted to reflect the change in cost price compared to Newbuilding No. 213, expressed as the
counter value in NOK, of the Buyer-negotiated equipment packages, comprising the Wirtsild propulsion equipment, the Wiirtsiléd diesel engines
replacing the Bergen diesel engines and the ABB electrical equipment.

2. Currency

All payments by the Buyer to the Builder under the Contract shall be made in Norwegian kroner (NOK).

3. Terms and Method of Payment

The Original Contract Price, adjusted as described under subclause 1 above, shall — subject to notices being given under this Article III clause
3, — be paid in instalments as follows:

(a) Ist Instalment:
A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price shall be paid three (3) Banking Days after the Date of the Contract.
(b) 2nd Instalment:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price, adjusted as described under subclause 1 above including any portion of such
adjustment applicable to the 15 Installment, shall be paid within 5 Banking Days after start of steel cutting, as confirmed by a certificate
from the Classification Society.

(c) 3rd Instalment:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price, adjusted as described under subclause 1 above, shall be paid within 5 Banking Days
after the Vessel is set afloat in Romania (Tulcea) as confirmed by a certificate from the Classification Society.

(d) 4th Instalment:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price, adjusted as described under subclause 1 above, shall be paid within 5 Banking Days
after the Vessel arrives at
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Builder’s yard in Tomrefjord as confirmed by a certificate from the Classification Society.
(e) Instalment on Delivery and Acceptance:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price, adjusted as described under subclause 1 above,, plus any increase or minus any
decrease due to adjustments of the Contract Price hereunder, shall, subject to the other provisions of the Contract, be paid upon Delivery
and Acceptance of the Vessel.

All instalments shall be remitted to Buyer’s bank (to be informed), to an account specified by Builders.

The instalments under 3 (b) to 3(d) (both inclusive) unless payable on specific dates, shall under no circumstances fall due until 14 days from
receipt of written notice from the Builder. Notice of the instalment payable on Delivery and Acceptance shall include notice of adjustments, if
any.

On Builder’s request, the Buyer shall provide to the Builder all information necessary to enable the Builder to reasonably satisfy himself that
the Buyer has financial arrangements or resources to pay the instalments when due.

The Buyer’s obligation to pay the first and subsequent instalments, excluding the instalment payable on Delivery and Acceptance, shall be
subject to the Builder providing the Buyer with refund guarantee(s) from a bank or other financial institution, satisfactory to the Buyer and
securing the repayment obligation of the Builder if the contract is lawfully cancelled.

The Buyer’s payment obligation is also subject to the Builder providing to the Buyer a performance guarantee from Aker Yards ASA for the
Builder’s obligations according to the Contract, limited to 10% of the Original Contract Price.

The Builder may retain the Vessel until full payment has been made in accordance with the agreed payment terms. If the Builder is unable to
present a final account at delivery, the Buyer may require the Vessel to be delivered in return for a bank guarantee or other security, satisfactory
to the Builder, for the reasonably estimated balance owed to the Builder. Costs of such guarantee to be for Builder’s account.

In the event of any dispute concerning the payment on delivery of the Vessel, including the question of the Buyer’s right to offset any claim it
may have, the Buyer may by paying the entire amount demanded by the Builder require the Builder to provide a bank guarantee or other
security satisfactory to the Buyer for the disputed amount. The Builder cannot in such case refuse to deliver the Vessel. If the Builder does not
wish to issue security for the disputed part of the claim, the Buyer is entitled to take delivery of the Vessel against payment of the undisputed
amount and provide a bank guarantee or other security satisfactory to the Builder for the disputed part of the claim. Security which has been
issued by a party pursuant to this sub-clause terminates automatically unless the other party has brought legal action pursuant to Article XIX
below within 3 months from date of issue of the security. The costs of security shall be shared proportionately between the parties according to
the final outcome of the dispute.
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If the Builder delivers the Vessel with Delivery Deficiencies as set out in Article VII, the Buyer may require the Builder to provide a bank
guarantee upon delivery at an amount equal to the reasonable calculated cost of the Builder’s obligations related to the Delivery Deficiencies.

If on or before Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel the Builder is declared bankrupt, proposes or enters into a fund or a formal composition
arrangement or moratorium or otherwise proves to be in such financial position that it is likely to be unable during the Guarantee Period to
perform its guarantee obligations, the Buyer may demand that the Builder shall provide satisfactory security for the performance by the Builder
of such guarantee obligations, limited to 5 % of the Original Contract Price, or failing such guarantee, the Buyer is entitled to deposit the
equivalent amount in an escrow account in the joint name of the Builder and the Buyer and to deduct this amount from the instalment to be
paid on Delivery and Acceptance.

Failure by the Buyer to pay on time any part of the Contract Price shall entitle the Builder to charge interest at the rate of 6 % per annum
thereon.
ARTICLE IV ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT PRICE - CANCELLATION BY THE BUYER

The Contract Price shall be subject to adjustments, as hereinafter set forth, in any of the events set out in this Article IV (it being understood by
both parties that any reduction of Contract Price is by way of liquidated damages and not by way of penalty) and the Builder shall not in any
way be responsible or liable for any other consequences by way of damages or otherwise as a consequence of any of the matters hereinafter set
forth in this Article IV, except for the Buyer’s right to cancel in accordance with the provisions of the Contract.

1. Late Delivery
(a) If the delivery of the Vessel is delayed beyond the Delivery Date, the Contract Price shall be reduced by deducting therefrom as follows:

Ist — 30th day No reduction

31st — 60th day NOK 250,000.- pr. day
61st — 150th day NOK 390,000.- pr. day
151st — 180th day NOK 450,000.- pr. day

The maximum reduction in the Contract Price for delayed delivery shall not exceed the total of the above liquidated damages for 180 days
of delay.

(b) If the delay in delivery of the Vessel shall continue for a period in excess of 180 days after Delivery Date, the Buyer may at its option
cancel the Contract.

Provided the Buyer has not sent notice of cancellation as provided for in Article XII hereof within 185 days of delay having elapsed after
the Delivery Date, the Builder may demand in writing that the Buyer shall make an election either to cancel the
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Contract, or to consent to the acceptance of the delivery at a specific future date reasonably estimated by the Builder to be the date when
the Vessel will be ready for delivery; in which case the Buyer shall, within 15 days after such demand is received by Buyer, notify the
Builder of its choice it being understood that, if the Buyer elects not to cancel and the Vessel is not delivered by such future date, the Buyer
shall have the right to cancel the Contract.

(c) If the total accumulated delay of non Permissible Delay and of Force Majeure Delay, but excluding other Permissible Delay, amounts to
270 days or more, then in such event the Buyer may cancel the Contract. The Builder may, at any time thereafter, demand in writing that
the Buyer shall make an election either to cancel the Contract or to consent to the acceptance of the delivery at a specific future date
reasonably estimated by the Builder to be the date when the Vessel will be ready for delivery, in which case the Buyer shall, within 15 days
after such demand is received by Buyer, notify the Builder of its choice; it being understood that, if the Buyer elects not to cancel and the
Vessel is not delivered by such future date, the Buyer shall have the right to cancel the Contract.

(d) If it can be established beyond any reasonable doubt that the Vessel will be delayed for more than 180 days as per paragraph (b) above, or
be delayed for more than 270 days as per paragraph (c) above, the Buyer shall have a right forthwith to cancel the Contract.

2. Speed deficiency

Builder has no liabilities related to Speed deficiencies, however if the speed deficiency is caused by a defect for which the Builder has the risk

pursuant to the preamble of this Contract, the Builder shall be obliged to rectify such defects as set out in article X.

3. Deficiency in Fuel Consumption

Builder has no liabilities related to Fuel Consumption deficiencies, however if the fuel consumption deficiency is caused by a defect for which

the Builder has the risk pursuant to the preamble of this Contract, the Builder shall be obliged to rectify such defects as set out in article X.

4. Deficiency in Deadweight

If the deadweight (6,500 tons) stipulated in Article I, adjusted for any weight deviances related to Buyer’s Supplies and Buyer-negotiated
equipment packages, is not attained and the reduction exceeds 3 % of the stipulated deadweight, the Contract Price shall be reduced by NOK
20,000.- for each ton of the reduction in excess of the said 3 %, but always limited to a maximum of NOK 5,840,000.-.

If the reduction in deadweight is more than 7.5 % of the stipulated deadweight Buyer may cancel the Contract.
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5. Deficiency in Bollard pull

Builder has no liabilities related to Bollard pull deficiencies, however if the Bollard Pull deficiency is caused by a defect for which the Builder
has the risk pursuant to the preamble of this Contract, the Builder shall be obliged to rectify such defects as set out in article X.

6. Maximum amount of Liquidated Damages

The total reduction in the Contract Price in accordance with this Article IV shall under no circumstances exceed 12.5% of the Contract Price.

* ok %

If the Contract is cancelled pursuant to this Article IV, the instalments paid by the Buyer shall be repaid forthwith in accordance with
Article XII clause 1.

Insofar as items 1 to 5 inclusive above are not filled in, the provisions of Article X of the Contract shall apply.

If Article II clause 2 includes figures with the qualification “about”, such qualification shall be disregarded for the purposes of calculation of
liquidated damages and the right of cancellation pursuant to this Article IV.

ARTICLEYV APPROVAL OF PLANS AND DRAWINGS AND INSPECTION DURING CONSTRUCTION
1. Approval of Plans and Drawings

As soon as possible after the Date of Contract the Builder shall put forward a proposed detailed building schedule, including a schedule for
testing. The Buyer shall make its comment on the schedule as soon as possible and at the latest within 7 days. The schedules shall be issued by
the Builder in writing not later than 30 days after the Date of Contract.

(a) In accordance with the construction schedule of the Vessel and provisions in the Specifications, the Builder shall submit to the Buyer 3
copies of the plans and drawings for its approval at the address set forth in Article XVII hereof. The Builder shall send a notice by telefax
(or by such other electronic means as the parties may agree) to the Buyer giving the date of despatch of such plans and drawings, and the
Buyer shall confirm receipt of such plans and drawings. The Buyer shall within 14 Working Days after receipt thereof, send to the Builder
1 copy of such plans and/or drawings with Buyer’s approval or comments (if any) written thereon. Such comments shall be as complete as
possible.
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(b) If Buyer’s comments on the plans and drawings are unclear or unspecified, the Builder may by fax notice to the Buyer request a
clarification, and failure by the Buyer or its Representative to respond to this request within 3 Working Days of receipt of such notice shall
entitle the Builder to place its own reasonable interpretation on such remarks, comments or amendments when implementing the same.

(c) If the Builder and the Buyer fail to agree whether such comments or remarks are of such a nature or extent as to constitute modification or
change under Article VI hereof, the Builder shall nevertheless proceed with the construction based on the Buyer’s comments if so requested
by the Buyer. If it is established by mutual agreement or by arbitration as per Article XIX, that the comments, remarks or amendments
constitute a modification or change under Article VI, the Builder shall be entitled to an appropriate adjustment of the Contract Price,
Delivery Date and/or the characteristics of the Vessel. Article VI clause 1, first paragraph to apply.

(d) In the event that the Buyer fails to return the plans and drawings to the Builder within the time limit specified in (a) above, the Builder shall
by fax to the Buyer request the return of same within 3 days, failing which the Builder shall have the right to consider such plans and
drawings as approved by the Buyer.

(e) The Buyer’s approval or non approval of drawings shall not affect any of the Builder’s obligations hereunder, including the Builder’s
obligation to deliver the Vessel fully approved by the Regulatory Bodies, or the Builder’s responsibility under Article X hereof.

2. Appointment of Buyer’s Representative

The Buyer may send to and maintain at the Builder’s yard, at the Buyer’s own cost and expense, one or more representatives, of whom only
one shall be duly authorised in writing by the Buyer (herein called the “Representative”) to act on behalf of the Buyer in attending the tests and
inspections relating to the Vessel, its machinery, equipment and outfitting, and in any other matters for which he is specifically authorised by
the Buyer. Unless otherwise advised by the Buyer in writing, the Representative shall have no general authority to change the Contract or to
approve plans and drawings. The Representative shall, however, be authorised to sign Change Order Forms (Article VI clause 1) on behalf of
Buyer, unless otherwise advised by Buyer in writing. The Representative shall have as many assistants as he may require, but any and all
approvals must be given by the Representative and be in writing.

3. Inspection by Representative

The inspection of the Vessel, its machinery, equipment and outfittings shall be carried out by the Classification Society, Regulatory Bodies and
the Representative and/or his assistants throughout the entire period of construction, in order to ensure that the Vessel is duly constructed in
accordance with the Contract.
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Whilst the Vessel is under construction and until Delivery and Acceptance, the Representative and his assistants shall during all working hours
be given free access to the Vessel, its engines and accessories, and to any other place where work is being done, or materials are being
processed or stored in connection with the construction of the Vessel, including the yards, workshops and offices of the Builder, and the
premises of the Subcontractors of the Builder who are doing work or storing materials in connection with the Vessel’s construction.

The Representative and his assistants shall, during the construction of the Vessel, have the right to attend all tests, trials and inspections
undertaken in respect of the Vessel, its machinery, equipment and outfittings. The Builder shall give reasonably notice in advance of any such
tests and inspections to the Representative to enable him or any of his assistants to attend. Failure of the Representative or his assistant(s) to be
present at such tests and inspections after due notice to him as above provided shall be deemed to be a waiver of his right to be present.

The Builder shall seek to arrange with its Subcontractors that the Representative or his assistants have a similar right of inspection and
supervision in respect of the work performed by the Subcontractors.

The Representative may communicate direct with the Classification Society and all other Regulatory Bodies, but such communication shall not
unreasonably interfere with the Builder’s communication with these institutions. The Representative may also view relevant formal
correspondence between these institutions and the Builder and to a reasonable extent obtain copies of same.

In the event that the Representative discovers any design, construction or material or workmanship which in his opinion does not conform to
the requirements of the Contract, the Representative shall as soon as possible advise the Builder of such non-conformity. Unless the Builder
agrees to rectify the matter, a notice thereof (which may be included in minutes of meeting or similar) shall be given to the Builder.

Inspection as described in this clause shall not constitute any changes in the Builder’s obligation under the Contract.
4. Facilities

The Builder shall furnish the Representative and his assistant(s) with adequate office space both at Tulcea and in Tomrefjord, and such other
reasonable facilities according to the Builder’s practice at, or in the immediate vicinity of, the shipyard as may be necessary to enable them to
effectively carry out their duties. At Tomrefjord the office space shall be suitable for minimum 10 persons. Both places telecommunication
shall be for the Builder’s account and the Builder shall arrange at their costs for broadband connections.

5. Representative — Division of Liability

The Representative and his assistant(s) shall at all times be deemed to be the employees of the Buyer and not of the Builder. The Builder shall
be under no liability whatsoever to the Buyer, the Representative or his assistant(s), and the Buyer shall keep the Builder harmless, for personal
injuries, including death, suffered during the time when the Representative or his
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assistant(s) are on the Vessel, or within the premises of either the Builder or its Subcontractors or are otherwise engaged in or about the
construction of the Vessel, unless, however, such personal injuries, including death, were caused by gross negligence of the Builder, or of any
its employees or agents or Subcontractors. Nor shall the Builder be under any liability whatsoever to the Buyer, the Representative or his
assistant(s) for damage to, or loss or destruction of property of the Representative or his assistant(s) unless such damage, loss or destruction is
caused by gross negligence of the Builder, or any of its employees or agents or Subcontractors.

The Buyer, the Representative and his assistant(s) shall be under no liability whatsoever to the Builder, the Builder’s employees or
Subcontractors, and the Builder shall keep the Buyer, the Representative or his assistant(s) harmless, for personal injuries, including death,
unless such personal injuries including death were caused by gross negligence of the Representative or his assistants. Nor shall the Buyer be
under any liability whatsoever to the Builder, the Builder’s employees or Subcontractors for damage to, or loss or destruction of property of the
Builder, its employees or Subcontractors unless such damage, loss or destruction were caused by gross negligence of the Representative or his
assistant(s).

6. Responsibility of Buyer

The Buyer shall undertake and assure that the Representative and his assistants shall carry out their duties hereunder in accordance with normal
shipbuilding practice and in such a way as to avoid any unnecessary increase in building cost, delay in the construction of the Vessel, and/or
any disturbance to the construction schedule of the Builder.

The Builder has the right to request the Buyer to replace the Representative or any of his assistants who is deemed by the Builder to be
unsuitable and unsatisfactory for the proper progress of the Vessel’s construction. The Buyer shall investigate the situation by sending its
representative(s) to the Shipyard if necessary, and if the Buyer considers that such Builder’s request is justified, the Buyer shall effect such
replacement as soon as convenient.

ARTICLE VI MODIFICATIONS AND CHANGES
1. Modification of Specifications

The work to be performed by the Builder under the Contract can be modified or changed by request from the Buyer provided that such
modifications or changes will not adversely affect the Builder’s other commitments, and provided further that the parties shall first agree to
possible adjustment in Contract Price, the Delivery Date and such other terms and conditions occasioned by or resulting from such
modification or change. Such agreement shall be effected either by way of exchanges of letters duly signed by authorised representatives of the
parties, or by signed change order form, or by minutes of meeting or similar signed by authorised representatives of the parties, which shall
constitute the necessary amendments to the Contract. Possible increase or decrease in the Contract Price shall be calculated in accordance with
unit prices (inclusive of administration costs) as set out in the Specification, or budget prices if such prices are available, otherwise as per the
Builder’s customary price for such work at Romanian or Norwegian yards as the case may be.
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If modifications or changes are made without such written agreement as aforesaid, or if the Builder fails to notify the Buyer in writing without
undue delay that there are modifications or changes which will require an increase in the Contract Price, delayed delivery, changes in the
Vessel’s characteristics or other changes in the Contract, the Builder will not be entitled to any increase in the Contract Price, adjustment of
Delivery Date or other adjustments, and the Contract will remain unchanged.

The Builder is entitled to make minor modifications or changes to the Specifications, if found necessary to suit the Builder’s local conditions or
facilities, the availability of materials and equipment, the introduction of improvement methods or otherwise, provided that the Builder shall
first obtain the Buyer’s approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

2. Change in Rules and Regulations

If, after the Date of Contract, there are any changes in the rules, regulations and requirements (including official changed application of the
rules) of Class or Regulatory Bodies, the following shall apply:

(a) The Builder shall as soon as possible notify the Buyer thereof, and the Builder shall be obliged — except as otherwise agreed — to carry
out the required changes in accordance with the provisions set out below, provided always that any changes in such rules, regulations or
requirements which are published on or before the Date of Contract, and which apply mandatory to the Vessel on or before the Contract
Delivery Date shall not give to the Builder a right to claim any adjustments of the price, delivery date or other contract terms.

(b) If such change is or will be compulsory for the Vessel, the Builder shall incorporate such alteration or change into the construction of the
Vessel, unless otherwise instructed by the Buyer. The parties shall endeavour to agree on such adjustments to the Contract as set out in
clause 1 above, failing which, the changes to the Contract shall be decided by arbitration in accordance with Article XIX.

(c) If such change is not or will not be compulsory for the Vessel, but the Buyer nevertheless desires to incorporate such change, this shall be
considered a change or modification, as provided for in clause 1 of this Article VI.

3. Substitution of Materials

If any of the materials required by the Specifications or the Maker’s List cannot be procured in time or are in short supply, the Builder may, in
order to maintain the Delivery Date and subject to the Buyer’s approval, which shall not unreasonably be withheld and which shall be provided
without undue delay, supply other materials capable of meeting the requirements of the Classification Society or Regulatory Bodies. No extra
charges shall be made to the Buyer and, except that any savings shall be credited to the Buyer, the Contract shall remain unaltered.
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ARTICLE VII TEST AND TRIALS
1. Notice

The Builder shall before delivery, by not less than 7 days written notice to the Buyer, notify the time and place for the sea trial for the Vessel.
The Buyer shall have its Representative onboard the Vessel to witness the sea trial. Failure by the Representative to attend at the sea trial
without any valid reason despite a notice to the Buyer as aforesaid, shall be deemed to be a waiver by the Buyer of its right to be present.

The Builder may after due notice conduct the sea trial without the Representative of the Buyer being present, provided a representative of the
Classification Society is present, and in such case the Buyer shall be obligated to accept the results of the sea trial on the basis of a certificate of
the Builder confirmed by the Classification Society and/or Regulatory Bodies stating the results of the sea trial.

2. Weather Conditions

The sea trial shall be carried out under weather conditions as set out in the Specifications. Any delay in delivery caused by delay of the sea trial
due to unfavourable weather conditions shall be considered Permissible Delay.

3. How conducted

The sea trial shall be carried out in the presence of representatives from the Classification Society and / or Regulatory Bodies, and shall be
conducted in the manner described in the Specifications, and shall be sufficient in scope and duration to enable all parties to verify and
establish that all elements are functioning in accordance with the Contract.

All expenses in connection with the sea trial shall be for the account of the Builder, including without limitation all necessary crew.
4. Method of Acceptance or Rejection

(a) Upon completion of the sea trial and when the trial results are available, and if the Builder considers the results thereof demonstrates that
the Vessel conforms with the Contract, the Builder shall immediately give the Buyer a written notice of completion stating when the Vessel
is ready for delivery. The Buyer shall within 48 consecutive hours after receipt of this notice and the test results notify the Builder in
writing of its acceptance or rejection of the Vessel.

(b) If the results of the sea trial demonstrate that the Vessel or any part or equipment thereof does not conform to the requirements of the
Contract, or if the Buyer for other valid reasons rejects the Vessel, the Builder shall take all necessary steps to rectify such non-conformity.
If necessary the Builder shall for its own account carry out a further sea trial in accordance with Article VII to ascertain that the Vessel
complies with the terms of the Contract. Upon demonstration by the Builder that the
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deficiencies have been corrected, a notice thereof and of the readiness of the Vessel for delivery, shall be given to the Buyer, who shall then
within 48 consecutive hours after receipt of such notice together with the new test results notify the Builder of its acceptance or rejection.

(c) If the Buyer for any reason rejects the Vessel, the Buyer shall in its notice of rejection give particulars of its reason therefore in such detail
as can be reasonably required.

(d) The Buyer shall not be obliged to take delivery of the Vessel if it is not fully in conformity with the Contract, or if there are any conditions
or recommendations imposed by the Classification Society and/or Regulatory Bodies. However, and only in the circumstances described
below, if the deficiencies or the conditions/ recommendations are of minor importance (“Delivery Deficiencies”), and the Builder is unable
to rectify the matter within a reasonable time, the Builder may nevertheless require the Buyer to take delivery of the Vessel, provided:

(i) the Builder undertakes for its own account to remedy the deficiency or fulfil the requirement as soon as possible, and
(i) the Builder shall indemnify the Buyer for any loss incurred as a consequence thereof, including loss of time

The Parties shall, for the purpose of this provision, on delivery draw up a list of Delivery Defects identifying the defects in question. The
defects so listed shall be deemed to be Delivery Deficiencies for the purpose of this sub-clause.

(e) If the Builder disputes the rejection by the Buyer, the case shall be submitted for final decision by arbitration in accordance with
Article XIX hereof.

5. Effect of Acceptance

Acceptance of the Vessel as provided above, shall be final and binding and shall preclude the Buyer from refusing formal delivery on basis of
any alleged deficiency in any part or parts of the Vessel which were tested during the sea trial, provided all other procedural requirements for
delivery have been met.

6. Disposition of Surplus Consumable Stores

Any fuel oil, unused lubricating oil, grease, fresh water or other consumable stores furnished by the Builder for the sea trial, remaining onboard
the Vessel at the time of delivery shall be purchased by the Buyer from the Builder at the original net purchase price thereof (Builder to provide
supporting invoices), and payment therefore shall be effected by the Buyer on Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel.
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ARTICLE VIII DELIVERY DATE AND DELIVERY
1. Time and Place

The Vessel shall be delivered at the Builder’s yard (see Article II) or in the vicinity thereof free and clear of all liens, claims, mortgages and
other encumbrances in a clean and seaworthy condition, ready for service, on June 30, 2009 (the Contract Delivery Date), except that in the
event of net delays in the construction of the Vessel or any performance required under the Contract due to causes which under the terms of the
Contract permit postponement of the Delivery Date (Permissible Delay), the Delivery Date shall be postponed accordingly. Unless otherwise
agreed, the Vessel shall not be delivered earlier than maximum 2 weeks prior to the Contract Delivery Date.

2. When and how effected

Provided that the Buyer has fulfilled all of its obligations under the Contract, delivery of the Vessel shall be effected forthwith upon acceptance
thereof by the Buyer by the concurrent delivery by each of the parties hereto to the other of a Protocol of Delivery and Acceptance signed by
each party. Both parties have the right to make reservations or notes in the Protocol, or in a separate document signed by the parties “for
acknowledgement of receipt only”.

3. Documents to be delivered to the Buyer

Upon delivery and acceptance of the Vessel, the Builder shall provide and deliver to the Buyer at its expense the following documents, which
shall accompany the Protocol of Delivery and Acceptance:

(a) Protocol of Trials made pursuant to the Specifications.

(b) Protocol of Inventory and Equipment of the Vessel, including spare parts and the like, all as specified in the Specifications.

(c) Protocol of Surplus Consumable Stores referred to under Article VII hereof which are payable by the Buyer to the Builder.

(d) Drawings and Plans pertaining to the Vessel together with all necessary instruction manuals, as further stipulated in the Specifications.

(e) All Certificates including the Builder’s Certificate required to be furnished upon Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel pursuant to the
Contract and the Specifications. It is agreed that if, through no fault on the part of the Builder, the Classification Certificate and/or other
required certificates are not available at the time of delivery, provisional certificates shall be accepted by the Buyer, provided that the
Builder at its expense shall furnish the Buyer with final certificates as promptly as possible. If final certificates are not provided or obtained
within a reasonable time, the Builder shall compensate the Buyer for any damages, losses and extra expenses caused thereby.
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(f) Declaration of Warranty by the Builder that the Vessel is free and clear of any liens, claims, charges, mortgages and other encumbrances.
(g) Commercial invoice
(h) Bill of Sale or other relevant document that certifies that the title of the Vessel passes to the Buyer.
4. Title and Risk
Title to and risk of loss of or damage to the Vessel shall pass to the Buyer upon Delivery and Acceptance thereof by the Buyer.
5. Removal of Vessel

The Buyer shall take possession of the Vessel immediately upon Delivery and Acceptance thereof, and shall remove the Vessel from the
premises of the Builder within three (3) days after the Delivery and Acceptance as aforesaid. If the Buyer does not remove the Vessel within
the said period, the Buyer shall thereafter pay to the Builder reasonable mooring charges for the Vessel.

ARTICLEIX DELAYS AND EXTENSION OF TIME FOR DELIVERY (FORCE MAJEURE)
1. Cause of Delay

(a) In case of Force Majeure Delay, the Delivery Date shall be postponed by the number of days corresponding to the net delay in delivery as
set out below. It shall be considered a Force Majeure Delay if the Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel is prevented or delayed as a
consequence of extraordinary circumstances or events beyond the Builder’s control, such as:

Acts of God; acts of princes and rulers; requirements of government authorities; war or warlike condition, civil commotion or riots,
mobilisation; sabotage; strike or lockout (except local labour disturbances at the Builder’s yard) quarantines; flood, typhoons, hurricanes,
storms or other extraordinary weather conditions not included in normal planning; earthquakes, tidal waves, landslide; fires, explosions,
collisions or stranding; import or export bans or restrictions; prolonged failure, shortage or restriction of electrical current, oil or gas;

and/or: any other extraordinary events beyond the control of the Builder;

and/or: by late delivery of major parts or of important performance by Subcontractor(s) where the cause of delay would have been
recognised as Force Majeure Delay under this Article IX if it had affected the Builder, provided that the Builder has shown due diligence in
its choice of Subcontractor and ensured a reasonable margin for delays, so that at the time of ordering same it could reasonably be expected
by the Builder to be delivered in time;



(b)
(©)
2.

(a)

(b)

3.
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and/or: delays in the Builder’s other commitments resulting from Force Majeure as herein described directly causing delay of the Builder’s
performance hereunder;

Provided always:

that there shall be no Force Majeure Delay if such delay could reasonably have been foreseen or anticipated by the Builder on the Date of
Contract, or that it could have been prevented or overcome by the exercise of due diligence by the Builder, its servants, employees or
Subcontractors.

The provisions under sub-clause (a) above apply whether or not the Force Majeure occurs after the Contract Delivery Date.
The Builder is obliged to do its utmost to avoid or minimise the Force Majeure Delay.
Notice of delay

Within 10 days after the Builder becomes aware or should have become aware of any cause of delay as aforesaid, on account of which the
Builder will claim that it is entitled under the Contract to postpone the Delivery Date, the Builder shall notify the Buyer in writing or by
telefax, confirmed by registered mail, of the date such cause of delay commenced. Likewise, within 10 days after the date such cause of
delay ended, the Builder shall notify the Buyer in writing or by telefax, confirmed by registered mail, of the date when such cause of delay
ended.

Failure by the Builder to give such notices as aforesaid shall prevent the Builder from subsequently claiming Force Majeure Delay on
account of such circumstances.

The Builder shall notify the Buyer of the period, by which the Delivery Date is postponed by reason of such cause of delay, with all
reasonable despatch after it has been determined. Failure by the Buyer to object to the Builder’s claim for postponement of the Delivery
Date within 10 days after receipt by the Buyer of such notice shall be deemed to be a waiver by the Buyer of its right to object to such
postponement of the Delivery Date for the net delay caused by the Force Majeure event, provided always that the Builder’s information in
respect of the cause of the delay and the consequences thereof were correctly stated in the notice.

Permissible Delay

Delays on account of such causes as specified in this Article IX, Clause 1, in Article VI or Article XVI, Clause 1 (d) and (e) hereof and any
other delays caused by non fulfilment by the Buyer of the Buyer’s obligation hereunder or any other delays of a nature which under the terms
of this Contract permit postponement or extension of the Delivery Date shall constitute Permissible Delay and shall extend the Delivery Date
for any net delay caused thereby.
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ARTICLEX WARRANTY OF QUALITY
1. Extent of Builder’s responsibility

Save as provided for below, and provided always that the deficiencies have been rectified within a reasonable time, the Builder shall have no

responsibility for defects or the consequences thereof (including loss of profit and loss of time) discovered after the Delivery and Acceptance of
the Vessel.

2. Guarantee

The Builder undertakes to repair and rectify at its own cost and expense and free of charge to the Buyer, any defects — including latent defects
or deficiencies — concerning the Vessel or parts thereof, which are caused by faulty detail design, defective material and/or poor workmanship
on the part of the Builder, its servants, employees or Subcontractors, but excluding defects arising after delivery due to normal wear and tear or
improper handling of the Vessel or caused or aggravated by omission or improper use or maintenance of the Vessel on the part of the Buyer, its
servants or agents and excluding Buyer’s Supplies.

The Builder’s liability as stated herein shall terminate if the defects as aforesaid have not been discovered within the Guarantee Period of

24 months unless otherwise provided for in the Contract. Some smaller suppliers may not accept a guarantee period up to 24 months. The
Builder shall in such event notify the Buyer in writing before accepting a shorter guarantee period, in which case the guarantee period for these
eventual items shall correspond with the actual period allowed by the sub supplier . Under no circumstances shall the guarantee period for any
equipment be less than 12 months.

Any such defects shall be notified to the Builder as soon as possible after discovery, and at the latest within 8 days after expiry of the Guarantee
Period. Such notice shall include particulars of the deficiency in such detail as can reasonably be expected.

If defects could only be discovered on dry docking the vessel, notice of such defect(s) need not be tendered before the Vessel is in the dock, but
must be tendered before the Vessel leaves the dry-dock.

The Guarantee Period will be extended in the following cases:

(a) After repair and rectification under this Article X has successfully been carried out, there will be a further period of guarantee of 12 months
for the repaired and rectified items, however limited to 36 months from Delivery Date. The further Guarantee Period shall, however, not be
less than the original Guarantee Period for any such item. Such additional guarantee period will be granted on all remedial works notified
by the Buyer to the Builder in the Guarantee Period, or any extension thereof. The Buyer shall, however, not be entitled to such additional
guarantee for deficiencies caused by poor workmanship if the guarantee work has not been performed by the Builder or their
Subcontractors.

(b) If as a result of guarantee works the Vessel has been lying idle in the Guarantee Period for an accumulated period of 30 days or more, the
Guarantee Period shall be
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extended by the total number of days the Vessel has been lying idle, whether or not other work is carried out during such period.

3. Rectification of Defects

If the Builder is liable for defects as aforesaid, its obligations shall be as follows:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d

(e)

The Builder shall rectify the defect or cause the defect to be rectified at its own costs. Provided the defect is remedied within a reasonable
time, the Builder shall have no other liability for any damage or loss caused as a consequence of the defect, except for repair or renewal of
the Vessel’s part/parts that have been damaged as a direct and immediate consequence of the defect without any intermediate cause, and
provided such part or parts can be considered to form a part of the same equipment or same system. The Builder shall in any event not be
liable for any consequential losses as stated herein over and above NOK 500.000,- per average if covered under the standard marine
insurance and NOK 2,000,000 per average if not covered by said insurance.

The repairs, replacements and/or rectifications shall be made at the Builder’s yard.

However, the Buyer may, after having notified the Builder in writing, request the Builder to or cause the necessary repairs, replacements
and/or rectifications to be carried out elsewhere. In such case, the Builder shall at its own costs be entitled to forward necessary
replacement parts or materials.

The Builder’s liability shall in such case be limited to pay the cost of repairs including travelling and forwarding expenses (unless paid by
Subcontractors), but limited to the price of the work which the Builder would normally charge at its yard.

In any case, the Builder shall co-operate with the Buyer to find proper solutions to rectify the deficiency.

The Vessel shall, unless the repair or replacement conveniently may be carried out at sea, in any case be taken at the Buyer’s cost and
expense to the place elected for repair and modification, ready for such repairs and modifications. Docking expenses and access works
being necessary for performance of the guarantee work shall be for the Builder’s account.

The Builder shall have the ownership of replaced parts. The Buyer will return such parts to the Builder at Builder’s request and at Builder’s
expense. If the Builder fails to present such request within a reasonable time, the Buyer has no responsibility for the replaced parts.

As a prerequisite for this Shipbuilding Contract the Buyer has entered into supply agreements with a few major suppliers of diesel engines,
hereunder (Wirtsild Diesel), propulsion system (Wértsild Lips) and main electrical components (ABB). As a part of, and simultaneously
with, the signing of this Contract, these supplier contracts shall be assigned from the Buyer to the Builder. It is hereby agreed and
understood that the Builder shall upon receipt of the agreements review the suppliers warranties. If the Builder is of the opinion that the
warranties obtained are on less
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customary terms than the Builder usually obtain from these suppliers and the suppliers refuse to improve such terms of warranty within
6 months after the signing of this Contract, the Builder shall notify the Buyer in writing and shall be entitled to limit the guarantee liabilities
related to the scope of the supply in the same way as assumed by the relevant suppliers (“back to back”™).

4. Subcontractors’ Guarantees

The Builder shall — upon the Buyer’s request — assign to the Buyer any rights the Builder may have against any Subcontractors, including
any right to pursue any claim under the relevant subcontract. This provision shall in no way alter or diminish the Builder’s obligations under
the Contract.

The Builder shall endeavour to have provisions in the subcontracts whereby the Buyer may claim against the Subcontractor directly.
5. Assignment

If the Buyer sells the Vessel during the Guarantee Period and wishes to assign its rights hereunder, such assignment shall be subject to the
Builder’s consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

6. The Guarantee Engineer

The Builder shall have the right and the Buyer may require the Builder to appoint a Guarantee Engineer to serve onboard the Vessel for such
portion of the guarantee period as the Builder or Buyer may decide. The Buyer and its employees shall provide the Guarantee Engineer with
full co-operation in carrying out his duties. The Buyer shall accord the Guarantee Engineer treatment and accommodation comparable to the
Vessel’s Chief Engineer, at no cost to the Builder. The Buyer shall pay to the Builder the same wages as a European Chief Engineer as
compensation for part of the cost and charges to be borne by the Builder in connection with the Guarantee Engineer, and also direct expenses of
repatriation by air to the Guarantee Engineer’s home country.

The Guarantee Engineer shall, at all times and in all respects, be deemed to be the employee of the Builder. The Buyer shall be under no
liability whatsoever to the Builder or to the Guarantee Engineer for personal injuries, including death, suffered by the Guarantee Engineer
during the time when he is on board the vessel, unless such personal injuries, including death, were caused by gross negligence of the Buyer, or
of any of its employees or agents. Nor shall the Buyer be under any liability whatsoever to the Guarantee Engineer for damage to or loss or
destruction of property of the Guarantee Engineer, unless such damage, loss or destruction is caused by gross negligence of the Buyer, or of
any of its employees or agents. The Guarantee Engineer shall if requested sign a Letter of Indemnity required by the Buyer.
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ARTICLE XI OWNERSHIP, RISK AND INSURANCE
1. Ownership and Registration

Except for the intellectual property rights as described in Article XV, which shall at all time be the Buyer’s property, the Buyer shall become
the owner of the Vessel upon Delivery and Acceptance thereof.

The Builder may mortgage the Vessel and its materials (excluding Buyer’s Supply if possible) as security for the construction financing,
including the provision of refund guarantee(s), for the Vessel subject to the terms of this paragraph. The Buyer shall if necessary give its
consent for that purpose. Any such mortgage shall be cancelled and deleted from the relevant registry at the latest on Delivery and Acceptance.
The mortgagee shall, latest upon the registration of the mortgage, provide the Buyer with a confirmation stating that the mortgage will be
released and deleted at the latest on Delivery and Acceptance.

Any materials, parts, machinery or equipment purchased by the Builder and appropriated for the Vessel which are not utilised for the Vessel
shall remain the property of the Builder after Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel.

The Buyer may register the Contract and the Vessel under construction in accordance with the rules of the Norwegian Maritime Act with the
Builder as title holder.

2. Risk and Insurance

(a) Until Delivery and Acceptance, the Builder bears the risk of loss of or damage to the Vessel, materials, parts, machinery, boilers and
equipment.

(b) The Builder will arrange and pay for building insurance with underwriters acceptable to the Buyer on customary “All Risk” terms. The
insurance shall comprise necessary fire and transport insurance of material and equipment which the Builder procure from Subcontractors.
The insurance shall also cover the hull during construction in Romania and during towing to Norway. The Builder is not obliged to insure
the transport of Buyer’s Supplies.

The insured amount shall as a minimum cover the aggregate of the instalments paid by the Buyer pursuant to Article III from time to time
together with interest thereon.

By paying extra insurance premiums the Buyer may require that the building insurance is increased to cover a specified and agreed scope
of Buyer’s Supplies and Buyer’s project costs. Further, by paying extra insurance premiums the Buyer may require that the building
insurance is increased to cover the rebuilding value at any time.

The Buyer shall receive copies of the policies.
(©)

(1) The insurance policies shall be taken out in the joint names of the Builder and the Buyer.
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(i) The Builder may collect direct from the insurance company any sums in respect of its own losses.

(iii) In the event of partial damage which is to be repaired and which is recoverable under the insurance policies, the Builder may collect
advance instalments under the policy payable as the repair work progresses.

@iv)

The proceeds recovered under the insurance policies shall be applied to repairs satisfactory to the Class and Regulatory Bodies, and the
Buyer shall accept the Vessel under the Contract if completed thereafter in compliance with the Contract.

If prior to its delivery the Vessel sustains such heavy damages that the Builder has no obligation to rebuild the Vessel, or if the parties
and the insurance company agree on total / constructive / compromised total loss then the proceeds under the insurance shall be paid as
follows:

(a)

(b)
(©)

(d

The Buyer will recover direct from the insurance company an amount equal to the instalments paid together with interests in
accordance with the terms of the Contract.

The Buyer will further collect direct from the insurance company any extra proceeds recoverable under an insurance policy taken
out for Buyer’s account in accordance with Article XI clause 2 (b) above.

To the extent that the Buyer and the Builder, in accordance with subclause 2 (b) above, have agreed to cover Buyer’s Supplies
and/or Buyer’s project costs under Builder’s building insurance policy, the Buyer shall further collect payment for Buyer’s
Supplies and/or Buyer’s project costs covered by the insurance policies. The latter claim shall, however, be subordinated the
Builder’s claim against the proceeds recoverable under the insurance policy.

The remaining part of the insurance proceeds shall be paid to the Builder.

Notwithstanding the above; should the parties agree to continue with the Contract and rebuild the Vessel, the proceeds of the
insurance policies shall be paid to the Builder as set out in this Article XI clause 2 (c) (iii) above. Such contract will include a
possible revised Delivery Date.

The Builder shall for its own account insure the Vessel on terms that are normally used for insuring vessels under construction at
Norwegian yards (The Norwegian Marine Insurance Plan 1996 (version 2003), Chapter 19, or similar). This building insurance
shall be maintained until the Vessel is delivered to and taken over by the Buyer.
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(e) War risk insurance for the Vessel with accessories shall be taken out only at the request of the Buyer and for its account.

ARTICLE XII DEFAULT PROVISIONS
1. Builder’s Default — Cancellation by Buyer

The payment of any sums under this Contract by the Buyer prior to delivery of the Vessel shall be by way of advances to the Builder. In the
event that the Buyer shall exercise its right of cancelling the Contract under and pursuant to any of the provisions of the Contract specifically
permitting the Buyer to do so (inclusive of cancellation due to total loss), then the Buyer shall notify the Builder in writing or by telefax
confirmed by registered mail, and such cancellation shall be effective as of the date notice thereof is received by the Builder.

Upon such cancellation the Builder shall promptly either accept the notice of cancellation , or declare its intention to dispute the same under the
provisions of Article XIX hereof.

Upon cancellation the Builder shall refund all sums paid by Buyer to the Builder under Article III hereof, including interest thereon at the rate
of 6 % per annum from the date of payment to the date of refund. The Builder shall also return Buyer’s Supplies, or if they cannot be returned,
the Builder shall pay to the Buyer an amount equal to the Buyer’s costs for such equipment.

Save for the Builder’s obligation to refund amounts as set out above, the Builder shall have no liability for any other loss suffered by the Buyer
caused by a cancellation pursuant to this Article XII, clause 1, first paragraph.

2. Buyer’s Default — Disputes regarding Payment

(a) If the Buyer fails to make payments as provided for in Article III clause 3, the Builder shall by written notice or by telefax confirmed by
registered mail to the Buyer request payment of the unpaid amount. If the amount has not been paid within 7 Banking Days from receipt of
such notice, the Builder may postpone the commencement of or stop the work on the Vessel and enforce payment of the claim, the net loss
of time caused thereby being Permissible Delay under the Contract.

(b) If 21 days have elapsed from the receipt of the above notice without the Buyer having paid or provided acceptable security, the Builder
may cancel the Contract.

In either case the Builder may claim compensation for losses caused thereby.

Notwithstanding the above, if there is a dispute in respect of the Buyer’s payment obligation, the Builder has no right to postpone the
commencement or stop the work or cancel the Contract, if the Buyer provides security acceptable to the Builder for the disputed unpaid
amount.
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3. Insolvency

If proceedings are commenced by or against the Buyer or Builder for winding up, dissolution or reorganisation (except in case of merger) or for
the appointment of a receiver, trustee or similar officer, or if bankruptcy is opened, the party who is not subject to such proceedings shall have
the right to cancel this Contract.

Upon such cancellation, the Builder shall refund all sums paid by Buyer to the Builder under Article III hereof, including interest thereon at the
rate of 6% per annum from the date of payment to the date of refund. The Builder shall also return Buyers Supplies, or if they cannot be
returned, the Builder shall pay to the Buyer an amount equal to the Buyer’s costs for such equipment.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraphs of this clause 3, if bankruptcy is opened against the builder, and provided that the bankruptcy is not
opened based on a petition from the Buyer or caused by the Buyer’s failure to make payments provided for in Article IV clause 3, the Buyer
may elect to cancel this Contract and to take full possession of the Vessel.

In event that the Buyer shall decide to take full possession of the Vessel the Buyer shall give notice in writing to the Builder. The Builder shall
thereupon immediately:

a)  secure the immediate discharge of all liens, claims, mortgages or other encumbrances upon the Vessel;

b)  complete all works required as a minimum to permit the Vessel to depart from the shipyard in a safe and seaworthy condition, remove
its employees, agents and contractors, together with their equipment, from the Vessel and render all necessary assistance to the Vessel
in leaving the shipyard at the earliest moment convenient to the Buyer; and

¢) upon payment of settlement as described below, execute and deliver to the Buyer an original of the Protocol of Delivery and
Acceptance together with any and all documentation in such form and such manner as the Buyer shall in its reasonable discretion
determine shall be required or desirable.

All risk of loss of the Vessel shall in such circumstances transfer to the Buyer upon execution by the Buyer of the Protocol of Delivery and
Acceptance following receipt of all of the documentation received above.

Concurrently with the delivery of the Vessel as aforesaid, the Buyer shall pay to the Builder the value of the vessel as per removal from
Builder’s yard and confirm cancellation (redelivery) of the Refund Guarantee(s) and the Performance Guarantee.

In the event of any disagreement as to the amount to be paid by the Buyer as set out herein above, the Buyer may by paying the entire amount
demanded by the Builder require the Builder to provide a bank guarantee or other security satisfactory to the Buyer for the disputed amount.
The Builder cannot in such case refuse to deliver the Vessel. If the Builder does not wish to issue security for the disputed part of the claim, the
Buyer is entitled to take delivery of the Vessel against payment of the undisputed amount and provide a bank guarantee or other security
satisfactory to the Builder for the disputed part of the claim. Security which has
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been issued by a party pursuant to this sub-clause terminates automatically unless the other party has brought legal action pursuant to
Article XIX below within 3 months from date of issue of the security. The costs of security shall be shared proportionately between the parties
according to the final outcome of the dispute.

The Buyer’s right to take full possession of the Vessel as aforesaid shall be registered over the Vessel in the relevant Shipbuilding Registry, if
any, with priority after the mortgages enabling protection (“rettsvern”) against the Builder’s other creditors. The Buyer shall prepare the
relevant documents and carries the responsibility and cost in connection with the registration. If registering the declaration in the Norwegian
shipbuilding registry is impossible this paragraph shall be void.

Save as for the Builder’s obligations as set out above, neither the Builder nor the Buyer shall have any liability for losses suffered by the other
party caused by the cancellation or the Buyer’s election to take full possession of the Vessel pursuant to this Article XII, clause 3.
ARTICLE XIIT ASSIGNMENT

Neither of the parties hereto shall assign the Contract to a third party unless prior consent of the other party is given in writing, such consent not
to be unreasonably withheld.

The Buyer shall however have the right to sell the Vessel under construction through a novation of the Contract to a third party or on delivery
as a completed Vessel. In case of such sale, and conditional upon that the Builder has received evidence satisfactory for the Builder and the
Builder’s bank that the purchaser has the financial ability necessary to comply with all Buyer’s obligations hereunder, the Buyer shall be
released against its obligations hereunder. In lack of such evidence on assignee’s financial ability, the assignor shall remain liable under this
Contract until full payment has been made, and this liability shall be confirmed in form of a guarantee from assignor.

The Builder shall arrange for (and ensure that the guarantor arrange for) transfer of all guarantees in case of such sale to the purchaser and shall
also acknowledge receipt of all assignment notices.

Subject to the foregoing the Contract shall endure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the lawful successors or the legitimate assigns of
either of the parties hereto.

ARTICLE XIV TAXES AND DUTIES

1. Taxes and Duties in the country of the Builder

The Builder shall bear and pay all taxes and duties imposed in the country of the Builder in connection with the execution and/or performance
of the Contract, excluding any taxes and duties imposed in the country of the Builder upon the Buyer’s Supplies.
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2. Taxes and Duties outside the country of the Builder

The Buyer shall bear and pay all taxes and duties imposed outside the country of the Builder in connection with the execution and/or
performance of the Contract, except for taxes and duties imposed upon those items to be procured by the Builder for construction of the Vessel.

ARTICLE XV PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, COPYRIGHTS

The Ramform design, and the seismic knowhow and data furnished by the Buyer specifically for this project, and which is not previously
known to the Builder or part of the public domain, is and shall remain to be solely the intellectual property of the Buyer. The Buyer has an
exclusive right to utilise the Ramform design in the seismic industry and nothing in this Contract shall be deemed to be a transfer of such
intellectual property and patent rights to the Builder. This provision shall not diminish the Builder’s and Mortgagee’s right under this Contract
to dispose of the Vessel in a situation of cancellation due to Buyer’s default.

Machinery and equipment of the Vessel may bear the patent numbers, trademarks or trade names of the manufacturers.

The Builder shall defend and hold harmless the Buyer from patent, trade mark, copyright or other intellectual property liability or claims of any
nature or kind, including costs and expenses for, or on account of any intellectual property rights made or used in the performance of the
Contract, or the Buyer’s use of the Vessel, and also including costs and expenses of litigation, if any.

Nothing contained herein shall be construed as transferring any patent or trademark rights or copyright in equipment covered by the Contract,
and all such rights including the design of the Vessel are hereby expressly reserved to the true and lawful owners thereof.

The Builder’s warranty hereunder does not extend to the Buyer’s Supplies.

ARTICLE XVI BUYER’S SUPPLIES
1. Responsibility of Buyer

(a) The Buyer shall, at its own risk, cost and expense, supply and deliver to the Builder all of the items to be furnished by the Buyer, as
specified in the Specifications and as defined in Article I, at warehouse or other storage facility of the Builder in a proper condition ready
for installation in or on the Vessel, in accordance with the time schedule designated and advised by the Builder to the Buyer.

(b) In order to facilitate installation by the Builder of the Buyer’s Supplies in or on the Vessel, the Buyer shall furnish the Builder with
necessary specifications, plans, drawings, instruction books, manuals, test reports and certificates required by all applicable rules and
regulations. If so reasonably requested by the Builder, the Buyer shall without any charge to the Builder, provided always that such
installation is not Builder’s responsibility pursuant to the Specifications, cause the representatives of the manufacturers of the Buyer’s
Supplies to assist the Builder in
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installation thereof in or on the Vessel and/or to carry out installation thereof by themselves or to make necessary adjustments at the
Builder’s yard.

(c) Any and all of the Buyer’s Supplies shall be subject to the Builder’s reasonable right of rejection, when and if they are found to be
unsuitable or in improper condition for installation.

(d) Should the Buyer fail to deliver any of the Buyer’s Supplies within the time designated, the Delivery Date shall be automatically extended
for the period by which the failure actually caused a delay in the delivery of the Vessel.

(e) If delay in delivery of any of the Buyer’s Supplies exceeds thirty (30) days, then the Builder shall be entitled to proceed with construction
of the Vessel without installation thereof in or on the Vessel as hereinabove provided, and the Buyer shall accept and take delivery of the
Vessel so constructed, unless such delay is caused by Force Majeure in which case the provision Article X VI, 1(d) shall apply.

2. Responsibility of Builder

The Builder shall be responsible for storing and handling with due diligence the Buyer’s Supplies after delivery thereof at the Builder’s yard,
and shall, at its own cost and expense, install them in or on the Vessel, unless otherwise provided herein or agreed by the parties hereto,
provided, always, that the Builder shall not be responsible for the quality, efficiency and/or performance of any of the Buyer’s Supplies.
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ARTICLE XVII NOTICES
1. Address

Any and all notices and communications in connection with the Contract shall be addressed as follows:

To the Buyer: PGS Geophysical AS
Attention Rune O. Pedersen

Telephone +47 67 52 64 00

Telefax +47 67 52 64 64

E-mail rune.olav.pedersen @pgs.com

To the Builder: Aker Yards AS, Langsten
Attention Peter Tennfjord

Telephone +4771 18 35 00

Telefax +47 71 183501

E-mail peter.tennfjord @akeryards.com

2. Language

Any and all written notices and communications in connection with the Contract shall be in the English language.

ARTICLE XVIII ENTIRE CONTRACT

The Contract contains the entire contract and understanding between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations,
undertakings and agreements on any subject matter of the Contract.

ARTICLE XIX GOVERNING LAW, DISPUTE AND ARBITRATION

1. Governing Law

The parties hereto agree that the validity and interpretation of the Contract and of each Article and part thereof shall be governed by the laws of
the Kingdom of Norway.

2. Arbitration

Any dispute between the parties concerning the Contract shall be settled with final and binding effect for both parties by Arbitration in Oslo,
Norway. The parties will jointly appoint three arbitrators of which at least one shall be a lawyer admitted to practice in Norway. If the parties
fail to agree on the choice of arbitrators within 14 days from presentation by either party of a written demand for arbitration, each party shall
appoint one arbitrator, and the two so appointed shall appoint a third arbitrator who shall act as the chairman of the arbitration panel. If a party
fails to appoint an arbitrator within 14 days after he has been requested to do so by the other party, the Chief Justice of the Appeal Court in the
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district where the Builder has its venue shall at the request of either party appoint the arbitrator(s).

The Contract with its Appendices and Exhibits has been drawn up in two identical originals, one for each party.

Tomrefjord, the 15t of November 2006

Aker Yards AS PGS Geophysical AS

Appendices:

1.

2
3
4.
5
6

Contract Specification, Ramform 7of 30 March 2006

Drawings regarding New Ramform Seismic Vessel, General Arrangement Profile Deck 01 & Deck 02, 30 March 2006
Drawings regarding New Ramform Seismic Vessel, General Arrangement Decks 1, Deck 2, Deck 3 & Decks 01, 30 March 2006
Drawings regarding New Ramform Seismic Vessel, General Arrangement Deck 4, Deck 5 and below TT, 30 March 2006
Markers List, 30 March 2006

Aker Yards AS — Langsten, NB 213, RAM 7, Paint Specification
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PREAMBLE
THIS CONTRACT is made this 27t day of April 2006 by and between:

Aker Langsten AS, a company organised and existing under the laws of Norway, having its principal office at N-6393 Tomrefjord, Norway,
(hereinafter called the “Builder”);

and

PGS Geophysical AS, a company organised and existing under the laws of Norway
having its principal office at Strandveien 4, 1324 Lysaker, Norway, (hereinafter called the “Buyer”);

WHEREBY

The scope of this Contract comprises the building and outfitting of a seismic vessel of RAMFORM design. The design, which is based on the
patented RAMFORM hull design, is developed for the purpose of this Vessel in cooperation between the patent holding designer and the
Buyer. The hydrodynamic properties of the hull design is known to be challenging. The Vessel’s dimensions and hull lines, the needed
generated power, the needed propulsion power and propulsion plant configuration and the Vessel’s sea characteristics caused by the foregoing
has been determined by the patent holding designer and the Buyer.

The Vessel shall be outfitted for seismic operation, including collecting and processing of seismic data by means of towed streamers and gun
arrays. The Buyer shall for his own account supply packages of seismic equipment as further defined in the Specification.

The Builder shall within the scope of this Contract arrange to take on board, mount and tie-up the seismic equipment to the Vessel’s
infrastructure systems, including the physical fastening of the equipment, hydraulic piping to winches and booms, supply of high pressure air
system, electrical supply and supply of fresh water.

It is hereby stated that the ownership of the design and the main design liabilities, hereunder the design’s suitability for the Vessel’s intended
purpose, remains with the Buyer. However, it remains the Builder’s responsibility to install and optimize the function of all equipment in the
Vessel following the same standards as for vessels constructed with conventional hull design.

In consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the Builder agrees to produce detail design, build, launch, equip, complete, sell and
deliver to the Buyer at the Builder “s shipyard the “Vessel” as hereinafter described; and the Buyer agrees to purchase the “Vessel”, take
delivery and pay for it; all in accordance with the terms hereinafter set forth.

The Builder shall be liable to comply with the requirements of the Classification Society and/or other Regulatory Bodies. However, if
requirements are imposed for/because of the main design provided by the Buyer any rectification, modification or change shall be performed
provided that the rectification, modification or change does not adversely affect the Builder’s other commitments. The parties shall endeavour
to agree on possible adjustments in Contract Price and such other terms and conditions occasioned by or resulting from such rectification,
modification or change. If the parties are in disagreement with respect to who is
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responsible for the work (in whole or in part) and/or the cost of such work, the parties shall enter into a written protocol specifying the exact
dispute, after which the Builder is obliged to perform the works and the Buyer is obliged to pay the full amount claimed by the Builder as per
Article III clause 3 (e), without any right to set off and without any right to claim a bank guarantee in accordance with Article III clause 3. The
Buyer has a right to refer the dispute to arbitration in accordance with Article XIX within 10 workings days following the Delivery and
Acceptance, failing which the terms set out by the Builder shall be final. The subject matter for the arbitration shall be limited to who is
responsible for the works and the cost of the works. The time consequence and other terms or condition is not subject to arbitrational review.
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DEFINITIONS

In this CONTRACT the following words shall have the meaning set out hereinbelow:

“Banking Days”

“Builder”
“Buyer”

“Buyer ‘s Supplies”

“Classification Society” or “Class”

“Contract”

“Contract Delivery Date”
“Contract Price”

“Date of Contract”

“Delivery and Acceptance”
“Delivery Date”
“Drawings”

“Flag State”

“Force Majeure”

“Force Majeure Delay”

days where banks are open for business in:

Norway and the country where the BUYER has its principal office and the country where the
bank set out in Article III clause 3 is situated and the country of the currency set out in Article III
clause 2

the company referred to as “Builder” in the preamble, inclusive of its servants and employees

the company referred to as “Buyer” in the preamble, inclusive of its servants and employees

any item, equipment, stores or services ordered directly by the Buyer from the manufacturer or
supplier, which shall not be supplied and/or paid for by the Builder in accordance with the terms
of the Contract

the Classification Society referred to in Article II clause 3

this Standard Form Shipbuilding Contract with its Appendices and Exhibits including
Specifications and Drawings, and any amendments thereto

the date set out in Article VIII clause 1.
the Original Contract Price, as adjusted in accordance with the terms of the Contract

the date specified in the preamble to this Contract, regardless of whether the contract actually is
signed on this date or whether the contract is signed with subject

the physical delivery of the Vessel from the Builder to the Buyer
Contract Delivery Date, as adjusted for Permissible Delay

the plans and drawings listed in Appendix I hereto

the State referred to in Article II clause 5

any one or more of the events set out in Article IX clause 1

a delay caused by Force Majeure, which according to Article IX constitutes Permissible Delay



‘“Guarantee Period”

“Maker’s List”

“Original Contract Price”

‘“Permissible Delay”

“Regulatory Bodies”

‘“Representative”

“Specifications”

“Subcontractor”

“Vessel”

“Working Day”
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a general period of 24 months from the Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel, with the exception of some
smaller subcontractors who may not be able to accept a guarantee period up to 24 months. The Builder shall
notify the Buyer in writing before accepting a shorter guarantee period from such subcontractor. In no

circumstances shall the guarantee period for any subcontractor be less than 12 months.

an agreed list of suppliers approved for delivery of equipment, machinery or services which shall be included in
the Specifications

the price stipulated in Article III clause 1

all delays, inclusive of Force Majeure Delay, causing delay in delivery of the Vessel which according to the
terms of the Contract permit postponement of the Delivery Date

the relevant authorities imposing rules and regulations with which the construction and delivery of the Vessel
must comply, which shall include the authorities of the Flag State together with other authorities set out in the
Specifications

a person or persons authorised by the Buyer as set forth in Article V clause 2

the specifications referred to in Appendix I hereto

any person (not being a servant or employee of the Builder) or company, with whom the Builder has entered
into a contract for the design, construction, manufacture or supply of any item, equipment, work or service for
the Vessel

the vessel described in Article II.

a day when work is normally performed in the country of the Builder’s yard as referred to in Article II clause 1
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ARTICLE 11 THE VESSEL, DESCRIPTION AND CLASS
1. Description and Standard

The Vessel shall be built at the Builder’s yard at Tomrefjord, and shall have the Builder’s Hull No 213 and be detail-designed, constructed,
equipped, completed and delivered by the Builder in accordance with the provisions of the Contract. The hull shall be built at Aker Yards’
hullyard at Tulcea, Romania.

In the event of inconsistency between this Standard Form Shipbuilding Contract and the Specifications and/or the Drawings, this Standard
Form Shipbuilding Contract shall prevail. In the event of inconsistency between the Specifications and the Drawings, the Specifications shall
prevail. In case of inconsistency between any of the Drawings, the later in date shall prevail.

The Vessel shall be designed and built in accordance with first class shipbuilding practice in Western Europe for new vessels of similar type
and characteristics as the Vessel.

Unless otherwise follows from the Specifications and Drawings, Ramform Vanguard shall be used as a reference vessel with regard to quality,
workmanship and standard, and with regard to the interface between vessel and seismic equipment.

2. Main Dimensions and Characteristics.

Characteristics:
The Vessel is to be built as a seismic vessel for world wide operation, arranged for towing of up to 22 streamers

Dimensions:

Overall length: 102.20 metres
Length between P.P.: 95.00 metres
Breadth moulded: 40.00 metres
Depth moulded to uppermost deck: 21.00 metres

Cargo capacity:

The Vessel’s deadweight shall be approx. 6,500 tons (of 1,000 kg each) on international summer freeboard, corresponding to a mean draft in
saltwater (specific gravity 1.025) of 7.30 metres. The specified deadweight shall include fuel, provisions, stores, freshwater, crew and
passengers in addition to spare parts in excess of the requirements of Class.

Propulsion machinery:
The propulsion machinery is of diesel electric type:

Power plant : Four generating sets each 4,145 kW, and
Two generating sets each 2,765 kW,
Total 22,110 kW.

Propulsion plant: Two “twin in single out” propulsion lines, each driven by 2 * 3,250 kW electric motors, total
13,000 kW.
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Speed:
Fuel consumption:

The further details of the above main particulars, as well as definitions and methods of measurements and calculation shall be as described in
the Specification.

3. Classification, Rules and Regulations

The Vessel, including its machinery, equipment and outfittings shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the rules and regulations
of Det Norske Veritas (the Classification Society), with the following Class notation: DNV +1Al, Ice C, EO, HELDK, RP, CLEAN, TMON.
The Vessel shall further comply with the applicable rules, regulations and requirements of the Regulatory Bodies. All such rules, regulations
and requirements shall be complied with without conditions/recommendations.

All fees and charges incidental to and in respect of compliance with Class and the rules, regulation and requirements of the Class or Regulatory
Bodies referred to above shall be for the account of the Builder.

4. Subcontracting

The hull and major sections thereof are to be built by the Builder at the Yard set out in Article II, clause 1, unless the Buyer consents otherwise,
such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. Save as aforesaid, the Builder may, at its sole discretion and responsibility, subcontract any
portion of the construction of the Vessel. The Builder shall remain fully liable for the due performance of such work as if done by the Builder
at the Builder’s yard.

Except as otherwise stipulated in the Specifications and the “Maker’s List” or agreed in writing, the Builder may, without interference from the
Buyer, freely choose its Subcontractors, but the Builder shall in ample time notify the Buyer in writing before placing major orders for
equipment or services with Subcontractors, and shall give reasonable consideration to Buyer’s request. Any opinions or requests made by the
Buyer entail no alteration of the Builder’s obligation and liability under the Contract.

5. Certificates and Registration

The Builder shall provide, deliver and pay for all certificates necessary for the approval of the Vessel, as further set out in the Contract,
together with all documents reasonably required by the Buyer necessary for the registration of the Vessel in Bahamas (Flag State). Unless in
contradiction to the Flag State regulations, the Vessel shall also be built in compliance with NIS regulations. The Vessel shall be registered by
the Buyer at its own cost and expense.
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ARTICLE III PRICE AND PAYMENT TERMS

1. Original Contract Price

The Original Contract Price is NOK 562,193,794.- (Norwegian kroner five hundred and sixty two millions one hundred and ninety three
thousands seven hundred and ninety four).

2. Currency

All payments by the Buyer to the Builder under the Contract shall be made in Norwegian kroner (NOK).

3. Terms and Method of Payment

The Original Contract Price shall — subject to notices being given under this Article III clause 3, - be paid in instalments as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Ist Instalment:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price shall be paid three (3) Banking Days after the Date of the Contract.

2nd Instalment:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price shall be paid within 5 Banking Days after start of steel cutting, as confirmed by a
certificate from the Classification Society.

3rd Instalment:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price shall be paid within 5 Banking Days after the Vessel is set afloat in Romania
(Tulcea) as confirmed by a certificate from the Classification Society.

4th Instalment:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price shall be paid within 5 Banking Days after the Vessel arrives at Builder’s yard in
Tomrefjord as confirmed by a certificate from the Classification Society.

Instalment on Delivery and Acceptance:

A sum equalling 20% of the Original Contract Price, plus any increase or minus any decrease due to adjustments of the Contract Price
hereunder, shall, subject to the other provisions of the Contract, be paid upon Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel.

All instalments shall be remitted to Buyer’s bank (to be informed), to an account specified by Builders.

The instalments under 3 (b) to 3(d) (both inclusive) unless payable on specific dates, shall under no circumstances fall due until 14 days from
receipt of written notice from the Builder.
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Notice of the instalment payable on Delivery and Acceptance shall include notice of adjustments, if any.

On Builder’s request, the Buyer shall provide to the Builder all information necessary to enable the Builder to reasonably satisfy himself that
the Buyer has financial arrangements or resources to pay the instalments when due.

The Buyer’s obligation to pay the first and subsequent instalments, excluding the instalment payable on Delivery and Acceptance, shall be
subject to the Builder providing the Buyer with refund guarantee(s) from a bank or other financial institution, satisfactory to the Buyer and
securing the repayment obligation of the Builder if the contract is lawfully cancelled.

The Buyer’s payment obligation is also subject to the Builder providing to the Buyer a performance guarantee from Aker Yards ASA for the
Builder’s obligations according to the Contract, limited to 10% of the Original Contract Price.

The Builder may retain the Vessel until full payment has been made in accordance with the agreed payment terms. If the Builder is unable to
present a final account at delivery, the Buyer may require the Vessel to be delivered in return for a bank guarantee or other security, satisfactory
to the Builder, for the reasonably estimated balance owed to the Builder. Costs of such guarantee to be for Builder’s account.

In the event of any dispute concerning the payment on delivery of the Vessel, including the question of the Buyer’s right to offset any claim it
may have, the Buyer may by paying the entire amount demanded by the Builder require the Builder to provide a bank guarantee or other
security satisfactory to the Buyer for the disputed amount. The Builder cannot in such case refuse to deliver the Vessel. If the Builder does not
wish to issue security for the disputed part of the claim, the Buyer is entitled to take delivery of the Vessel against payment of the undisputed
amount and provide a bank guarantee or other security satisfactory to the Builder for the disputed part of the claim. Security which has been
issued by a party pursuant to this sub-clause terminates automatically unless the other party has brought legal action pursuant to Article XIX
below within 3 months from date of issue of the security. The costs of security shall be shared proportionately between the parties according to
the final outcome of the dispute.

If the Builder delivers the Vessel with Delivery Deficiencies as set out in Article VII, the Buyer may require the Builder to provide a bank
guarantee upon delivery at an amount equal to the reasonable calculated cost of the Builder’s obligations related to the Delivery Deficiencies.

If on or before Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel the Builder is declared bankrupt, proposes or enters into a fund or a formal composition
arrangement or moratorium or otherwise proves to be in such financial position that it is likely to be unable during the Guarantee Period to
perform its guarantee obligations, the Buyer may demand that the Builder shall provide satisfactory security for the performance by the Builder
of such guarantee obligations, limited to 5 % of the Original Contract Price, or failing such guarantee, the Buyer is entitled to deposit the
equivalent amount in an escrow account in the joint name of the Builder and the Buyer and to deduct this amount from the instalment to be
paid on Delivery and Acceptance.
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Failure by the Buyer to pay on time any part of the Contract Price shall entitle the Builder to charge interest at the rate of 6 % per annum
thereon.

ARTICLE IV ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT PRICE - CANCELLATION BY THE BUYER

The Contract Price shall be subject to adjustments, as hereinafter set forth, in any of the events set out in this Article IV (it being understood by
both parties that any reduction of Contract Price is by way of liquidated damages and not by way of penalty) and the Builder shall not in any
way be responsible or liable for any other consequences by way of damages or otherwise as a consequence of any of the matters hereinafter set
forth in this Article IV, except for the Buyer’s right to cancel in accordance with the provisions of the Contract.

1.
()

(b)

(©)

Late Delivery

If the delivery of the Vessel is delayed beyond the Delivery Date, the Contract Price shall be reduced by deducting therefrom as follows:

Ist — 30th day No reduction

31st — 60th day NOK 250,000.- pr. day
61st — 150th day NOK 390,000.- pr. day
151st — 180th day NOK 450,000.- pr. day

The maximum reduction in the Contract Price for delayed delivery shall not exceed the total of the above liquidated damages for
180 days of delay.

If the delay in delivery of the Vessel shall continue for a period in excess of 180 days after Delivery Date, the Buyer may at its option
cancel the Contract.

Provided the Buyer has not sent notice of cancellation as provided for in Article XII hereof within 185 days of delay having elapsed after
the Delivery Date, the Builder may demand in writing that the Buyer shall make an election either to cancel the Contract, or to consent to
the acceptance of the delivery at a specific future date reasonably estimated by the Builder to be the date when the Vessel will be ready
for delivery; in which case the Buyer shall, within 15 days after such demand is received by Buyer, notify the Builder of its choice it
being understood that, if the Buyer elects not to cancel and the Vessel is not delivered by such future date, the Buyer shall have the right
to cancel the Contract.

If the total accumulated delay of non Permissible Delay and of Force Majeure Delay, but excluding other Permissible Delay, amounts to
270 days or more, then in such event the Buyer may cancel the Contract. The Builder may, at any time thereafter, demand in writing that
the Buyer shall make an election either to cancel the Contract or to consent to the acceptance of the delivery at a specific future date
reasonably estimated by the Builder to be the date when the Vessel will be ready for delivery, in which case the Buyer shall, within

15 days after such demand is received by Buyer, notify the Builder of its choice; it being understood that, if the Buyer elects not to
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cancel and the Vessel is not delivered by such future date, the Buyer shall have the right to cancel the Contract.

(d) If it can be established beyond any reasonable doubt that the Vessel will be delayed for more than 180 days as per paragraph (b) above, or
be delayed for more than 270 days as per paragraph (c) above, the Buyer shall have a right forthwith to cancel the Contract.

2. Speed deficiency

Builder has no liabilities related to Speed deficiencies, however if the speed deficiency is caused by a defect for which the Builder has the risk
pursuant to the preamble of this Contract, the Builder shall be obliged to rectify such defects as set out in Article X.

3. Deficiency in Fuel Consumption

Builder has no liabilities related to Fuel Consumption deficiencies, however if the fuel consumption deficiency is caused by a defect for which
the Builder has the risk pursuant to the preamble of this Contract, the Builder shall be obliged to rectify such defects as set out in Article X.

4. Deficiency in Deadweight

If the deadweight (6,500 tons) stipulated in Article I, adjusted for any weight deviances related to Buyer’s Supplies, is not attained and the
reduction exceeds 3 % of the stipulated deadweight, the Contract Price shall be reduced by NOK 20,000,- for each ton of the reduction in
excess of the said 3 %, but always limited to a maximum of NOK 5,840,000.-.

If the reduction in deadweight is more than 7.5 % of the stipulated deadweight Buyer may cancel the Contract.

5. Deficiency in Bollard pull

Builder has no liabilities related to Bollard pull deficiencies, however if the Bollard Pull deficiency is caused by a defect for which the Builder
has the risk pursuant to the preamble of this Contract, the Builder shall be obliged to rectify such defects as set out in Article X.

6. Maximum amount of Liquidated Damages

The total reduction in the Contract Price in accordance with this Article IV shall under no circumstances exceed 12.5% of the Contract Price.

k ok ok
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If the Contract is cancelled pursuant to this Article IV, the instalments paid by the Buyer shall be repaid forthwith in accordance with
Article XII clause 1.

Insofar as items 1 to 5 inclusive above are not filled in, the provisions of Article X of the Contract shall apply.

If Article II clause 2 includes figures with the qualification “about”, such qualification shall be disregarded for the purposes of calculation of
liquidated damages and the right of cancellation pursuant to this Article IV.

ARTICLE V APPROVAL OF PLANS AND DRAWINGS AND INSPECTION DURING CONSTRUCTION
1.  Approval of Plans and Drawings

As soon as possible after the Date of Contract the Builder shall put forward a proposed detailed building schedule, including a schedule for
testing. The Buyer shall make its comment on the schedule as soon as possible and at the latest within 7 days. The schedules shall be issued by
the Builder in writing not later than 30 days after the Date of Contract.

(a) In accordance with the construction schedule of the Vessel and provisions in the Specifications, the Builder shall submit to the Buyer 3
copies of the plans and drawings for its approval at the address set forth in Article XVII hereof. The Builder shall send a notice by telefax
(or by such other electronic means as the parties may agree) to the Buyer giving the date of despatch of such plans and drawings, and the
Buyer shall confirm receipt of such plans and drawings. The Buyer shall within 14 Working Days after receipt thereof, send to the
Builder 1 copy of such plans and/or drawings with Buyer’s approval or comments (if any) written thereon. Such comments shall be as
complete as possible.

(b) If Buyer’s comments on the plans and drawings are unclear or unspecified, the Builder may by fax notice to the Buyer request a
clarification, and failure by the Buyer or its Representative to respond to this request within 3 Working Days of receipt of such notice
shall entitle the Builder to place its own reasonable interpretation on such remarks, comments or amendments when implementing the
same.

(c) If the Builder and the Buyer fail to agree whether such comments or remarks are of such a nature or extent as to constitute modification or
change under Article VI hereof, the Builder shall nevertheless proceed with the construction based on the Buyer’s comments if so
requested by the Buyer. If it is established by mutual agreement or by arbitration as per Article XIX, that the comments, remarks or
amendments constitute a modification or change under Article VI, the Builder shall be entitled to an appropriate adjustment of the
Contract Price, Delivery Date and/or the characteristics of the Vessel. Article VI clause 1, first paragraph to apply.

(d) In the event that the Buyer fails to return the plans and drawings to the Builder within the time limit specified in (a) above, the Builder
shall by fax to the Buyer
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request the return of same within 3 days, failing which the Builder shall have the right to consider such plans and drawings as approved
by the Buyer.

() The Buyer’s approval or non approval of drawings shall not affect any of the Builder’s obligations hereunder, including the Builder’s
obligation to deliver the Vessel fully approved by the Regulatory Bodies, or the Builder’s responsibility under Article X hereof.

2. Appointment of Buyer’s Representative

The Buyer may send to and maintain at the Builder’s yard, at the Buyer’s own cost and expense, one or more representatives, of whom only
one shall be duly authorised in writing by the Buyer (herein called the “Representative”) to act on behalf of the Buyer in attending the tests and
inspections relating to the Vessel, its machinery, equipment and outfitting, and in any other matters for which he is specifically authorised by
the Buyer. Unless otherwise advised by the Buyer in writing, the Representative shall have no general authority to change the Contract or to
approve plans and drawings. The Representative shall, however, be authorised to sign Change Order Forms (Article VI clause 1) on behalf of
Buyer, unless otherwise advised by Buyer in writing. The Representative shall have as many assistants as he may require, but any and all
approvals must be given by the Representative and be in writing.

3. Inspection by Representative

The inspection of the Vessel, its machinery, equipment and outfittings shall be carried out by the Classification Society, Regulatory Bodies and
the Representative and/or his assistants throughout the entire period of construction, in order to ensure that the Vessel is duly constructed in
accordance with the Contract.

Whilst the Vessel is under construction and until Delivery and Acceptance, the Representative and his assistants shall during all working hours
be given free access to the Vessel, its engines and accessories, and to any other place where work is being done, or materials are being
processed or stored in connection with the construction of the Vessel, including the yards, workshops and offices of the Builder, and the
premises of the Subcontractors of the Builder who are doing work or storing materials in connection with the Vessel’s construction.

The Representative and his assistants shall, during the construction of the Vessel, have the right to attend all tests, trials and inspections
undertaken in respect of the Vessel, its machinery, equipment and outfittings. The Builder shall give reasonably notice in advance of any such
tests and inspections to the Representative to enable him or any of his assistants to attend. Failure of the Representative or his assistant(s) to be
present at such tests and inspections after due notice to him as above provided shall be deemed to be a waiver of his right to be present.

The Builder shall seek to arrange with its Subcontractors that the Representative or his assistants have a similar right of inspection and
supervision in respect of the work performed by the Subcontractors.
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The Representative may communicate direct with the Classification Society and all other Regulatory Bodies, but such communication shall not
unreasonably interfere with the Builder’s communication with these institutions. The Representative may also view relevant formal
correspondence between these institutions and the Builder and to a reasonable extent obtain copies of same.

In the event that the Representative discovers any design, construction or material or workmanship which in his opinion does not conform to
the requirements of the Contract, the Representative shall as soon as possible advise the Builder of such non-conformity. Unless the Builder
agrees to rectify the matter, a notice thereof (which may be included in minutes of meeting or similar) shall be given to the Builder.

Inspection as described in this clause shall not constitute any changes in the Builder’s obligation under the Contract.
4.  Facilities

The Builder shall furnish the Representative and his assistant(s) with adequate office space both at Tulcea and in Tomrefjord, and such other
reasonable facilities according to the Builder’s practice at, or in the immediate vicinity of, the shipyard as may be necessary to enable them to
effectively carry out their duties. At Tomrefjord the office space shall be suitable for minimum 10 persons. Both places telecommunication
shall be for the Builder’s account and the Builder shall arrange at their costs for broadband connections.

5. Representative — Division of Liability

The Representative and his assistant(s) shall at all times be deemed to be the employees of the Buyer and not of the Builder. The Builder shall
be under no liability whatsoever to the Buyer, the Representative or his assistant(s), and the Buyer shall keep the Builder harmless, for personal
injuries, including death, suffered during the time when the Representative or his assistant(s) are on the Vessel, or within the premises of either
the Builder or its Subcontractors or are otherwise engaged in or about the construction of the Vessel, unless, however, such personal injuries,
including death, were caused by gross negligence of the Builder, or of any its employees or agents or Subcontractors. Nor shall the Builder be
under any liability whatsoever to the Buyer, the Representative or his assistant(s) for damage to, or loss or destruction of property of the
Representative or his assistant(s) unless such damage, loss or destruction is caused by gross negligence of the Builder, or any of its employees
or agents or Subcontractors.

The Buyer, the Representative and his assistant(s) shall be under no liability whatsoever to the Builder, the Builder’s employees or
Subcontractors, and the Builder shall keep the Buyer, the Representative or his assistant(s) harmless, for personal injuries, including death,
unless such personal injuries including death were caused by gross negligence of the Representative or his assistants. Nor shall the Buyer be
under any liability whatsoever to the Builder, the Builder’s employees or Subcontractors for damage to, or loss or destruction of property of the
Builder, its employees or Subcontractors unless such damage, loss or destruction were caused by gross negligence of the Representative or his
assistant(s).
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6. Responsibility of Buyer

The Buyer shall undertake and assure that the Representative and his assistants shall carry out their duties hereunder in accordance with normal
shipbuilding practice and in such a way as to avoid any unnecessary increase in building cost, delay in the construction of the Vessel, and/or
any disturbance to the construction schedule of the Builder.

The Builder has the right to request the Buyer to replace the Representative or any of his assistants who is deemed by the Builder to be
unsuitable and unsatisfactory for the proper progress of the Vessel’s construction. The Buyer shall investigate the situation by sending its
representative(s) to the Shipyard if necessary, and if the Buyer considers that such Builder’s request is justified, the Buyer shall effect such
replacement as soon as convenient.

ARTICLE VI MODIFICATIONS AND CHANGES
1. Modification of Specifications

The work to be performed by the Builder under the Contract can be modified or changed by request from the Buyer provided that such
modifications or changes will not adversely affect the Builder’s other commitments, and provided further that the parties shall first agree to
possible adjustment in Contract Price, the Delivery Date and such other terms and conditions occasioned by or resulting from such
modification or change. Such agreement shall be effected either by way of exchanges of letters duly signed by authorised representatives of the
parties, or by signed change order form, or by minutes of meeting or similar signed by authorised representatives of the parties, which shall
constitute the necessary amendments to the Contract. Possible increase or decrease in the Contract Price shall be calculated in accordance with
unit prices (inclusive of administration costs) as set out in the Specification, or budget prices if such prices are available, otherwise as per the
Builder’s customary price for such work at Romanian or Norwegian yards as the case may be.

If modifications or changes are made without such written agreement as aforesaid, or if the Builder fails to notify the Buyer in writing without
undue delay that there are modifications or changes which will require an increase in the Contract Price, delayed delivery, changes in the
Vessel’s characteristics or other changes in the Contract, the Builder will not be entitled to any increase in the Contract Price, adjustment of
Delivery Date or other adjustments, and the Contract will remain unchanged.

The Builder is entitled to make minor modifications or changes to the Specifications, if found necessary to suit the Builder’s local conditions or
facilities, the availability of materials and equipment, the introduction of improvement methods or otherwise, provided that the Builder shall
first obtain the Buyer’s approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

2.  Change in Rules and Regulations

If, after the Date of Contract, there are any changes in the rules, regulations and requirements (including official changed application of the
rules) of Class or Regulatory Bodies, the following shall apply:
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(a) The Builder shall as soon as possible notify the Buyer thereof, and the Builder shall be obliged — except as otherwise agreed — to carry
out the required changes in accordance with the provisions set out below, provided always that any changes in such rules, regulations or
requirements which are published on or before the Date of Contract, and which apply mandatory to the Vessel on or before the Contract
Delivery Date shall not give to the Builder a right to claim any adjustments of the price, delivery date or other contract terms.

(b) If such change is or will be compulsory for the Vessel, the Builder shall incorporate such alteration or change into the construction of the
Vessel, unless otherwise instructed by the Buyer. The parties shall endeavour to agree on such adjustments to the Contract as set out in
clause 1 above, failing which, the changes to the Contract shall be decided by arbitration in accordance with Article XIX.

(c) If such change is not or will not be compulsory for the Vessel, but the Buyer nevertheless desires to incorporate such change, this shall be
considered a change or modification, as provided for in clause 1 of this Article VI.

3.  Substitution of Materials

If any of the materials required by the Specifications or the Maker’s List cannot be procured in time or are in short supply, the Builder may, in
order to maintain the Delivery Date and subject to the Buyer’s approval, which shall not unreasonably be withheld and which shall be provided
without undue delay, supply other materials capable of meeting the requirements of the Classification Society or Regulatory Bodies. No extra
charges shall be made to the Buyer and, except that any savings shall be credited to the Buyer, the Contract shall remain unaltered.

ARTICLE VII TEST AND TRIALS

1. Notice

The Builder shall before delivery, by not less than 7 days written notice to the Buyer, notify the time and place for the sea trial for the Vessel.
The Buyer shall have its Representative onboard the Vessel to witness the sea trial. Failure by the Representative to attend at the sea trial
without any valid reason despite a notice to the Buyer as aforesaid, shall be deemed to be a waiver by the Buyer of its right to be present.

The Builder may after due notice conduct the sea trial without the Representative of the Buyer being present, provided a representative of the
Classification Society is present, and in such case the Buyer shall be obligated to accept the results of the sea trial on the basis of a certificate of
the Builder confirmed by the Classification Society and/or Regulatory Bodies stating the results of the sea trial.
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Weather Conditions

The sea trial shall be carried out under weather conditions as set out in the Specifications. Any delay in delivery caused by delay of the sea trial
due to unfavourable weather conditions shall be considered Permissible Delay.

3.

How conducted

The sea trial shall be carried out in the presence of representatives from the Classification Society and / or Regulatory Bodies, and shall be
conducted in the manner described in the Specifications, and shall be sufficient in scope and duration to enable all parties to verify and
establish that all elements are functioning in accordance with the Contract.

All expenses in connection with the sea trial shall be for the account of the Builder, including without limitation all necessary crew.

4.
(@)

(b)

(©)

(d

Method of Acceptance or Rejection

Upon completion of the sea trial and when the trial results are available, and if the Builder considers the results thereof demonstrates that
the Vessel conforms with the Contract, the Builder shall immediately give the Buyer a written notice of completion stating when the
Vessel is ready for delivery. The Buyer shall within 48 consecutive hours after receipt of this notice and the test results notify the Builder
in writing of its acceptance or rejection of the Vessel.

If the results of the sea trial demonstrate that the Vessel or any part or equipment thereof does not conform to the requirements of the
Contract, or if the Buyer for other valid reasons rejects the Vessel, the Builder shall take all necessary steps to rectify such non-
conformity. If necessary the Builder shall for its own account carry out a further sea trial in accordance with Article VII to ascertain that
the Vessel complies with the terms of the Contract. Upon demonstration by the Builder that the deficiencies have been corrected, a notice
thereof and of the readiness of the Vessel for delivery, shall be given to the Buyer, who shall then within 48 consecutive hours after
receipt of such notice together with the new test results notify the Builder of its acceptance or rejection.

If the Buyer for any reason rejects the Vessel, the Buyer shall in its notice of rejection give particulars of its reason therefore in such
detail as can be reasonably required.

The Buyer shall not be obliged to take delivery of the Vessel if it is not fully in conformity with the Contract, or if there are any
conditions or recommendations imposed by the Classification Society and/or Regulatory Bodies. However, and only in the circumstances
described below, if the deficiencies or the conditions/ recommendations are of minor importance (“Delivery Deficiencies”), and the
Builder is unable to rectify the matter within a reasonable time, the Builder may nevertheless require the Buyer to take delivery of the
Vessel, provided:
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(i) the Builder undertakes for its own account to remedy the deficiency or fulfil the requirement as soon as possible, and
(i1) the Builder shall indemnify the Buyer for any loss incurred as a consequence thereof, including loss of time

The Parties shall, for the purpose of this provision, on delivery draw up a list of Delivery Defects identifying the defects in question. The
defects so listed shall be deemed to be Delivery Deficiencies for the purpose of this sub-clause.

(e) If the Builder disputes the rejection by the Buyer, the case shall be submitted for final decision by arbitration in accordance with
Article XIX hereof.

5.  Effect of Acceptance

Acceptance of the Vessel as provided above, shall be final and binding and shall preclude the Buyer from refusing formal delivery on basis of
any alleged deficiency in any part or parts of the Vessel which were tested during the sea trial, provided all other procedural requirements for
delivery have been met.

6. Disposition of Surplus Consumable Stores

Any fuel oil, unused lubricating oil, grease, fresh water or other consumable stores furnished by the Builder for the sea trial, remaining onboard
the Vessel at the time of delivery shall be purchased by the Buyer from the Builder at the original net purchase price thereof (Builder to provide
supporting invoices), and payment therefore shall be effected by the Buyer on Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel.

ARTICLE VIII DELIVERY DATE AND DELIVERY
1. Time and Place

The Vessel shall be delivered at the Builder’s yard (see Article II) or in the vicinity thereof free and clear of all liens, claims, mortgages and
other encumbrances in a clean and seaworthy condition, ready for service, on February 28, 2008 (the Contract Delivery Date), except that in the
event of net delays in the construction of the Vessel or any performance required under the Contract due to causes which under the terms of the
Contract permit postponement of the Delivery Date (Permissible Delay), the Delivery Date shall be postponed accordingly. Unless otherwise
agreed, the Vessel shall not be delivered earlier than maximum 2 weeks prior to the Contract Delivery Date.

2.  When and how effected

Provided that the Buyer has fulfilled all of its obligations under the Contract, delivery of the Vessel shall be effected forthwith upon acceptance
thereof by the Buyer by the concurrent delivery by each of the parties hereto to the other of a Protocol of Delivery and Acceptance signed by
each party. Both parties have the right to make reservations or notes in the



20/33

Protocol, or in a separate document signed by the parties “for acknowledgement of receipt only”.

3.

Documents to be delivered to the Buyer

Upon delivery and acceptance of the Vessel, the Builder shall provide and deliver to the Buyer at its expense the following documents, which
shall accompany the Protocol of Delivery and Acceptance:

(a)
(b)
(©)
(d
(e)

®

(@
(h)
4.

Protocol of Trials made pursuant to the Specifications.

Protocol of Inventory and Equipment of the Vessel, including spare parts and the like, all as specified in the Specifications.

Protocol of Surplus Consumable Stores referred to under Article VII hereof which are payable by the Buyer to the Builder.
Drawings and Plans pertaining to the Vessel together with all necessary instruction manuals, as further stipulated in the Specifications.

All Certificates including the Builder’s Certificate required to be furnished upon Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel pursuant to the
Contract and the Specifications. It is agreed that if, through no fault on the part of the Builder, the Classification Certificate and/or other
required certificates are not available at the time of delivery, provisional certificates shall be accepted by the Buyer, provided that the
Builder at its expense shall furnish the Buyer with final certificates as promptly as possible. If final certificates are not provided or
obtained within a reasonable time, the Builder shall compensate the Buyer for any damages, losses and extra expenses caused thereby.

Declaration of Warranty by the Builder that the Vessel is free and clear of any liens, claims, charges, mortgages and other
encumbrances.

Commercial invoice
Bill of Sale or other relevant document that certifies that the title of the Vessel passes to the Buyer.

Title and Risk

Title to and risk of loss of or damage to the Vessel shall pass to the Buyer upon Delivery and Acceptance thereof by the Buyer.

5.

Removal of Vessel

The Buyer shall take possession of the Vessel immediately upon Delivery and Acceptance thereof, and shall remove the Vessel from the
premises of the Builder within three (3) days after the Delivery and Acceptance as aforesaid. If the Buyer does not remove the Vessel
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within the said period, the Buyer shall thereafter pay to the Builder reasonable mooring charges for the Vessel.

ARTICLE IX DELAYS AND EXTENSION OF TIME FOR DELIVERY (FORCE MAJEURE)

1.
()

(b)
(©)

Cause of Delay

In case of Force Majeure Delay, the Delivery Date shall be postponed by the number of days corresponding to the net delay in delivery as
set out below. It shall be considered a Force Majeure Delay if the Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel is prevented or delayed as a
consequence of extraordinary circumstances or events beyond the Builder’s control, such as:

Acts of God; acts of princes and rulers; requirements of government authorities; war or warlike condition, civil commotion or riots,
mobilisation; sabotage; strike or lockout (except local labour disturbances at the Builder’s yard) quarantines; flood, typhoons, hurricanes,
storms or other extraordinary weather conditions not included in normal planning; earthquakes, tidal waves, landslide; fires, explosions,
collisions or stranding; import or export bans or restrictions; prolonged failure, shortage or restriction of electrical current, oil or gas;

and/or: any other extraordinary events beyond the control of the Builder;

and/or: by late delivery of major parts or of important performance by Subcontractor(s) where the cause of delay would have been
recognised as Force Majeure Delay under this Article IX if it had affected the Builder, provided that the Builder has shown due diligence
in its choice of Subcontractor and ensured a reasonable margin for delays, so that at the time of ordering same it could reasonably be
expected by the Builder to be delivered in time;

and/or: delays in the Builder’s other commitments resulting from Force Majeure as herein described directly causing delay of the
Builder’s performance hereunder;

Provided always:

that there shall be no Force Majeure Delay if such delay could reasonably have been foreseen or anticipated by the Builder on the Date of
Contract, or that it could have been prevented or overcome by the exercise of due diligence by the Builder, its servants, employees or
Subcontractors.

The provisions under sub-clause (a) above apply whether or not the Force Majeure occurs after the Contract Delivery Date.

The Builder is obliged to do its utmost to avoid or minimise the Force Majeure Delay.
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2.  Notice of delay

(a) Within 10 days after the Builder becomes aware or should have become aware of any cause of delay as aforesaid, on account of which the
Builder will claim that it is entitled under the Contract to postpone the Delivery Date, the Builder shall notify the Buyer in writing or by
telefax, confirmed by registered mail, of the date such cause of delay commenced. Likewise, within 10 days after the date such cause of
delay ended, the Builder shall notify the Buyer in writing or by telefax, confirmed by registered mail, of the date when such cause of
delay ended.

Failure by the Builder to give such notices as aforesaid shall prevent the Builder from subsequently claiming Force Majeure Delay on
account of such circumstances.

(b) The Builder shall notify the Buyer of the period, by which the Delivery Date is postponed by reason of such cause of delay, with all
reasonable despatch after it has been determined. Failure by the Buyer to object to the Builder’s claim for postponement of the Delivery
Date within 10 days after receipt by the Buyer of such notice shall be deemed to be a waiver by the Buyer of its right to object to such
postponement of the Delivery Date for the net delay caused by the Force Majeure event, provided always that the Builder’s information
in respect of the cause of the delay and the consequences thereof were correctly stated in the notice.

3.  Permissible Delay

Delays on account of such causes as specified in this Article IX, Clause 1, in Article VI or Article XVI, Clause 1 (d) and (e) hereof and any
other delays caused by non fulfilment by the Buyer of the Buyer’s obligation hereunder or any other delays of a nature which under the terms
of this Contract permit postponement or extension of the Delivery Date shall constitute Permissible Delay and shall extend the Delivery Date
for any net delay caused thereby.

ARTICLE X WARRANTY OF QUALITY
1.  Extent of Builder’s responsibility

Save as provided for below, and provided always that the deficiencies have been rectified within a reasonable time, the Builder shall have no
responsibility for defects or the consequences thereof (including loss of profit and loss of time) discovered after the Delivery and Acceptance of
the Vessel.

2.  Guarantee

The Builder undertakes to repair and rectify at its own cost and expense and free of charge to the Buyer, any defects — including latent defects
or deficiencies — concerning the Vessel or parts thereof, which are caused by faulty detail design, defective material and/or poor workmanship
on the part of the Builder, its servants, employees or Subcontractors, but excluding defects arising after delivery due to normal wear and tear or
improper handling of the Vessel or caused or aggravated by omission or improper use or maintenance of the Vessel on the part of the Buyer, its
servants or agents and excluding Buyer’s Supplies.
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The Builder’s liability as stated herein shall terminate if the defects as aforesaid have not been discovered within the Guarantee Period of

24 months unless otherwise provided for in the Contract. Some smaller suppliers may not accept a guarantee period up to 24 months. The
Builder shall in such event notify the Buyer in writing before accepting a shorter guarantee period, in which case the guarantee period for these
eventual items shall correspond with the actual period allowed by the sub supplier. Under no circumstances shall the guarantee period for any
equipment be less than 12 months.

Any such defects shall be notified to the Builder as soon as possible after discovery, and at the latest within 8 days after expiry of the Guarantee
Period. Such notice shall include particulars of the deficiency in such detail as can reasonably be expected.

If defects could only be discovered on dry docking the vessel, notice of such defect(s) need not be tendered before the Vessel is in the dock, but
must be tendered before the Vessel leaves the dry-dock.

The Guarantee Period will be extended in the following cases:

(a) After repair and rectification under this Article X has successfully been carried out, there will be a further period of guarantee of
12 months for the repaired and rectified items, however limited to 36 months from Delivery Date. The further Guarantee Period shall,
however, not be less than the original Guarantee Period for any such item. Such additional guarantee period will be granted on all
remedial works notified by the Buyer to the Builder in the Guarantee Period, or any extension thereof. The Buyer shall, however, not be
entitled to such additional guarantee for deficiencies caused by poor workmanship if the guarantee work has not been performed by the
Builder or their Subcontractors.

(b) If as a result of guarantee works the Vessel has been lying idle in the Guarantee Period for an accumulated period of 30 days or more, the
Guarantee Period shall be extended by the total number of days the Vessel has been lying idle, whether or not other work is carried out
during such period.

3. Rectification of Defects
If the Builder is liable for defects as aforesaid, its obligations shall be as follows:

(a) The Builder shall rectify the defect or cause the defect to be rectified at its own costs. Provided the defect is remedied within a reasonable
time, the Builder shall have no other liability for any damage or loss caused as a consequence of the defect, except for repair or renewal
of the Vessel’s part/parts that have been damaged as a direct and immediate consequence of the defect without any intermediate cause,
and provided such part or parts can be considered to form a part of the same equipment or same system. The Builder shall in any event
not be liable for any consequential losses as stated herein over and above NOK 500,000.- per average if covered under the standard
marine insurance and NOK 2,000,000.- per average if not covered by said insurance.

(b) The repairs, replacements and/or rectifications shall be made at the Builder’s yard.
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However, the Buyer may, after having notified the Builder in writing, request the Builder to or cause the necessary repairs, replacements
and/or rectifications to be carried out elsewhere. In such case, the Builder shall at its own costs be entitled to forward necessary
replacement parts or materials.

The Builder’s liability shall in such case be limited to pay the cost of repairs including travelling and forwarding expenses (unless paid by
Subcontractors), but limited to the price of the work which the Builder would normally charge at its yard.

In any case, the Builder shall co-operate with the Buyer to find proper solutions to rectify the deficiency.

The Vessel shall, unless the repair or replacement conveniently may be carried out at sea, in any case be taken at the Buyer’s cost and
expense to the place elected for repair and modification, ready for such repairs and modifications. Docking expenses and access works
being necessary for performance of the guarantee work shall be for the Builder’s account.

The Builder shall have the ownership of replaced parts. The Buyer will return such parts to the Builder at Builder’s request and at
Builder’s expense. If the Builder fails to present such request within a reasonable time, the Buyer has no responsibility for the replaced
parts.

As a prerequisite for this Shipbuilding Contract the Buyer has entered into supply agreements with a few major suppliers of diesel
engines, hereunder (Rolls-Royce Marine AS, Bergen), propulsion system (Wirtsild Lips) and main electrical components (ABB). As a
part of, and simultaneously with, the signing of this Contract, these supplier contracts shall be assigned from the Buyer to the Builder. It
is hereby agreed and understood that the Builder shall upon receipt of the agreements review the suppliers warranties. If the Builder is of
the opinion that the warranties obtained are on less customary terms than the Builder usually obtain from these suppliers and the suppliers
refuse to improve such terms of warranty within 6 months after the signing of this Contract, the Builder shall notify the Buyer in writing
and shall be entitled to limit the guarantee liabilities related to the scope of the supply in the same way as assumed by the relevant
suppliers (“back to back”).

Subcontractors’ Guarantees

The Builder shall — upon the Buyer’s request — assign to the Buyer any rights the Builder may have against any Subcontractors, including
any right to pursue any claim under the relevant subcontract. This provision shall in no way alter or diminish the Builder’s obligations under
the Contract.

The Builder shall endeavour to have provisions in the subcontracts whereby the Buyer may claim against the Subcontractor directly.
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5. Assignment

If the Buyer sells the Vessel during the Guarantee Period and wishes to assign its rights hereunder, such assignment shall be subject to the
Builder’s consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

6. The Guarantee Engineer

The Builder shall have the right and the Buyer may require the Builder to appoint a Guarantee Engineer to serve onboard the Vessel for such
portion of the guarantee period as the Builder or Buyer may decide. The Buyer and its employees shall provide the Guarantee Engineer with
full co-operation in carrying out his duties. The Buyer shall accord the Guarantee Engineer treatment and accommodation comparable to the
Vessel’s Chief Engineer, at no cost to the Builder. The Buyer shall pay to the Builder the same wages as a European Chief Engineer as
compensation for part of the cost and charges to be borne by the Builder in connection with the Guarantee Engineer, and also direct expenses of
repatriation by air to the Guarantee Engineer’s home country.

The Guarantee Engineer shall, at all times and in all respects, be deemed to be the employee of the Builder. The Buyer shall be under no
liability whatsoever to the Builder or to the Guarantee Engineer for personal injuries, including death, suffered by the Guarantee Engineer
during the time when he is on board the vessel, unless such personal injuries, including death, were caused by gross negligence of the Buyer, or
of any of its employees or agents. Nor shall the Buyer be under any liability whatsoever to the Guarantee Engineer for damage to or loss or
destruction of property of the Guarantee Engineer, unless such damage, loss or destruction is caused by gross negligence of the Buyer, or of
any of its employees or agents. The Guarantee Engineer shall if requested sign a Letter of Indemnity required by the Buyer.

ARTICLE XI OWNERSHIP, RISK AND INSURANCE
1. Ownership and Registration

Except for the intellectual property rights as described in Article XV, which shall at all time be the Buyer’s property, the Buyer shall become
the owner of the Vessel upon Delivery and Acceptance thereof.

The Builder may mortgage the Vessel and its materials (excluding Buyer’s Supply if possible) as security for the construction financing,
including the provision of refund guarantee(s), for the Vessel subject to the terms of this paragraph. The Buyer shall if necessary give its
consent for that purpose. Any such mortgage shall be cancelled and deleted from the relevant registry at the latest on Delivery and Acceptance.
The mortgagee shall, latest upon the registration of the mortgage, provide the Buyer with a confirmation stating that the mortgage will be
released and deleted at the latest on Delivery and Acceptance.

Any materials, parts, machinery or equipment purchased by the Builder and appropriated for the Vessel which are not utilised for the Vessel
shall remain the property of the Builder after Delivery and Acceptance of the Vessel.



26/33

The Buyer may register the Contract and the Vessel under construction in accordance with the rules of the Norwegian Maritime Act with the
Builder as title holder.

2. Risk and Insurance

(a)

(b)

(©)

Until Delivery and Acceptance, the Builder bears the risk of loss of or damage to the Vessel, materials, parts, machinery, boilers and
equipment.

The Builder will arrange and pay for building insurance with underwriters acceptable to the Buyer on customary “All Risk” terms. The
insurance shall comprise necessary fire and transport insurance of material and equipment which the Builder procure from
Subcontractors. The insurance shall also cover the hull during construction in Romania and during towing to Norway. The Builder is not
obliged to insure the transport of Buyer’s Supplies.

The insured amount shall as a minimum cover the aggregate of the instalments paid by the Buyer pursuant to Article III from time to time
together with interest thereon.

By paying extra insurance premiums the Buyer may require that the building insurance is increased to cover a specified and agreed scope
of Buyer’s Supplies and Buyer’s project costs. Further, by paying extra insurance premiums the Buyer may require that the building
insurance is increased to cover the rebuilding value at any time.

The Buyer shall receive copies of the policies.

(1) The insurance policies shall be taken out in the joint names of the Builder and the Buyer.
(i) The Builder may collect direct from the insurance company any sums in respect of its own losses.

(iii) In the event of partial damage which is to be repaired and which is recoverable under the insurance policies, the Builder may collect
advance instalments under the policy payable as the repair work progresses.

The proceeds recovered under the insurance policies shall be applied to repairs satisfactory to the Class and Regulatory Bodies, and
the Buyer shall accept the Vessel under the Contract if completed thereafter in compliance with the Contract.

(iv) If prior to its delivery the Vessel sustains such heavy damages that the Builder has no obligation to rebuild the Vessel, or if the
parties and the insurance company agree on total / constructive / compromised total loss then the proceeds under the insurance shall
be paid as follows:

(@) The Buyer will recover direct from the insurance company an amount equal to the instalments paid together with interests in
accordance with the terms of the Contract.
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The Buyer will further collect direct from the insurance company any extra proceeds recoverable under an insurance policy
taken out for Buyer’s account in accordance with Article XI clause 2 (b) above.

To the extent that the Buyer and the Builder, in accordance with subclause 2 (b) above, have agreed to cover Buyer’s Supplies
and/or Buyer’s project costs under Builder’s building insurance policy, the Buyer shall further collect payment for Buyer’s
Supplies and/or Buyer’s project costs covered by the insurance policies. The latter claim shall, however, be subordinated the
Builder’s claim against the proceeds recoverable under the insurance policy.

The remaining part of the insurance proceeds shall be paid to the Builder.

Notwithstanding the above; should the parties agree to continue with the Contract and rebuild the Vessel, the proceeds of the
insurance policies shall be paid to the Builder as set out in this Article XI clause 2 (c) (iii) above. Such contract will include a
possible revised Delivery Date.

The Builder shall for its own account insure the Vessel on terms that are normally used for insuring vessels under construction
at Norwegian yards (The Norwegian Marine Insurance Plan 1996 (version 2003), Chapter 19, or similar). This building
insurance shall be maintained until the Vessel is delivered to and taken over by the Buyer.

War risk insurance for the Vessel with accessories shall be taken out only at the request of the Buyer and for its account.

ARTICLE XII DEFAULT PROVISIONS

1. Builder’s Default — Cancellation by Buyer

The payment of any sums under this Contract by the Buyer prior to delivery of the Vessel shall be by way of advances to the Builder. In the
event that the Buyer shall exercise its right of cancelling the Contract under and pursuant to any of the provisions of the Contract specifically
permitting the Buyer to do so (inclusive of cancellation due to total loss), then the Buyer shall notify the Builder in writing or by telefax
confirmed by registered mail, and such cancellation shall be effective as of the date notice thereof is received by the Builder.

Upon such cancellation the Builder shall promptly either accept the notice of cancellation, or declare its intention to dispute the same under the
provisions of Article XIX hereof.

Upon cancellation the Builder shall refund all sums paid by Buyer to the Builder under Article III hereof, including interest thereon at the rate
of 6 % per annum from the date of payment to the date of refund. The Builder shall also return Buyer’s Supplies, or if they cannot
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be returned, the Builder shall pay to the Buyer an amount equal to the Buyer’s costs for such equipment.

Save for the Builder’s obligation to refund amounts as set out above, the Builder shall have no liability for any other loss suffered by the Buyer
caused by a cancellation pursuant to this Article XII, clause 1, first paragraph.

2. Buyer’s Default — Disputes regarding Payment

(a) If the Buyer fails to make payments as provided for in Article III clause 3, the Builder shall by written notice or by telefax confirmed by
registered mail to the Buyer request payment of the unpaid amount. If the amount has not been paid within 7 Banking Days from receipt
of such notice, the Builder may postpone the commencement of or stop the work on the Vessel and enforce payment of the claim, the net
loss of time caused thereby being Permissible Delay under the Contract.

(b) If 21 days have elapsed from the receipt of the above notice without the Buyer having paid or provided acceptable security, the Builder
may cancel the Contract.

In either case the Builder may claim compensation for losses caused thereby.

Notwithstanding the above, if there is a dispute in respect of the Buyer’s payment obligation, the Builder has no right to postpone the
commencement or stop the work or cancel the Contract, if the Buyer provides security acceptable to the Builder for the disputed unpaid
amount.

3. Insolvency

If proceedings are commenced by or against the Buyer or Builder for winding up, dissolution or reorganisation (except in case of merger) or for
the appointment of a receiver, trustee or similar officer, or if bankruptcy is opened, the party who is not subject to such proceedings shall have
the right to cancel this Contract.

Upon such cancellation, the Builder shall refund all sums paid by Buyer to the Builder under Article III hereof, including interest thereon at the
rate of 6% per annum from the date of payment to the date of refund. The Builder shall also return Buyers Supplies, or if they cannot be
returned, the Builder shall pay to the Buyer an amount equal to the Buyer’s costs for such equipment.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraphs of this clause 3, if bankruptcy is opened against the builder, and provided that the bankruptcy is not
opened based on a petition from the Buyer or caused by the Buyer’s failure to make payments provided for in Article IV clause 3, the Buyer
may elect to cancel this Contract and to take full possession of the Vessel.

In event that the Buyer shall decide to take full possession of the Vessel the Buyer shall give notice in writing to the Builder. The Builder shall
thereupon immediately:

a)  secure the immediate discharge of all liens, claims, mortgages or other encumbrances upon the Vessel;
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b)  complete all works required as a minimum to permit the Vessel to depart from the shipyard in a safe and seaworthy condition, remove
its employees, agents and contractors, together with their equipment, from the Vessel and render all necessary assistance to the Vessel
in leaving the shipyard at the earliest moment convenient to the Buyer; and

¢) upon payment of settlement as described below, execute and deliver to the Buyer an original of the Protocol of Delivery and
Acceptance together with any and all documentation in such form and such manner as the Buyer shall in its reasonable discretion
determine shall be required or desirable.

All risk of loss of the Vessel shall in such circumstances transfer to the Buyer upon execution by the Buyer of the Protocol of Delivery and
Acceptance following receipt of all of the documentation received above.

Concurrently with the delivery of the Vessel as aforesaid, the Buyer shall pay to the Builder the value of the vessel as per removal from
Builder’s yard and confirm cancellation (redelivery) of the Refund Guarantee(s) and the Performance Guarantee.

In the event of any disagreement as to the amount to be paid by the Buyer as set out herein above, the Buyer may by paying the entire amount
demanded by the Builder require the Builder to provide a bank guarantee or other security satisfactory to the Buyer for the disputed amount.
The Builder cannot in such case refuse to deliver the Vessel. If the Builder does not wish to issue security for the disputed part of the claim, the
Buyer is entitled to take delivery of the Vessel against payment of the undisputed amount and provide a bank guarantee or other security
satisfactory to the Builder for the disputed part of the claim. Security which has been issued by a party pursuant to this sub-clause terminates
automatically unless the other party has brought legal action pursuant to Article XIX below within 3 months from date of issue of the security.
The costs of security shall be shared proportionately between the parties according to the final outcome of the dispute.

The Buyer’s right to take full possession of the Vessel as aforesaid shall be registered over the Vessel in the relevant Shipbuilding Registry, if
any, with priority after the mortgages enabling protection (“rettsvern”) against the Builder’s other creditors. The Buyer shall prepare the
relevant documents and carries the responsibility and cost in connection with the registration. If registering the declaration in the Norwegian
shipbuilding registry is impossible this paragraph shall be void.

Save as for the Builder’s obligations as set out above, neither the Builder nor the Buyer shall have any liability for losses suffered by the other
party caused by the cancellation or the Buyer’s election to take full possession of the Vessel pursuant to this Article XII, clause 3.
ARTICLE XIIT ASSIGNMENT

Neither of the parties hereto shall assign the Contract to a third party unless prior consent of the other party is given in writing, such consent not
to be unreasonably withheld.

The Buyer shall however have the right to sell the Vessel under construction through a novation of the Contract to a third party or on delivery
as a completed Vessel. In case of such
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sale, and conditional upon that the Builder has received evidence satisfactory for the Builder and the Builder’s bank that the purchaser has the
financial ability necessary to comply with all Buyer’s obligations hereunder, the Buyer shall be released against its obligations hereunder. In
lack of such evidence on assignee’s financial ability, the assignor shall remain liable under this Contract until full payment has been made, and
this liability shall be confirmed in form of a guarantee from assignor.

The Builder shall arrange for (and ensure that the guarantor arrange for) transfer of all guarantees in case of such sale to the purchaser and shall
also acknowledge receipt of all assignment notices.

Subject to the foregoing the Contract shall endure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the lawful successors or the legitimate assigns of
either of the parties hereto.

ARTICLE XIV TAXES AND DUTIES

1. Taxes and Duties in the country of the Builder

The Builder shall bear and pay all taxes and duties imposed in the country of the Builder in connection with the execution and/or performance
of the Contract, excluding any taxes and duties imposed in the country of the Builder upon the Buyer’s Supplies.

2. Taxes and Duties outside the country of the Builder

The Buyer shall bear and pay all taxes and duties imposed outside the country of the Builder in connection with the execution and/or
performance of the Contract, except for taxes and duties imposed upon those items to be procured by the Builder for construction of the Vessel.
ARTICLE XV PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, COPYRIGHTS

The Ramform design, and the seismic knowhow and data furnished by the Buyer specifically for this project, and which is not previously
known to the Builder or part of the public domain, is and shall remain to be solely the intellectual property of the Buyer. The Buyer has an
exclusive right to utilise the Ramform design in the seismic industry and nothing in this Contract shall be deemed to be a transfer of such
intellectual property and patent rights to the Builder. This provision shall not diminish the Builder’s and Mortgagee’s right under this Contract
to dispose of the Vessel in a situation of cancellation due to Buyer‘s default.

Machinery and equipment of the Vessel may bear the patent numbers, trademarks or trade names of the manufacturers.

The Builder shall defend and hold harmless the Buyer from patent, trade mark, copyright or other intellectual property liability or claims of any
nature or kind, including costs and expenses for, or on account of any intellectual property rights made or used in the performance of the
Contract, or the Buyer’s use of the Vessel, and also including costs and expenses of litigation, if any.
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Nothing contained herein shall be construed as transferring any patent or trademark rights or copyright in equipment covered by the Contract,
and all such rights including the design of the Vessel are hereby expressly reserved to the true and lawful owners thereof.

The Builder’s warranty hereunder does not extend to the Buyer’s Supplies.

ARTICLE XVI BUYER’S SUPPLIES
1. Responsibility of Buyer

(@) The Buyer shall, at its own risk, cost and expense, supply and deliver to the Builder all of the items to be furnished by the Buyer, as
specified in the Specifications and as defined in Article I, at warehouse or other storage facility of the Builder in a proper condition ready
for installation in or on the Vessel, in accordance with the time schedule designated and advised by the Builder to the Buyer.

(b) In order to facilitate installation by the Builder of the Buyer’s Supplies in or on the Vessel, the Buyer shall furnish the Builder with
necessary specifications, plans, drawings, instruction books, manuals, test reports and certificates required by all applicable rules and
regulations. If so reasonably requested by the Builder, the Buyer shall without any charge to the Builder, provided always that such
installation is not Builder’s responsibility pursuant to the Specifications, cause the representatives of the manufacturers of the Buyer’s
Supplies to assist the Builder in installation thereof in or on the Vessel and/or to carry out installation thereof by themselves or to make
necessary adjustments at the Builder’s yard.

(¢) Any and all of the Buyer’s Supplies shall be subject to the Builder’s reasonable right of rejection, when and if they are found to be
unsuitable or in improper condition for installation.

(d) Should the Buyer fail to deliver any of the Buyer’s Supplies within the time designated, the Delivery Date shall be automatically
extended for the period by which the failure actually caused a delay in the delivery of the Vessel.

(e) If delay in delivery of any of the Buyer’s Supplies exceeds thirty (30) days, then the Builder shall be entitled to proceed with construction
of the Vessel without installation thereof in or on the Vessel as hereinabove provided, and the Buyer shall accept and take delivery of the
Vessel so constructed, unless such delay is caused by Force Majeure in which case the provision Article X VI, 1(d) shall apply.

2. Responsibility of Builder

The Builder shall be responsible for storing and handling with due diligence the Buyer’s Supplies after delivery thereof at the Builder’s yard,
and shall, at its own cost and expense, install them in or on the Vessel, unless otherwise provided herein or agreed by the parties hereto,
provided, always, that the Builder shall not be responsible for the quality, efficiency and/or performance of any of the Buyer’s Supplies.
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ARTICLE XVII NOTICES
1. Address

Any and all notices and communications in connection with the Contract shall be addressed as follows:

To the Buyer: PGS Geophysical AS
Attention Rune O. Pedersen
Telephone +47 67 52 64 00
Telefax +47 67 52 64 64
E-mail rune.olav.pedersen @pgs.com
To the Builder: Aker Langsten AS
Attention Peter Tennfjord
Telephone +47 71 18 35 00
Telefax +4771 183501
E-mail peter.tennfjord @akeryards.com
2. Language

Any and all written notices and communications in connection with the Contract shall be in the English language.

ARTICLE XVIII ENTIRE CONTRACT

The Contract contains the entire contract and understanding between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations,
undertakings and agreements on any subject matter of the Contract.

ARTICLE XIX GOVERNING LAW, DISPUTE AND ARBITRATION

1. Governing Law

The parties hereto agree that the validity and interpretation of the Contract and of each Article and part thereof shall be governed by the laws of
the Kingdom of Norway.

2. Arbitration

Any dispute between the parties concerning the Contract shall be settled with final and binding effect for both parties by Arbitration in Oslo,
Norway. The parties will jointly appoint three arbitrators of which at least one shall be a lawyer admitted to practice in Norway. If the parties
fail to agree on the choice of arbitrators within 14 days from presentation by either party of a written demand for arbitration, each party shall
appoint one arbitrator, and the two so appointed shall appoint a third arbitrator who shall act as the chairman of the arbitration panel. If a party
fails to appoint an arbitrator within 14 days after
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he has been requested to do so by the other party, the Chief Justice of the Appeal Court in the district where the Builder has its venue shall at
the request of either party appoint the arbitrator(s).

The Contract with its Appendices and Exhibits has been drawn up in two identical originals, one for each party.

Lysaker, the 27t of April 2006

Aker Langsten AS PGS Geophysical AS

Appendices:

1.

2
3
4.
5
6

Contract Specification, Ramform 7of 30 March 2006

Drawings regarding New Ramform Seismic Vessel, General Arrangement Profile Deck 01 & Deck 02, 30 March 2006
Drawings regarding New Ramform Seismic Vessel, General Arrangement Decks 1, Deck 2, Deck 3 & Decks 01, 30 March 2006
Drawings regarding New Ramform Seismic Vessel, General Arrangement Deck 4, Deck 5 and below TT, 30 March 2006
Markers List, 30 March 2006

Aker Yards AS — Langsten, NB 213, RAM 7, Paint Specification



Exhibit 12.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Svein Rennemo, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s

internal control over financial reporting.
Date: May 16, 2007
By: /s/ Svein Rennemo

Svein Rennemo
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 12.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Gottfred Langseth, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 16, 2007

By: /s/ Gottfred Langseth
Gottfred Langseth

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer




Exhibit 13.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(SUBSECTIONS (A) AND (B) OF SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE)

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States
Code) (the “Act”) and Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), each of the
undersigned, Svein Rennemo, President and Chief Executive Officer of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, a Norwegian public limited liability
company (the “Company”), and Gottfred Langseth, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify that, to
his knowledge:

(1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2006 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: May 16, 2007 /s/ Svein Rennemo
Svein Rennemo
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Gottfred Langseth
Gottfred Langseth
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Act and Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Exchange
Act and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.



Exhibit 15.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 Registration No. 333-124881) pertaining to the Top 10
Share Bonus Plan, the Group 50 Share Bonus Plan and the Group 70 Share Bonus Plan of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA (“PGS”) of our reports
dated May 15, 2007, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of PGS, PGS management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of PGS included in the Annual Report
(Form 20-F) for the year ended December 31, 2006.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG AS

Oslo, Norway
May 15, 2007
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